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EDITOR'S PREFACE.

“ THE initial point of the history of the Colony and State,

and especially of the ‘Towns upon the River, whose
planters framed the first constitution of Connecticut and laid
the foundations of her civil and political institutions,” is, as
was said in the first announcement of these volumes, the issue
of the Earl of Warwick’s grant, known as the “Old Patent”
of Connecticut, March 19, 1631 (March 29, 1632, ncw style);
and the two hundred and fiftieth anniversary of that date
seemed a fitting occasion for the publication. of a “Memorial
Ilistory ” of a county whose earlier history is inseparable from
that of the Colony and State. Difficulties of obtaining such co-
operation as was required to insure the permanent value and
interest of the work, unavoidable failures and delays in securing
promised coutributions, as well as other causes which need not
be mentioned here, have postponed the completion of the
History until now, —a few wecks after the two hundred and
fiftieth anniversary of the first organization of civil government
in Connecticut, by the first mecting of the Court of Commis-
sioners for the River Towns “holden att Newton” (now
Hartford), April 26 (new style, May 6), 1636.

The delay, however much to be regretted by the publishers
and the editor, has not been to the disadvantage of the completed
work. It has cnabled the wrilers to avail themselves of the
resulls of the census of 1880, and thereby, in many particulars,
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to advance nearly a decade on information attainable in 1881 ;
it has secured important contributions which could not earlier
have been had; and, so far as the wants of general readers
are concerned, it has added to the immediate interest of the
history without detracting from its permanent value.

In undertaking this work the publishers, at the suggestion of
the editor, stipulated that, “in typographical execution and in
the fulness and excellence of the illustrations, it should be equal
to its model,” the *“ Memorial History of Boston.” That this
engagement has been carried out to the letter we think will

not be questioned.

HArTRORD, June, 1880,



PUBLISHER'S NOTE.

THE publishers of the MeMoRriAL HisTory oF HARTFORD
County take pleasure in presenting to its subscribers —
after numerous inevitable delays —a work of two handsome
volumes, several hundred pages larger than the prospectus called
for, which they believe will in other respects also equally exceed
the public expectation. Dr.J. Hammonp TrusBULL, the accom-
plished scholar and historian, who has been its editor from the
beginning, has carefully superintended its execution. He has
read, annotated, and corrected every page of the great work
excepb the chapter in Vol 1 by Miss Mary K. Tavcorr on the
“Original Proprietors,” which is made up largely from his own
notes and memoranda. And it should be added here that Dr.
TRUMBULL'S many and very valuable notes upon the early his-
tory of Hartford have been put by him at the disposal of the
various contributors engaged upon their special topics.

Dr. TrumBuLL'S peculiar fitness for this task is recognized
by all who know him. It was the unanimous wish of the many
gentlemen interested in the work when it was projected, that he
should take such charge of it; and in his editorship the book
has received the corrections and approval of unquestionably the
leading historical authority in Connecticut.

It will be found to be fully and handsomely illustrated ; and
in addition to the portraits included in the text, there will be
found about seventy fine steel portraits, especially engraved for
this work, of citizens of the county, living or dead, including
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such representative men as Dr. Bushnell, Dr. Gallaudet, the
Wolcotts, Gideon Welles, John M. Niles, Marshall Jewell, Colonel
Colt, Noah Porter, Dr. Barnard, Noah Webster, Elihu Burritt,
Chief Justice Williams, Dr. Trumbull, Junius S. Morgan, James
Goodwin, and many others. The only essential change in the
work since it was projected has been its embellishment by these
portraits and many views, which were not originally contem-
plated, and which the subscribers receive without additional
expense. The entire artistic superintendence of the work, from
the beginning, has been with Mr. A. V. S. ANTHONY, 80 long at the
head of the art department of the well-known firm of James R.
Oscoop & ComPaNY; and this is a suflicient guaranty of the
high quality of the work.

The publishers take this opportunity to express their grati-
tude to Dr. J. Hammonp TrumBULL, and to his assistant Mr.
CrarLes HoprriNs CLARE, for their labors upon the work, and
also to the numerous contributors who have lent their valuable
services to making up a suitable memorial history.

The publication of this work was undertaken by James R.
Osgoop & Company, and upon the dissolution of that firm all
their interest therein was transferred to Mr. GEORGE DRAPER.

The undersigned, one of the partners in the late firm of
James R. Oscoop & ComPaNy, is acting as the representative
of Mr. DRAPER in the publication of this History.

EDWARD L. OSGOOD.
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MEMORIAL HISTORY

OF THE

COUNTY OF HARTFORD, CONN.
Part L — The County.

CHAPTER I

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF HARTFORD COUNTY.
BY CHARLES L. BURDETT, C.E.
ExTENT AND BOUNDARY. — NaTUBAL FEATURES. — GEOLOGY, MINERALOGY, ETC.

HE larger part of the territory included within the limits of
Hartford County lies in about the centre, north and south, of a
valley or depression the origin of which is placed by geologists in.

the Palcozoic,or Ancicent era. "The geological features of this valley have
been for years the subject of investigation and study, and the writings
of Dana, litchcock, Percival, and others have contributed to a large
fund of information. The valley was formed by the bending of the
crust of the earth which, according to Profcssor Dana, “ took place as a
sequel to or in connection with the crystallization of tho rocks of which
the bottom of the valley is made.” This bend was made in the Archean
rock before the deposit of the covering layer of sandstone. It was dur-
ing the succeeding cra, the Reptilinn, that this layer of sandstonc was
formed by dcposits laid down while the valley was occupicd by an estu-
ary of an average width of twenty miles cxtending from what is now
the southern part of Vermont to Now IHaven, about a hundred and ten
miles.

In the several periods following the Palcozoic era, the whole valley
was subjcet to various changes in clovation and conditions as to climate.
T'ho depression became filled with water as an estuary, so protected that
the ocean forces, except the tidal, cxerted but little influenco within it,
and so remote a8 a wholo that no sea lifc entered it ; at lcast, no organic
remains have been found to warrant the conclusion that it did. Large
beds of sandstone were deposited over the whole bottom of this armn of
the sea, the bed in Hartford County having an cstimated thickness of
not less than three thousand feet. Through breaks and fissures in this

hed masscs of melted trap-rock at some timo during the Reptilian cra
vobh, L.—1.
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burst out, and now appear in ridges that are marked and promincnt
featurces of the present surface. Traces of the igneous origin of this
trap formation are distinctly scen in the color and condition of the
sandstone adjacent to the trap-rock at these ridges. At this time the
whole region was lifted above the level of the sea, and there is no rec-
ord of any subsidence of any part of it until after the glacial period.

It was during the formation of the stratified beds of red sandstone,
prior to this lifting of the surface, that the story of the climato and of

TRAP-ROCK DYKE AT * ROCKY IILL BTbNE-PITS," HARTFORD,

LOOKING TOWAIDS TRINITY COLLKGK.

the vogotable and aninal lifo of that reinoto pust was written on leaves
of stone that have yielded from their study by scientists a history of the
utmost interest, and one that has made the red sandstone of the Con-
necticut valley world-famous. The gradual hardening into a mass of
stone of the sand and gravel washed into the cstuary from the neigh-
boring hills of gneissic and schistose rock preserved in the beds the
remains of giant ferus and conifers that show the tropical character of
the climate, and held safely locked within them the records of animal
life. The fossil specimens and footprints are most numerous outside
the limits of Hartford County, and particularly at the north, in what was
the head of the estuary ; but in the sandstone beds of Wethersfield cove
there have been found the tracks of a multitude of birds and reptiles,
bipedal and quadrupedal. These tracks were made in the soft mud
along the shore of the estuary or in the plastic sand or clay of flats that
wero exposed when tho tide was out. The returning tido filled these
footprints, that had been hardened by exposure to the rays of tho sum,
with fine sand or clay, and made them permanent beneath the layer of
‘detritus next deposited.  Successive layers of sand and clay were thus
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formed, imprinted, and covered over until the layers aggregated thou-
sauds of fcet in thickness, and by pressure and chemical changes were
hardencd into stone. Naturalists, from a study of these remains, have
built up specics, many of them now cxtinet, of swiimning, crawling, and
{lying reptiles, reptilian birds, and huge mammals.

Then came an uplifting of these sandstone beds that rmscd thom
high above the level of the sea and tipped and tilted them 8o that they
slope from 10° to 50° with the dip to the cast and south of east. The
finest footprints — that is, those of most even depth and fulness of out-
line —are found in beds now sloped at angles of from 10° to 40° out of
level; and as such prints could not possibly have been made in inclined
beds, it shows that they were first level and then were tilted. The crup-
tion of the melted trap-rock probably accompanied this change in the
overlying sandstonc. While parts of the bed of sandstono were hard,
and, like the trap-rock, offered great resistance to crosion, or wearing
away by weather, and the action of flowing water, other parts were more
casily moved by fluvial currents and other denuding forces. These
trap cruptions and disturbances were a large factor in deterinining the
courses of rivers in this valley ; for when the land that was submerged
in the basin was lifted at some time near the date of the eruption, the
Connecticut River was narrowed, and, turning aside from the trap-dikos
of Wethersficld, Berling and Meriden, cut through the hills at the Nar-
rows in a course towards the southcast,—an abrupt bend from its course
above. The Farmington River, which flowed from the north and west as
a tributary to the estuary, was deflected sharply north along the western
foot of the Talcott Mountain range, running for sixtcen miles before it
cut through the range into the valley of the Connccticut River, which
it joins. After the uplifting thero followed a period when, according to
Dang, from glacial aclion the present valley was dug out by erosion and
the physical features in all essential points were outlined and marked ;
“and this was when tho land stood at a higher level than now.” Fol-
lowing the Glacial epocl, which was one of intense cold, and when large
masscs of ice spread over the region, was a warmer period, the Cham-
plain, in which the land was sunk below its present level and was sub-
merged beneath the sca along the coast. The great glacier was molted,
aud the rivers and lakes extended in area; tho valley of the Connecti-
cut being oceupied by a suceession of basins or expansions of tho stream,
joined by narrower water-ways in gorges cut through the scparating
ridges. The lakes have disappearcd, and the stream is now confined
for the greater part of its extent in this couuty to a tortuous bed bor-
dered by alluvial meadows ; but evidence of their having cxisted is left
in the terraces and in the well-defined ancient basins. The largest and
widest basin extends from Middietown to Mount IHolyoke, a distanco of
fifty-three miles. Many ycars ago several tecth of the mastodon were
found in Cheshire, and a vertebra was dug up in the town of Berlin
amongst a heap of bleached {resh-water shells in a bed of a “ tufaceous
lacustrine formation,” showing the existcuce of this animal in the
Champlain era.

In the Glacial period a vast sheet of ico spread over the continent,
and of this the Connecticut valley glacier formed a part, so distinct,
however, as to have a motion of its own. With a frontal width of from
one hundred to onc hundred and twenty miles, and a thickness to the
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north of more than four thousand feet, it moved down the sloping valley
with resistless forco, guided by the trap hills in dircetion southerly or a
little west of south. The sheet of ice lay with enormous pressure upon
the plains and low hills beneath it, and was plastic to a degrec that
cnabled it to conform to the surface that was cnt and shaped by it.
The softer sandstone was easily ground up, and ploughed out to a
depth of hundreds of fect, while the hard granite rocks were scratched
and furrowed to the depth of from six inches to a foot, and suffered an
unknown amount of surface planing. The ridges of the Talcott Moun-
tain and others in the western and southern part of the county show
traces of its action; while Mocks from tho dikes of the western Primary
rocks arc found scattered over the sandstone in a line fron West Hart-
ford through Berlin and Meriden. The melting of the ice left large
deposits of fraginents of rock, gravel,and cobble-stoue, and the streams
that were in action during the progress and decline of the glacier helped
it in the rough shaping of plains, valleys, and mountains, and worked
over the diluvium. Peculiar accumulations of small rolled fragments
(gravel and cobble-stones) that have been found in basins or val-
leys, apparently deposited by currents of local operation, are heaped in
rounded hillocks in Newington and Berlin in a cove surrounded by one
of the trap ranges. A subsidence of the land marked the close of the
Glacial era and the beginning of the next, resulting in a warmer climate,
the melting of the glacier, and the work of the Diluvial period above
deseribed. A following clevation of the land that may have taken place
in successive steps made it habitable by man and marks the transition
to the Recent cra.  The amonnt of the sinking of the land and subse-
quent rising may be estimated by noting that 1’rofessor litcheock found
beaches in New England at heights varying from cight hundred to two
thousand six hundred fect above the present sea-level.

The changes in the elevation of the land were accompanied by
changes both in location and width of the Connecticut River. The
traces of fluvial action caused Hitcheock to locate an ancient river-bed
on the west side of the prosent river in Wethersficld, west of the village,
and also in a line through tho west part of Iartford, uniting with {he
river a little above the city. The river terraces are distinctly marked
along the river border, and are usually two in number,—the lower hav-
ing an average height of sixteen fect above low water, and the higher a
height of thirty-six fect, while the height of the river border fornations
above modern flood-levels is one hundred and fifty feet at Middletown
and one hundred and eighty fect at Springfield.

The low-water height of the Connceticut River at Ilartford is the
samc 08 the mean level of the Sound at the mouth of the river at Say-
brook, some forty-nine miles south, the tide at the former place being
about one foot and at the latter four fecet. The tide in the river is
noticeable above Hartford at the foot of Enfield Falls in Windsor.
The highest modern flood was that of May, 1854, when the river reached
a height of twenty-nine fect ten inches above low water. The ncan
discharge of the river at low water is five thousand cubie feot per
sccond, and it drains, with its tributaries, the Farmington, Poduuk,
Hockanum, and Little rivers,— the larger part of the county, in which
the annual rain-fall is not far from forty-four inches, that being the
average of a scries of obscrvations at 1artford for a term of ten years.
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The changes in the river-bed resulting from the cutting away of the
bank on the upper side of a bend and the filling on the lower side have
moved the river its whole width to the castward in about twelve years
in o section six miles south of lartford; while at Wethersfield the
river-bed sinco 1690 has made o remarkable chango; so gradually, how-
over, as to have attracted but little attention from ycar to year. . The
course of the river below artford and within the limits of the county
is extrcimely crooked; and at the date stated the river, after flowing
southcast to Wethersfield, turned sharply to the northcast and then to
the southecast, again dividing at Naubuc on both sides of Wright’s
Island that was over a mile in length. DBy the shiftiug of the clay and
sand forming its banks from onc part of a bend to another the river
now flows dingonally across its old bed, leaving o cove on each side that
lies nearly parallel to its present course; and the island has completely
disappeared, leaving the strcam, however, at its average width of about
four hundred yards.

MinEraLs. — The orcs and mineral substances in the county of
industrial importance and at present mined are mainly feldspar at
Glastonbury, sandstone at Farmington, and trap-rock at Iartford.
The feldspar is obtained from a granite vein in South Glastonbury, and
in the form known as orthoclase. It is of valuo because of its use in
the mannfacture of the best poreclain ware, and the value of the annual
output is not far from thirty thousand dollars. The quarries at Glas-
tonbury and Middletown furnish the largest part of the total supply
used in the United States.

The wmincrals, ores, ctc., that arc of valuc, but are not at present
minced, arc copper orcs (bornite and chaleocite) at Granby, Bristol, and
Simsbury ; hydraulic limestone, near Berlin, in Simsbury ; and mala-
chite in Bristol.

SoiL ANp Propucrs. — The soil of the larger part of the county is
formed by the decomposition of the rock of the secondary formation, or
of the river alluvia, the latter having the first place in point of value.
The statistics from which a knowledge of the comparative value of the
land in the county may be gained arc very meagre; but the comparative
value put upon the land in the several countics in colonial times .is
shown by the fact that the Statutes of 1750 directed the listers to assess
all the meadow lands in the Couuty of ITartford, both ploughing and
movwing, at fiftecen shillings per acre, and all meadow land within tho
other countics seven shillings and sixpence per acre.

In 1661, and for many years following, wheat, pcase, and flax were
-staple products of the county; and in 1762 beef, pork, and flour were
prominent factors in contributing to its wealth. In 1845 IMartford
County stood first in the value of the products, tobacco (of which it
furnished ninety per cent), Indian corn, rye, fruits, and swine, and sce-
ond in the valuc of hay, buckwheat, and horscs.

In the value of its tobacco crop the county still leads the State; and
Wethersfield holds its old-time reputation for onions, and has gained in
its specialty of garden seeds.

Fisz aNp GaAME. — The streams and rivers at one time abounded
in salmon and trout. A few of the former are still scen in the Con-
necticut. They were quite abundant about 1878 as a result of artificial
propagation ; but they brought so high a price in the market (a dollar
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to a dollar and a half a pound) that the temptation was irresistible to
sell all that were caught in the shad-nets ; and so the supply was prac-
tically exhausted, and the cffort to replenish the river with its nost
valuable fish was a failure. But it should be added that dams in the
Connecticut at Holyoke, Mass., and in the Farmington River prevent
many of the fish froin reaching their breeding places, and so are an im-
portant cause of the failure of any attempts to restorc the salmon.
Small salmon are caught occasionally with trout in the upper waters of
the Farmington, and probably there will always bo a fow of these fish
in the river. Trout have grown more abundant since the State under-
took to supply five thousand of the young to cach applicant who wished
to stock streams in the State with them. There has becn considerable
legislation to preserve them. The season is from April 1 to July 1.
Owners can forbid fishing by putting up prohibitory notices; and there
is & heavy penalty not only for fishing, but for trespassing upon land
with intent to fish, in such waters. The most famous Connecticut
River fish is the shad, which is believed by many to be snperior to the
shad of any other river. The State by planting the young in the IFar-
mington and Connecticut rivers has maintained the supply fairly well.
The forerunners of the shad arc the alewives, which, without artificial
propagation, swarm up the river and the small strcams in great quantitics
cach spring. :

Sturgeon arc frequently scen in the Connccticut, and the striped
bass, which arc quite numecrous, sometimnes rcach immense size. Black
bass arc also found in the Connccticut, having run there from ponds
where they were planted. These fish wore introduced into the ponded
waters of the State about 1860, and have become very numerous. As
they have increased pickerel have become scarce. The Fish Commis-
sion has introduced land-locked salmon in numerous ponds, but they
have never become plentiful. As a peculiarity among fish in the county,
it may be mentioned that when the Shuttle Meadow Reservoir in New
Britain was thrown open to fishermen, yellow perch of as much as
two or three pounds’ weight each were canght in large numbers. In
most of the waters of the county they do not exceed one half or three
quarters of a pound.

No large gamc rcmains in the county. At times wildeats aro re-
ported in the thinly-inhabited regions. Foxes and raccoons are abun-
dant; and partridges, quails, and woodcock are not yet so scarce that
the skilful hunter cannot find them.

Frora. — The flora of the county diffors little, if at all, from that of
the state at large, and the labors of the late Charles Wright of Wethers--
ficld, Nathan Coleman of Berlin, and James N. Bishop of Plainville,
have left little to be discovered in this particular field. 'T'he last-named
botanist’s catalogue of phenogamous plants growing without cultivation
in Connecticut (published in 1885) includes the following species . —

RANUNCULACEZ. P BERBERIDAﬁFJﬁ. .

CrEMATIS — Virgin's Bower. OLOrIYLLUN — Slandrake.
C. verticillaris, Avon. P. peltatum, Southington.

R B NYMPHEACEE.

.., RaNuNoutus — Buttercup. Nuriar — Yellow Pond-lily.
R. multifidus, Plainville. N. luteum, var. pumilum, Farmington.
R. sceleratus, Herlin. FUMARIACE E.
Cniciruaa — Bugbane. DiceNTRA — Dutchman’s Breeches,

C. racemosa, Bristol. D. Canadensis, Plainville,
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CRUCIFER Z.
Brassica.
B. Sinapistrum, Plainville.
VIOLACEZE.
ViorA —Violet.
V. pedata, Farmington, Glastonbury, ote.

IIYPERICACEZE.
IIrrrricum — 8t. John's-wort,
11, pyramidatum, Berlin, Farmington.
GERANIACEZE.
GEeRrANIUM — Cranesbill.
G. pusillym, Windsor.
ROSACEXA
PoTERIUM — Burnet.
P, Canadense, Berlin.
Grusr— Avens.
G. drictum, Berlin, Plainville.
DALIBARDA.
D. repens, Farmington.
LYTHRACEZX.
LyTiirum — Loosestrife.
L. Balicaria, Dristol.
Luvwigia — False Loosestrife.
L. polycarpa, 1artford.
Nreszs —Swamp Loosestrifo.
N. verticillata, var. Jflore pleno, Plainville, — the
only known American habitat.
CACTACEZX.
Oruxtia — Prickly Pear.
0. Rafinesquii, Unionville.
UMBELLIFERE.
Trasrius — Meadow Parsnip.
T. trifoliatsm, Farmington.
CAPRIFOLIACEM.
Vinurnum — Laurestinus,
V. sudum, Berlin, Farmington, Plainville,
COMI'OSITAE.
AsTER— Aslor.
A. concolor, Berlin.
EnriGERON — Fleabane.
E. srigosum, Berlin,
HEevLiantus — Sunflower.
L. doronicoides, Plainville.
Cirsium — Thistle.
C. horridulum, Berlin,
VACCINIACEE.
GAvLUssAcIA — [uckleberry.
G. dumosa, Beriin.
Vaccinm — Cranberry, Biueberry.
V. damineum, Bertin, North Granby.
GENTIANEZE.
GEXTIANA — Gentian.
G. quinqueflora, Borlln, Bristol.
BORRAGINE &,
Ecius — Viper's Bugloss.
E, arvensis, Windsor,
SOLANACEZE.
PuysaLis — Ground Cherry.
P, Pennsylvanica, Derlin.
SCROPHULARIACEZR.
LiNARIA — Toad-flax.
L. Elatine. Wethersfield.
ANTIRRINNUM — Snapdragon,
A, Canadensis, I'lninville.

LENTIBULACEZ.
UrBicuLARIA — Bladderwort.
U. striata, Poquonnock.
LABIATA.
MeNTHA — Mint,
M. sativa, Plainville.
Moxaupa — Horso-mint.
2. fistulosa, Borlin.
Lornantius — Giant Iyssop.
L. nepetoides, Berlin, Bristol.
StAcHYs — Iedge-nottle.
8. palustris, Berlin,
S. palustris, var. asper, Wothersfield.
8. palustris, var, cordata, Farmington.
PLANTAGINEZA.
PLANTAGO — Plantain.
P, Virginicea, Berlin.
POLYGONACEZE,
PoLyaoxum — Knotweed.
P, incarnatum, Berlin,
D. ramosissimum, Berlin,
P, arifolium, Berlin, Bloomfield, Plainvills.
EUPHORBIACEA.
Euvrnorpia — 8purge.
E, Jpecacuanhe, East Windsor, Enfield.
ORCHIDACEZX.
Oronis.
0. spectabilis, Farmington, Granby.
IIAUENARIA — Rein-orchis.
11, Ordiculata, Granby, Windsor.
1. ciliaris, Berlin, Bristol.
GoonyErA — Rattlesnake-plantain.
G. repens, Granby, lartford, Hartland.
8rirANTIES — Ladics’ Treases.
8. latifvlio, East Ilartford, South Windsor.
ARKTIIUSA.
A. bulbosa, Uranby.
IPoconia.
D. penduls, Suftield.
L. verticillatn, South Windsor.
MicnostyLis — Adder's-mouth.
M. ophioglossoides, Berlin,
Liraris — Twayblade.
L. Laselii, Dristol, Suffield.
APLECTRUM — Putty-root.
A. hyemale, 11artford, Suffield.
Cyerirkmum —Lady's Slipper.
C. arietinum, Now Dritain.
C. gectabile, Bristol, Southington.
JUNCACEZE.
Juncus — Bog-rush.
J. bxfonius, Berlin.
J. scarpoides, Berlin.
TYPHACEZX.
Sraraantust — Bur-reed.
8. simplex, var. androcladum, Berlin, .
8. simplez, var, angustifolium, Berlin.
ARACEA.
CALLA — Water-arum.
C. palustris, Berlin, New Britain.
Onoxtium — Golden-club,
0. aquaticum, Berlin.
NAIDACEZE.
PoTamoarTon — Pond-weed.
P. hybridus, Berlin, 11artford.
P. lonchites, Bristol, Tartford, Plainville.
D, lucens, var. minor, Plainville.

. pectinatua, 1artford.
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CYPERACEX. CaRrEX — Sedge.
Crrerus — Galingale. C. Buxbaumii, Plainville,
°C. erythrorhiscs, llartford, C. monile, Plainvillo,
ELxocnanis — Spike-rush. GRAMINER.

E. Engelmanii, artford.
E. diasdra, Hartford.

Scirpus — Bulrush.
8. aylvaticus, Berlin.

GLYCERIA —Manna-grass.
@. acutifiora, Hartford.

Among native grasses are the red-top, June, and blue. Of plants
not native to the soil it is worth noting that a Cliristmas rose or black
hellebore, domesticated many years ago at Poquonnock, blooms annually
in December.

Among ferns may be mentioned the walking-leaf (Camptosorus
rhizophyllus), West Hartford, etc., and the creeping-fern (Lygodium
palmatum), named Windsor fern ycars ago, from a popular inpres-
sion that it was confined to East Windsor; whereas it occurs in East
Hartford and Berlin, and probably is not rare on the mountains west
of the river.

The following partial list of trccs, made by Mr. Charles Wright
shox:ktly before his dcath, is sufficicntly full for the purposes of this
work : —

American aspen; white, mountain, and black ash; basswood; American
beech ; white, black, yellow, and canoe (rare) birch; butternut; red cedar ;
wild cherry; chestnut; dogwood (Cornus circinata), Berlin; white, red, and
slippery elm; hemlock ; shell-bark hickory; pignut; black walnut, —a good
specimen in East IHartford ; hornbeam or iron-wood; hop-hornbeam or lover-
wood ; hackberry (Celtis occidentalis), Dorlin ; hackmatack or tamarack ; Amorican
holly (Ilex opaca), Burlington ; red-lowering, sugar maple, and white (4cer dasy-
carpum), East Windsor, Wethersfield, maple; red mulberry; white, swamp white,
scarlet, chestnut (Talcott Mt.), red, pin, and black oak ; pepperidge; pitech and
white pine. Among plums: The ‘wild yellow (Prunus Americana), Berlin;
dwarf cherry (P. pumila), Bristol, Farmington; river and wild poplar; white
spruce (3); eassafras; sycamore or buttonball ; tulip-trec or whitewood. Wil-
lows in largo variety, including Saliz ¢ristis, Berlin; S. kumilis, Farmington,
Plainville ; S. livida, var. occidentalss, Farmington ; S, nigra, Berlin.

Among cultivated trees mentioned by Mr. Wright are the yellow-
wood, Kentucky coffee-tree, lignid amber or swcet gum tree (specimens
of which may be seen in the park in Hartford), catalpa, magnolia, Aus-
trian pine, European asl, honey locust, European linden, and purple or
copper beech. Among trees noticcable for size, ctc., are an elm in
Broad Street, Wethersfield, twenty-six feet in circumference, and the
Beckley elm in the same town ; an elm in South Windsor scarcely in-
ferior in size, and & very fine one in Berlin; a shad-bush in Glastonbury
nine feet in circumference, with spread of ninety fcet ; the basswoods on
Wethersficld Street; a very large white maple near the Church of the
Good Shepherd, Hartford; a robust and symmetrical wild cherry in
Cedar Hill Cemetery ; a sycamore on the river-bank, Hartford, between
State and Ferry strects; a hackberry on Burnsido Avenue, East ITart-
ford, twelve feet in circumference. A black willow in Bristol, planted
in 1814, near a pond, had, when measured in 1878, a circumference
near the ground of twenty feet six inches; at six feet from the ground
o circumference of twenty-one fect ; and the spread of the branches was
eighty-one feet. A white oak in the same town was eleven fect three
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inches in circumference, and had a spread of sixty feet. The Lom-
bardy poplar was introduced by Joel Barlow, who in 1801 brought
somc of tho trces as a present to Llisha Babeock, publisher of the
“ American Mereury.”  There was a row of poplars on the south side
of the Hartford State Ilouse carly in the century, and somo poplars are
still growing along the New llaven Turnpike.

The present arca of the county is about seven hundred and fifty square
miles. Whon the county was established in May, 1666, it included not
only a great part of what it now has, but also all of what is now
Tolland County, and morc or less of what is in Windham, Middlesex,
Now London, and Litchficld countics.

In 1726 Windham County was formed, and Windham, Mansficld,
Plainficld, and Canterbury were set off to it from llartford County.

In 17561 Litchficld County was formed, and Litchfield, Barkhamsted,
Canaan, Colebrook, Cornwall, Goslien, Hartland, Harwinton, Kent,
New Hartford, Norfolk, Torrington, and Winchester were taken from
Hartford.

In 1785 there was still further dismemberment. Middlesex County
was sct up, and took from Ilartford, Middlctown, Iladdam, Chatham,
and East IIaddam; and Tolland County was also set up, and took
Tolland, Bolton, Ellington, Stafford, and Willington.

In 1786 Hartiord County consisted of the towns of Hartford, Wind-
sor, Wethersficld, Farmington, Glastonbury, Simsbury, Enlield, Suf-
geld East Wmdsor, Bast Hartford, Berlin, Bristol, Southmgton, and

ranby.

The following table shows all the towns that have been included in
ITartford Coumty, and also indicates when and to what county those
wero sct off which are not now included in its limits. The hg,urcs in
parenthescs indicate the date of tho creation of tho town: —

1666. — Establishment of Hartford County.

Hartford, Farmington (1645).
Windsor. Middletown (1651), set off to Middlesex
Wothorstiold. County 1780,

Towns organized between 1666 and 1700.

Haddam (1668), set off to Middlesex | Glastonbury (1693).

1786. Windhamn (1694), sot off to Windham
Simsbury (1670). County 1726.
Waterbury (168G), set off to New Haven

County 1728.

Towns organized between 1700 and 1725.

Colchester (named 1699, and set off to|Coventry (1712), set off to Windham
New London County) transferred to| County 1726.
Hartford County 1708, and retrans- | Pomfret (1713), set off to Windham
forred to New London County 1783. County 1726.

Phinfield (1700), set off to Winduam |Chatham (1714), set off to Middlesex
County 1726. Counly 1785,
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Mansficld (1702), set off to Windham
County 1726.

Canterbury (1703), set off to Windham
County 1726.

Hebron (1708), set off to Tolland Coun-
ty 1785.

Voluntown (1708), set off to Windham
County 1726.

Killingly (1708), set off to Windham
County 1726.
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Ashford (1714), sot off to Windham
County 1726.

Stafford (1719), eet off to Tolland
County 1785,

Bolton (1720), set off to Tolland County
1785.

Litchfield (1720), set off to Litchfield
Couuty 1751,

Towns organized between 1725 and 1750.

Willington (1727), set off to Tolland
County 1727,

East Haddam (1734), set off to Middle-
sex County 1785.

Harwinton (1737), sot off to Litchfickl
County 1751.

New Hartford (1738), set off to Litch-
field County 1751,

Goshen (1749), set off to Litchfield
County 1751.

Canaan (1738), set off to Litchfield
County 1751.

Cornwall (1740), set off to Litchfield
County 1751.

Kent (1740), set off to Litchfield Coun-
ty 1751,

Norfolk (1758), territory sct off to
Litchfield County 1751.

Torrington (1740), set off to Litchfield
County 1751.

Tolland (1748), set off to Tolland
County 1785.

Enfield (1749).

Suffield (1749).

Torons organized between 1750 and 1800.

Colebrook (1761), territory set off to
Litehfield County 1751.

Hartland (1761), territory set off to
Litchfield County 1751 ; transferred
to Hartford County 1796.

East Windsor (1768).

‘Winchester (1771), territory set off to
Litchfield County 1751.

Barkhamsted (1779), set off to Litch-
field County.

Southington (1779).

East Hartford (1783).

Berlin (1785).

Bristol (1785).

Granby (1786).

Towns organized between 1800 and 1871.

Marlborough (1803).
Burlington (1806).
Canton (1806).
Manchester (1823).
Avon (1830).
Bloomfield (1835).
Rocky Hill (1843).

South Windsor (1845).
New Britain (1850).
West Hartford (1854).
Windsor Locks (1854).
Enst Granby (1858).
Plainville (1869).
Newington (1871).




CHAPTER IL

EARLY HISTORY.

SECTION L
THE INDIANS OF THE CONNECTICUT VALLEY.
BY J. HAMMOND TRUMBULL, LL.D.

HE Indians of Connecticut, Massachusetts, and Rhode Island all
belonged to one stock, and spoke dialects of the same language.
These dialects wore not so diverse that the natives ¢ throughout

the whole country” known to the English, in the time of Roger
Williams and Eliot, could not “well understand and converse one
with another.,” They lived, chiefly, by hunting, fowling, and fishing;
tho forests abounded in game, and every stream supplied fish: but
they had advanced beyond the lowest grade of savage life ; they had
learnced to cultivate the soil, and to prepare it for cultivation by clear-
ing it of wood and underbrush; and they raised good crops of Indian
corn, and probably beans and squashes, for winter supplics.

Of the tribes that occupied the valley of the Connecticut before the
coming of the English, our knowledge is chicfly derived from the report
of discoverics made by the Dutch captain, Adriaen Block, in the yacht
“Onrust” (Restless) in 1614. Following the coast, from the east,
Block entered Conneccticut River, which he called de Versche Riviere
(that is, “the Fresh”). He found few inhabitants near the mouth,
“ but at the distance of forty-five miles above they became numerous ;”
“ their nation was called Sequins.” On his map, the villages, or lodges,
of the Scquins are marked, on both sides of the river, at and above its
principal bend, near Middletown. Soino forty-fivo miles abovo, the oxplor-
crs came to the country of tho Nawaas, where “ the natives plant maize,
and in the yoar 1614 they had a village roscmbling a fort for protection
against their cnemics. . . . This place is situated in latitude 41° 48"
"This fortified town was, in my opinion, on the east side of the river,
in what is now South Windsor, between Podunk and Scantic rivers, on
the ground called Nowashe (which seems to be the equivalent of the
Dutch “ Nowaas”’) by the Indians who sold it to Windsor plantation in
1636 ;' and was paled, or palisadoed, to defend it against the Pequots.

The Pequots were a branch of the great Muhhekanew (or Mohican)
nation whose principal scat had been on the east bank of the Hudson
River, nearly opposite Fort Orange (Albany). Driven from their
country by tho Mohawks, they had invaded Connecticut, and, dispossess-

1 8ce the record in Stiles’s “Histo%of Windsor,” p. 110. In the goneral history of
Windsor, in vol. ii., p. 487, tho Rev. R. H. Tuttlo is inclined to locate this fortified town

‘““near what is now called Wilson Station, about midway between Windsor and Hartford,”
that is, on the west side of the river, whore tho Windsor sachem lived after his return in 1633,
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ing or exacting tribute from the tribes which opposed their progress,
settled themsolves near tho sca-coast, on territory formerly occupied
by the Niantics, on both sides of Mystic River. 'The name by which they
were known to the English and by ncighboring tribes does not seem to
have been of thcir own adoption. Pe?uztdog (as Roger Williams wrote
it) means ¢ destroyers” or “ ravagers.”” Not content with the conquest
_of the sea-shorc tribes, they made war on the Sequins of the Connecti-
cut valley. According to the Dutch account, the Sequins were beaten
in three cncounters, and so bccameo tributary to the Pequets. 'This
was some ycars after the first visit of the Dutch; probably not carlier
than 1630. One band of the intruding Mohicans had, it appcars,
settled west of Thames River Lefore the coming of Block in 1614.
They retained thcir national name, and, after the scttlement of the
English, were known as the Mohegan tribe. Uncas, their sagamore,
was nearly akin to the Pequot sachems, but not being of full blood was
excluded by Indian laws of descent from the succession. ¢ Growing
proud and troacherous to the Pequot sachem, the Pequot sachem was
very angry, and sent up some soldiers, and drove Uncas out of his .
country. . . . At last bo humbled himself to the Pequot sachem, and
received permission to live in his own country again.” Again and
again he revolted, was again expelled, and again restored on promise
of submission. It was, probably, during one of these scasons of ban-
ishment from his own country that he, or somo of his company, became
connected with the Nawnas on the east side of Connccticut river.
“ Pozen of Mohegan,” — afterwards well known to the English as
Foxen, tho crafty ¥ councillor” of Uncas,— wns ono of tho grantors
in the deed of Nowashe to the Windsor planters, in 1636, and other
“ Mohegeneake ” (or Mohegans) joined in that conveyance.

Between 1614 and 1631 we have no account of the river tribes. In
April, 1631, “a sagamore, upon the river Quonehtacut,” whose name
(as -Governor Winthrop wrote it) was Wahginnacut, came to Boston
to urge the English to ¢ come to plant in his country.” Tho Governor

. declined the invitation, and (as he wrote) *discovered after, that tho
said sagamoro is a very treacherous man, and at war with tho Pokoath !
(a far greater sagamore).” Somewhat carlicr, “a comnpany of ban-
ishte Indians” from Connecticut, *“ that were drivene out from thence
by the potencie of the Pequents which usurped upon them, and drive
them from thence,”’ visited Plymouth Colony, and *often sollisited
them to goe thither, promising them much trade.” Massachusctts
declined to join with Plymouth in the enterprise. Some tine in 1632,
“ the ycar before the Dutch began in the River,” Governor Winslow,
of Plymouth, and his associates “had a place given (and the place
Plymouth(]] afterwards possessed) ” in what is now Windsor; and in
ctober, 1633, Captain Holmes, in a vessel sent by the Plymouth.
trading company, ¢ brought home and restored y* right Sachem of y°
place, called Natawanute.” 2
Four months before this sachem’s restoration, the Dutch (Junc 8,
1633) had bought — as they alleged — from the Iecquot sacliem,

1 That is, the Pegunt aachem. Here, as was common at that peried, tho name of the
tribs was confounded with the name of the sachem.

% Bradford's ¢ History of Plymouth Colony,” pp. 811,813. *Ibrought in Altawanyut &
there left him where he lived & ({ied upon the ground, whom Tatobam, the Tyrant, had before
oxpelled by war.” — E. Winslow's Letler to Winthrop, 1644,
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“ Wapyquart, or Tattoepan, chief of Sickenames [Mystic] river,” the
“flat land,” named Sickajoock (otherwise written, by the English,
“ Sicaogg,” * Suckiage,” ¢ Suckiaug,” etc.),—‘a very extensive and
beautiful flat, extonding along the River, and so inland in a westerly
dirceetion, situate on the west bank of the Fresh River,” —comprising
what was subsequently known as ¢ Dutch Point ” and the South Meadow
of Hartford.! According to the Dutch accounts of this purchase, it was
agreed between the contracting parties, “at the request and to the
great joy of the Sequeen, Altarbaenhoet, and all intcrested tribes,”
that “ Sequeen should dwell with the Dutch.” 1t is also stated (in a
Dutch report on the boundaries, drawn about 1649) 8 that * for greater
security the Scqueen and his tribe went to dwell close by Fort Hope.”

In the Duteh records, the name “Sequeen,” or “ Sequin,” is indif-
ferently applicd to a tribe, and to its chiof sachem. Theso were the
Indians of Mattabeset and Pyquaug, subscquently called ¢ Wongunks ”
from their principal scat on and near the great dend (* wongunk”
of Connceticut Rivor, between Middlotown and Portland. Their tern-
tory appears to have cxtended, on both sides of the river, from the
north part of Haddamn, northerly to, and probably to some distance
above, Matianuck (or Mattanag) in Wiudsor. ¢ The Chief Sequeen”
—of whom the Dutch bought land in 1638, ¢ which Clief or Sakima
was, in his time, lord and right owner of the eontire river and the lands
thereabouts  — wvas probably he who was known to the English as
“Sowheag ” and “ Sequin,” sometimes designated as the * Sachem of
Mattabeseck,” sometimes a8 the “Sachem of Pyquaug.””* The strength
of the Sequins had been broken in their war with the Pequots, and the
number of the tribo was probably much reduced before the coming of
the English ; yot Sowheag still remained a “ great Sachem.” Ho sold
“Pyquaug” to the planters of Wethersficld; and, later, granted a
“great part of the township of Middletown” (Mattabeseck) to Gover-
nor Haynes,—a grant conlirmed by tho remainder of his tribe in 1678.
The date of his death is not known. It was beforo 1650; for in a
report made by Governor Stuyvesant to the States-General, in 1649, he
is mentioned as “the late Sequecen.”® In 1664 there was mention of
¢ a parcel of land at Wonggum » (the Bend) which had been reserved
for his posterity.® Ilis successor was “ Turramuggus” (or ¢ Catara-
muggus ), who died Dbeforo 1705, and was succcedod by his son
* Pectoosoh,” who was living at Wonguin (now in Chatham) 7 in 1706.

The Sicaog, or Suckiaue Indians, so called from the * black
earth ” (sucki-auke) of the Hartford mecadows, wore, probably a sub-
tribo of the Scquins. Their sachem, at the coming of the English in
1633, was “ Sunckquasson ” (otherwise written Sequassen, Sonquas-
sen, cte.), alias “ Sasawin,” a son of Sowhcag,? ¢ the chief Sequcen”
of the Dutch ; but his nawmo does not appear in the Dutch record of
the purchase of tho Hartford mcadow, and in 1640 he testificd

1 Now York Colonial Manuscripts, Holland Documents, i. 548 ; ii. 139, 140.

3 Natawanute. % ITolland Documents, i. 543 ; 546, nole,
4 See Judge Adams's ¢ History of Wethersfield,” in vol. ii., p. 431.
$ Holland Docmmnents, i. 543, 546, note. & Connecticut goloninl Reconds, i. 434.

7 For further notice of the ** Wongunks,” sce Judge Adams's *“ History of Wethersfield,”
in vol. ii., p. 432.

8 * Souwonckquawsir, old Sequiu’s son.” — Roger Williams, 1637, in 4 Mass, Hist.
Collections, vi. 207. *‘Sonquassen the son of the late Sequeen,” namned, 1649, in Holland
Documents, i. 543.
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“that he never sold any ground to the Dutch, neither was at any time conquered
by the Pequoyts, nor paid any tribute to them. And when he sometimes lived
ot Mattanag [in Windsor] and hard by his friends that lived here, that he and
his men came and fought with them.”

From him, in 1635 or 1636, the proprietors of Hartford bought
their lands, and his grant was subscquently extended westward “so
far a8 his country went.” In 1670, this grant was confirmed by “ the
only inhabitants that wero surviving,” nine in number, inclnding Wa-
warme, his sister and “only heir.” He appears to have been, from
the first, fricndly to the English. Just how far north his bounds ox-
tended is not ascertained, but his name is joined with Natawanuto,
88 “ one of the rightful owners ” of the land at Matianuck, in the sale
to the Plymouth company, in 1638. We lose all trace of him, after
his quarrel with the Indians of Podunk, 1666-1657. A remnant of the
tribe remained —on their reservation in the South meadow in Hart-
ford; and a roll of the Indians who went to Springfield with ¢ Captain
Nesschegan,” in Octobor, 1675, to fight for the Lnglish in the Narra-

- gansett war, includes the names of eight Indians of Hartford. Tho

“ Sicaog tribe ” was already extinct.

The Indians of Tunais (Farmington) were a branch of the tribe
of which Sequasson was chief sachem, and their lands were included
in his second grant to the proprietors of Hartford. They had ample
reservations of land in Farmiugton, and “the main body of the tribe
was joined in 1730 by the Indians of Hartford ; and it received also, at
various times, re-enforcoments from Windsor, Middlotown, and other
parts of the Connecticut valley.,” 'The small band at Massaco (Sims-
bury) probably belonged to the sub-tribe of Tunxis ; though in the deed
to Simsbury in 1680, the Windsor sagamores, Nessaliegan (of Poquan-
nock) and Seaket (or Seacut) join as proprietors and ¢ rightful owners.”

Natawanute (or Attawanyut), the sachem who had been driven out
by the Pequots and was “ brought home and restored ” by the Plymouth
company, and almost all his band were swept away by the small-pox, in
the spring of 1684. The fow survivors at Matianuck nover agnin came
to bo regarded as a distinct tribe. Arramamet ¢ of Matianuck ”” in 1636,
scems to have been the immediate successor of Natawanute, but his
name first appears as one of the grantors of land east of the river. He
claimed (and the Colony recognized his title to) the greater part of the
Podunk lands (in South Windsor and East Hartford), and these he
gave by will) in 1672, to his daughter Sougonosk, the wife of Joshua
(alias Attawanhood), son of Uncas.

The history of the other bands that occupied old Windsor (west and
east of the river), — particularly those of Poquannock and Podunk,—is
too obscure, and their tribal relations were too complicated for adequato
discussion within the narrow limits to which this section is restricted.
All that is known of them has been diligently gathered by De Forest
in his ¢ History of the Indians of Connecticut,” and by Dr. H. R. Stiles
in the * History of Ancient Windsor,” and to these authorities and to
the historical sketches of the scveral towns, in the second volume, our
readers must neccssarily be reforred.

g%%‘;?w Gkl
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SECTION II.

THE DUTCH TRADERS ON THE RIVER; AND THE
HOUSE OF HOPE.

BY THE REV. INCREASE N. TARBOX, D.D.

WhEN the United Netherlands, after nearly half a century of strug-
gle and warfaro against tho despotism of Spain, had, in the year 1609,
triumphantly established her liberties, her position and natural alliance
with the sea made her one of the most active of the seafaring nations.
She opened a prosperous trade with the old nations of the East, and
sent out her ships for exploration and discovery in the new regions
of the West. Ilenry Hudson, an Englishman, and a bold navigator,
friend of Captain John Smith, having been unfortunate in one or two
soa-venturcs, went over to Holland in 1609, and after some delays and
discouragcmonts was at last put in chargo of a yacht called the “ Hali-
Moon,” manned by twenty sailors, part English and part Dutch, when
he sot off, like the rest of the adventurers of his day, to find the north-
west passage to China. Without dwelling at all upqn the details of the
voyage, it is sufficient for our purpose to say that, after being variousl
tossed about from April 4, 1609, until the early days of September fol-
lowing, ho found himself in that notwork of waters around the spot
where now stands the great city of Now York. Gradually working Yx(i)s
way northward, on the 13th of September he found himself near the site
of what is now Albany. Ten or twelve years before, Cabot had sailed
along the New England coast, kceping himself to the ocean pathway ;
but Hudson was the first European who had entered and traced this
noble river from its mouth upward; and so it was fit and natural that
it should forover bear his name.

It was in the service of the Dutch East India Company that this
scrvice was porforined ; but whon the “ Ialf-Moon  TFetiirned, bofore
reaching Holland sho camo to anchor in Dartinouth harbor, England.
The English were so vexed and jealous that this important discovery
should have been mado by one of their own countrymen in the service
of the Dutch, that they detained the vessel scveral months before they
would allow her to return to her own nation.

It was soon found that Manhattan Island, with its extendod water
arrangements near at hand and far inland,'was a most important natu-
ral contre of trado then, when the whole land was wild and savage, as
it is now, since tho country has rcached its highly civilized state.
Tho onterprise of the Dutch was at once awakened to take advantago of
this discovery, and to extend their researches in this diroction still
farther. The Dutch gave the name of New Nethorland to their newly
discovored territory.

One of the adventurers from Holland at that time was Adriaen
Block, who gave his name to Block Island. In 1618, with a small
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craft named the “ Tiger,” he crossed the ocean in this department of
sorvice. His vessel was accidentally-burned in Manhattan Bay as he
was about to sail homeward. Not discouraged, he set to work and built
another, probably the first of the kind ever constructed on the Ameri-
can shores. With this little craft, in 1614, he set out carefully to ex-
plore the coast to the eastward. The following passage is taken from
J. R. Brodhead (History of the State of New York, second edition,
vol. i. p. 56) : —

“ Sailing boldly through the then dangerous Strait of ¢ the Hell-gate’ into ¢ the
Great Bay," or Long Island Sound, he carofully ‘explored all the places there-
about,’ as far as Cape Cod. Coasting along the northern shore, inhabited by the
Siwanoos, Block gave the name of ¢ Archipelagos’ to the group of Islands oppo-
site Norwalk. At the present town of Stratford he visited the ‘River of Rooden-
berg, or Red Hills) now known as the ‘ Housatonio,” which he described as
about ‘a bow-shot wide,” and in the neighborhood of which dwelt the indolent

_tribe of Quiripey Indians. Passing eastward along tlie bay at tho head of which
New Haven now stands, and which, on account of the red sandstone hills in its
neighborhood, the Dutch also soon called the ¢Roodenberg,’ Block came to the
mouth of a large river runniug up [reaching up] northerly into the land. At its en-
trance into the Sound it was ¢ very shallow,’ and Block, observing that there were
but few inhabitants near its mouth, ascended the river to the rapids at the head
of navigation [Enfield Falls, at Warehouse Point]. Near Wethersfield he
found the numerous Indian tribe of Sequins, At the latitude of 41° 48/, be-

~tween Hartford and Windsor, he came to a fortified village of the Nawaas tribe.
. . . From the circumstance that a strong downward current was perceived at a
short distance above‘its mouth, Block immediately named this beautiful stream
the ¢ Versch,’ or f Fresh Water River.’ By the native savages it was called the
Connittecock,” or ‘Quonehtacut,’ and the aboriginal appellation survives to the
present day in the name of the river and the State of Connecticut.”

Rivers are generally supposed to be fresh, but the meaning of the
word in this connection is that the tide in the Connecticut did not set
back so far from its mouth as in rivers usually.

This was in 1614, and no English craft of any size ever passed up
the river till cighteen or nincteen years later. Meanwhile the Dutch
went forward to establish a system of trade with the natives along the
river, a8 they had done on the Hudson River, and wherever they had
gained friendly access to the Indians. Vessels were coming and going
between Holland and Manhattan Island, and a considerable trade had
sprung up to the advantage of both parties.

With this iricoming tide of prosperity the Dutch merchants and
traders went before the States General of Holland, and spreading out a
carefully prepared map of their discoverics, asked a charter under which
they might go forward in a work likely to be advantageous to the wlole
country. The States General were in a complying mood, and by right
of first discovery they gave a broad charter, covering the territory from
the Virginia plantations on the south, to Canada on the north. The
first grant made by the States General was in the way of authority
given to the discoverers to make four voyages, within the space of three
years from Jan. 1, 1615, to those new lands for their own benefit, and
as a special reward for thoir services. This is sot forth as follows: —

“We, therefore, in our Assembly having heard the pertinent Report of the
petitioners, relative to the discoveries and finding of the said new countries
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between the above-named limits and degrees, and also of their adventures, have
consented and granted, and by these presents do consent and grant, to the said
Petitioners now united into one Company that they shall be privileged exclu-
sively o frequont, or cause to be visited, the above newly discovered lands,
situate in Amoricn between Now France and Virginia, whereof the Sea coasts lie
betweon the fortioth and forty-fifth degrees of latitude, now named New Nether-
land,” etc.

The power that thus granted the usc of these waters and lands for
threc years was the power which at the expiration of this period
would claim the right to govern and control these wide-reaching terri-
tories for the benefit of the United Netherlands. If we inquire upon
what basis this power rested, we shall find that it was simply the
common claiin arising from first discovory. That lad been regarded
by other nations as valid authority, and the Dutch would hold by the
same rule. ’ .

Tho whole subject of European charters covering wild lands was at
that time in a very loose and conflicting condition. In the charter
given to Virginia by James I., only a few years before, the whole ter-
ritory was conveyed from 34° to 45° north latitude. Of course this
grant swept over all the places actually discovered by the Dutch. But
they were in as good condition as others. There was no clear consist-
ency amoug these European charters. As all tho northern portion of
the Virginia grant was as yet unoccupied by whites, it seemed natural
that the Dutch, as the first comers, should take possession. ' ’

It was eighteen years after the Dutch discovery of the Connecticut
River, and after they had purchased land of the Indians and built a
trading-house, the ¢ House of Hope,” at what is now Hartford, before
any English sottlor had appoared on its banks. It will have to bo ad-
mitted that tho Dutch wore very rudely treated by our English -fathers.
Tho English pooplo soccmod to act as if thoy were in tho right and the
Dutch were mere intruders. But it would have been very hard for
them to show that they really had any rights, by European charters,
superior to their predecessors; and if they had no superior rights, then
they were decidedly inferior, for manifestly the Dutch were the first
. discoverers, and first on the ground. Their trading-house at Hartford
is “gaid to have been projected and begun” in 1628, fully ten years
before tho first Englishman made his appearance in those parts.

Tho Dutch statement on this point is as follows: —

“In the beginning, before the English were ever spoken of, our people, as we
find it written, first carefully explored and discovered the northern parts of New
Netherland and some distance on the other side of Cape Cod, and even planted
an ensign on, and took possession of, Cape Cod. Amnno 1614, our traders not .
only trafficked at the Fresh river, but had also ascended it before any English
people had ever dreamed of coming there; the latter arrived there for the first
time in the year 1636 [this is a mistake, it should be 1633] after our Fort
Good Hops had been a long time in existence, and almost all the land on both
sides of the river had been bought by our peos)le from the Indians; which pur-
chase took place principally in the year 1632.”

1 Brodhead’s History of the State of New York, vol. i. p. 158; though ‘‘it was not
finished until 1633, ton yoars rd.”
* Ibid., i. 287.

VOL. I.— &,
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This conduct on the part of the English was alike unjust and uu-
grateful. The Duteh in tha United Netherlands had established an
asylum for the oppressed, and there, through the years of English
persecution, our Pilgrim and Puritan forefathers had found a secure
refuge. Not a few of the leading men among the Puritan population
of Massachusetts and Connecticut had been personally befriended and
protected among the Dutch in Holland.

When the English scttlements were planted on the river at Wethers-
field, Hartford, and Windsor, they did not at once drive away the Dutch
by violence, but they began to worry them away Ly meddlesome and
unfair legislation, like the following, passed by the General Court of
Connecticut in June, 1640: —

“Whereas the Dutch Catle arc impounded for trespassing the Englishmen’s
corne, It is the judgment of the Courte that the Dutchmen shall be made ac-
quainted w*™ the trespasse, and satisfaction demaunded, the w* if they refuse to
pay, the Cattell are to be kepte in the pownd three daycs, and then to be prysed
and sold, and the trespasse to be sutisfied, together w® the chanlge of impound-
ing, keopeing and tending the said Catle during their custody,”?

The Dutch might very naturally have answered, as in the story of
the “ Unjust Judge,” in the spelling-book, that it was the Englishman’s
cattle that trespassed on the Dutchman’s corn-lands.

_The following, also taken from the Connecticut Colonial Records
- for September, 1649, is decidedly cool, considering, as wo have said,
that tho Dutch built their trading-house and hought the Indian lands
beforo any Englisliman put in an appearanco in all that region. Undor
a charge that the Dutch sold guns to the Indians, the General Court
passed the following : —

It is hereby ordered, that after due publication hereof, it shall not be law-
full for any Frenchman, Dutchman, or person of any other Forraigne nation, or
any English liuing amongste them or under the gouernment of them or any of
them, to trade with any Indian or Indians within the limmitts of this Jurissdic-
tion, either directly or indirectly, by themselues or others, vnder penalty of con-
fisscation of all such goods and vessells as shall be found so trading, or the due
value thereof, vppon just proofe of any goods or any vessells so trading or
traded.”® :

About this time (1648-1658) the English and Dutch at home were
involved in a war; and this happened fortunately for the English on
these shores. They did not always cherish a great love for Old Eng-
land, or exert themsclves much to do her servico; but now they felt
that they ought also to be at war with the Dutch, to help out their own
politics.  Accordingly the ¢ House of Hope,” as the Dutch called their
fort at Hartford, was scquestered or confiscated ; and then came along
Captain John Underhill with his military men, he being then in the
service of Rhode Island, who seized this fort, with its contents, and it
was sold to compensate Underhill for his warlike services generally.
In all this story we have to confoss that we cannot praise our fathors,
or take their part in their treatment of their Duteh neighbors.

1 Colonial Records of Connecticut, vol. i. p. 51.

3 Ibid., p. 197. (It should be noted here, that this order was drawn by the Com-
missioners of the United Colonies of New England, at their July sessien, 1649, and was
adopted by Connecticut and other colonies on their recommendation.— Ep. }
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SECTION IIIL

HHOW THE RIVER TOWNS CAME T0O BE PLANTED.

BY THE REV. INCREASE N. TARBOX, D.D.

I. —MOTIVES TO EMIGRATION FROM MASSACHUSETTS.

Hartrorp CouNTY naturally holds a different relation to the State
of Counecticut from that of any other county in the State. It is in
some sense the mother rather than the child. But the threc towns first
planted on the river — Wethersfield, Hartford, and Windsor — were,
strictly speaking, the original cradle of empire, and both the county
and the State owe their existence to the towns. Before the planting
of these towns there was an antecedent history leading up to this event,
which might, undor other conditions, be expanded into a volume.

Alexander Johnston, A.M., of the Johns Hopkins University, read
a paper before the Historical and Political Scienco Association in 1883,
entitled “ The Genesis of a New England State,” which has since been
published in a pamphlet. He sets forth very distinctly the chaotic con-
dition of land titles and political authorities out of which the State of
Connocticut rose into being. Mr. Johnston says (p. 10): —

“In 1634, thon, the territory now occupied by the State of Connecticut was
a veritablo No-Man’s-Land. 1t had been granted, indeod, to the Plymouth Coun-
cil, but tho grant stood much on a par with a presentation of a bear-skin whose
natural ownor was yot at large in the forest. On the north, the Massachusetts
boundary line had boon dofined by chartor, thongh its exact location in its wholo
length waa still in the air; on the east, the Plymnouth purchase boundary was in
the same condition, The debatable ground between these unsettled boundaries
offered one of the few opportunities which the town system had to show how it
can build up the body as woll as provido the spirit for a State.”

Dr. J. [Tammeond Trumbully by his discoveries of valuable historical
papers and his various writings, has shed much light upon this antece-
dent, as well as upon the early history of Connecticut. Many other
writers have contributed to clear up the questions belonging to this de-
batable ground. But we cannot here undertake to traverse this large
and interesting field.! . .

Turning, then, to the colony of the Massachusetts Bay, from which
the founders and fathers of Connecticut caine, let us inquire into the
causes impelling thom to this emigration, and the facts connected with
their removals. The Massachusetts Company reccived its charter in
1628, and John Endicott, Governor, with a few families, came over that
yoar and settled in Salem. In 1629 a larger company arrived, and

1 Bee, for example, ‘‘The Massachusetts Colonial Records,” vol. i.; ‘ Connecticut Co-
lonial Records,” vol. i. (with notes and appendices by Dr. J. Hammond Trumbull) ; Winthrop's
*“ History of New England ;" Palfrey's “[;ishory of New England ;" Trumbull's ** History of
Connecticut ; Mather's ¢ Magnalia ;" Walker's * History of the First Church of Hartford ;"
Btilow’s *¢ History of Anciont Windsor.”
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Salem, which had been a little settlenment, became a town, and the Salem
Church was organized under the pastoral care of Messrs, ITigginson and
Skelton. In 1580 a far largor company came over, bringing the chartor’
and John Winthrop the Governor; and Charlestown, Dorchester, and
Watertown came into being, each with a newly organized church. This
procoss went rapidly on until, in 1635, there were in existence in the
Bay twelve churches, or what is the same, as to numbers, twolve towns.
As early as 1688, but more distinctly in 1634, we discover signs of dis-
content in these Massachusetts towns, and men were talking together
about changing their places of residence. The earliest sign of this dis-
content, which we discover through the published Massachusetts Ree-
ords, was in Cambridge, where Mr. Thomas Hooker the year before
(1633) had come over and joined a church and congregation, which
were eagerly waiting his arrival. -
“Att a Genqall Courte, holden att Boston, May 14™ 1634” the

. following vote was passed : —-

“There is leaue graunted to the inhabitants of Newe Towne [Cambridge] to
seeke out some convenient place for them, with Pmise that it shalbe confirmed
vnto them, to which they may remove their habitacons, or haue as an addidon to
that w*® already they haue, Pvided they doe not take it in any place to piudice
a plantafon already setled.”

From the wording of this vote it is obvious that the Court did not
then contemplate any removal of the Cambridge people except to some
place within or just outside tho existing settlements in the Bay. This
was in May, 1684, In the Soptembpr following (Soptember 25) the
subject came up again. Grants of meadow land, heretofore belonging
to Watertown, and some grounds about Muddy River, which had be-
longed to Boston, were given to Newtowne, —

“Provided . . . that if Mr. Hooker and the congreZon nowe setled here shall
remove hence, then the aforesaid meadowe ground shall returne to Waterton,
and the ground at Muddy Ryver to Boston.”?

As already said, the first of these extracts makes it plain that the
members of the Court at that time could not have heen thinking of any
distant removal. It would have been quite unnecessary to hint that a
settlement there could be “to Piudice a plantagon already setled.”

This uneasy spirit, however, continued to spread. At the General
Court held May 6, 1635,

“There [was] liberty graunted to the inhabitants of Waterton to remove
themselves to any place they shall think meete to make choise of, pvided they
continue still vnd" this gofim* " * :

At the same court,

“The inhabitants of Rocksbury hath liberty graunted them to remove them-
selves to any place they shall thinke meete, not to piudice another plantadon,
pvided they continue still vnder this gofim"”

And at the adjourned Court, June 8,
' “There Q'vas] like leave graunted to the inhabitants of Dorchest’, for their
removall, as Waterton hath graunted to them.” ¢

1 Massachusetts Records, vol. i; p. 119, 8 Tbid., pp. 129, 180,
$ Tbid., p. 146. 4 Tbid,, p. 148,
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Such wide-spread restlessness in four of the chief settlements of the -
Massachusetts Bay, within four years after these towns were planted, is,
of itself, a curious fact for the historical student. It was not that these
peoplo had reponted of coming to America. In all this zeal for removal
there sceins to havo been no desire to return to their old homes in Eng-
land. And if they were to remain on these shores, there was no place
where they could havo such security against tho dangers by which they
were surrounded as in the Massachusetts Bay. Here society was already
organized with a large measure of strength, and the blessings of neighbor-
hood, so desirable in a new land, could be found there as nowhere else.
Yet in spite of all considerations of this kind, here were four of the chief
settlements in the Massachusetts colony filled with a spirit of unrest
and dissatisfaction with their surroundings. Of tho four towns which
bad obtained the right to remove, Roxbury does not particularly concern
us, since the company led out from that place by William Pynchon
founded Springficld, Mass., then called by its Indian name Agawam.
There was a tendency at first to link Agawam, as to government, with
the towns below; but after a little it was determined that it was in
Massachusetts, and it was governed accordingly. .

As we havo seen, the right to remove had been granted by the depu-
ties of the General Court, but there are evidences that the magistrates
were strongly opposed to the scheme and did all that they reasonably
could do to frustrate it. It was certainly natural that they should feel
so. Hore was a great enterprise intrusted to their keeping, which at
the best was beset with many difficulties, and which was now, in its very
infancy, threatcned with the loss of a large portion of its intelligence
and strength. It was exceedingly depressing that the high hopes at-
tendant upon the beginning of the planting in the Bay should be so soon
overshadowed with doubt. At tho first, as woe have already said, when
these suggestions of removal began to be whispered abroad, it was sup-
poscd that the new settlements would be near at hand, and that the real
strength of the Massachusetts plantations would not be materially weak-
ened. But at length it began to appear that the distant valley of the
Connecticut was the territory to be occupied. In various ways, since
1630, this rich and fertile valley had been brought to the notice of the
Massachusetts settlers. An Indiun sachiemn came to Boston in 1681,
hoping to sccure an English colony to bo settled on the river. Through
this, and the various movements of the Dutch and the Plymouth people,
as also the giving of land grants on the territory, there was considerable
knowledge of the Connecticut River and the rich lands along its borders
at the time when these questions of removal were up for consideration. :
To all these discontented people the privilege of removal had been
granted, ¢ Pvided they continue still vnd® this goiim'.” The charter
of Massachusotts had been defined in gencral terms, but no surveyor
had yet been sent through the wilderness to fix the boundary lines
in accordance with the language of the charter. No man in Boston
could then tell certainly where the southern boundary of Massachusetts
would cross the Connecticut River. Long afterward it was settled that
this line was coincident with the southern boundary of the present town
of Longmeadow. But in 1685 the men of Boston, looking off upon the

“western wilderness, could only have a bewildered idea of liues and limi-
tations. Though it cannot very well be doubted that the chief desirc
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for change on tho part of those removing was that thoy might no longer
. bo undor tho Massachusotts govermment, yet, for tho timo being, it was
convenient not to discuss thosc points too critically.

At the session of the General Court in September, 1634, this whole
business of the removal came up for long and warm discussion. We
find no report of this discussion in the “ Massachusctts Records,” but
Governor Winthrop has preserved a detailed account of it in his Jour-
nal. Everything in his description goes to show that this was regarded
a8 a most important debate : — '

September 4. “The general court began at Newtown, and continued a woek,
and then was adjourned fourteen days. Many things were there agitated and
concluded. . . . But the main business, which speut the most time, and caused
the adjourning of the court, was about the removal of Newtown. They lad leave,
the last general court, to look out some place for enlargement or removal, with
promise to have it confirmed to them if it were not prejudicial to any other plan-
tation : and now they moved that they might have leave to remove to Conuecti-
cut. The matter was debated divers days, and many roasons alleged pro and
wm”

Here follow the heads of the principal reasons and arguments, on
both sides; and

~ “TUpon these and other arguments, the court being divided, it was put to
vote; and of the deputics, fiftean were for their departure and ten against it.
The Governour and two assistants wore for it, and the Doputy and all the rest of
the assistants were agninst it (excopt the Socretary, who gave no vote); whore-
upon no record was entered, becanse thore wero not six assistants in tho voto, as
the patent requires. Upon this grow a groat difforonce between the governour and
assistants, and the deputies.” ?

The governor that year was Thomas Dudley; the deputy-governor,
Roger Ludlowe; and the assistants were John Winthrop, Sr., John
Humfry, John "‘Haynes, John Endicott, Williain Pynchon, Incrcase
Nowell, William Coddington, John Wintlirop, Jr., and Simon Brad-
street. But all of these assistants were not present at tho meeting.

In the spring of 1635 John IHaynes was chosen governor in the
place of Thomas Dudley, and one of the first acts of the General Court
of Election (May 6) was to grant ¢ liberty to the inhabitants of Water-
ton to remove themselves to any place they shall thinke meete to make
choisé of, prided they continue still vnder this golimt.” At an ad-
journed session of this Court, June 8, after a vote of “like leave
granted to the inhabitants of Dorchester, for their removeall, as Water-
ton hath graunted to them,” —

“ Also, there are three peeces [cannon] granted to the plantaons that shall
remove to Conecticott, to ffortifie themselues withall.” 3

This is the first formal recognition of the plantations “at Connecti-
cut” which appears in the records of the General Court. Three months
later, at the September Court, several orders were made for the protec-
tion and good government of these distant plantations: —

“ Wiltm Westwood is sworne constablo of thoe plautaZons att Conocticott iill
some other be choson,”

1 Winthrop, vol. i. pp. 140, 141.
3 Massachusetts Records, vol. i. p. 148.



TIIE RIVER TOWNS PLANTED. 23

“There is power graunted to any magistrate to sweare a constable att any
plantagon att Conecticott, when the inhabitants shall desire the saine.” !

“It was ordored, that there shalbe two drakes [small cunnou] lent to the
plantacons att Conecticott, to flortifie thomsolues withall, as also sixe barrells of
powder (2 out of Watorton, 2 out of Dorchester, & 2 out of Rocksbury), also 200
shott, with olhor implem* bolonging to the peeces, that nay convoniently be
~ apared, all w aro to bo roturned againo vpon demaund. Captaine Vunderhill &
Mr. Beecher are to deliuor theis things.” 2

“It was ordered, that efiy towne vpon Conecticott shall haue liberty to
chuse theire owno constable, whoe shalbe sworne by some magistrate of this
Court.” $

It is to be noticed that these orders of the General Court were made
some time before the companics of emigrants had left their Massachu-
setts homes. _Individuals had gone to pro Ep(act: and preparo the way,
but the great body of tho colomsts did not Teave until the spring of
1636. Some of * those of Dorchester” “ removed their cattle to Con-
nccticut before winter,” 1635, and ¢ were put to great straits for want
of provisions,” and “ a great part of the old [church of Dorcllester] ”
had gone before tho first of March, 1636.4 Thcy knew not certainly,
any more than the magistrates in the Bay, whether or not they were
going outside of the Massachusetts jurisdiction, nor.did they then care
to discuss that point. They departed as *frecincn and members” of
the Masusachusotts Bay Company, and bound for the present to obey
its laws. They accepted, apparently without objcction, the appoint-
ment of eight men from among the colonists, to whom the business of
government should bo intrusted for onc year, and who should hold
themsclves rosponsiblo to the power that appointed them. So, in the
year 1636, tho threo bodics of cmigrants coming from Watertown, Cam-
bridge, and Dorchester, were gathered here in the Connocticut valley,
bringing the names of their old homes along with themn. What were
soon the towns of Wethersficld, Hartford, un(% Windsor wero at the first
Watertowne, Newtowne (the early name of Cambridge), and Dorchester
plantations.

If we inquire into the causes producing this widc-sprcad dissatis-
faction and desirc for chango among the people of the Massachusetts
Bay, it may be difficult to stato the caso ful{) and cxactly. Some of
the rcasons urged for romoval certainly woro not vory weighty. The
scttlors in tho Bay complained that they had not room enough for ex-
pansion, had not sufficicnt pasturage for their cattle. But surely tho
unoccupied world around them was very large. The territory then
taken up by them was only an infinitesimal fraction of the broad domain
covered by the Massachusctts charter. If it was land only that they
wanted, they might have helpod theiselves to the spreading acres reach-
ing off on cvery side, and still kept themselves within the shelter and
protection of cstablished society.

The reports which had from time to time been brought to them of
the Connecticut valley had doubtless stirred their imaginations. The
word “ Connecticut” meant to them then only the valley. Of the hill
country cast and west of the river, which now makes so large & portion

1 Massachusectts Records, vol. i, p. 159. * Ibid., p. 160.
8 1bid., p. 160. ¢ Winthrop, vol. 1. pp. 188, 184,
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.of the State, they knew little or nothing. But the story of the valley, its
richness, beauty, and extent, had reached their ears and charmed their
thoughts. It was lying there, in the far west, like some fair promised
land waiting for its chosen people. But they could not be unaware of
the great hardships and dangers which must attend the attempt to
remove thither, and if there had not been some causes of irritation and
disturbance greater than those already mentioned, we may be quite .
sure that they would have remained, for the time being, quictly in the
Massachusetts Bay.

The great controversies about Mrs. Anne Hutchinson and her doc-
trines, which so convulsed Boston and the neighboring towns, had not
begun at the time when this uneasiness first manifested itself in the
Massachusetts settlements. Mrs. Hutchinson did not come over until
1634. When the New Haven colony came into the Boston Bay in 1687,
with the general intention of settling in that vicinity, this strife about

- faith and works was in full activity and was rending society with its
fierce antagonisms. There can bo no doubt that this fact had much to
do in turning the New Haven people away to seek another home. But
this cannot be urged as the source of that discontent of which we are
now trying to find the causes. It is true, before the Connecticut emi-

grants left the bay, the seeds of this religious strife had been sown and
the wordy war was beginning, and this may have made those preparing
to degart only the more ready to hasten their steps.

There used to be a rude and summary way of settling the question
now before us. It was said that Mr. Thomas Hooker and Mr. John

"Cotton were jealous of each other,— that they wore both too great to
live peaceably under the same jurisdiction, and so Mr. Hooker with-
drew, and the Connecticut Colony was born out of this contest for

. supremacy. - How crude this is as a piece of political philosophy will
appear from a few brief considerations. Mr. Cotton and Mr. Hooker
came over in the same vessel, the ship ¢ Griffin,” in 1633. Mr. Hooker’s
old friends, to whom he had ministered in England, with some others,
had already gathered themselves together at Cambridge (then New-
towne) and were eagerly looking for his arrival. This he understood ;
and when he landed here in September, 1688, he had no other thought
or wish except to join immediately his waiting people. Nothing but
the sternest sense of duty could have prevailed upon him to take any
other course. It was not dctermined beforchand where Mr. Cotton
should go; and when he found his natural place in the Boston church,
as colleague with Mr. John Wilson, it was not so certainly true that he
had found the place he wanted, as it was that Mr. Hooker had found
the place he wanted. Again, if Mr. Hooker was the chief mover of
discontent, how should it happen that there was almost as early and

.a8 strong a desire for removal in the Dorchester plantation as in the
Newtowne? The ministers at Dorchester, Mr. John Maverick and Mr.
John Warham, did not wish to undertake the planting of a new colony.
They much preferred to remain where they were, and threw their influ-
ence in that direction. But their people, in spite of the opinions of the
ministers, wore bent on removing. Mr. Maverick died before the jour-
ney was made, but Mr. Warham was carried to Windsor by the prevail-
ing opinion of his church and people, and not of his own motion.

In Watertown the case was different. The movement from that
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place was by individuals, and not by the church as a body. It is claimed
that some of the Watertown people, removing to what is now Wethers-
ficld, were carlier on the Connceticut soil than any of the settlers in the
other plantations. It would appear that some of them were here in the
year 1634. But this movement {from Watertown, continued more at
length and in little companies, did not carry the church organization
with it.! '

The ministers and magistrates of the Massachusetts Bay as a rule
did not favor this emigration, but opposed it. They belonged to the
privileged and governing class, and were content with their lot. The
only real exception appears to have been in the casec of Mr. Hooker.
Mr. Stone, his associate, would doubtless remain with him on these
shores, whether he went to Hartford or stayed at Newtowne. In the
circumstances of the case he was almost o part of Mr. Hookor himself,
But Mr. Hooker’s sympathics clearly ran with the discontented people
in the Massachusctts settlements. Governor John Haynes, who came
over with Mr. Hooker in the ship ¢ Griffin,” was of the same mind. -

When we speak of organized churches removing in bodies, a word
of caution may be needful to prevent mnisunderstanding. It is not meant
that the whole membership of the Hooker church at Newtowne went
to Hartford, or the whole membership of the church of Dorchester. to
Windsor. The question of going or staying was doubtless in both
cases decided by the major vote of the voting members. None of full.
age were compelled to go who preferred to remain. On the other hand,
the cmigrants were not limited to church-members. The Dorchester
company had been at their Amecrican home five years before this new
enterprise was undertaken. Thero had grown up in that plantation a
considerable population additional to that which came over in the ¢ Mary
& John” in 1680. The increase had been partly by birth, but chiefly by
new-comers who wero dropping in cvery ycar. When the question of
removal came up, the major part of the church decided to go. But not
a few church-mecinbers stayed behind; and within thiee months after
the John Warham church left for Windsor, anothor church was organ-
ized on that soil under the pastoral care of Mr. Richard Mather. So at
Newtowno, when the IHooker company had taken their departure, a
church under Mr. Thomas Shopard (afterward son-in-law of Mr. Hooker)
was immediately formmed in that scttlemcnt, to moet the wants of those
who remained boliind and of others coming in.

But still the question returns upon us, what were the causes incit-
ing to this wide-spread desire in men to remove out of the bounds of
the Massachusetts Bay. The shape and order of the government of
the Massachusetts Bay Company were fixed in England before the
charter came over in 1630. It was a system in which the real powers

1 The church of Watertown, organized in tho closing days of July, 1630, and placed
under the pastoral care of Mr. George Phillips, is still on the Watertown soil, and celebrated
there its two hundred and fiftieth anniversary in July, 1880. On the other hand, the church
organized in Plymouth, England, on the 30th of March, 16830, which came directly over in a
body and settled in Dorchester, — that church celebrated its two hundred and fiftieth anni-
versary, March 30, 1880, in the town of Windsor, Conn., because, as an orgnnized chuarch,
it left Dorcheater, Mass., in the year 1836, and ever after made its home in Windsor. In like
manner the church which was organized in Cambridge, Mnss,, in October, 1632 or 1688, cele-
brated its two hundred and fiftieth anniversary in Hartford, Conu., in October, 1883. The
anniversary dated from the installation of Mr. Hooker and Mr. Stone at Newtown, but the
church may have boen organized the previous year.
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and prorogatives of government were lodged in tho hands of a fow men,
and tho great body of the common people had little or nothing to do
with it. The leaders of tho colony were men who had felt themselves
oppressed in Old England, and they had betaken themselves to New
England that they might breathe the air of liberty. But it is hard for
men anywhere to clear themselves at once from the ideas and entangle-
ments of the past. Even when they think they are taking great strides
toward freedom and justice, they will yet be held fast in the chains of
old routine and habit. Governor John Winthrop and the chief men
associated with him were noble and just men, and neant to do that
which was good and right. But they had been trained under a kingly
and aristocratic system, where full-grown men, belonging to the com-
mon orde:s, were thought to have no more to do with government in
matters of Church or State than little children in their nurses’ arms.
That idea, embodied virtually in the constitution of the Massachusctts
company, was taken over in 1630 from Old England to New England.
Some secds of liborty were there which wonld work thomsclves out into
fruit in the courso of time; but in the yenrs 1680-1680 tho government
of the Massachusetts Bay, in the final resort, was in the hands of the
governor of the colony and a few men closely associated with himn. The
people might be amused with the idea that they were making and execut-
ing the laws. They might be permitted to play with the outward forms.
lBut the governor, magistrates, and ministors sottled all questions at tho
. last.

In this conneetion, it is to be reomembered that in the Massachusetts
Bay system none but church-members were oven called freemen.. Nono
but church-members were permitted even the pleasure of playing with
the machinery of government. It was not so down in the Plymouth
Colony, where the Pilgrims had had their government in working order
for several years before the Puritans came to the Massachusetts Bay.
In Plymouth all men, whether church-members or not, except such as
were scandalous and corrupt in their lives, were made voters, and shared
in the privileges of the free government. We say were made voters, for
then nowhere would a man be considered a voter simply by reaching
a certain age and paying a poll-tax. Ho would be received on his mer-
‘its. But at Plymouth there was no system in operation which would
exclude a man of fair character from membership in the body politic.
Miles Standish was not a church-member, and was sometimes a little
rough and stormy in his ways; but he could be a voter and a magistrate
under the Plymouth system.

In a government like that in the Massachusetts Bay common men
felt themselves oppressed. They were interfered with in a thousand
little matters which were of a private nature, and which might best
have been left to themselves. Mr. Hooker, when he came to Boston
and Cambridge in 1633, found the common people throughout these
new plantations suffering under this sense of oppression.  There was a
meddlesome interference with them as individuals which warred with
their self-respect and disturbed their peace. They felt this the more
" keenly in New England than they would have felt it in Old England.
They had come out here as from a land of bondage to a place of liberty ;
and to encounter in this their new homo all the annoyances which they
before had, was a special aggravation,
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Sir Richard Saltonstall, the first of the eighteen assistants named in
the Massachusetts Bay charter, came over with Governor Winthrop
in 1630, and cast in his lot with the Watertown people. In 1681 he
returned to England, leaving his affairs here in the hands of his two
sons. From Lugland he wrote a letter to the ministers of Boston from
which we make one or two brief extracts. He says: —

“ It doth not a little grieve my spirit to hear what sadd things are reported
daily of your tyranny and persecutions in Now England, as that you fyne, whip,
and imprison men for their consciences. . . . These rigid ways have laid you
very low in the hearts of the saynts. "We pray for you and wish you prosperitie
suery way and not to practice these courses in the wilderness which you went so
far to preuent. . . . I hope you do not assune to yourselves infallibilitie of judg-
ment, when the most learned of the apostles confessed he knew but in part and
saw but darkly as through a glass. Ob that all those who are brethren, though
yet they cannot think and speak the same things, might be of one accord in the
Lord. . . . Tho Lord give you meeke and humble spirits and to striue so much
for uniformitio as to keep the unity of the spirit in the bond of peace.”

Mr. Hooker held very different ideas from those current among the
magistrates in the Bay touching the rights of the individual man and
his place in a human government. His philosophy, instead of startin
with the divine right of kings and lords and flowing downward,
started with the individual and worked outward and upward. We
have, fortunately, the abstracts of two sermons or lectures preached by
Mr. Hooker in connection with the making and putting into operation
of the original constitution for the government of the Connecticut
Colony in 1638 and 1689. These abstracts were preserved in short-
hand in a manuscript note-book of Mr. Henry Wolcott, of Windsor.!
These heads of discourso are briof, but full of moaning. They mark
the strength and amplitude of Mr. Ifooker’s mind. The first sermon
or lecture was given on Thursday, May 31, 1688, from the text,
Deut. i. 13, “Take you wise men, and understanding, and known among
your tribes, and I will make them rulers over you.” . . . “Captains
over thousands, and captains over hundreds — over fifties — over
tens,” cte. )

“ Doctrine 1. That the choice of public mngistrates belongs unto the peopls,
by God’s own allowance.

“II. The privilege of election, which belongs to the people, therefore must
not be exercised nccording to their humours, but according to the blessed will
and law of God.

“1Il. They who have power to appoint officers and magistrates, it is in
their power also to set the bounds aud limitations of the power and place unto
which they call thom,

“ Reasons : 1. Becauss tho foundation of authority is laid firstly in the free
consent of the people.

%2, Because, by n free choice, the hearts of the people will be more inclined
to the love of the persons [chosen], and more ready to yield [obedience].”

No one could desire a broader charter for individual right and pub--
lic liberty. He might have drawn another lesson from the text which

1 They were deciphered by Dr. J. Hammond Trumbull, and are printed in the first volume
of the Colicctions of tho Connecticut llistorical Sociuty, pp. 20, 21.

\
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he chose, and very likely he did draw it, for we have only the briefest
outline of the discourse, namely, that God said unto the poople, * Choose
and I will make them rulers,” etc.; bringing democratic liberty into
harmony with that great Bible truth, ¢ there is no power but of God;
for the powers that be are ordained of God.” :

The same broad and catholic principles of government are an-
nounced in a letter from Mr. Hooker to Governor John Winthrop, Sr.
from which we shall have occasion to quote by and by for another pur-
pose. The passage we are now to copy may be found in Vol. L. of the
« Collections of the Conngcticut Historical Socicty,” (p. 12):

“It’s also a truth that counsel should be sought of counsellors; but the
question yet is, who those should be. Reserving smaller matters, which fall in
occasionally, in common course, to a lower counsel, in matters of greater conse-
quence, which concern the common good, a general counsel chosen by all, to
transact businesses which concern all, I conceive, under favour, most suitable to
rule and most safe for relief of the whole.”

Such unmistakable language as this clearly shows the bent of
Mr. Hooker’s thinking on natters pertaining to government. It is
apparent that he would have been much more at home down in the
Plymouth plantation, in company with such men as Governor William
Bradford, Edward Winslow, and Elder William Brewster, tlian he was
among the leading magistrates of the Massachusetts Bay, with their
high prerogatives That Mr. Hooker had this democratic tendency in
act as well as in word, is made evident by the shape given, in this respect,
to the Connecticut Colony when it came to be politically organized. It
seems to be generally conceded that no one man did more than he to
give form to the early institutions of Connecticut. Governor John
Haynes and other of the chief men of Connecticut seem to have been
in sympathy and harmony with him; but he stands as the leading
thinker in matters civil, as in matters ecclesiastical and theological.
When society here had becn organized, and the government set in
motion, it was found that the body of freemen, as a rule, embraced all
persons who should be recommended and presented by the najor vote
of their several towns. )

Connecticut, then, was born, at the time it was, largely out of the
public dissatisfactions prevailing in the Massachusetts Bay; while at
the same time it is not to be doubted that the rulers and managers of
affairs in that jurisdiction were trying sincerely, according to the light
they had, to establish a commonwealth for the honor of God and the
welfare of men. And in spite of all the early hindrances encountered,
it grew at length into the grandest proportions of freedom and public
intelligence.
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IL. THE EXODUS AND THE FIRST COMERS.

IN what precedos 1nany things have been said, incidentally, touching
tho going out of the people from the sottlements of the Massachusetts
Bay, to plant the first towns in the Connecticut valley. But it will
not be amiss if we consider, in more minute detail, the order and man-
ner of their going. In looking back over those carly years, we are
apt to think of this movement as having taken place in solid bodies,
and at about one and the same time. On the other hand, what may
fairly be called the “ Exodus” was fragmentary, and stretched itself,
as a whole, ovor sevoral years. It has boon proviously suggested that
more was known at an early datc among the people of the Bay about
the Connecticut valley than might at first be supposed. It must be
remembered that tho people of Plymouth had been on these shores ten
years before Governor Winthrop and his company arrived; and what-
ever knowledge the Plymouth people had of New England, its previous
history, its rivers, lakes, and mountains, the Indian tribes inhabiting it,
cte., would be naturally communicated in one way and another to their
Puritan brethren in the Bay.

But there had been passings to and fro directly between the Massa-
chusetts Bay and the valley in those early years. Governor Winthrop,
in his Journal, under date of April 4, 1631, says: — :

“ Wabginnacut, a sachem upon the River Quonehtacut, which lies west of
Naragancet, came to the Governour at Boaton, with John Sagamore and Jack
Straw (an Indian who had lived in England and had served Sir Walter Raleigh,
and was now turned Indinn again), nud divers of their sannops, and brought
o lettor to the governour from Mr. Endecott to this effect : that the said Wal-
ginnacut wns vory desirous to have some Englishmen to come plant in his coun-
try, and offered to find them corn, and give them yearly eighty skins of beaver,
and that the country was very fruitful, etc., and wished that there might be two
men sent with him to see the country. The Governour entertained them at
dinner, but would send none with him. He discovered after, that the said saga-
moro is & very treacherous man, and at war with the Pekoath (a far greater saga-
moro). His countty is not above five days’ journey from ns by land.”

The Pekoath was tho chiof of tho Pequods, and it was nothing very
treacherous or wicked in Wahginnacut if he did want the English,
with their weapons of war and greater power, to come into his coun-
try to serve as a shelter against that cruel and warlike tribe. The
reference to Sir Walter Raleigh is interesting. When Raleigh’s ships
werc going back and forth in the inoffectual attempt to plant a colony
in Virginia, 1685-1691, they carried quite a number of natives to Eng-
land. It must have been more than forty years bofore, that this Jac
Straw wont to England, probably as a youth, but meanwhile had be-
come & man well advanced. Although Governor Winthrop and his
associates concluded not to give car to this request, yet as this Indian
deputation came with an interpreter, they must have communicated
much information, then fresh and new, about New England’s chief
river and the lands bordering upon it. The Indians then made a
like application to the men of the Plymouth Colony, and they were
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much more inclined to liston to it. At that time and in that wilderness
land all sneh business as this had to move slowly. But Governor
Winthrop, under date of July 12, 1638, records as follows:—

“ Mr, Edward Winslow, governour of Plimouth, and Mr, Bradford came into
the Bay and went away the 18th. They came partly to confer about joining in
a trade to Connecticut, for beaver and hemp. There was a motion to set up a
trading-house there, to prevent the Dutch, who were about to build one ; but in
regard the place was not fit for plantation, there being tliree or four thousand
warlike Indians, and the river not to be gone into but by small pinnaces, having
a bar affording but six feet at high water, and for that no vessels can get in for
seven months in the year, partly by reason of the ice, and then the violent
stream, etc., we thought not fit to meddle with it.”?

Mr. Winslow was Governor of Plymouth that year, because Mr.
Bradford so desired (the latter serving as governor more than thirty
years in all). These two men, of high character, seem to have been at
Boston six days partly on this business, but their visit was unsuccess-
ful. The reasons urged against their proposition (as Mr. Savage, the
editor of Winthrop, admits) “look more like protexts than real mo-
tives.,” And, ho adds, “ some disingenuousness, I fear, may be imputed
‘to [the Massachusetts] council.” The whole matter was dismissed in
a way that secms wanting in courtesy. “ We thought not fit to meddle
with it.” The settlements were rich and strong in the Massachusetts
Bay, and the Separatists down at Plymouth were rather poor and hum-
ble people, and the Massachusetts men preferred not to be mixed up
with them. Governor Winslow and Governor Bradford went back to
Plymouth, and the Plymouth people decided to undertake alone the en-
terprise which they had asked the men of Massachusetts to share.

Though the Massachusetts leaders thought not * fit to meddle with
it,” they did begin to mecddle with it, in their way, almost as soon as’
the Plymouth governors were gone home. It happened about the be-
ginning of September, 1683, that ¢ John Oldham, and three with him,
went overland to Connecticut, to trade.” ¢ About ten days before
this tir;xc, a bark was sct forth to Connecticut and those parts, to
trade.” -

If this had been a simple private enterprise of John Oldham and his
three companions, we should not probably have found his name, in this
connection, in Winthrop’s Journal. John Oldham was a strange char-
acter, o man of considerable ability, but a restless and roving adven-
turer, who came to Plymouth as carly as 1628, and had already passed
through a variety of fortunes. He had been ignominiously expelled from
Plymouth in 1624, and had lived some time at Nantasket. He had now
joined himself to the Watertown settlement in the Bay, where land had
been granted him, and where he was employed, to some extent, in an
official capacity. No man in the Bay was more fit, by his knowledge
of the Indians, to be sent on such an exploring expedition than he.
Governor Winthrop tells us, “ The sachem used them kindly and gave
them some beaver. They brought of the hemp which grows there in
great abundance, and is much better than the English.” 8

1 Winthrop, vol. i. p. 105.° 2 Ibid., p. 111 ; under date of Sept. 4.
$ John Oldham, after all his wanderings and exposures, was killed by the Indians of Block
Tsland in 1636, and his death was made one of the pretexts for the war against the Pequots.
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Not only was there this overland expedition to the valley, but under
date of Oct. 2, 1633, Winthrop (i. 112) records the return of

“The bark Blessing [Winthrop’s vessel, the “ Blessing of the Bay "], which was
sont to the southward. . . . She had been at an island over agninst Connecticut,
called Long Island. . . . They were also in the river of Connecticut, which is
barred at the entrance, so as thoy could not find above one fathom of water.”

There can be little doubt that both this voyage by sea and Old-
ham’s overland journey were brought about by the proposition from
Plymouth which the Massachusetts men “ did not think fit to meddle
with.” John Oldham went back to his home in Watertown. This was
in the fall of 1688. Winter was coming on, and nothing more could be
done until another scason.! Oldham and his three companions secm to
have been the first whito men that had gone across the country from
the Bay to the river. Winthrop tells us that “he lodged at Indian
towns all the way.” He had been in the country now ten years, and
he knew the ways and habits of the Indians, and probably had acquired
their language sufficiently to hold some converse with them.

The winter of 1683-1634 passed by and in the summer of 1634
Oldham led out a company of settlers, or adventurers, and planted them
at Pyquaug, afterward called Watertown, and a little later Wethers-
field. It is generally believed that this company reached their destina-
tion late in the summer or in the early autumn; and from the fact that
they chose Pyquaug, if is supposed thaf this place had been reached by
Oldham and his three companions the previous year.

One thing here is worthy of particular notice. The movement of
this company of men under Oldham was before leave had been granted
to tho pecople of any of the Massachusotts towns to romove. It was
Scpt. 4, 1634, when tho long debate began, which decided that the in-
"habitants of Nowtowne might remove; and it was not until May 6,
1635, that the like privilege was given to the Watertown company.
But these adventurers with Oldham were on the ground in Connecticut
before even the Newtowne people — the first to obtain this privilege —had
received any such permission. This was not, then, a part of that larger
movemont of disaffected people upon which we have so fully dwelt,

1 At lenst ono other overland journey from the Bay to the Connecticut Valloy was mado in
tho autumn of 1633, Under date of Jan, 20, 1634, Winthirop mentions the return of ** Hall
and the two othors, who went to Connecticut November 3, . . . baving lost themselves and
endured much misery. They informed us that the small-pox was gone as far as any In-
dian plantation was known to the west, and mnch people dead of it, by reason whereof they
could have no trade.” (i. 128). Hubbard (Hist. of N. England, cxxviii.) says that ‘“Sam-
uel Hall, who died lately about Malden, in Essex, scil. 1680,” went with Oldham on his
first journey to Connecticut, “in the beginning of September.” Samuel Hall was of Ipswich,
in 1636, afterwards roturned home to England, and died 1680, ‘‘ at Langford, near Malden, in
Essex.” — SAvAGE, Genealogical Dictionary. :

$ Tho report made by Hall and his companions was not such as to encou new adven-
turers, even if the season had been more favorable for undertaking so long and perilous a journey.
“This winter was vory mild, . . . but oft suows, and great : one snow, the 15th [oi' Febru-
ary] was near two fect deep all over,” in Massachusetts. (/Vinthrop, i. 124). There was no
" hope of success in trade with the Iudians, for hunting and trmpping were suspended Ly the
terrible rav: of the amall-pox among the Connecticut tribes.mgThe few who were not
stricken by diseaso had enough to do in tending the sick and burying the dead. Of *about
a thousand of them” who occupied a palimﬁoed fort, near the gl mouth trading-house
(Windsor), *‘above 900, and a halfo of them dyed, and many of them dig rott above ground for
want of buriall.,” — BrAprorp, Hislory of Plymouth, p. 325,
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Can we well doubt that it was a scheme to counterbalance the enter-

prise of the Plymouth men in planting their trading-house at Windsor -

the year before ?
Another little record in Winthrop’s Journal for July, 1684, is worthy
of attention : —

“8ix of Newtown went in the Blessing (being bound to the Dutch planta-
tion), to discover the Connecticut river, intending to remove their town thither.”

It is certainly a curious circumstance that a place “ not fit for plan-
tation, there being three or four thousand warlike Indians, and the river
not to be gone into but by small pinnaces,” ctec., should so soon after
become a place of such commanding interest. Therc was then, in
16384, at Windsor a small company of white men from Plymouth, and
a larger company (eighteen or twenty) at Wethersfield. Whether the
six Newtowne men who sailed that summer ¢ to discover the Connecticut
river,” which the Dutch had discovered in 1614, returned home or tar-
ried in those parts wo do not discover.

During the year 1685 other important steps wore taken in the settle-
ment of the Connecticut valley, though as yet the whole enterprise was in
its incipient stages. The little company which John Oldham led to
Wethersfield in 1684 managed to live through the winter of 1634-365,
and early in the summer following received quite a large accession
from their old friends and neighbors at Waterbown, Mass. [rancis S.
Drake, in his “ History of Middlesex County, Mass.” (vol. ii. p. 440),
Bays:—

“ Wethersfield, the oldest town in Connecticut, received from Watertown its
first considerable emigration in 1634. Pyquaug, its Indian name, was changed
in 1635 to Watertown, and later to Wethersfield. . . . May 29, 1635, the follow-
ing Watertown men went to Wethersfield : Rev. Richard Denton, Robert Rey-
nolds, John Strickland, Jonas Weede, Rev. John Sherman, Robert Coe, and
Andrew Ward,”

Others, doubtless, were in this company, but these are mentioned as
leading men. It Las already been stated in a previous scction that
Watertown did not send an embodied church to Connecticut; but in this

.company of 1635 were two ministers, both men of good ability, and
one of them, John Sherman, eminent for his mathematical knowledge
as well a8 his pulpit power.
~ About this time came another accession to the population of the
valley, from a somewhat unexpected quarter. June 16, 1685, « A
bark of forty tons arrived [at Boston], set forth with twenty servants,
by Sir Richard Saltonstall, to go plant at Connecticut.”!?

Sir Richard Saltonstall was in England, and this company sent by
him, under Mr, Francis Stiles, came up the river and landed at Wind-
sor, where they found the little company of Plymouth.men already
established. This new arrival complicated matters at Windsor. The

men from Plymouth, braving the opposition of the Dutch, had already -

built their trading-house at this point. But the problem at Windsor
was still more complicated by the arrvival of a pioncer party from

1 Winthrop, vol. i. p. 161.
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Dorchester, Mass., to break ground and prepare for the coming soon
after of the main body of emigrants from that plantation.

Palfrey quietly remarks,! ¢ 1t was not by Dutchinen that the Plymouth
people were to be dispossessed of Connecticut;” and if he had gone on
and completed the sentence as it lay in his mind, he would probably have
added, “ but by their English brethren in the Massachusetts Bay.”

It was the 1st of July, 1635, when this company from England
landed in the Conncecticut valley. The Dorchester pioncers, who had
been there a few days before, had gone up the river prospecting, to see
if they could look out any better place.? They did not discover any that
suited them 80 well, and they returned to find those new-comers on the
ground. Here were three companics of English-born people putting in
their claims for the Windsor territory ; and the Plymouth poople, who
had bought the land of the Indinns, being fow in number, felt compelled
at last to make such terws as they could, and retire, — not at once, for
there was a long complication over this business before matters were
finally adjusted. : ’

John Winthrop, Jr., came over to the Massachusetts Bay in 1632,
and in May of that year was chosen one of the assistants. In 1688,
with a little company of twelve he “set up a trucking house up
Merrimac river,” at Agawam, thereby laying the foundations of the
town of Ipswich. He went back to England in 1634, and in October,
1685, returned at the head of a new enterprisc looking to the occupation
of the Connecticut River and the settlement of Connecticut.

Palfrey says : —

‘“When John Winthrop the younger came to New Eugland the second time,
he bore & commission from Lonl Say and Sele, Lord Brooke, and others their
nssocintos, patontoos of Comnccticut. It constituted him Governor of that terri-
tory for a year, with instructions to build a fort at the river's mouth, for which
he came provided with mnen and ammunition, and with two thousand pounds in
money. . . . He was to tako care that all settlors for the present should ¢plant
themselves either at the harbor or near the mouth of the river, for the purpose
of more effective mutual defence.”*

Sir Richard Saltonstall was ono of these patentees, and it was in
nid of this general entorprise that he had sent forward the vessel and
passcngers alrondy noticed. This company held, or supposed they held,
the territory of Connecticut, through powers conferred by Robert Rich,

. Earl of Warwick, president of the council for New England. George
Fenwick was one of these patentees. He came over as their represent-
ative, in 1636, to take charge of the Saybrook plantation. He contin-
ued to manage and govern the same until, in 1644, the whole was sold
to the colony of Connecticut.

Governor Winthrop notices in his Journal the arrival of his son at
the head of this new interest. Under date of October, 1635, ho says:

1 History of New England, vol. i. p. 340.

2 July 6, 1635, Jonstﬁan Brewster, who was the manager of tho Plymouth trading-house
at * Matianuck ” { Windsor), wrote to Governor Bradford, ‘' Y¢ Massachusetts men are coming
almosé dayly, some by water & some by land, who are not yet determined where to setle, though
some have & great mind to y° place we are upon, and which was last bought. . . . 1 shall doe
what I can to withstand them. I hope they will hear reason,” etc. — BrAprorp, History of
Plymouth, p. 339, . ’

$ Ifistory of Now England, vol. i, p. 450.

YOL. I. — 8,
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“There came also John Winthrop, the younger, with commission from the
Lord Say, Lord Brook, and divers othor great porsons in lingland, to begin o
plantation at Connecticut and to be governour there.”

One other item may complete the record of 1685 so far as concerns
the laying of foundations for the settlement of the Connecticut valley.
‘Late in the autumn an overland company set out from the Massachn-
setts Bay and fell on troublous times. Winthrop wrote, nnder date of
Qct. 15,1635: —

“ About sixty men, women, and little childron went by land towards Con-
necticut with their cows, horses, and swine, and after a tedious and difficult
journey arrived safe there.”-

A month later (November 26) he has the following entry, which
refers to the same journey:— : _

“Thore camo twelve men from Connecticut. Thoy had Deen ton days upon
their journey, and had lost ono of their company, drowned in the ice by the way ;
and had been all starved, but that, by God's providence, they lighted upon an
Indian wigwam. Connecticut river was frozen up the 15th of this month.”

The cold weather set in early that season, but it was not wise to
defer such a journcy, with women and children and cattle, to so late a
period. As 1t proved, tho goods which they sent round by water were
frozen in at the mouth of the river, and, being without supplics, the
twolve men secem to have struggled hack through tho forests so that the
burden of support might be less upon those who were alveady there.
If the men from Plymouth and Stiles’s party had not taken care of theso
unfortunate travellers during the long cold winter of 1635-86, their
condition would have been most pitiable. The Plymouth men showed
themselves better Christians at that tiine than did the men of Massa-
chusetts. : ' »

In many histories and records this company of sixty, that came
across the country in the fall of 1635, is regarded as an advance party
of Mr. Hooker’s colony. Somectimes they are spoken of as if they
came from different places in the Bay, and wore destined to differ-
ent places in tho valley. But the fact was, probably, that they were
simply Dorchester people, the advance party from that town, and
that others would follow in the spring. That the great body of the
Dorchester peoplo had not removed to Comnecticut in that autumnal
emigration is evidenced by the fact that Edward Winslow, of Plymouth,
went to Dorchester, after that migration, to cffect a scttlement in the
wrong done about the lands at Windsor. Governor Winthrop mentions
this under date of Feb. 24, 1635-6: —

“Mr. Winslow of Plimounth came to treat with those of Dorchester about
their land in Connecticut, which they had taken from them.”!

1 For an account of the ** differencos betwoene those of Dorchester plantation and them
‘of Plymouth),” and Low, at last, *‘ was y* controversio ended, bat the unkindnes not so soono
orgotten,” soo Bradford’s * History of Plymouth,” pp. 838-842. **"They of Now-towno dealt
more fairly, desireing only what they [of Plymouthﬂpcou]d conveniently spare from a compe-
tancie reserved for a plantation, for themselves ; which made [us] the more carefull to procure
& moyety for them, in this agreement & distribution.” — History of Plymouth, p. 842.
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They came to Dorchester because the leaders and responsible agents
of the Windsor plantation were still there. On the 8d of that month
of February, Jolm Maverick, one of the ministers of the congregation,
died at Dorchester; and the prevailing impression is that Mr. John
Warham, the other minister, was also thore through the winter, though
somo think he went on to Windsor in that autumnal journcy. No
movenment to organizo another church in Dorchoster was made until
1636, and it is altogether probable that Mr. Warham did not leave
Dorchester before the spring of 16386, but stayed there and ministered
as before. So ends the year 1685; and we have endeavored to trace the
various enterpriscs and events of that year which had a bearing on the
question of the scttloment of tho valley.

"The year 1636 may bo rogarded as the special year of the going out
of the children of Isracl. By that time the plans for removal had been
well matured. The incipient stages had been passed. The pioneers
were already on the ground. Tho story of tho jouru:iy of Thomas
Hooker and his congregation from Newtowne to Hartford in the early
summeor of 1636 used to be (and we trust is now) well known to
cvery intelligont boy and girl in Connecticut. There is something
picturcsque and romantic in the narrative, however simply it may bo
related. Art, too, has lent its aid to heighten the effect. The season
of the year, the solitude and loncliness of the forests, the high aim
and object of the journey, — these and other couspiring influences tend
to invest that early emigration westward with a gcnuine romance.
Palfrey (vol. i. p. 453) tells the story thus:—

“The plan of removal being thus facilitated [by arrangemeonts for tho sale of
their houses nnd lands in Newtown], Hooker and Stune, with the members of their
congregation, & hundrod in number, of both soxes and all agus, teok advan
of the plonsantost of tho Now England wnouths to make their emigration. They
directed their march by tho compass, aided by such local information o8 they hal
derived from provious explorers, Their herd of a hundred and sixty cattle, which
grazed as they journeyed, supplied them with milk. They hewed their difficult
way through thickets, and their simple engineering bridged with felled trees the
streams which could not be forded. Tents and wagons protected themn from the
rain, and sheltered their sleep. Iarly berries, which grew along the way, fur-
nished an agrecable varioty in their diet, and the fragrance of summer flowers
and the songs of innumerablo birds boguilod the weariucss of their pilgrimage,
It oceupied a fortnight, though the distance was scarcely a hundred wiles. Mrs.
Hookor, by reason of illness, was conveyed in a horse-litter.

“ At n spot on the right bank of the Counecticut, just north of the Dutch
stockade [at Dutcl Point), the caravan reached its journey’s end. The little set-
tlements above and below were enlarged in the course of the summer by the emi-
gration of the churches of Dorchester and Watertown.”

By tho closing words of this paragraph it is vory evident that Dr.
Palfrey had the same idea that has already been expresscd; namely,
that Windsor and Wethersfield received large accessions in the year
1636, — larger than all they had received previously. Only, as before
suggested, Watertown did not send an organized and embodied church,
a8 Newtowne and Dorchester had done. If any will turn to the eccle-
siastical record of Connecticut, he will find that the old Wethersficld
church dates froin 1635, and was formed on the Connceticut soil.
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Of the companies coming into the valley from Dorchester and Water-
town during the year 1636 we have little information. Whether they
came in considerable bodies or in little and scattered companies we do
not know. But we have the evidence that they came in some way dur-
ing that year, else there could not have been so many white men in the
valley to undertake the Pcquot war in the spring of 1687. About the
1st of May, 1637, a levy of ninety able-bodied men was made from
the three plantations on the river, which must have taken from one
third to one half of all the men in the three plantations. Palfrey
speaks of the “ two hundred and fifty men in the Connecticut towns”
at the opening of the Pequot war in 1687. If there were so many, and
his conjecture cannot be far from the truth, many of them must have
come in in times and ways to us unknown. Such as were here must
have been here before the end of 1636. When on the 1st of May, 1637,
it was ¢ ordered that there shalbe an offensiue warr ag* the Pequoitt,”
there had been no time for land journeys, that year, from the Bay.
Theso expeditions, as a runle, werc not made so early in the scason.

By the levy then made it is shown that Hartford had more popula-
tion than either of the other two settlements, and Wethersfield the least.
The settlement at Wethersfield, however, had just passed through a
horrible slaughter, which had taken off several of their men, and in the
state of fear and distress there prevailing it may be that plantation was
not called to furnish its full quota according to its numbers.

We may properly end the present chapter at this point, though, of
courso, people continued for several years to como in considerable nuin-
bers from the Massachusotts Bay to the valloy towns. Some who would
havo come at the first were compelled to delay until they could more
satisfactorily settle their affairs. New-comers from England sought
these Connecticut towns as the places to which their kindred and friends
had gone; but the real transfer which originated and established the
colony of Connecticut took place in 1635 and 1636.



CHAPTER I1IL

SECTION L

ORGANIZATION OF CIVIL GOVERNMENT.

BY THE REV. INCREASE N. TARBOX, D.D.

Tue Fouxpations oF State AND CunUrRcH. — THE First CONSTITUTION : THB
' FuNDAMENTALS oF JANUART, 1639.

HEN the emigrants from the Massachusetts Bay found them-

selves, in the summer of 1636, licre in tho valley of the Con-

necticut, they were under a governmental arrangement provided

for them by the General Court of Massachusetts. At the session of March

8, 1685-6, “ A Comission [was] graunted to seuerall P*sons to governe

the People att Coflecticott for the Space of a Yeare nowe nexte comeing,
an Exemplificaon whereof ensueth ” : —

“Wherons, vpon some reason & grounds, there aro to remoue from this o' Com-
ouwenlth & body of tho Mattachusotts in Amorien dyv's of of loveing flriends,
noighb's, freomen & members of Newe Towne, Dorchest’, Waterton, & other
plncos, whoe are resolved to transplant themselucs & their estates vnto the Ryver
of Cofiecticott, there to reside & inhabite, & to that end dyv™ are there already, &
dyv™ others shortly to goe, wee, in this present Court assembled, on the behalfe of
of said memb™, & John Winthrop, Jun’, Esq", Gouern’, appoyncted by certaine
noble personages & men of quallitie interesed in the said ryv", w™ are yet in
England, on their bohalfe, have had a serious consideraon there[on], & thinke it
mooto that whore thore are & poople to sitt down & cohabite, thore will followe,
vpon occagon, some cause of dilferonce, ns also dyvors misdeamean™, w*® will re-
quire a speody redresso ; & in regard of the distance of place, this state and gou-
ernm' cannot tako notice of the same as to apply timely remedy, or to" dispence
equall iustice to them & their affaires, as may be desired ; & in regard the said
noble p'sonages and men of qualitie haue something ingaged themselues & their
estates in tho planting of the eaid ryver, & by vertuo of a pattent, doe require
jurisdicton of the saill place & peoplo, & noithor the mindes of the said p'sonages
(thoy being writ vnto) are as yet knowen, nor any manner of gouernm' is yet
agreed on, & thoro being n necessitie, as aforesaid, that some present gouernm* may
bo obserued, therefore thinkoe meete, & soe order, that Roger Ludlowe, Esq®, Will™
Pinclion, Esq’, John Steele, Will® Swaine, Henry Smyth, Will™ Phelps, Will™
Westwood, & Androwe Ward, or the great’ pte of them, shall haue full power &
aucthoritic to hear & determine in a judiciall way, by witnesses vpon oathe exam-
ine, w'[in] the said plantagon, all those differences w* may arise betweeno partie
& partie, as also, vpon misdemean’, to inflicte corporall punishm* or imprisonm®,
to fline & lovy the same if oceadon soe require, to make & decreo such orders, for
the presont, that may ba for the penceable & quiott ordering the affaires of the
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said plantaton, both in tradeing, planting, building, lotts, millitarie dissipline,
defensiue warr (if neede soo require), as shall best conduce to tho publique goode
of the same, & that the said RRoger Ludlowe [and othera][, or the greater p'te of
them, shall haue power, vnder the great’ parte of their ha[nds], att a day or dayes
by them appoyncted, vpon convenient not[ice], to convent the said inhabitants
of the said townes to any convenient place that they shall thinke meets, in a
legall & open manner, by way of Court, to proceede in execute[ing] the power
& aucthoritie aforesaide, & in case of present necessitie, two of them ioyneing to-
geather, to inflict corporall punishm® vpon any offender if they see good & war-
rantable ground soe to doe ; provided, alwayes, that this comiission shall not extende
any longer time than one whole yeare from the date thereof, & in the meane timne
it shalbe lawfull for this Court to recall the said presents if thoy sce enuse, and if soe
be there may be a mutuall and setled gouernm* condiscended vnto by & with the
good likeing & consent of the saide noble personages, or their agents, the inhab-
itants, & this cofionwealthe ; provided, also, that this may not be any preiudice
to the interest of those noble personages in the s® ryver & confines thereof within
their ssuerall lymitts.”?

This framo of provisional government was probably agreeable to all
partics concerned. It could not mean vory much; for, whatever doubts
may have existed at an carlier date, it must havo been generally under-
stood by that time that Massachusetts had no jurisdiction over that part
of the Connecticut valley where Windsor, Hartford, and Wethersfield
were planted. It will be noticed in this Commission, granted to cight
persons, that the name of Willinm Pynchon, the foundor of Springficld,
i8 included. He led out, in this summer of 1686, his littlo colony from
Roxbury and planted it at Agawam. Thore wore soveral places in Now
England called by this Indian name. The torritory in lissex County,
Mass., on which now stand the towns of Ipswich, Newbury, and others,
was one of the ancient Agawams. There was an Agawam? also in
Wareham, Mass. Mr. Pynchon and his little company took possession
of the Agawam of the Connecticut valley in 1636, and in this temporary
government it was thought best to link theso four river scttlements in
one system for one year. During the year while this provisional gov-
ernment lasted there seems to have been no objection raised to it from
any quarter. Six public courts wero held during the year, four of themn
at Newe Towne (Hartford), one at Dorchester (Windsor), and onc at
Watertowne (Wethersfield). The eight commissioners were never all
of them in attendance at one of these meetings. Mr. Pynchon, of Aga-
wam, was present only once during the yoar. In two of the mectings
only five commissioners, ¢ the major prte of them,” performed the service.
Tho last mecting of the commissionors’ court hefore the oxpiration of
their year of office was held Feb. 21,1637. At this meeting tho first step
was taken in the way of untying themselves from their Massachusetts
belongings : —

1 Massachusetts Records, vol. i. pp. 170, 171.

8 This Indian name denotes a tract of low meadow, or ‘“‘low land” in general. Captain
John Smith (1618) mentions the harbor of 4ugoam (hu clsewhere wrote dggowam), now Ips-
wich, and the ** plaine marish ground, fit for pasture or salt ponds,” covering half of Plum
Island opposite (Generall Historie, 1624, p. 214). Wooad, in *New England's Prospect,”
writes the nnme of this placo Ag and Ip , which “‘aboundeth with , . . Frmt
Meads and Marshes and plaine plowing grounds,” cte. (p. 48). Agawam ook, in Warcham,
flows ‘“‘throug flat meadows™ (2 Mass. Hist. Coll., iv. 286). In an Indian decd to John
Pynchon and others, of Springfield, July 15, 1636, the Indian name is written 4guam. The
Rev. Thomas Hooker, in a letter to Governor Winthrop, 1688, mado it Agaam. — Ep.
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“It is ordered that the plantadon nowe called Newtowne shalbe called &
named by the name of Harteford Towne, likewise the plantaton now called Water-
towne shalbo called & named Wythersfeild.”

“It is ordored y* the plantagon called Dorchestor shallbeo called Windsor.”

“ Wythersfeild” is spelled “ Weathersfeild” in the same record ; and
that is tho way it was moro commonly spelled in the carly colonial
days, though somectimes, 08 now, “ Wethersficld.”

[By common consent apparcntly, possibly Ly clection, but more
probably for the discharge of the last work of their cominission, “ to
convent the . . . inhabitants of the said townes to any convenient
place . .. in a legall & open manner, by way of Court,” etc., six of
the cight commissioners (Mr. Pynchon and Mr. Smyth of Agawam not
being present) held o Court at Lartford, March 28, 1637. The com-
mission, by its own limitation, could “not extend any longer time than
one whole ycar from the date thereof,” and —from its place in the
Massachusctts record (though the commission as recorded bears no
datc) —it scems to have been issued by tho Massachusetts General
Court of March 3, 1636.])

Just as the comissioners continued in office after the cxpiration of
their year, so Agawain, which had been linked to the three towns below,
continued on for a time in this same conncction, and Mr. Pynchon
occasionally attended as a magistrate at the General Court. Agawam,
though it sent no men to the Pequot War in 1637, was asscsscd for,
and apparcntly did bear, its portion of the expenses, as if its part and
portion had been with the three towns below.

[ The first day of May, 1637,” a ¢ Gencral Court” met at Hartford ;
and this was, so far as the records show, the first general court held in
the colony. Tho towns — oxcopt Agawam (Springficld) — woro ropre-
scnied cach by two magistrates, assistants, or connnissioners (the title
of theso “magistrates” was not fixed before tho Constitution of 1688
39), and by three deputics, here called * Committees.” An clection by
the people must have been made between March 28 and May 1; but of
this election there is no mention in the records. The * upper house”
—a8 wo may call it by anticipation —included five of the six com-
missioners of 1636-1637, the sixth, Mr. (Thomas) Welles, taking the
place of Mr. Williun Westwood, of the original commission. The
colony records of this period of transition from a provisional to an
cstablished constitutional government arc manifestly incomplete; but
the original commission had expired by limitation, and Mr. Welles
could not have been substituted for Mr. Westwood except by the choice
of his town (Hartford) or by a general eloction.]

At a mecting of the Court, Feb. 9, 1637-38, after the transaction of
some business about the price of corn and the payment of the expenses
of the recent war (Agawam being included in this lovy of money), the
following important vote was passcd before adjournment : —

“It is ordored y* the gonorall Courte now in being shall be dissolued and
there is noe more attendance of the members thercof to be expected except they
be newly Chosen in the next gonerall Courte.”

At this point, probably, a full end was made of all the real or secmn-
ing authority that had Leen lodged in the commission granted (with
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the assent of the cmigrants) by the Massachusetts Court in March,
16886, for the government of the river towns. The people of Connecticut
found themselves far away out of the Massachusetts jurisdiction, and
they proposed to sct up for themselves an order of government which
should be their own as fully as that of the Massachusctts Bay was its
own. DBoth colonies owed allegiance in a general way to the mother
country, but meant to be intcpendent of each other in all the ordi-
nary details of civil rule, while they might be united for mutual sys-
tem and defence. The Connceticut towns had alrcady chosen their
reprosentatives in a General Court. By this action the members so
clected limited their own tenure of oflice.

Another clection must have been made sometime between Feb-
ruary 9 and March 8; for the new Court came together on that day,
and Mr. Pynchon was in attendance, showing that Agawam still
inclined to be counted in the same category with the Connecticut
towns, and sent her commissioner to the Hartford Court as before.
Through the ycar 1638 (as we now rcckon years) Agawam walked in
this companionship, and apparently regarded herself as practically o
member of the Little River confederacy. But on the 14th day of Janu-
ary, 1638-9, ¢ the inhabitants and residents of Windsor, Harteford, and
Wethersfield ” adopted by their votes a frame of government, and asso-
ciated and conjoined themselves ¢“to be as one Publike State or Com-
onwelth.” The cleven “ fundamental orders” by which this union was
established —— with their preamble — present ¢ the first example in his-
tory of a writton constitution,— a distinct organic law, constituting a
government and defining its powers.” ! The Pilgrims had made their
simple compact in few words in the cabin of the “ Mayflower.” The
Massachusetts Company had brought with them from England a char-
ter giving certain rights and prerogatives over a described amount of
territory. But this constitution defined tho laws, rules, and regulations
of a government created by the people and existing for the people.
1t opens as follows: —

“ Forasmuch as it hath pleased the Allmighty God, by the wise disposition
of his diuyne pruidence so to Ordor and dispose of things, that wo the Inhabitants
and Residents of Windsor, Harteford and Wethersfiold are now cohabiting and
dwelling in and vppon the River of Conectecotte and the Lands thereunto ad-
joyneing ; And well knowing where a people are gathered together the word of
God requires that to mayntayne the peace and vnion of such a people there
should be an orderly and decent Gouerment established according to God, to or-
dor and dispose of the affayres of the poople at all scasons as occation shall re-
quire : doo therefore assotinte and conioyne our selues to be as one Publike State
or Comonwelth ; and dos, for our selues and our Successors and such as shall be
adioyned to vs att any tyme hereafter, enter into Combination and Confederation
togather, to mayntayne and p‘searue the liberty and purity of the gospell of our
Lord Jesus w*® we now p'fesse, as also the disciplyne of the Churches w accord-
ing to the truth of the said gospell is now practised amongts vs; As also in of
Ciuell Affaires to bo guided and gouerned acconling to such Lawes, Rules, Orders
and docreos as shall be mwle, ordered, & decrood, us followoth.”

.[It is not nccossary to introduce horo the oloven fundamental
“orders” which follow this prcamble and declaration. They may bo

1 Dr. Leonard Bacon.
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found, in full, in the first volume of the Colony Records (pp. 21~25).!
The tenth order vests in the General Courts, composed of the magis-
trates clected by the frecinen and the deputies chosen by the several
towns, * the supreme power of the Commonwealth,” and *they only
shall have power to make laws or repeal them, to grant levies, to admit
of freemen,” cte.

1t will be noticed that we havo now reached a point where Agawam
drops out. The paragraph which next precedes the record of this Con-
stitution, and ends the record of the General Court of April 5, 1638,
reads thus: —

“1t is ordered that none shall trade in this Riuer w* the Indians for beau’
E‘benver], but those that are herenfter named (vizt) : For Agawam, Mr. Pyncheon ;
or Windsor, Mr. Ludlowe, Mr. Ilull; for llartefornd, Mr. Whytinge, Tho, Staun-
ton ; Wythersfoild, Geo, Ilubberd & Rich. Lawes;” eotc.

Iero Agawam appears as co-partuer, but appears so no longer.2 The
Connecticut Colony stands alone, self-governed, with its three towns.

On the 11th of April, 1639, came the First General Meeting of the
Freemen, under the Coustitution, for the clection of Magistrates, when
Jolm 1llaynes, who had been Governor in the Massachusetts Bay in
1635, was now chosen the first Governor of the Counecticut Colony.
Mr. Roger Ludlowe, of Windsor, was chosen deputy-governor. The
magistrates were Mr. George Wyllys, Mr. Edward Hopkins, Mr. Thomas
Welles, Mr. John Wecbster, Mr. William Phelps.

Mr. Edward Hopkins was chosen sccretary, and Mr. Thomas Welles
treasurer,

Twelve deputies or representatives had been chosen, four from each
town, and so the constitutional government of Connccticut was set in
motion.

We have before spoken of the frecdom of suffrage in carly Connecti-
cut a8 contrasted with that which prevailed in Massachusctts. The
first passago in the Colonial Records which attempts to fix the law on
this point may be found in vol. i. p. 96: —

“ Wherens in the fundamentall Order y* is said (that such who haue taken
the oath of fidellity and are admitted inhabitants) shall be alowed as quallified

1 A good alstract of thom is given in Dr. B. Trwinbuli’s * History of Connecticut,”
vol. i. pp. 100-103, and thoy are jwinted in full in his Appendix, pp. 488-502. — Ep.

3 The diaoovcry of the Rev. Thomas liocker's letter to Governor Winthrop, written in the
sutumn or carly winter of 1638 (published, 1860, in the Conn. Historical Society’s Collec-
tions, vol. L. pp. 3-15) lins enabled us o supply an important omission in the Colony Records.
Nothing wana previously known to historians concerning the constitution of government in
Connecticut betweon the expiration of the Massachusetts commission in March, 1837, and the
adoption of the Fundamental Laws, in January, 1639, Tha records show the proceedings of a
General Court at Hartford, April 5, 1638, composed of magistrates and comimnittees ; but noth-
ing is said of their elcction, or of any dclegation of aunthority by the freemen. At this court
the names of Mr. Pynclion and Mr. Smith (of Agawam) nppesr on the list of magistrates, and
those of Mr. Moxam and Mr. Jehu Burr (both o?n Agawant) with the committees or deputies,
¢4 At the time of election,” wrote Mr. Hooker, in the letter above mentioned, *the committees
from the town of Agnam came in with other towns, and chose their magistrates, installed them
into thelr government, took ocath of them for the execution of justice according to God, and
engn themselves to submit to their fovemment and the exccution of justice by their means
and dispensed by the authority which they put upon them, by choice.” To this General Court,

robably, was intrusted the work of framing the first constitution ; and Mr. Hooker’s sermon
Eelsewhere quoted) of May 81, 1638, may have been delivered before an adjourned session of
this Court, and *‘was apparently designed to lead the way to the E:ncml recoguition of the
great truths woon to ho incorporated in the Fundamental Laws.” — Kb,
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for chuseing of Deputyes, The Court declares their judgement, that such only
shall bo counted admitted inhabitants, who are admitted by n gonerall voate of
the major p'te of the Towne that reccauath them.”

No one ought to desire any system more nearly approaching univer-
sal suffrage (for men) than that. In this infant Commonwealth, where
the great desire was to increase and grow, if any man was so bad that
a major part of the voters in a town would not admit him as an inhab-
itant, surely he ought not to bo a voter. The temptation manifestly
would be to make voting almost too easy under this rule. Some cvi-
dently crept in from time to time that were not wanted. So in 1656
the law was changed to the following form: —

“The Court doth order that those that shall hereafter bee made free shall haue
an affirmative certificate under the hands of all or a major part of the deputies
in their seueral towns of their Peaceable and honest conversation, and those and
only those of them w the Gen'. Court shall approue shall bes made free men.” !

This fixed a check upon the too casy compliance of n given town ;2
but the system was still one of broad gencral suffrage like that of the
Plymouth Colony, but was unlike that of the Massaclhusectts or the New
Haven Colonies. Palfrcy says of this organization of government in
Connecticut : —

¢ Containing no recognition whatever of any external authority on either side
of the ocean, it provided that all persons should be freemen who should be ad-
mitted as such by the freemen of the towns and take an oath of allegiance to the
Commonwealth. . . . The whole constitution was that of an independent state,
It continued in force, with very little alteration, a hundred and eighty years, se-
curing throughout that period a degree of social order and happiness such as is
rarely the fruit of civil institutions.”

We desire again to call special attention to the peculiar character
of early Connecticut, in that the beginning of everything which after-
ward made the State was from thesc threc little settlements in the Con-
necticut valley. They grew out of no government before existing.
They were native and original. They rose into being out of the wants
and the rights of individual men standing in the presence of God, just
as the early Congregational Church rose into being wherever there was
a little company of believers needing for their growth and education to
be 8o organized.

We desire now to introduce a chapter of history very unlike the pages
over which we have been passing. During the three ycars and more
since tho little colonics came out of the Massachusetts Bay, many things
had been transpiring there and lere, and some of them such as can
hardly be believed in this remote generation. But the evidence of their
truth cannot well be resisted.

The following are extracts from a letter sent by Mr. Thomas Hooker
to Governor John Winthrop, Sr., in the autumn of 1638. It was dis-

! Colonial Records, vol. i. p. 200.
2 This, however, bears only on the admission of freemen. It does not take from the towns

the right to admit iuhabitants, by a major vote, or from inhabitants so admitted the right of
voting in town affairs and in the choice of deputies, etc. — Ep.
8 < History of New England,” vol. i. pp. 636, 537.
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covered by Dr. J. H. Trumbull in the office of the Massachusetts Secre-
tary of State, where it had long remained unopened and unknown. It
will be found a remarkable letter. We omit the opening, and shall copy
only a small portion comparatively of the whole epistle, which may be
found unbroken in tho first volume of the “ Collections of the Connecticut
Historical Society,” pp. 1-18: —

] confess ny liead grows gmy aud my eyes dim, and yet I am sometimes
in the watch-tower: and if the quwere be, Watchman, what in the night, as the
prophet speaks, I shall tell you what I have observed, and shall be bold to leave
my complaints in your bosom, of what is beyond question, and then I hope I
shall give you a satisfactory roturn of what you question in your letter.

“ Before I oxpress my observations, I mnst profess, by way of proface, that
what 1 shall writo are not forged imaginations and suppositions coined out of
men’s conceits, but that which is reported and cried openly, and carried by sea and
land : secondly, 1y aim is not at any person, nor intendment to charge any par-
ticular, with you ; because it is tho common trade, that is driven amongst multi-
tudes with you, and with which the heads and hearts of passengers come loaded
hither, and that with grief and wonderment ; and the conclusion which is aimed
at from these reproaches and practices is this, that we are a forlorn people, not
worthy to be succored with company and so neither with support.

“ 1 will particularize. If inquiry be, What be the people of Counecticut 3 the
reply is, Alas, poor rash-headed creatures, they rushed themselves into a war with
the heathen ; and had not we rescucd them, at so many hundred charges, they
had been utterly undone. In all which you know there is not a true sentence;
for we did not rush into the war; and the Lord himself did rescue before friends.

“1f, after much search made for the settling of the people, and nothing suit-
able found to their desires but toward Connecticut ; if yet then they will needs
go from the Bay, go any whither, be any where, choose any place, any patent, —
Narmgansott, Plymouth, — only go not to Connecticut. We hear and bear.

“ Immnedintely aftor the winter, because there was likelihood multitudes would
come over, and lest any should desire to come hither, then there is a lamentable
cry rmaised, that all their cows at Connecticut are dead, and that I had lost nine
and only one left, and that was not likely to live (when I never had but eight,
and they never did better than last winter). We hear still and bear.

*“ And lest haply some men should be encouraged to come because of my
subsistence or continuance here, then the rumour is noised that I am weary of
my satation ; or, if I did know whither to go, or my people what way to take, we
would nover abido : whereas such impudent forgery is scant found in hell; for
I profess I know not a member in my congregation but sits down woll apayd
with his portion, and for myself, I have said what now I write, if I was to choose
I would be where I ama

“ But notwithstanding all this tho matter is not sure, and there is some fear
that somo men will como toward Connecticut when ships come over; either some
have related tho nature of the place, or some friends invited them ; and there-
fore caro must be taken,and is by this generation, as soon as any ship arrives, that
persons haste presontly to board them, and whon no occasion is offered or ques-
tion propounded for Connecticut, then their pity to their countrymen is such that
they cannot but speak tle truth: Alas, do you think to go to Counecticut?
Wy, do you long to be undone? If you do not, bless yourself from thence ;
their upland will bear no corn, their meadows nothing but weeds, and the peo-
ple are almost all starved. Still we hear and bear.

“But may be these sudden expressions will be taken as words of course, and
therefore vanish away when once spoken. Let it therefore be provided that the
innkespers entertain their guests with invectives against Connecticut, and those
aro sct on with tho salt, and go off with the voyder. If any hear and stay, then

-
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they be welcomed; but if these reports cannot stop a man’s proceeding, from
nnking trial, they look at him as a Turk, or as a man scant worthy to live. Still
we hear and bear.

“ ] suppose you are not a stranger only in Israel, nor yet usually ignorant of
these things, being they are not done in a corner but in the open streets, and not
by some frantic forlorn creatures, or madmen, who know not nor care what they
say ; but, before the ships can come to anchor, whole boats are presently posted
out to salute persons, ordinarily with such relations. The daily expressions of
passengers report these, with much grief of spirit, and wonder such wretched
falsehoods should be suffered amongst Christians.
~ “That’s in New England : but send over a watch a little into Old England :
and go we there to the Exchange, tho very like trado is driven by persons which
come from you, as though there was a resolved correspondence held in this par-
ticular ; as the wnaster and merchant who came this last year to Sea-brook Fort
related, even to my amazement, there is a tongue-battle fought upon the Exchange
by all the plots that can be forged to keep passengers from coming, or to hinder
any from sending a vessel to Connecticut, as proclaimed an utter impossibility.

“8ir, he wants n nostril, that fecls not and sconts not a schismatical spirit in
such a framer of falsifying relations to gratify somo persons and satisfy their.own
ends,

“ Do these things argue brotherly love? do these issue from spirits that either

pity the necessities of their brethren or would that the work of God should pros-
per iu their hands$ or rather argue the quite contrary. If these be the ways of
God, or that the blessing of God do follow them, I never preached God's ways
nor knew what belonged to them.
_ “I suppose these premises will easily let any reasonable man sce what the
conclusion must be that men would have to follow. The misery of the men of
Connecticut would be marvellous acceptable to such, and therefore thoro is little
expectation they do desire their good, and would procure it, who are not willing
any good should come to them, if all the inventions of falsehood can prevail.
Worthy Sir, these are not jealousies which we needlessly raise ; they are realities
which passengers daily relate, and we hear and bear: and I leave them in your
bosom ; only I confess I count it my duty, and I do privately and publicly pray
against such wickedness; and the Lord hath wont to hear the prayer of the
despised.”

This remarkable language from a man so truly great as was Thomas
Hooker shows that there was a large amount of human nature abroad
two hundred and fifty years ago as well as now, and that too in Puritan
New England.

But in spite of all hindrances, in spite of all enemies within and
without, by the year 1689 four independent colonies were planted in
New England, — Plymouth, Massachusetts, Connecticut, New Haven.
The seed-corn was in the earth and the harvests were sure to come in
due time.
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SECTION 1II.

CUARACTER AND SOCIAL POSITION OF THE SETTLERS.
BY THE REV. INCREASE N. TARBOX, D.D.

THE leading people in the four colonies planted between 1620 and
1640 were of such a character that they left their homes, to England’s
great loss. Just as Iranco, by the revocation of tho Ldict of Nantes,
drove out a large scction of her best middlo class — her manufacturers,
artisans, and skilled workmen —to cnrich England, so England herself
at an carlicr period drove out a multitude of her worthiest and ablest
men and women to become the founders of a New England three
thousand miles away.

In overy one of the four colonics theso choico men, able and wise,
were to be found. But it cannot be regarded as unnatural that the
class of cmigrants should improve a little as tho years passed on.
More carc was taken not to admit unworthy persons into the compa-
nies. Men of larger wealth and standing were drawn into sympathy
with the new enterprise. We think it entirely safe and fair to say that
there was more average wealth and intelligence among the people who
settled the river towns, 1635-1687, or those who settled New Haven in
1638, than among thosc who planted Plymonth in 1620, Salem in 1629,
and Charlestown, Dorchester, and Watertown in 1630. Wo do not
claim, however, that the Puritans of the Bay, of Connecticut, or of New
ITaven had attained any higher conceptions of true Christian liberty
and brotherhood than those simple-hearted Pilgrims at Plymouth. In
this respect we regard the latter as our best models. But for average
culture, wealth, learning, and general intelligence, we believe that the
colonies out of which the State of Connecticut has grown were in
some degree in advance of the carlior ones.

This will appear more clearly, porhaps, if we bring together the
nomes of some of the leading men in the Connecticut colony, most of
whom arc mentioned particularly in biographical and genealogical
sketches in other chapters.

Thomas Ilooker, like many of the early New England clergymen,
was a graduate of Emmanuel College, Cambridge; was a tecacher and
lecturcr at tho University ; was noted on both sides of the water for
lecarning and powerful preaching; and was onc of the three divines
who were invited to go to lingland to attend the Westminster
Asscmbly.

Governor Winthrop, of Massachusetts, notwithistanding the differ-
ences which had occurred between him and Mr. Hooker, bears this
grand and noble testimony to his character. Speaking of the sickness
provailing in Connecticut in 1647, he says : —

“But that which made the stroke more sensible and grievous both to them
and all the country was the death of that faithful servant of the Lord, Mr. Thomas
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Hooker, pastor of the church in Hartford, who, for piety, prudence, wisdom, zeal,
learning, and what else might make him serviceable in the place and timeo he lived
in, might be compared with mon of greatest note. And he shall need no other
praise ; the fruits of his labors in both Englands shall preserve an honorable and
happy remembrance of him forever.”

Rev. Samuel Stone was also a graduate of Emmanuel College. His
decision at Saybrook, whereby he helped Captain Mason out of his
dilemma in the time of the Pequot War, added to the laurels gained in
the pulpit; and, in spite of the ecclesiastical controversies that some-
what tarnished his fair fame in- his later ycars, ho was buried with
funeral honors that testified to his high standing. Rev.John Warham,
of Windsor, came of an ancient family, was college-bred, and was a
man of good cstate. Of the three clergymen connected more or less
intimately with the early settlement of Wethersfield, Sherman and
Denton were graduates of Cambridge.

John Haynes, the first Governor of Connecticut, came to America
in tho same ship with Mr. ITooker in 1638. Tlo had his rosidence at
Newtown, and was a member of Mr. Ilooker’s congregation. 1le came
from Copford Hall, Essex, England, bringing with himn wecalth and
choice culture. He was in the highest and best sense a Christian gen-
tleman. He was made Governor in the Massachusetts Colony in 1635,
so that his official duties retained him for a little time in the Bay after
the removal of Mr. Hooker and his congregation to Hartford. Mr.
Haynes, however, followed soon after. It may be presnmed that the
written constitution of Connecticut, adopted in 1639, was the work espe-
cially of Mr. Hooker and Mr. IHaynes, though others doubtless wero
consulted and lent assistance. Buancroft describes Mr. Haynes as a
man “ of large estate and larger affections ; of heavenly mind and spot-
less life.” He was a man to make himself beloved to a remarkable
degree. The people of the infant colony elected him their governor in
1689, and as he could hold the office but one year at a time, they chose
him every other year as long as he lived. He died March 1, 1654.

Roger Ludlow, of Windsor, was of good family,and a brother-in-law
of Governor Endicott, a lawyer by profession, holding varions offices
in Massachusetts, and after his removal to Connecticut becoming
delputy-governor, etc., and compiler of the earliest code of laws in that
colony.

Edward Hopkins, the second Governor of Connecticut, came to these
shores in the New Haven company, which reached the Massachusetts
Bay in 1637. He married the daughter of the honored Theophilus
Eaton, first Governor of tho New Huven Colony. After Mr. Iopkins
came to Hartford he was chosen a magistrate, and secretary of the
colony, in the first election under the written constitution; and ever
after, so long as he remained here, he was in office, and in a kind of
alternate way with Mr. Haynes in respect to tho offices of governor and
deputy-governor. In the year 1654, May 18, at a General Court,
Mr. Hopkins was governor, but against his name is written absent.
He had gone to England, never to return. He had been to England
before, since his first coming over, on matters of public and private
business. But now, in 1654, the Commonwealth was in full power,
and Cromwell was at the head of the nation. Mr. Hopkins was made a
Member of Parliament, Warden of the Fleet, etc. Before he could
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shape his plans to return, as he probably intended, he was cut short
by death. He died in London, in March, 1657, leaving his large wealth,
and all Lis property in New England, to be dovoted to the academieal
and collegiate cducation of young men.

William Phelps, of Dorchester, Mass., wns onc of the cight cominis-
sioners appointed to govern the Connecticut scttlements, including
Agawam, onc year. Joln Steclo was also one of the cight comnmission-
crs, aud for some ycars his name led the list of deputics from Hartford
to the General Court. Thomas Wells, another commissioner, high
magistrate, colonial treasurer, deputy-governor, and governor, was one
of the chief men of Hartford ; and according to tradition had been pri-
vate-gecretary to Lord Say and Sele before coming to America. William
Swayne, ¢ gentleman,” of Wethersficld, was a commissioner. William
Westwood, of Hartford, was a connnissioner, constable of the Connec-
ticut plantation, and deputy to the General Court. Andrew Ward, of
Wetherslicld, was another of the eight commissioners ; was deputy to
the Genoral Court. George Wyllys, « aflluent and large-hearted,” stood
second and next to John Ilaynes on the list of Hartford proprietors
in1639 ; and was made one of the higher magistrates, deputy-governor,
and governor. Willinin Whiting stood among the first eleven names
on the list of Hartford proprietors, and was colonial treasurer for six
years. John Mason, of Windsor, maintained the high military reputa-
tion brought to this country; was a magistrate, commander-in-chief of
the colony, deputy-governor, and greatly honored. _

Henry Wolcott, of Windsor, belonged to the gentry of England, and
was of large estate. He was deputy to the first General Court under
the Constitution. ¢ George Fenwick, sq.,” says Savage, in his notes
to ¢ Winthrop’s History of New England,” ¢ would surely descrve more
consideration than he has received from the writers about our country.”
He wag wealthy and of good standing in Englaud, being by profession a
barrister. 1lis wife, Lady Fenwick, was ¢ probably the only person ever
connceted with the First Church of Hartford who popularly wore a title
of English rank.” Mr. Fenwick was chosen one of the higher magis-
trates of the colony in 1647 and 1648, and on removing to England was
made coloncl of one of Cromwell’s regiments. Matthew Allyn, one of
tho early and larger proprictors of Ilartford, was in later years among
the higher magistrates and the deputies to the Genoral Court, of which
he was sometimes moderator. On removing to Windsor he married Eliz-
abeth, granddaughter of Henry Wolcott. Matthew Grant, of Windsor,
bore the honorable appellation of ¢ tho Recorder,” and was not only the
careful keeper of town records, but also a deputy from time to time.
Sir Richard Saltonstall, though resident in New England but a short
time, fitted out the ship that came up the Connecticut River to Windsor
in 1685; and by his wealth and influence, and by his decscendauts,
lodged his namo here for perpetual remembranco.

Lyon Gardiner, constructor and commander of the fort at Saybrook,
had been, to use his own lauguage, ¢ Engincer and Master of works of
Fortifications in the legers of the Prince of Orange, in the Low Coun-
trics.” He purchased the island now bearing his name and still held
in cntail ; aud if he did not himself wear the title of ¢ Lord of the Isle of .
Wight,” one of his immediate descendants did, as a tombstone at East--
hamnpton, Long Island, testifies. John Webster was a leading citizen
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of Hartford ; one of the five higher magistrates in 1639, holding office
until 1655, when he became deputy-governor; and after serving as
governor in 1656, resuming his office of high magistrate and holding it
until 1659. William Goodwin “ was prominent in all the early trans-
actions of the Hartford settlement,a man of large means and great
influence.” He was tho first and perhaps the only ruling elder of the
First Church, and his name has always been one of dignity and honor.
Johp Talcott was a leading man in Hartford ; was for ycars a magis-
trate and deputy, and from 1654 to 1659 colonial treasurer. John Ilig-
ginson, though belonging mainly to Massachusetts, was as a young man
brought into interesting rclations with Connectlicut ; was cimployed at
one time as chaplain at the fort in Saybrook; and was a teacher in
Hartford, and while so engaged lived with Mr. Hooker as a student,
helper and seribe. John Winthrop the younger surpassed even his
father in culture; had studied at Trinity College, Dublin, and had
travelled and mingled with learned men on the Continent. In 1657,
having served as a magistrate for some years, he was chosen governor
by the people, though he had borne tho title by commission since 1685.
Until 1662 he was alternately governor and deputy-governor; then
governor continuously until 1676.

These colonists are crowned with additional honors through their
descendants immediate or remote. The son of George Wyllys, Samuel,
a graduate of Harvard, was an assistant thirty years; his grandson,
Hezekiah, was colonial secretary twenty-two years ; his great-grandson,
George, was colonial secrctary sixty-one years, and for over two hun-
dred years this family retainod its woalth and social promincnce.
John Webster, of lartford, was the ancestor of Noali Webster. John
Talcott’s son, Major Jolin, commanded the Connecticut forces during
King Philip’s War, and kis grandson, Joseph, was Governor of Con-
necticut, 1725-1741. William Edwards, of Hartford, though not per-
sonally distinguished, founded one of the most notable familics in New
England ; was the father of Richard Edwards, one of the most intelli-
gent and valuable citizens of IIartford, and ancestor of Rev. Timothy
Edwards, of Windsor, east side ; of Jonathan Edwards; and of presi-
dents Dwight and Woolsey, of Yale. With the possible exception of
Robert Williams, of Roxbury, Mass., he was the ancestor of more New
Englaud clergymen than any other early settler. William Pitkin, of
Hartford, was conspicuous and influential. The distinguished positions
of his sons, William and Ozias, his grandsons, Governor William and
Colonel John, his great-grandsons, Colonel William and Colonel George,
to go no further, are related in the chapter on East 1lartford. This
family retained its prominence for over two hundred years. William
Pitkin’s sister Martha married Simon Wolcott, and was ancestress of
seven governors. From Andrew Ward, of Wethersfield, was descended
Aaron Burr; and Henry Ward Beecher gets his middle name from
him. Perhaps no man among the Connecticut founders could boast
among his descendants so many governors, statesinen, and judges, as
Henry Wolcott, of Windsor. The (gewealogical) family circle of his
great-granddaughter Ursula, who married Matthew Griswold, of Lyme,
includes twolve governors and thirty-four judges. The sons of Matthow
Allyn, of Windsor, John and Captain Thomas, were prominent men;
and from Matthew Grant, President Ulysses S. Grant was descended.
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SECTION IIL

BY TIIE REV. INCREASE N. TARBOX, D.D.
Tur Prquor War. — Tur Cope or 1650. — GenerarL History To 1665.

IN 1636 John Oldhamn, a trader from Watertown, Massachusetts,
was murdered by the Pequots while lying off Block Island. The ex-
pedition under Governor John lindicott, of Salom, despatched to avenge
this massacre and to demand submission from the Pequots, succeeded
only in injuring a few innocent natives, and in irritating without in-
timidating the warlike nation; not only raising new hope and audacity
in tlie breasts of the Pequots, but also inducing a kind of contempt for
the English in the large and powerful tribe of the Narragansetts, inhab-
iting the territory now covored by Rhode Island. There was imminent
danger, by rcason of this turn in affairs, that the Pequots would draw
their old enemies, the Narragansetts, into league with themselves.

Without this alliance, however, the Pequots were greatly cmbold-
ened. They knew that all the Indian tribes, far around, were afraid
of them, and they now had some reason to think that the white people
were equally afraid. It will be remembered that John Winthrop, Jr.,
began to build a fort in 1635, at the mouth of the Connecticut River,
with the men and the moncy he had brought over from England. It
was of course well understood by tho Indians that this fort was a part
of the system, offensive and defensive, by which the English were try-
ing to cstablish thewnsclves in the country, and this placo thorefore
became an object against which the Pequots dirceted their hostilities.
From the fall of 1685 on through the following winter squads of Pequots
were lurking in the forests about this fort, never daring to come up and
attack it bodily, but watching and waiting to cut off any persons who
might be passing to”or from distant places, or who might have to come
. outside tho fort for any purpose whatever. Lion Gardiner, under whose
care and ovorsight the fort had been built, had been left in charge of
the same through that long and dreary winter. But the crowning act
of audacity which brought matters at onco to a crisis was perpetratod
in the early spring of 1636, when a party of Pequots, about one hun-
dred in number, found their way to the infant settlement at Wethers-
field, where they killed nine men and carried away captive two girls.

It was now apparcnt that tho Pequots had entered upon a course of
hostilities which would not stop until their power was curbed or crushed.
Under such circumstances the General Court came together at Hartford
on the first day of May, 1637, and the first entry in the record of that
meeting is as follows: —

s It is ordered that thero shalbe an offensive warr ag' the Pequoitt, and that
there shalbe 90 men levied out of the 3 PlantaGons, Hartford, Weathersfield, &
Windsor (viz*) out of Harteford 42, Windsor 30, Weathersfield 18, vnder the
comande of Captaine Jo: Mason, & in Cnse of his death or sicknes vnder coifiand

von. 1.—8.
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of Rob.to Seely Leift & the 'ldest s‘icant or military officer survivinge, if both
thess miscarry.”

The Massachusctts and the Plymouth colonies agreed to render aid
in this war. Massachusctts in a special session of the General Court
ordered a levy of one hundred and sixty men and voted £600. The
military forces of the Massachusetts colony were placed under the com-
mand of Major Israel Stoughton, who afterward went back to England
and commanded a regiment in Cromwell’s army.

It was on the 10th of May that the little army of ninety whites and
seventy friendly Indians went down the river and landed at Saybrook
the Monday morning following. Mr. Samucl Stone, associate minister
with Mr. Thomas Hooker, of ITartford, was chaplain. At Saybrook
Captain John Underhill, with nineteen men, joined Captain Mason’s
army, and twenty men were sent back from Saybrook more cffectually
to guard the river secttlements, which had been left in an exposed
condition, so that no more than seventy of the men gathered out of
Hartford, Windsor, and Wethersfiold went forward to the great batile.
Of thesec, so far as it has been possible to recover their names, Dr.
Trumbull has made the following enrolment : —

From Hartford : Thomas Bull, Wm. Blumfield, John Brunson, Thos. Bunce,
Thos. Barnes, Peter Blachford, Benjamin Burr, John Clarke, Nicholas Clarke,
Sergt. Philip Davis, Nich* Desborough, Thomas Hales, Sainuel Hales, William
Haydon, John Hills, John Hallaway, Tho* Hollybut (IIurlburt), Jona. Ince,
Benjamin Munn, Nich. Jennings® Nich. Olmsted, Richard Olmsted, Jolin Purkas,
William Pratt, Wm, Phillips, Tho* Root, Thomas Sponcer, Arthur Smith, Thomas
Stanton, Rev. Samuel Stone, George Stecle, Samuel Whitehead, John Warner,
Stephen Hart, Zachary Field, William Cornwell, Thomas Munson, — 37.

From Windsor : Serj. Benedict Alvord, Thos. Buckland, Thomas Barber,
John Dyer, Richard Osborn, Tho® Styles, Serj. Stares, Thomas Parsons, Thomas
Gridley, William Trall, Nathan Gillett, James Egleston, Geo. Chappell, Capt.
John Mason, — 14.

From Wethersfield: John Johnson, Jeremy Jagger, Lieut. Robert Seeley,
Richard Westcont, Merriman, Thomas Standish, The' Tibballs, Henry
Smith, John Nott,—9.

Of the Men from Saybrook : Capt. John Underhill, Edward Pattison, James
Rogers, Edward Lay, John Gallop, John Woods, — 6.

In all here are sixty-six; but Dr. Trumbull notes the family name
of another, Mr. Hedge, who was certainly in the battle and was probably
from Windsor. Captain Mason in his narrative says: ¢ A valiant, reso-
lute Gentleman, onc Mr. Hedge, stepping towards the gato (of the Fort),
saying, ¢ If we may not enter, wherefore came we lhere, and immedi-
ately endeavoured to enter.” This makes sixty-seven. Captain Mason
states that there were but seventy-seven white men actually in the battle.
Of the original ninety, several had to be left to guard and man the
vessels, while the others went to the fight ; and none of these sliounld be
deprived of the honors of the expedition.

Captain Mason concluded to take the farthest way about,” instead
of the Pequot (Thames) Rivor, and when the winds wero propitious
set sail for the Narragansott country. They started off on a Friday
morning and reached the place where they were to land Saturday
evening, but did not go on shore. They kept quietly in their vessels
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over the Sabbath, and doubtless Chaplain (the Rev. Samuel) Stone
held religious services on board. On Monday the wind blew so strongly
from the northwest that they could not safely land. So was it on
Tuesday till near night, when it became calmer. As soon as they had
landed they found the nearcst Narragansctt sachem and explained tho
object of their expedition; and he gave full leave, as they had antici-
pated, to march through his country. So they left certain men with
the vessels and procecded on their way. The place where they had
landed was not far off from Point Judith, and the distance from there
to the Pequot Fort, in a straight line, could not have been more than
about twenty-five miles; but by devious ways their marches, in all,
seem to havo been from thirty to thirty-five miles before reaching the
cnemy.

Captain Mason and his men sctting out on Wednesday morning
marched about cightcen miles to Nyantick, where they passed Wednes-
day night. Though the sachemn here was ungracious, yet friendly In-
dians fromn the Narragansctts joined themselves to the river Indians
with whom they sct out, till they had in their train not far from five
hundred Indians, of whose trcachery they were the more afraid because
they were dependent upon their help.

When Mason landed near Point Judith a mcssenger arrived report-
ing that Captain Danicl Patrick had reached what is now Providence,
on his way from Massachusetts with a military force, and asking Captain
Mason to wait till he could join him. But Mason feared that any delay
now would only give the Pequots an opportunity to discover his plans,
and he determined to go forward without waiting for the reinforce-
ments. On Thursday morning he started from the Nyantick country
and marchied about twelve miles, when they mado a halt of some hours
to rest nnd refresh themselves. Toward night they moved on three
miles Lill they came into the immediate vicinity of the fort, without
giving any knowledge of their approach.

Next morning was Friday, and in the early morning the terrible
blow was delivered, by gun, by sword, by fire, or in any way to insure
the quickest and most wholesale destruction of men, women, and chil-
dren. Captain Mason sums up the result of that attack in these words:
* And thus in little more than one ITout’s space was their impregnable
fort with themselves witerly Destroyed, to the number of six or scven
IIundred, as some of themsclves confcssed. There were only seven taken
captive and about scven escaped.”

Captain John Underhill, who was in the fight, says: ¢ There were
about four hundred souls in the fort, and not above five of them escaped
out of our hands.”

It is not needful that we should repeat the horriblo details of that
battle. Palfrey in his History has smnmed up this whole matter in a
paragraph admirable for its wisdom and charity.!

In 1637 Counccticut consisted simply and solcly of the three original
plantations, Windsor, Hartford, and Wethersfield. Wo have elsewhere
treated of the co-operation of thesc towns in the Pequot War, and the
general style of their government in their noew beginnings. In the

1 Tistory of New England, vol. i. p. 467.
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spring of 1638 tho Now Haven colony planted itself at the mouth of
tho Quinnipinck River, and thus gave a sonso of friondly neighborhood
between the dwellers on the river and those on the south shore.

In 1689 the new written Constitution was adopted in the Counceti-
cut colony, and society was organized on a basis of morc strength and
dignity. New-comers were rapidly dropping in to the three towns
singly or in little companies. 'T'he annihilation of the Pequot tribe
gave to tho planters a scnse of security in their daily toil and in the
slumbers of the night.

In 1639 Roger Ludlow, of Windsor, led off a little colony to plant
the town of Fairficld, which scems {o have been the carliest orgnnized
outgrowth from the river plantation. By its locality, its more natural
connection would have been with the New ITaven colony ; but it reckoned
itself from the first as within the Connecticut jurisdiction.

Not far from the same time, and in connection with Mr. Ludlow’s
movements, a settlement was begun in a place bordering on Tairfield,
called by the Indians Uncoway, but soon after known as the town of
Stratford. This also, though near New- Iaven, was one of the Connee-
ticut plantations.

Each year therc were ¢“ two General Assemblies, or Courts, the one
on the Sccond Thursday of April, and the other on the Second Thurs-
day of September.” The one in April was called the Court of Election,
when the governor, magistrates, deputics, cte., were chosen. The
other General Conrt, in Scptember, was for the making of laws, and
the transaction of all business tonching the welfare of the colony.
Both of these mcctings were from time to time adjourned, so that the
court was usually together scveral times cach year.

In 1644 the town of Saybrook, with all its rights and belongings,
was made over by sale and purchase to the Connccticut colony; and
though there were many later frictions before matters were finally
adjusted, yet Saybrook stands historically connected and associated
with the river towns above, from the year 1644. The same year
Agawam (Springficld), which had kept up a kind of half-way lingering
connection with the towns below, was entirely taken out of this connee-
tion, and fixed as belonging to the Massachusetts jurisdiction.

In 1645 Farmington, on the Tunxis River, was surveyed and
bounded, and admitted into the list of Connceticut towns. Mr. George
Wyllis, in making his will in March, 1645, calls this infant scttloment
Tunxis Cepus. Somectimnes in those early records it was written
Unxus Scpus. A scttlement had already been begun there, for Mr.
Wyllis gavo “forty shillings to the pore at Tunxis Cepus.” Dr. J. 11.
Trumbull says Sepus or Cepus is an Indian word for a little river.

The plantation on the Pequot River, begun in 1645 by the younger
Winthrop, was called a town in 1646, and known somectimes as Na-
meage and sometimes as Pequitt. To what jurisdiction it appertained
was for a time uncertain. At a General Court of Connecticut, March
20, 1658, this matter was scttled. “ The plantation at Pequet is named
by this court, New London.”

At a Genoral Court at Hartford, Sept. 11, 1651, wo find the follow-
ing items in the records: “1It is ordered, sentenced, and deereed, that
Mattabeseck [Middletown] shall bec a Towne.”

“ It is likewise ordercd that Norwauke shall beec a Towne.”
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In the year 1650 the Code of Laws was completed under the direc-
tion of Mr. Roger Ludlow, and accepted. This hclped to give a sense
of order and sccurity throughout the infant commonwealth.

At a mecting of the General Court of Connecticut, held April 10,
1646, Edward Hlopkins governor and John Haynes deputy-governor, the
following action was taken: —

“Mr. Ludlowe is desired to take some paynes in drawing forth a body of
Lawes for the gouernment of this Coffion welth & p'sent the to the next Generall
Court, and if he can prouide a man for his oceations while he is imployed in the
said searuice he shalbe paid at the Country chardge.”

It is provided in this vote that this work of cmbodying the colony
laws should be completed in a year and report thercof made to the
Court. But in & work of this magnitude and importance it could hardly
be expeeted that it would be finished in a ycar. At a mecting of the
Court, May 25, 1647, an additional minute was passcd a8 follows : —

“ When Mr. Ludlowe hath pfected a body of lawes, as the court hath desired
him, it is the mynd of the Court that he should, besids paying the hyer of a man,
be further considared for his paynes.”

These arrangements having been made and orders passed, Mr. Lud-
low was busy about a work which must, if properly done, occupy
considerable tine; and we licar no nore until Feb. 5,1650-561, when we
find on the rccords the following : —

“ This Courto graunts and orders, that the Secretary shall bee allowed and
poid the sum of six pounds, being in p’t of payment for his great paines in draw-
ing out and transcribing the country orders, concluded and established in May
lnst.”

The ¢ country orders ” here spoken of are the code of laws before
provided for; and by this entry we learn that the code was completed
and cstablishied in May, 1650, and hence called ¢ the code of 1650.”
The colonial secretary at that time was John Cullick, of Hartford ; and
the last vote quoted relates to his compensation for “ drawing out and
transeribing” the samec. The whole code may be found in the first
printed volume of the Colonial Records of Connecticut, 1636-1665; it
covera {ifty-fone largo and compactly printed pages. Mr. Ludlow had
doubtless heen paid for his valuable services in making the compilation,
according to the intimation given in one of the votes we have quotoed.

Dr. J. Hammond Trumbull, the editor and compiler of the first vol-
umes of the Colonial Records, adds a note at the opening of the code,
from which we cxtract the following : —

“This Code [usnally cited as Mr. “ Ludlow’s Codo” or *the Codo of 1650 "]
is recorded at the end of Vol. 11, of the Colony Records [the manuscript volumes],
and scparately paged. The orders subsequently passed wore, from time to time,
added at the ond, or oceasionally inserted under the appropriate title, by the Sec-
retary. Drefixed to the Laws is a copy of the Fundamental Orders, or Constitu-
tion of 1639, already printed on pages 20-25 of this volume.”?

This Code is divided into eighty-eight scctions, arranged alphabeti-
cally according to the topics treated, beginning with Ability, Actions,

1 Colonial Records, vol, i. p. 609,
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Age, and Arrests, and ending with Watches, Wolves, Wrecks of the Sea,
- and Vessels.

In this year (1650) some important business was accomplished
touching the Narragansett Indians and the Dutch. The commissioners
of the %our colonies met that year, September 5, at Hartford. This
confederation of the four colonies had been formed and ratified May
19, 1648. At the meeting in 1650 Massachusetts was represented by
Mr. Simon Bradstreet and Mr. William" Hawthorne ; Plymouth, by Mr.
Thomas Prince and Mr. John Brown; Connecticut, by Mr. Edward
Hopkins and Mr. John Haynes; and New ITaven, by Mr. Theophilus
Eaton and Mr. Stephen Goodyear.

It was now thirteen yoars since the utter overthrow of the Pequots
had brought a wholesome fcar over all the other New England tribes.
But by degrees acts of cruelty and wrong had been perpetrated by the
great tribe of the Narragansctts, for which they had been bronght to terms,
and had agreed to pay a largo tribute as a ponalty for {hese ontrages.
Whenever the times set for payment came, the Narragansectt chicls
dclayed and prevaricated, all the while making fair promises, until the
patience of the English was exhausted. At this meeting of the commis-
sioners at Hartford, the Narragansett tribute-money being yet unpaid,
one of the first items of busincss was to despatchi Captain Humphrey
Atherton, then at Springficld, with twenty men, to collect their long-
delayed payments. Dr. Benjamin Trumbull, in his ¢ History of Connce-
ticut” (Vol. 1. p. 188), has told us how this commission given to Captain
Atherton was oxecuted : —

“ He was authorized, if they should not be paid upon demand, to aeize on
the best articles he could find, to the full amount of what was due; or on Pessa-
cus, the chief sachem, or any of his children, and carry them off. Upon his
arrival among the Narrgansetts, he found the sachem recurring to his former arts,
putting him off with deceitful and dilatory answers, and not suffering him to
approach his presence. In the mean time lie was collecting his warriors about him.
The captain therefore marclied directly to the door of his wigwnan, where, posting
his men, ho ontered himself, with his pistol in his hand, and seizing Pessacus by
the hair of his head, drew him from the midst of Lis attendants, declaring if they
should make the least resistance, he would despatch him in an instant. This
bold stroke gave him such an alarm that he at once paid all the arrearnges.”

In addition to this Indian busincss, thie commissioners, at this mect-
ing of 1650, undertook to clear up and strengthen the relations of New
England with the Dutch. Ever since the coming of the lnglish into
the river, in 1683, there had been conflicting interests and claims, in
reference to which we have to confess that the Dutch had carried them-
selves quite as kindly and forbearingly as their opponents.

There was one more source of uneasiness and trouble which came
beforo these commissioners for adjustment. Ever sinco the bargain
had been made with George Fenwick, in 1644, for the delivery of Say-
brook, its fort and stores, to the Connceticut Colony, the people in the
towns above had been dissatisfied with tho terms on which that bargain
had been completed. It bound the Connecticut peoplo to such a system
of toll-paying as was petty and disagreeable. This business had becn
reviewed and a change effected in 1646. But therc were still friction
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and strife. The year 1650 so adjusted matters as to bring comparative
peace. A general sum was to be paid by the colony for a term of years,
instead of this individual tribute. There were still somne after troubles
about this matter.

The year 1653 was ono of great fear and disturbance throughout the
colonics, cspecially in Connecticnt and New Haven. The difliculties
with the Dutch eame back in greater strength than over. There was a
wide-spread belicf that the Duteh Governor at New York was in a plot
with tho Indians for a general uprising to extirpate the English planta-
tions. Six of the eight commissioners for that year thought they had
sufficient grounds for declaring war against the Dutch. Massachusetts
held back.

In 1654 a fleet was sent out by Cromwoll to assist the New England
colonies in their difficultics with the Dutch. Thero were great runnings
to and fro, Massachusetts consenting, but not directly assisting, to raise
an army of co-operation with the fleet. But while these excitements
were abroad, the news came of a great victory of the English over the
Dutch in a naval battle in which the Dutch suffered such immense loss
that they were glad to sue for peacc; and so New England drifted
through these Duteli difliculties without actual war.

The nuinber of ratable persons, as given by the historian Trumbull,
in the Connceticut Colony for the year 1654 was 775, which would imply
a population of necarly 4,000. Hartford had the highest number, 177;
but Windsor had been rapidly gaining on Hartford since the Pequot
War, for Windsor had 165 of these ratable persons. At the time of the
war, in 1637, Hartford furnished forty-two men as its quota, and Wind-
sor thirty. The smallest town in Connccticut was Norwalk, which had
twenty-four rates.  The grand list was £79,073.

In the your 1660 o full and final adjustment was mado with the Fon-
wick lheirs, in the matter of the purchase of Saybrook, when it was
found that the heirs hiad been overpaid, and that they were indebted to
the colony to the amount of £500.

This year (1660) saw the end of the English Commonwealth under
Cromwell and his son Richard. Cromwell died on the 4th of Septem-
ber, 1658, and Richard, after idling away a few months in his father’s
illustrious seat, retired to private life; for thoro was nothing else for -
him to do. Ilis resignation took place in July, 1659, ten yoars after
Charles 1. had boen publicly tried and cxecuted. Palfrey says: ¢« Intel-
ligence of the accossion of Charles the Second to the throne of his
anccstors was not long in reaching Boston. Tho Journal of the Gen-
eral Court, which sat threc months later, contains no reference to the
new state of things!

John Loverett was at that time the agent of Massachusetts in Eng-
land, and in the month of Novombor a lettor received {rom him made 1t
plain that it was timo for Massachusctts to speak. Accordingly, an
extra session of the Goneral Court was at once called, and an Address
to the King prepared. It was nearly a year after the king’s accession
when the Plymouth Colony sent an address of welcome; but its mes-
sage, when scnt, was full and hearty. It was nearly a year before the
New Haven Colony acted in this matter, and then not until its memory
had been jogged by a letter from Massachusetts.

1 History of Now England, vol. ii. p. 447,
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Connecticut pursued her own course. At the session of the General
Court held March 14, 1661, we find the following entry upon this topic.
The opening sentence shows that tho subject-matter had been under
consideration some time before: —

“ In reference to former intentions and motions w** could not be brought to
. a ful conclusion, for y* manner and meanes to accomplish the same, til this meet-
ing of y* Generall Conrt, Tt is concluded and declared by this Court. That (as it
was formerly agreed by those Magistrates and Deoputies that could then be as-
sombled together) it is our duty and very necessary to make a speedy address to
his Sacred Majesty, our Sovernigne Lord Charles the Second, Kiug of Jngland,
Scotland, Franee, and Iveland, to acknowledge our loyalty and allegiance to his
highnes, hereby declareing and professing ourselves, all the inhabitants of this
Colony, to be his Highnes loyall and faythfull subjects. And doe further con-
clude it necessary that we should humbly petition his Majesty for grace and
favour, and for y* continuance and confirmation of such priviledges and liberties
as are necessary for the comfortable and peaceable scttlement of this Colony.”

At tho regular May meeting of the Court a draft of an address to
the king, drawn by Governor Winthrop, was presented, with which the
Court was well satisfied; but as some additions or changes might be
needful, & committee was chosen to “ compleat y* Address, and draw up
the Petition to his Majesty.” At a session of the Court,June 7, 1661,
all these matters were finally fixed and arranged : —

“This Conrt haveing considered the Address and Petition compleated by the
Committeo, to bo sent and psonted to his Ma® of Sovernigne Lord Chatles the
974, and also the Instructions drawen vp for o Wor¥ (Governor, Agent for the Col-
ony in y* p'misses, doo approve of that w® y* Committee hath done.”

The Court went on to make provisions for the support of Governor
Winthrop in England, and for the expenses which would be incurred in
his effort to procure a charter. With all its honors and congratulations
to the king in the address, the great object of Governor Winthrop’s
personal visit to England was, if possible, to obtain a charter which
would put certain perplexing questions forover at rest.

With this delicate and important business intrusted to his hands,
Governor Winthrop left for England in July, 1661. Dr.J. H. Trumbull,
in written notes appended to the first volume of the Connecticut Colo-
nial Records, says, “ Gov. Winthrop sailed from New Amsterdam (New
York) 28d Julv, in the Dutch ship, De Trouw.” In another note he
says, “ July 18, 1661, in the hook of Monthly Payments, 27 lbs. pow-
der are clmrgcd ‘to salute Gov. Winthrop coming here (New York)
from the Fresh River to proceed in the Trou to Fatherland.””

In one’s approaches to kings and rulers, the manner often weighs
as much as the matter; and Conncecticut was exceedingly fortunate in
having intrusted this bnsiness to a man of polished and courtly ad-
dress, who had so many friends in England to open the doors for him
into the king’s presence and give him a favorable introdnction to the
throne.

In this ycar (1660) the town of ITuntington, Long Island, having
petitioned to be taken under the Connecticut jurisdiction, as Southamp-
ton had done in 1644 and East Hampton in 1649, the General Court
granted their request, conditioned only on the consent of the Commis-
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sioners of the United Colonies. No objection was made from that
quarter, and accordingly Huntington became a quasi town of Connecti-
cut. In 1662 the same permission was given to tho town of Southold,
Long Island. This connection of the Long Island towns with the Con-
necticut Colony must have ceased altogether when the new charter went
into opcration, because that charter did not touch Long Island. Its
territory was bounded on the south by the Ocean Shore, and Long lsland
Sound was understood to be a part of the ocoan. Turning to Howell’s
History of ¢ Southampton, Long Island” (pp. 60, 61), we find this whole
matter made clear and definite : —

“ March 12, 1664, Charles II. granted, with other territory, Long Island and
islands adjacent to his brother James, Duke of York. . . . Under the patent
grouted to Connecticnt, Nov. 3, 1644, the provinco cluimed jurisdiction over Long
Island. [There is n mistake in this date ; he doubtless refors to the charter given
to the Saybrook patentees.] . . . Gov. Winthrop, on seeing the letters-patent to
the Duke of York, infurmed the English on Long Island that Connecticut had no
longer any claims upon that island.”

After this statemont Mr. Howell adds the following: —

“This union with New York was, howoever, very unacceptable to the inhabi-
tants at the east end of the island. Their intorcourso with the towns along the
Connceticut River was frequont, and in customs, education, and religion they were
identical with their New England brethren. A considerable trade had grown up
between the three towns on the east end and Connecticut, and the efforts of his
Royal Highness’s officials to divert this to New York wmet with hearty resiastance.”

While this topic of a new charter was on the docket, a very per-
plexing clement intruded itsclf upon the colonics. As soon as it was
known, in the summer of 1660, that Charles 1I. was coming back from
the Continent to take the throne, several of the judges who had signed
the death-warrant of Charles 1. fled the lund. T'wo of these judges,
William Goffe and Edward Whalley, reached Boston in the very: vessel
which brought the news that Charles II. was on the throne. At first
they lived openly at Cambridge, hoping and cxpecting that they would
be covered and protected by the forthcoming Act of Indemnity. Some-
time later another of the king’s judges arrived,— Colonel John Dixwell.
When Goffo and Whalley found that they were not oxempted, but were
singled out for vengoance, thoy thought thoy should be safer clsowhere
than in the Massachusctts Bay. They betook thomselves to New Haven,
and were in various plaees along the river and the south shore. Tho
story of the conccalment of those judges forms one of the wild and
romantic storics connected with the early history of New England.
Tho two ofticers from England, Thomas Kcllond and Thomas Kirk,
wore all the while in hot pursuit, but somehow it strangely happened
that thoy could never come quite up to the fugitives. They had taken
the wrong road, or wore just a few minutes too late; and this, foo,
notwithstanding they had so many people to help them. This was a
very ugly chapter to be opened just as Governor John Winthrop had
gone over to England to obtain a charter.

Through the winter of 1661-1662 the pcople of Connecticut were
cagerly waiting to hear news about the progress of Winthrop’s nego-
tiations. But at last the patience of tho people was to be gratified. In
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the first volume of the Collections of the Connecticut Historical Society,
pp- 62, 58, may be found the lotter bearing date, London, May 18, 1662,
which Governor John Winthrop sent home when he was sure of his
charter. He knew (though it took some persons on this side the water
a long time to find it out) that he had obtained a grant from Charles
I1. for which all the people of Connecticut ought to bo grateful. Mr,
Winthrop was writing, as is supposed, to Mr. John Talcott, Treasurer
of the Counccticut Colony. He says: —

“ SiR, — I must refer to this bearer, Mr. Woolcott, to lett you know what 1
might certify more at large concerning the full issue of this Charter for our colony
of Connecticutt, which hath now newly pnssed the great seale, and is as full and
large for bounds and priviledges as could be desired, so as I hope all will be well
satisfieed about the Charge that has been necessary for the affecting and prose-
cuting a business of such consequence which is to the full settlement of the colony
for them and their posterity.”

There is not much douht that the hearer of the lotter was Ilenry
Wolcott, then [ifty-two years old, who was one of thoe trustees mentioned
in the charter. These incorporators, or patentees, are nincteen, and in
the various repetitions of the names, as is common in such documents,
Mr. Wolcott’s name is written Woolicott, Woollcott, Woolcott, but never
Wolcott. .

The charter itself did not come over yet for some months. It was
first exhibited on thesc shores at the mecting of the Commissioners in
Boston, Sept. 4,1662. It was a death-blow to the New ITaven Colony ns
a separate jurisdiction. Pulfrey regards the eonduct of Winthrop toward
New Haven as of doubtful morality, at the same time thiat he raises the
question whether this annihilation of the New Haven identity was not
done contrary to Mr. Winthrop’s-own wishes. He suggests that Lord
Clarendon, the English Prime Minister, may have desired to humiliate
Massachusetts, the most powerful of the New England colonies, and could
do it in no way more effectually than by taking the New Haven Colony,
which in its ideas of Church and State was in hearty sympathy with
Massachusctts, and destroying its existenec by merging it in Connecti-
cut. But whoever contrived the plan, and whatever the motives may
have been, after the hatreds and animosities of a few years had died out,
the people of Connecticut, of both colonies, found themselves in posses-
sion of a fair heritage of freedom which none would wish to part with
or fundamentally change.

Governor Winthrop rcturned from England, was made the first
governor under the new charter, and so continued by re-clection yearly
until his death, April 5 1676.
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SECTION 1V.

BY THE REV. INCREASE N. TARBOX, D.D.

Tur Cuarter or 1663. —Tum Umon or THE CoLoN1Es. — HarTrORD CoUNTY
CONSTITUTED.

WE have before given a rapid account of the agency by which this
charter was obtained ; but it s fitting that we should look somewhat
more closely to the charter itself, its contents, and its after history.

Charles 1I. and his ministers must have been in an amiable mood
during the ycars 1662 and 1663, to have conferred on Connecticut and
Rhode-Island charters so imnuch more large and liberal than those con-
ferred by the English Crown on the other American colonies. Rhode
Island claims, perhaps with some justice, that licrs was more generous
cven than that of Connecticut. lg 80, she certainly did not know how
to use it any more wiscly, or got a more substantial good out of it,
than did the people of Connecticut out of theirs. The vital peculiarity
of these charters, in distinction {from those of other American colonies,
appears in the fact that no veto power was retained in England to thwart
the free action of the people in the clection of their own governors and
the transaction of all governmental business. To show the practical
outworking and variation of the two kinds of charters, we may recall the
fact that just before the breaking out of the Revolutionary War, Thomas
Hutchinson, an Anerican-born citizen, was royal governor of Massachu-
sotts, anud was serving his royal master, when he was obliged to fly from
the anger of the people and take refuge in England. Thomas Gage,
commander of the English army at Boston, was made governor in his
stead ; as though the king of England had said, if you will not accept
one of your own citizens, whom I have appointed to be your head, I
will give you n man of war, with his battalions and ships of war about
him, whom you cannot so casily drive away.

But how was it in Connecticut at that time? Jonathan Trumbull,
of Lebanon, had been clected governor of Connccticut in 1769 by the
freo suffrages of the people, aud was re-clected to the same office for
fifteen yecars, to the close of the war; and thecre was no place in the
charter given by Charles I1. whero the king of England could step in to
slay those proccedings. Jonathan Trumbull was of the people and for
the people, the right-hand counscllor and helpor of Washington through
the whole revolutionary struggle.

1t is truc, under the brief but miscrable reign of James II., 1685—
1689, this guaranty was broken, not by any pretence of law or right-
cousness, but simply by kingly violence, and the conditions of the char-
ter for a little time were suspended. Sir Edmund Andros was appointed
governor and claimed to be governor of all New England, in spite of all
previous grants and charters. It was in this time of usurpation that
the Rev. Gersliom Bulkeley (or Gershomn Bulkeley, Esq., for he was a
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civilian as well as a preacher) wrote a lettor to Governor Treat and the
Magistrates, “To advise concerning ITolding of a Court of Klection by
Virtue of and according to the late Patent.”

In this letter (p. 61) he says: —

“ Our late soveraign, King Charles the Second, did in the year 1662, by his
letters patents for himself, his Heires and Successors, Ordaine and Constitute the
therein named Pattentees, and the then present and future Freemen, &ec., One
Body politick and Corporate in fact and name, by the name of, FHis Governour and
Company of the English Colony of Connecticut tn New England in America, and
that by the same Name, they and their Successors shall and may haue perpetual
Succession. . . . But now you are not such a Body politick and Corporate, capa-
ble in Law as aforesaid, for you know that by the late Trunsaction between his
Majesty and his then Gouernour and Company of the late Colony of Connectlcut
the Government is changed and taken into his Majesties’ hands.”

As it proved, this was only a brief cpisode in the history of Con-
nceticut. Not far from the time when Mr. Bulkeley was writing his
lottor in 1689, King Jumes II. was driven from tho throne, and in the
reign of William and Mary, that succeeded, there was no disposition to
ply these tyrant arts against New England. The charter ventured out
again from its hiding-place, clothed with all its beneficent powers and
privileges for the people. For nearly one hundred years after this at-
tempt to stifle its cxistence it stood out in sight of all men, and no-
where, perhaps, in all tho world, could a people be found more intelli-
gent, virtuous, prosperous, and happy than those who lived under the
protection and guidanco of that chiarter.

The charter had been obtained, and it was as ample and noble as
could ‘be desired, and far more so than the most sanguine mind could
have expected. The charter was good, and was safely landed on our
shores in the autumn of 1662. But the great question now was, how to
bring the two colonies, legally united in the charter, into actual and
peaceable union.

It was not to be wondered at, thnt a-storm of indignation aroso in
the towns under the Now Haven ]unsdlctlon The colony of New Ifaven
was tho smallest of the four, but inferior to none in the intelligence,
culture, wealth, and social standing of her families. It came from
England later than the others and was selected and organized with
great care. That its corporate existence should be thus suddenly taken
away without note or warning, and that it should at once be merged in
any other jurisdiction, however good it might be, was more than human
nature could guictly and patiently bear.

As hinted in another place, this merging of the New Haven Colony
was perhaps more of an English than a New England idea. In addi-
tion to other motives that may have influenced Charles II. and his min-
isters, the following may have been one. The New Haven magistrates
and people had been more active than those of any other colony in
feeding, sheltering, and concealing the jundges who had tried and oxe-
cuted Charles 1. It is not likely that the king’s officers on this side the
water, Messrs. Kellond and Kirke could fail to know that the men they
were after were hidden by the New England people, and chiefly, as things

1 See Collections of Connecticut Historical Society, vol. i. p. 59.
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turned, by the people of New Haven. No thorough New Englander,
then or now, would be apt to lay this particular sin to their charge.
But Charles 11. in the years 1660 and 1661, trying to catch the men
who had had the unheard-of audacity to sit in solemnn tribunal on his
royal father and then publicly exccute him, would be likely to rogard
this whole matter in a very different light. No doubt from time to time
lic had heard from the oflicers in pursuit how their best-laid plans were
foiled by the people, and all their cfforts to trace and arrest the fugitives
brought to nought, very largely through the magistrates of the New
Haven Colony. :

But at last the long public contest was ended. Trumbull, in his
« History of Connccticut ”?! tclls us (and the testimony is mnore valuable
beeause he lived and wrote within the bounds of tho old New Haven
Colony) that: —

* At the General Election, May 11, 1665, when the two colonies of Connect-
icut and New Haven united in one . . . a proportionable number of the magis-:
trates were of the former colony of New Haven ; all the towns sent their deputies;
and the Assembly appears to have been entirely harmonious. . . . The union of
the colonies was a happy one. It greatly contributed to the convenience, strength,
peace, and welfaro of the inhabitants of both, and of their posterity. Greater
privileges New Haven could not have enjoyed, had they been successful in their
applications to his Majesty.”

By the union of Connecticut and New Haven the territory and the
population were 8o increcased beyond what had belonged to either one
before, that the time had arrived to cast the State into four subdivisions
called counties, for its bettcr regulation and government. This business
took place ut the Court of Elcction held at Hartford, May 10,1666, when
there were present the governor, John Winthrop; the deputy-governor,
Jolin Mason; twelve assistants, and thirty-ouc deputics. Those who
had before been called Magistrates wore now under the now charter
called Assistants.

At first the counties were four,— Hartford, New Haven, New London,
and Fairfield. The bounds of Hartford County were as follows: —

“The Court orders that the Townes on the Riuer from y°* north bounds of
Windsor w Famniugton to y° south end of y° hounds of Thirty Miles island
shalbo & remaine to be one County w™ shalbe called the County of Hartford.
And it is ordered that the County Court shalbe kept at Hartford on the 1* Thurs-
day in March, and on the first Thursday in September yearly.”!

The Thirty Miles Island, so called, was the territory now occupied
by the towns of Haddam and East IIaddamn, which was then chiefly
wild and unoccupicd land. The singular name it bore was from a little
island in the river, over against it, which was reckoned to be thirty
miles from the mouth of the river. At this snme session clerks were
appointed for these scveral countics; and in Hartford County the ap-
pointment fell upon Mr. Daniel Clarke, who for a long course of years
was to be onc of the well-known public men of the county. In the follow-
ing year it was voted that the County Courts shall have leave to ¢ chuse
their own clarkes.” In this year (1667) there were nineteen towns in

! Vol i. pp. 276, 277.
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tho sovernl countics of tho Stato, and tho total valuation of the cstates
showed £144 898 Gs. 0d.

In the same session of the General Court constituting these coun-
ties it was ordered : —

“That y* Wills and Inventories of persons deceased w'*in any of the Counties
in this Colony shalbe exhibited and proued at y* County to which the deceased
did appertaine by his habitation. And the said County Court is to settle the
distribution of the estate to the legatces”?

The County Courts too were to have liberty and power (but not
exclusive power) over the question of sclling liquor, which has been
one of the most difficult questions to manage, from that day to this:

“ This Court grants liberty to the County Courtes in the respective Countyes
to grant lycense to any patticular person to retale wine & lig™, as occation shall
require; and none els but such as ara Iycensed by the Generall Court or the County
Courtes, without a ticket from the Magistrate of the place where they live, shall
haue leane to sell by retale any wine or lig™.”

Other functions and powers were lodged with these county organi-
zations as time passed on; these were their chief primitive duties.

1 Colonial Records of Connecticut, vol. il p. 84. 3 Ibid., p. 89.



CHAPTER IV.

THE COLONIAL PERIOD.

SECTION 1.

THE ANDROS GOVERNMENT.— THE CHARTER AND THE
CHARTER OAK.

BY SHERMAN W. ADAMS.

ONNECTICU'T"S Charter of 1662 was more favorable to its grantees
than the Charter of Massachusetts Bay, of 1629, had been to the
latter colony. The document, in the form of letters-patent, for

Connceticut, gave to John Winthrop, and to his associates therein named,
and to those who should thereafter be “nade free of the Company and
Society of our Collony of Conecticut in America,” general and exclusive
governmental powers, — such as the right to organize and maintain a
house of Deputies, and to establish courts; the corporation having the
right to exccuto its powers on the soil of Connceticut. In Massachu-
sctts it was always a question whether tho corporate powers must not
be exccuted in England, where the office of the “ Council at Plymouth ”
was, from whom the colony reccived its decd. The grant of the soil
of that colony was to the Charter grantees and thcir assigns; while
the powers of government were conferred upon the corporation and its
successors. No power was expressly given to- Massachusetts to estab-
lish courts of law, nor had it admiralty jurisdiction. Conncecticut,
liowover, was, as Chalinors oxprosses it,! a ¢ pure Democracy ; sinco the
freemen exercised without restraint every power, deliborative and ox-
ccutive.” Rhodo Island and Connceticut, he says, were “two little
republics, embosomed within a great empire.”

The most active and unscrupulous agent for the revocation of the
colonial charters of New England was Edward Randolph, the collector
of His Majesty’s customs in New England, and deputy auditor-general
of revenues in Amcrica. Ile it was who framed the “ charges ” whereon
writs of quo warranto werc based, against tho colonial governments.
IIo crossed the ocean many times in pursuance of his purpose. Two
such writs wero sorved upon Massachusetts, both of which were aban-
doned ; and a writ of scire facias was finally brought to the High Court
of Chancery in England; whercon, in October, 1684, a dccree was ob-
tained, annulling and vacating the Charter. This was in the reign of
Charles II. .In the following Fcbruary James II. became king. The

1 Introduction to the ** History of the Revolt of the American Colonies.”
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last clection under the Massachusetts Chartor occurred in May, 1686.
In the same month Joscph Dudley, the Royal President of the now
government, arrived. His territory included Massachusetts, New
Hampshire, and Maine; and Boston became the seat of government for
all the provinces.

Sir Edmond Andros arrived, bearing a royal commission as Gov-
ernor of New England, Dec. 19,1686. He had been a major as early as
1666, in the war against the Dutch, in New York; in
1672 he was major of Prince Rupert’s Dragoons, and
in 1674-1681, Governor of New York, having in the
mean time been made a Knight, while on a visit
to England. From 1681 to 1686 he had remainced
in England, where he had been a lieutenant-colonel
of horse, and had commanded a troop of lorse
against the rcbellions Duke of Monmouth.

Wo cannot here recount the doings of Andros
a8 Governor of Now England; but it may be said,
generally, that he, like Randolph, was particularly

offensive to the Puritan element. He compelled them to open their
houses of worship for the holding of services according to the
forms of the Church of England. Concerning the advent of Andros to
Connecticut, much more than can be stated hore will be found in
Vol. 1. of Dr. Benjamin Trumbull’s * History of Connecticut;” in Vol.
II1. of J. Hammond Trumbull’s ¢ Colonial Records of Connececticut;”
and in the unpublished document, entitled “ Will and Doom ; or, the
Miscrics of Connecticut,” writton in 1692 by tho Rov. Gershom Bulkeley.
Edward Randolph had been obnoxious to Connecticut in the per-
formance of his official duties. He had also been the agent of the
Duke and Duchess of Hamilton, when in 1688 they had laid claim to
that part of Connecticut east of the river. In July, 1685, he prepared,
for the Lords Commissioners of Plantations, ¢ Articles of High Mis-
demeanors against the Governor and Company of Connecticut;” that
being the corporate name of the colony. The ¢ charges,” six in num-
ber, may be summarized thus: first, the gonoral one, that the colony
had “ made laws contrary to the realm of England ;” sccond, that fines
were converted to the colonial treasury ; third, that an oath of fidelity,
and not of allegiance, was required from inhabitants ; fourth, that exer-
cise of the religion of the Church of England was denied ; fifth, that
justice could not be obtained in the courts; sixth, that loyalists were
excluded from office, and the power kept in the hands of ¢ the inde-
pendent party.” These accusations were made in order to justify the
18sue of a writ of quo warranto against Connecticnt ; the object being

TIIE ANDROS SEAL.!

1 ¢ The seal used by Sir Edinond Andros while Governor of New England (a fine impres-
sion of which is preserved on the commission to Governor Treat as Colonel) bears — quarterly,
first and fourth on a chevron, between three leopards’ faces, as many castles triple towered

for the seigniory of Sausmarez] ; second and third, a saltire voided, on a chief three mullets.
’rest, u falcon affrontant, wings cxpanded. Supporters : dexter, a unicorn, go ; sinister, a
yhound, tail cowarded, gorged. The motto is not legible. That of the family of Sausmarez
ft: which the crest and supporters belong) is * In Deo Spero' (Burke's Armory). The bear-
ings of the second and thir({l quarters are given by Burke as those of Andrewes of London
and Androws of Doddington, The nrms of tho Androa of Guernsoy (to which Rir Falmon
belonged) aru doscribed in Berry’s ¢ History of Guernsey ’ (1. 188) a8 *a chevrun belwoen throe
licans vulning themselves.'” — Dr. J. H. Trumbull's Note to Colonial Records of Comnecticut,
ii. 892.
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to make that colony a province to be subject to the government to be
established at Boston.

On Randolplk’s charges, the Privy Council recommended that the
King direct his Attorncy-General to prosccute such a writ. In July,
1685, two writs of quo warranto were issucd. Both wore scrved to-
gether, a ycar latcrﬂ;y Randolph; the service being upon Robert Treat,
Governor; Captain John Allyn, Scerctary; and Major Jolin Talcott,
one of the Assistants of the General Court. 'The service was, of course,
defective ; the return-day of tho process having already elapsed. William
Whiting (son of William, a Hartford gentleman) was then a merchant in
London, and Conaocticut’s %gent %
there. To him Governor Treat 0‘/ ‘7 z%
wrolg, acquainting him with theso ‘{7’ 7E Al
facts and authorizing him to procure ‘
defence against the suits. A petition was also sent in August, 1686, to
the King, praying that the privileges of the colony bo not taken awaﬂ;
No action was had in the Court of King’s Bench upon these writs.
December, 1686, a third writ was served upon Governor Treat, requiring
the colony to appear in answer thercto in the following February. With
the scrvice of this writ, Deccmber 28th, a letter from Governor Andros
was dclivered, announcing that the King had authorized him to receive
“the surrender of the charter, {f tendered,” by Governor Treat. Nei-
ther then nor afterward did Governor Treat offer to surrender that
instrument. But in January, 1687, Andros was informed by him, by
order of the General Court, that Mr. Whiting had been empowered, in
the colony’s behalf, to defend against this latest writ. It was added
that the colony desired ¢ to continue in the sawnc station ;” but that it
would, “a8 in duty bound, submit to ITis Majesty’s royal commands ;”
and that, if compelled to join any other colonios, it would prefer those
under Andros.

This answer was made the pretext, by some of Andros’s adhercents
(as, for instance, Gershom Bulkeley), for the claim that Connecticut
“ consented ” to the surrender of hor Charter. But Andros himself did
not 8o construe it; for he continuecd, until June, 1687, to urge tho
colony’s submission to his authority. Finally, Oct. 22, 1687, he wrote
to Governor Treat that he had “rececived cffectuall orders and com-
mands from his Mat for Connccticut, anncxed to this [Bostonl] Gov-
crmment.”  Ile further stated his resolve to bo ¢ att Hartford ab* the end
of next weeke, pursuant thercunto,” cte.

Judge Sewall’s Diary, under date of Oct. 26, 1687, says: —

¢ His Excelloncy, with sundry of tho Council, Justices, and other Gentlomen,
four Blew-Coats, two Trumpoters (Sam. Bligh one), 15 or 20 Red-Coats, with
small Guns, and short Lances in tho tops of thom —set forth for Woodcock’s
[Woodeock’s tavorn, in what is now Attloborough, Mass.}, in order to goo to
Connecticut, to assume the Government of that place.”

Andros, m fact, set out at this date, coming by way of Providenco
and New London, and crossing the river at Wethersfield ferry, later
known as Pratt’s ferry. At the latter point, to quote from Mr. Bulke-
ley’s « Will and Doom,” he arrived :

“On Monday, October 31, 1687, with divers of tho mombers of his Council,
and other gontl. atlonding him, and with his guard ; camo to llartford, whero he

VOL. 1. —§,
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GOVERNOR ANDROS.

was received with all respect, and welecome congratulation ;” ete. “The troop of
horse of that county conducted him honorably, from the ferry, through Wethers-
field, up to Hartford ; where the trained bands of divers towns . . . united to
pay their respects at his coming.”

The county troop was at that time commanded by Captain Samnel
Talcott, of Wethersfield; and it is not probable that had much
“ respect” for the Andros government, for he had furnished money to
aid in defending against it. But Bulkeley, though undoubtedly honest,

' colored his account, as a partisan of An-
dros naturally would.

At Ilartford, the samo day, Andros,

according to Bulkeloy, was escorted to tho

“ Court Chamber ™ (on the sccond {loor of

the Meeting-House), where, taking the ¢ Governor’s scat,” he caused his
commission to be publicly read, and made proclamation of his assumption
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of the governmont. 1le then made tho Governor and the Secrotary mem-
bers of his Council, and administered to them the oath of office. The
record of the General Court shows that the mecting was a special scssion
of that body, by order of the Governor.” Upon the conclusion of the
proceedings, Sceretary Allyn closed the rocord with this entry : —

“His Excelency, S* Ldmond Andross, K™, Capt. Gonerall & Gov* of his
Ma¥* 'oritorio & Dominion in New Eugland, by onder from his Ma* James the
socond, King of England, Scotland, France & Ireland, tho 31 of October, 1687,
took into his hands the Government of this Colony of Conecticutt ; it being by
his Ma®" annexed to the Massachusotts, & other colonys under his Excelencies
Government.

FIN18.”

Dr. Benjamin Trumbull’s version of the procecdings at Hartford
(History of Connccticut, vol. i. p. 890) is vory different fromn Mr,
Bulkeley’s ; but hie had not scen the latter. e says that Andros was
accompanicd by more than sixty  regular troops;” that ho demanded
the Charter, and declared the government under it dissolved. During
the conference between the royal and the colonial Governor, —

“tho Charter was brought in and laid upon the table, whore the Assembly
was sitting. . . . The lights were instantly extinguished, and one Captain [Jo-
seph] Wadsworth, of Hartford, in the most silont and sccret manner, carried off
the Charter, and secreted it in a hollow tree, fronting the house of the Honorable
Samuel Wyllys, then one of the magistrates of the colony. The people ap
all peaceable and orderly. The candies wore officiously relighted ; but the patent
was gone, and no discovery could be made of it, or of the person who had con-
veyed it away.  Sir dmond assumed tho government, and the records of the
eolony wero closed, in the following wonls™ : —

And he quotes the entry we have recited above. Tho latter version
accords with the ancient tradition. Captain Wadsworth was a brother
of John Wadsworth, one of the Assistants present, from Farmington.

What i8 certain is, that the Charter was never surrendered; and,
indeed, there never was any decree ordering its surrender or annulling
it. No such order could have been made upon tho quo warrante; and
a judgment of that kind would not have been responsive to the writ or
ita demands,

Andros muy or may not have been a “usurper” in Massachusotts,
whose charter had been annulled under a seire facias. At Hartford his
govermuent was that of a usurper; for he had no judicial warrant for
the cxcrcise of authority there, and he excecded the very doubtful au-
thority granted by the King. He abolished the General Court and the
Court of Assistants, and he set np new tribunals in their stead. He
cstablished o Superior Court, Conrts of Genoral Sessions, and Courts of
Common Pleas. 1le conunissioned judges and justices of the peaco.
Allyn, who had been Judge of the County Court for 1lartford County,
was made Judge of the Common Pleas Court. The Assistants of the
Genoral Court were made Justices ; as were also some others, including
Gershom Bulkeley. He commissioned Governor Treat to be Colonel of
Militia ; and cvidently sought to placate officials whomn he had removed,
by placing them in new ofhices. Llis Council at Boston cnacted laws for
the government of Connecticut until the revolution of 1689,
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With the accession of William and Mary to the throne, the charter
govoernment was resuned, in May, 1689 ; Andros and Randolph having
lieen arrested and deposed in April of that year. In 1704 Governor
Dudley, of Massachusetts, and Lord Cornbury, Governor of New York,
made futile efforts to have the Charter revoked. That instrument re-
mained in force, 8o far as Connecticut chose to have it, until the adop-
tion of our Constitution.

Through the courtesy of the Hon. J. Hammond Trumbull, the writer
is cnabled to mention some of the doings of the courts of the Andros
government in Hartford County. The original records of those conrts
arc in the posscssion of Mr. Trumbull, to whomn they were presented by
the late Thomas G. Talcott, Ksq. They were among the “Talcott
papers,” and have never been published.  They are in twenty-five closely
written folio pages. .

The first Court of Sessions held at Hartford was begnn on March
5, 1687-8. The ¢ Justices” present were: Lientenant-Colonel John
Taleott, [Tnmphrey Davie, and Samuel Wyllys, of Hartlord ; (fershom
Bulkeloy, Sammel Talcott, and Jolin Chestor, of Wothevsficld ; Beuja-
min Newberry, of Windsor ; Joln Wadsworth, of Farmington ; and (iles
Hamlin, of Middletown. Mr. Davic had lived in Boston, but was of
Hartford at the date of his deccase, Fecb. 18, 1688-9. He was a
brother of Sir John Davie, of Creedy, County of Devon, England; to
whom his son John, of Groton, Conn., succecded as heir to the baronial
estate and titlo.

The Grand Jury consisted of : Nathanicl Stanley and Joseph Wads-
worth, of ITartford ; James Stecle, Sr., William Burnhamn, and John
Chester, (Jr. 7), of Wethersficld ; and John Bissell, Jolin Moore, Return
Strong, and Nathaniel Loomis, of Windsor. A marshal attended upon
the court. '

The first case tried was a prosecution of “ Mr. Joseph Mallison ” (?),
for assaulting Stephen Chester, of Wethersfield. Several other prose-
cutions were tried. Packors and gaugers, cullers (of fish), and scalers
of weights and measurcs were appointed for Hartford, Windsor, Weth-
ersfield, Middletown, Farmington, Hnddam, Waterbury, and Simsbury.

A session of the Inferior Conrt of Pleas was begun on the 8th of
March, 1687-8. At this court John Allyn was the judge; and the Jus-
tices above mentioned (excepting Davie) were his associates on the
bench. Several civil causes were tried, and some wills were probated.
Justice Davie was present in April and May. Another Court of Scssions
was begun June 5, 1688. At this term, besides the trial of canscs,
commissioners and constables were appointed for some of the towns,
and probate matters were attended to. A special scssion was held
June 19, and a Court of Pleas the same day, with Allyn as judge.
Another term of the Court of Sessions was begun September 4. This
was a general session. Special sessions were held September 11 and
18. In the following February and March therc were sessions of the
Court of Pleas, the last onc having been on March 7,1688-9. Snits
and prosceutions were tried, and wills were probated. Several wills
are recorded in estenso. Ferry-keepers (for Lymo and Wethersficld)
and tavorners were licensed.

The territory over which jurisdiction was conferred by tho Charter
was bounded northerly by Massachusetts, casterly by * Narrogancett
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River,” southerly “by the Sca,” and westerly by ¢“the South Sca.”
This last-mentioned limit was, in later times, construed by Connccticut
to bo the Pacific Occan ; but it is probable that the Crown had no idea
of the vastness of the cxtent westerly. The tenure was “in {ree and
common socage ;”° which, practically, was as good as a {fec-simple. The
instrument was writlen upon threo skins, or picces of purchinent; at

THE CHARTER OAK.

the beginning of the first of which is a finely exccuted drawing of the
head of Charles I. There was originally suspended from the foot of
the docmment an immense waxen scal; but it long ago crumbled to
picees. The whole was encased in a box, the wood of which rescmbles
that of the Scotch fir. The box is now in the posscssion of the Connccti-
cut Historical Society. The charter may be scen at the office of the
Secretary of the State, in the Capitol, enclosed in a carved frame, part
of which is of wood of the old tree itsclf.

The tree stood upon land on the homestoad of the celcbrated Wyllys
family, until 1827, when the place becamne the property of Steplien Bulke-
ley, o descendant of that Gershom Bulkeley who had shown so much dis-
respect for the Charter. In-1840 the property descended to Bulkeley’s
daughter, Catharine, the wife of thc Hon. Isaac W. Stuart. This gen-
tleman did all that could be done to preserve the venerable oak, and
remained the keeper of it until its prostration, which occurred in a high
wind, Aug. 21, 1856. From its wood thousands of small articles were
made, including “ nutmegs,” and larger productions were not uncommon.
Among the latter may be mentioned the chair of the presiding oflicer of
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the Connccticut Senate. It was designed by a son of Governor A. .
Holley, and carved by one Vigncaux, a Frenchman. Scveral soedlings
from the tree are known to exist; two of which, one a fine and thrifty
specimen, are growing on Bushnell Park. The specics is the common
white oak (Quercus alba of botanists), and is ono of slow growth. The
parent tree is said to have been twenty-one feet in circumference at
a lheight of seven feet from the ground. And it is also said that, in the
presence of Mr. Stuart, twenty-one persons occupied its cavity at a time.
Near its base the breadth of the trunk was very much greater than at
the height of a person’s head. A careful computation, made by Pro-
fossor John Brocklesby while the tree was prostrate, fixed its age at
a little less than a thousand years. A marble tablet marks the spot
whereon the old oak stood.

Many facts concerning the Charter Oak, and the various representa-
tions, on canvas and paper, which have been mnde of it, will be found
in the recently published monograph on the subject, by Mr. William 1.
Fletcher, lately assistant-librarian of the Watkinson Library. One of
the most valuable views, in a historical sense, is a small painting, made
by George Francis, in 1818, for Mr. Daniel Wadsworth. Mr. Charles
De Wolf Brownell, about 1855, made several sketches and oil-paintings
of the tree, the finest of which is owned by the heirs of the late Gov-
ernor Marshall Jewell. The Francis painting, and sevcral other views,
are in the rooms of the Counccticut Historical Society.
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SECTION IIL

GENERAL HISTORY OF THE COUNTY TO THE END OF
THE REVOLUTIONARY WAR.

BY MISS MARY K. TALCOTT.

THE history of the County of Hartford during this period must
relate very largely to the wars in which the English colonies were
involved with the French and Indians. The very existence of the
colonies was often menaced, and every able-bodied man bore his share
in the incessant conflicts rendered necessary by the unceasing hostility
of the savage foe and the ambitious projects of the French. The Colony
of Connocticut sent men both to Albany and New York to assist the
inhabitants in repelling the assaults of the savagoe bands despatched
by Count Frontenac to ravage their borders. Captain Jonathan Bull,
afterward sergeant-major of Hartford County, went with his company
from Hartford to Albany, in 1689, to aid in the defence of that region,
and in the following winter his trooE»I was among the number surprised
by the French at Schenectady. is lieutenant, one sergeant, and
three privates were killed in that massacre, and five men were cap-
tured. This attack, and the one made shortly after on Salmon Falls,
on the Connecticut River, caused great alarm in'New England, and
constant watchfulness was required of all. More troops were sent to
Albany, and also to the settlements in Massachusctts on the Connecti-
cut. These settlements were quite as dependent upon Connecticut,
especially Hartford County, as upon the people of the Bay, for assist-
ance in time of danger. In 1693 Sir William Phipps asked the Gen-
eral Assemnbly to aid in protecting the eastern settlements in Maine
and Massachusetts ; and a company of sixty Englishmen and -forty
Indians was sent, commanded by Colonel William Whiting.

In October, 1696, the  Rev. Mr. Stoddard, Captain Patrick, and the
Rov. Mr. Williams appealed to tho Goneral Assembly of Connecticut
for a speedy supply of forty or fifty men for defence. In response,
forty men were raised in Hartford, Wethersfield, and Windsor, under
command of Lieutenant Stephen Hollister, to march with all possible
speed to Deerfield.

The Peace of Ryswick, in 1697, gave a much needed rcpose to the
colonists, who had spent frcely their blood and money to repel their
fierce and crafty enemy. Notwithstanding the strain and depletion
caused by these wars and rumors of wars, the people increased in
numbers; and in 1690 the oldest town in the colony, Wethersfield, was
divided, that part of it lying east of the Great River being made a
town, and called Glastonbury. This was the first division of any
of the old townships in the county, but it was the precursor of many
more.

The rccords of .the county court for this period show with what
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vigilance the magistrates watched over the manners and morals of the
inhabitants. They were jealous of their own dignity, and rigorously
runishedv all contempt of their authority. April 9, 1690, Samuel Gay-
ord was fined 20s. for disobeying Mr. Henry Wolcott’s commands to
stay before him in court; and on the 28th of November, the same
year, Benjamin Crane was fined £15 for speaking ill of the authori-
ties, also to give a £50 bond for good behavior. His grievous offence
consisted in calling the magistrates a company of ¢ forsworn wretches,”
and saying “ that their authority was neither of the King nor of God,
but of the Devil.” In 1706, Captain Joseph Wadsworth, well known
in tradition as the preserver of the charter, was fined 5s. for hot-headed
remarks in court and hasty reflections on the judges. The same year
Bevil Waters, of Hartford, was indicted for ¢ cursing the court,” —
having said, after a judgment had been rendered against him, “ God
bless you over the left shoulder.”

Many persons were prescnted before the court for not attending
public worship, and 5s. was the ordinary fine; though occasionally,
when there were aggravating circumstances, the fine was increased.
Philip Goffe, of Hartford, and his wife Naomi, when accused of absent-
ing themselves from public worship, made their defence, “ that in their
Conscience they coulg not, nor would they, go to meeting on the Sab-
bath day.” For this bold declaration they were fined 20s. Profanity
was heavily fined, 10s. being the ordinary rato. Drunkenness was much
more common, the Indians being frequent offenders in. spite of the
rigorous precautions adopted to prevent them from obtaining liquor.
The English also succumbed to the influence of intoxicating drinks
even on solemn occasions; for, on the 5th of April, 1698, George
Haines was fined 10s., or to sit in the stocks two hours, for being
drunk at Jonathan Dibble’s funeral.

A tavern in Hartford was kept by Disbrow Spencer, and his hospi-
«ality appears to have been accompanied by many discreditable inci-
dents. Playing at cards was forbidden by law, but Spencer allowed it
in his house on the sly; and Oct. 11,1703, when the soldiers were
come together from the adjoining towns for training, a brawl occurred
in the night between Joseph Grant and Richard Tudor, caused by a
disagreement at cards. When they were tried, John Butler testified
that he saw them playing cards for money, and that there was plenty
of drink to be had in the house. Grant was fined 20s. for playing
cards, 10s. mnore for unseasonable company-keeping; and Spencer had
to pay 10s. for entertaining at unseasonable hours. Three ycars later
this same Disbrow Spencer was again brought before the Court, this
time as a duellist. He and Henry Merry, of Lyme, having a quarrel,
challenged each other to meet with swords at the common landing-
place in Hartford, there to dccide their differences by force of arms.
The complaint was not proved, and they were discharged ; so Hartford
can hardly compete with Boston for the honor of the first duel in
New England.

Besides punishing the sins of the peogle, the court also directed
them whither to look for spiritual aid. Sept. 6, 1702, on account of
the prevalence of “ Epidemicall” diseases in this county, and also of
the continuance of the drought, the ministers and congregations were
recommended to keep the 24th of September as a “day of humiliation
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and prayer to Almighty God, that he would look in mercy upon us his
Wilderness people.”

The intimate connection between Church and State brought eccle-
siasticnl matters occasionally before the Court, the payment of the
rates being made very unwillingly in somo cases ; and the liberty of the
inhabitants to lcave one church in Ilartford and go to the other was
questioned. .

In 1698 William Whiting was High Sheriff,and under his direction
a new prison-house was ordered to be built in Hartford. The Sheriff
of Hartford County was then a very important official, almost next to
the Governor in dignity, and the position was usually held by some
prominent man. Colonel Whiting held the office for many years, also
represented Iartford in tho Gencral Assembly, and frequently led
the colonial troops in the French and Indian wars. In 1708 le
received from the Assembly the sum of £30 for his good services in
the county of Hampshire, and in this colony. He was a son of the
Rev. John Whiting, minister of the First Church in Hartford, after-
ward first pastor of the Second Church. This family is prominent in
our military annals, and many of its members held high civil positions.

The War of the Spanish Succession in Europe, in 1702, again set
the colonists in battle array. As usual, a requisition was made from
Massachusetts for aid, and a committee of war was appointed with
plenary powers to send troops into Massachusetts and the frontier
towns of Connecticut. Jan. 1, 1704, four hundred men were ordered
to be raised by the committee, to be in readiness upon any sudden
occurrence, to have 12s. per week, furnishing themselves with arms,
ammunition, snow-shoes, and Indian shoes. The committee of war
for this county consistcd of Nathaniol Stanly, Esq., of Hartford, Mr.
William Pitkin of LBast IIartford, Major John Chester of Wethers-
field, Major Williamm Whiting of Ilartford, Captain Cyprian Nichols
of Hartford, Captuin Matthow Allyn of Windsor, and Captain Aaron
Cook of Hartford,! —all prominent men in thec colony. In 1707 the
colonists were again alarmed by rumors of another French and Indian
invasion, and on the 6th of February a council of war was convened at
Hartford, the governor and principal military men of the colony being
prosont. Measures of defence wore organized, more especially against
the Indians within our borders. Tho sum of £50 was allowed out of
the treasury for procuring dogs, in the northern frontier towns, ¢ to
hunt after the Indian enemy;” and the committee of war in Hart-
ford County were directed to obtain as many dogs as that sum would
allow, to be always ready for the service. Indian methods of warfare
were adopted in allying the savages with the colonial soldiers. A
scouting-party was sent out, in 1710, towards * the lako,”? consisting
of four or five Engltshmen and sixty Indians ; and they were to receive
from the treasury £10 for each scalp they should bring in. :

In 1711 a large expedition for the reduction of Canada was raised,
and sanguine expectations were cherished of its success. A general
fast was appointed throughout the colony, Aug. 15, 1711, to be followed
by fasts on the last Thursday of every month “until the present
expedition to Canada be ended.” The major of Hartford County was

1 Colonial Rocords, vol. iv. p. 31, # Lake George.
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directed, Dec. 27,1711, to impress men for service in Hampshire County,
if thoy did not offer; a scouting-party being nceded, to be posted on
some eminence above Deerfield for the discovery of the enemy.

The Peace of Utrecht, in 1713, gave the wearied colonists a res-
pite from fighting, which they improved by devoting themselves with
energy to the occupation and subduing of the wilderness which sur-
rounded them on every side.

The people of Hartford and Windsor had bogun oven earlier to
plan new townships on the land granted to thesc two towns by the
General Assembly in 1686. This {snt was 8 hasty measure adopted in
anticipation of tlic coming of Sir Kdmund Andros, when it was feared
he would attempt to sequestrate the unappropriated lands held by the
Governor and company of Connecticut under the charter of King
Charles II., as well as to annul the charter itself. The grant to Hart-
ford and Windsor consisted of ¢ those lands on the north of Woodbury
and Mattatuck, and on the west of Farmington and Simsbury, to the
Massachusetts line north, and to run west to the Ilousatunnuck River
(provided it be not, or part of it, formerly granted to any particular
person), to make a plantation or village thereon.” After the flight of
Andros, in 1689, when the charter government was resumed, no action
was taken in regard to the lands. “It is probable that the General
Court, while composed mainly of those who voted the grant, were un-
willing, by a revocation, to incur the imputation of having made a
fictitious disposal of the lands; and that the grantees, while the well-
known intent of the grants was fresh in thoir romembranco, were
slow to repudiate the implied trust by any ovort act of ownorship.”?
In 1707, more than twenty years after the grant, and after most
of those then on the stage had passed away, Major William Whiting,
Mr. Nathaniel Hooker, and Mr. Caleb Stanly were appointed to survey
this tract of land in conjunction with a cominittee from Windsor.
The same committee, with the addition of Mr. Richard Edwards, were
appointed, Jan. 19, 1708, to treat with Mr. John Reade, of Stratford,
and other claimants to these lands, to settle the boundaries, and to
adopt legal measures, if necessary, in defence of the rights of the two
towns. Herc the matter seemed to rest for a timo; but Nov. 2, 1718,
after peace was declared, Captain John Sheldon, Lieutenant Cyprian
Nichols, and Mr. Samuel Sedgwick were appointed a committee to
take account of the quantity and quality of the lands, and to ascertain
the nature of the Indian claims to the territory. Two years later, in
1715, Colone!l William Whiting, Ensign John Marsh, and Eusign
Thomas Seymor were appointed in conjunction with the Windsor com-
mittee to lay out one or two towns in this tract of land; and in pursu-
‘ance of these directions, in 1717, the town of Litchfield, at first called
New Bantam, was laid out. Certain considerable persons in Farming-
ton having obtained by purchase the native’s right to a portion of this
township, after some negotiation, one sixth part of it was set apart
for them, provided that thoy release and convey to the two towns their
claims to the western lands. In May, 1719, the General Assembly
confirmed the rights of the sottlers of Litchficld ; but with evident dis-
approval of the proceedings of Hartford and Windsor appends the

1 Boyd's History of Winchuur, p- 10,
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declaration that the whole tract north of Litchfield and Woodbury
“ghall lic for the further disposal of the Assembly.” This appears to
havo becn somncthing of a check upon the plans of the two towns, and
madc it nccessary for them to go through the forin of requesting the
assent of the Assembly to their noxt projoct,— Major Talcott, Captain
Cook, and Ensign Seymor being appointed, Dee. 14, 1719, to ask
leave of tho Asscinbly to scttle one or more townships on the remain-
der of the western lands. There is no ovidenco that any such consent
was ever received; but in 1720 Ensign Thomas Seymor and Ser-
geant James lingign were appointed to purchase the territory of the
natives; and later in the same year it was voted that a list of the
inhabitants of the town, purchasers of tho western lands, be made, 8o
that cvery purchaser should receive his proportion. Dee, 19, 1721,
Captain John Sheldon was charged with the responsibility of sclocting
a placo for another ¢ plantation.” The next year John Seymor, Sam-
uel Catlin, and William Baker, of Hartford, were appointed, with
Thomas Morc and Job Elsworth, of Windsor, * to take a further view
of the land in order to settling another town.” April 1, 1723, this
committco reported tho laying out of a town of sixty-seven allotiments,
and it was voted that the allotments bo disposed of at £6 each.
The General Assembly was at-last arouscd, and at its May session
ordercd the King’s attorncy for the County of New Haven to arrcst
the Hartford and Windsor committces, who had the matter in charge.
Public feeling ran so high in Hartford County that civil process against
the trespasscrs could not be executed ; so the New Haven officials were
called upon to act. Hartford responded by appointing Joseph Talcott,
Tisq., Captain Hezekiah Wyllys, Licutenant Thomas Seymor, and M.
James Lnsign to appear before the Asscmbly and explain and defend
the procecdings with regard to the lands. They were also to propose
a comnpromise, dividing the lands by a line drawn from the northwest
corner of Litchficld north to the Massachusctts line, the colony taking
the western division, the eastern to bo confirmed to Hartford and
Windsor. This was not acceded to; and finally, after a long and care-
ful examination of claims by the committee of the Assembly, in 1726
they proposed that the whole tract of land in question should be equally
divided botweon the colony and the two towns,— the colony to have
the westorn portion and Iartford and Windsor tho castern; also that
Litchficld should not come into the division, but should belong to the
proprictors. This territory ceded to Hartford and Windsor embraced
the present towns of Colebrook, ITartland, Winclicster, Barkhamsted,
Torrington, Now Hartford, and Ilarwinton,—an estimated area of
291,806 acres, to which should be added the township of Litchfield,
covering 35,000 acres more. The Government was probably actnated
by an earncst desire to have these valuable lands thrown open for settle-
ment, as could not well be donc while this conflict continued; for,
although called an cqual division, the quantity of land resorved to the
colony was only 120,000 acres. Notwithstanding this concession, the
compact was not finally ratified until Aug. 80, 1729, when tho patent
was duly executed, and reccived the colony’s seal. The noxt year the
General Asscibly annoxed all the western lands belonging to Hartford
and Windsor to the County of Hartford. Captain Thomas Seymor
and Licutenant Roger Newberry were appointed in May, 1781, to make
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a division of these lands, and Mr. Kimborley made a survey, from
which it was calcnlated that five towns might be laid out castward of
the Housatonic River, four north of Litchfield, and one between Litch-
field and the river. The deed dividing thc land betwcen the two
towns bears date Feb. 11, 1782, and the proprietors of Hartford became
the owners of Hartlund, Winchester, New Hurtford, and the eastern
half of Harwinton, while Colebrook, Barkhamsted, Torrington, and the
western half of Harwinton werc assigned to Windsor. The Assembly
passed u law providing that cach tax-payer of the two towns, on their
lists for 1720, should own a share, in proportion to his list, in onc of
these new townships, at the rate of more than three acres to the pound
of his list. The lands belonging to the colony were sold, and the pro-
ceeds were devoted to the support of the schools, this money being
divided among the towns then scttled, to remain a perpetual fund.

The settlement of Harwinton was vigorously carried on at onee, and
that of New Hartford a few years later; but the remaining townships
were nnoccupied, save by a few straggling settlers, before 17560, as
until and even after that period the dunger of attacks from the In-
dians was sufficient to deter the people from settling in the wilderness.

In connection with this account of the western lands should be
mentioned the * Hartford Riot,” as Dr. Benjamin Trumbull, in his
« History of Connecticut,” represents it, mistakenly, however, as one
of the consequences of that long controversy. ¢ Morcover, the charac-
ter and position of some of the parties implicated gave it an importance
which does not usually attach to the doings of a mob, Tho cause and
occasion, however, have been complotely lost sight of. . . . More recent
writers have adopted Dr. Trumbull’s version; and no one, so far as I
‘can discover, has been at the pains of investigating the real causes of
this popular outbreak.”! The following account is condensed from
Dr. J. H. Trumbull’s article on the subject, which appeared in the
« Hartford Evening Press,” October, 1860.

Joshua, Sachem of the Niantic Indians, by his will, made in 1676,
gave large tracts of land in (what now constitutes) the countics of
Windham and Tolland, to certain gentlemen.of Hartford, Windsor, and
elsewhore, reserving a portion on Willimantic and Hop rivers for his
sons. His title to the lands which he so liberally distributed was, to
say the least, somewhat questionable. It was not without much hesita-
tion that the will was adinitted to probate, and then only on condition
that the legatees should *submit the dispose and improvement of the
said lands to the General Court’s ordering, to make a plantation of.”
In 1706 the Ilartford legatcos received a grant of township privilogos
for Coventry, and in 1716 those of Windsor were authorized to lay out
Tolland. Before that date Captain Jeremiah Fitch, of Norwich, had
purchased a considerable tract in Coventry, deriving his title by deed
from & Windsor settler who had bought from onc of the Windsor lega-
tees. A part of his farin was within the tract reserved by Joshua for his
sons; and the last survivor, Abimelech, had willed it to Major John Clarke
and the Rev. Thomas Buckingham, of Saybrook. Major Clarke brought
an action, in May, 1721, against Fitch, in the Superior Court, to rcecover
possession of these lands. Judgment was given for the riaintiff, and
execution granted for the costs, amounting to £14 13s. Captain Fitch

1 Dr.J. Hammond Trumbull.
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remained obstinate, the execution was returned unsatisfied, and then
the captain was committed to prison in Hartford. His neighbors were
indignant at this outrage on squatters’ rights. There was scarcely a
farm in that region over which there were not two or threc conflicting
titles. They resolved ou a demonstration. Oct. 22, 1722, a party from
the IHop River country, joined by some from East Windsor,— about
fifty in all,—crossed the Hartford ferry, and, marching to the jail,
demanded the iminediate relcase of Captain Fiteli. The jailer, Thomas
Meakins, refused to comply with their demands, and opposed their en-
trance. But a battering-ram was soon found in a piece of timber lying
near by. The door was burst open, the rioters rushed in, carried off
Captain Fitch in triumph, and made a general ]all-dellvery Colonel
Willinin Whiting, the Iigh Sheriff, with such assistance as he could
inuster, pursued and overtook thein at the river-side, and made every
exertion to recapture the prisoner. But the rioters, after tho inter-
change of a few blows and some scuflliug, in which the Sheriff came off
second best, all got safely on board the ferry-boat, and compelled the
ferry-man to land thewm, out of the reach of immediate pursuit, on the
eastern side. The Goneral Assembly took imnmediate measures for
the punishment of the offenders, and a special court was ordered to sit
in Hartford for this trial, which took place in May, 1728. Fifteen per-
sons wére tried and convxcbed but Captain Fitch was.fully acquitted
of all participation in the not the court not regarding it as a crimo
that he walked out of prison "with his friends when the doors were
opened.

Wo must now resume the thread of events after the Peace of
Utrecht. During tho first fow yeara after that cvont ono of tho sub-
jeets which most concerned the people of llartford County was the
proposed removal of the collegiate school from Saybrook, as they were
very desirous that it should bo located at Wethersfield or Hartford.
The sum of £1,000 was offered to the college if it should be removed
to Hartford; and two of the trustees, the Rev. Timothy Woodbridge
and the Rev. Thomas Buckingham, favored the plan. Dec. 18, 1716,
the town of Hartford voted in favor of this proposal, and one of the
roasons mentioned was, that there was little communication between
tho countics of Iartford and Now London and New Ilaven, “tho
transporting anything by water being so uncertain.” After the As-
sembly had decided that the college should go to New Haven, the two
opposing trustecs offcred a remonstrance to that body ; and having the
two junior clagses at Wethersficld under tuition, they held a Commence-
ment there, Sept. 12,1718, — the samnc day that the like ceremonies were
going on in Now Haven, — Mr. Woodbridge presenting the class with
cortificates that thoy were worthy to be Bachelors of Arts. e who
was afterward known as the great divino, Jonathan Edwards, was one
of the youths who figured on this occasion. The people of Hartford
were so much gratified by Mr. Woodbridge’s stout resistance to the
rcmoval of the college to New Haven that they elected him, and also
the Rev. Thomas Buckingham, of the South Church, his fellow-pastor
in Hartford, to represcnt them in the General Assembly in 1719; but
they were not allowed to take their seats.

That year a new State House was built in Hartford, as an equivalent
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to the establishment of the college at New Haven. Still, the Wethors-
field school was continued, and was a cave of Adullam to which
students discontented at New Haven repaired for refuge; but finally
the breach was healed. Mr. Woodbridge was choscn rector pro tempore,
after the removal of Mr. Cutler,in 1722, and presided at the Com-
mencement in New Haven, as he had done five years before at
Wethersficld.

In 1728 the peace of the colony was disturbed by threatenings of
another Indian war. Massachusetts had become involved in conflict
with the Indians of Maine, and called npon Connccticnt for assistance.
There was also dangor that the tribes on the western and northern
borders would sympathize with their brethren; and in August, Major
Talcott was ordered to ride upon the frontiers, from Hartford to New
Milford, at the head of a body of three hundred men, scouts were
sent out to range the woods from Simsbury westward to the Housa-
tonic, and the friendly Indians were directed not to go hunting north
of the road from Farmington to Woodbury. A Cowmmittee of War at
Hartford was appointed, consisting of Colonel Matthew Allyn, Esq.,
Captain Roger Wolcott, Esq., Colonel William Whiting, Captain Aaron
Cook, Lieutenant Nathaniel Stanly, and Captain David Goodrich; and
fifty men were sent to the advanced posts of Deerfield and Northfield,
in Massachusetts. The new settlement at Litchfield suffered from this
war,—some of the inhabitants deserting their new homes on account
of the alarm caused from fears of Indian attacks, and also perhaps
because of the arduous duties of keeping watch and ward, rendered
necessary by the fear of the cnemy. 'The western soltlements wero
considered so exposed that thirty-two men were sent fromn Ilartford,
Wethersfield, and Farmington to their assistance. In October, 1724,
the Assembly passed a law that all persons who had deserted Litch-
field should forfeit their lands there, unless they returned within the
space of one month after the rising of the Asscmbly, or seut other
scttlers as their substitutes. The Committee of War at Iartford
was authorized to admit new settlers in the place of such deserters,
and to give them the forfeited lands. In May, 1724, Indians having
been discovered lurking about Litchfield, a party of thirty-two men
was ordered to go from Hartford, Wethersfield, and Farmington to
the aid of that town. The sum of £50 was offcred for every
Indian scalp produced hefore the Governor and Council or the Com-
mittee of War. In the autumnn the fears of a surprise were apparently
lessened ; for the friendly Indians were allowed to hunt as formerly,
¢ provided they wore something white upon their hicads, to distinguish
them as friends.” But in March, 1725, there was another alarm, and
the detachment in the towns of Hartford, Wethersfield, and Windsor,
two hundred strong, were ordered to be in readiness to march at the
shortest notice. September 17, Captain Cyprian Nichols and a com-
pany of fifty men were ordered into Hampshire County, as the Indians
were reported to be preparing to attack. The next year pence was
restored, and for a period of fourteen years no.war with cithor French-
man or Indian disturbed the colonists.

The wilderness lying cast of the Connecticut River, being less ox-
posed to hostile incursions than the western lands, naturally attracted
numerous settlers. The laying out of Coventry and Tolland has already
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been mentioned. Stafford was incorporated in 1719, and Bolton,—
where many Hartford families were represented, —in 1716.

Hartford County, which then embraced a much larger extent of
territory than now, suffored diminution a little later. Windham County
was cstablished in 1726; and in 1728 tho poople of Waterbury, at their
own request, were unnoxed to New Huven County. The townships of
Norfolk and Salisbury were sold at auction in Hartford, in May, 1788.
New Hartford was scttled earlier; but these frontier settlements were
less popular, for danger from the savages was by no means at an end,
and fortifications were needed for safety.

In 1740 a war with a more distant foe claimed the attention of Con-
necticut, and in July, Major William Pitkin was appointed to enroll
volunteors in Hortford County, and to beat up for recruits for tho
expedition against tho territories of the Uuthoslc King in tho West
Indies. This was Admiral Vernon’s expedition, sent from _England to
capture Porto Bello and Carthagena. Although successful in capturing
Carthagena, an extraordinary sickness attacked the forces, and out
of onc thousand New Englanders ouly one hundred lived to return to
their homes.

France openly declared war against Great Dritain in 1744, havmg
previously assisted Spain secretly in every possible manner. The pre-
vious year there appears to have been some alarm with regard to the
Indians, as a Committee of War was appointed in Hartford County,
consisting of the Deputy Governor, Roger Wolcott, Nathaniel Stanly,
Ozias Pitkin, and William Pitkin, Esquires, Captain Jolin Marsh, and
Mr. Joseph Buckingham, to send men into the frontier towns and into
Hampshire County in case of an invasion.

A great cffort was mnde in 1745 to raise troops for the expedition
to Cape Breton, of which Williamn Peppercll was Lieutenant-general,
and Roger Wolcott, of Windsor, was sccond in command, with the
rank of Major-general. The popularity of these two commanders
induced many of the better sort of pcople to enlist. Connbecticut raised
four hundred men, and sent also her sloop, “ The Defence,” with one
hundred men for the sca-scrvice. Great sacrifices and exertions were
inade by all classes, as the reduction of Louisbourg was believed to be
necessary for the peace of Now England. The Connecticut forces
sniled from New London about the 1st of April, and the Goneral
Asscmbly ordered tho 8d of April to be kept as a day of fasting and
prayer for the success of the expedition. The object of these prayers
was obtained, and Louisbourg capitulated to the prowess of the provm-
cial army, unaidod by any British ships or soldiers, after a siege of
forty-nine days. After the place was captured it was garrisoned by
the New England soldicrs, and Connecticut sent, in July, three hun-
dred men {o ussist in occupying the town.

Meanwhilo the Comumittee of War at Hartford were engaged in pro-
viding troops for defence nearer home. A company of sixty men was
raised in May, to be employed in garrisoning the line of block-houses
erected in Massachusetts between the Connecticut River and the Dutch
settlements at Hoosack. The next year, 1746, they built a fort in the
northwesterly part of Salisbury.

Encouraged by the success of the Louisbourg expedition, another
plan was made for the reduction of Canada, in 1746. Connecticut

YOL. 1. —a8.
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furnished one thousand men, — Elisha Williams colonel, Samuel Talcott
lieutenant-colonel ; but very little was accomplished, although the army
was well provided with men and munitions of war.

After the Peace of Aix-la-Chapelle, signed in 1748, the colonists
were able to turn their attention to the arts of peace, though they still
suffered annoyances from the Indians, who by no means scrupulously
observed the articles of the treaty. Nevertheless the frontier settle-
ments increased rapidly, and by the year 17565 there were many in-
habitants in New Hartford, Norfolk, Canaan, and other towns in what
is now Litchfield County, that county being established in 1751.

Although Hartford County lost territory by this scparation, a

rtial equivalent for this loss was received by the final cession by
assachusetts of the towns of Suffield and Enfield, in 1752, after a
long retention, against the wishes of the inhabitants.

The French as well as the Indians disregarded the provisions of the
Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle, and encroached in many places on the north-
ern and western frontiers. Their design was to hemn the Eunglish in
and confine them to the Atlantic seaboard. DBut the colonists, resent-
ing thoroughly this attempt to restrict their advance into the rich and
fertile country beyond the Alleghanies, resolved that this frontier
bristling with savage hostility should be removed, at whatever expense
of blood and treasure. The English government promised assistance,
and advised the colonists to unite in dcfence against this common
enemy. In accordance with this recommendation a convention of the
%overnors and principal gentlemen of the colonies met at Albany in

754. Connecticut was represented by the Hon. Willinin Pitkin, Roger
Wolcott, Jr., and Elisha Williams, Esq., all of Hartford County. The
next year war was openly declared between France and England.
One thousand men were raised by Connecticut for Governor Shirley’s
expedition against Crown Point,and the Committee of War in Hartford
County were empowecred to assist Massachusetts in building a fort
between Fort Massachusetts (now Williamstown) and the Hudson
River. After this time the field of hostilities was 8o far removed from
the borders of Connecticut that Hartford County was no longer spe-
cially called upon to assist in the defence of Hampshire County ; but
she furnished her full share of the men who fought at Crown Point
and Ticonderoga. This long and arduous war, lasting seven years, was
a heavy strain upon the resources of Connecticut. The treasury being
ahmost exhausted in 1757, in order to raise £1000 a public lottery
was opened in Hartford, and Colonel Thomas Welles, of Glastou-
bury, Colonel Samuel Talcott, and Mr. Richard Edwards were the
managers.

While the colonies were recovering from the effects of this long
and costly war, the government in England was preparing the oppres-
sive and annoying Stamp Act. When the colonies became aware of
the proposed measure, they used all possible means to avert it. Jared
Ingersoll, the agent sent to London by Connecticut, finally accepted
the office of stamp-master for the colony. When he returned, he
experienced great difficulties in executing his duties, and on the
road to Hartford he was encountered by the Sons of Liberty near
Wethersfield, who escorted him, five hundred strong, into that town,
and then ingisted on his resigning the office. 'With considerable
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unwillingness he submitted to the mandates of the crowd, who then
took him to Hartford, where the Sons of Liberty formed a semicircle
round the court-housc. The stamp-master was stationed in a conspicu-
ous place, and compelled to read his recantation aloud, in the hearing
of the Asscmbly and the prescnce of the people. In 1766 the Stamp
Act was repealed, to the great joy of the colonies; but the policy of
the English government was not changed. The taxes imposed on
imported articles led to the formation of non-importing associations in
nearly all the colonies. Some of the New York merchants did not
keep this agreement; and Sept. 18, 1770, a convention of merchants
and landholders from all the towns in the colony met at New Haven to
considor these matters, and also to provide for the growth of home
manufactures. ,

The general dissatisfaction and discontent increased, the proceed-
ings of the British ministry being ill calculated to allay the indignation
felt in all the colonies. The Boston Port Bill raised a spirit of resist-
ance everywhere; and Connecticut, so closely connected with Massa-
chusetts by ties of blood, friendship, and interest, sympathized most
keenly with the distressed inhabitants of Boston and Charlestown.

In Farmington the Act of Parliament was burnt by the common
hangman in the presence of a large assemblage of people. June 28,1774,
a meeting was held at Glastonbury, Colonel Elizur Talcott chairman;
spirited resolutions were passed, and a committee appointed to receive
contributions for tlie people of Boston; and similar measures were
taken in other towns.

Sept. 15, 1774, a convention was held at Hartford, composed of
delegates from most of the towns in the eastern and central, and a
number from the western scction of Connocticut. Many strong reso-
lutions were adopted in favor of the Non-Consumnption Agreement
being entered into by the consumers of British goods. Tea was the
article of commecrce most disapproved of ; and after the Continental
Congress liad prohibited the purchase and consuinption of it, those who
used it had to do so by stealth, sentinels being posted at the windows
to watch if neighbors or strangers were coming. March 28, 1775, Solo-
mon Cowles, of Farmington, and Martha his wife, having been con-
victed of partaking of that * detestable and obnoxious-vegetable called
East Indin ten,” and of having allowed it to be used in their house, were
obliged to sign a public confession of their errovs, which was printed
in the “ Connecticut Courant,” and to promise that they would in the
future conforn thcinselves strictly to the prohibition of Congress.
And this is only onc example out of many cases.

When the farmors at Lexington ¢ fired the shot heard round the
world,” Connecticut sprang to arms. Hastily formed companies started
at once from the following towns in Hartford County: from Hartford,
four companies, under Captains Jonathan Welles, Timothy Cheney, Abra-
ham Sedgwick, and George Pitkin; East Windsor, four companies, under
Captains Charles Ellsworth, Matthew Grant, Lemuel Stoughton, and
Amasa Loomis; from Simsbury, two companies, under Captains Amos
Wilcox and Zachariah Gillet; from Bolton, two companies, under Cap-
tains Ezekiel Olcott and Thomas Pitkin; from Wethersfield, one, under
Captain John Chester; from Enfield, one, under Captain Nathaniel
Terry ; from Glastonbury, one, under Captain Elizur Hubbard ; from
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Windsor, one, under Captain Nathaniel Hayden ; and one from Suffield,
under Captain Elilun Kont.

The surprise of Fort Ticonderoga was planned in Hartford, mostly
by Hartford County men, who borrowed money from the colonial trea-
sury to defray the expense, giving their individual obligations with
security. These persons were Samuel Wyllys, Sainuel Holden Parsons,
Silas Deane, Samuel Bishop, Jr., William Williams, Thomas Mumford,
Adam Babcock, Joshua Porter, Jesse Root, Ezekiel Williams, and
Charles Webb. Their proceedings were carried on ostensibly without
the knowledge of the Assembly, then in session, and a committce was
appointed to complete the arrangements for this daring project. This
committee sclected sixtoen men from Connecticut, the following being
Hartford County men: Epaphras Bull, William Nichols, Elijah Babcock,
Captain John Bigelow, Bernard Romans, Ashbel Welles, of Hartford ;
Captain Elisha Phelps and Noah Phelps, of Simsbury. This party
went to Pittsfield, where Coloncl James Euston, of that town, a native of
Hartford, joined them with forty men from Berkshire County. At Bon-
nington they wero roinforced by one hnndred men, and Colonel Ethan
Allen took command of the expedition. The result of the attack is
well known, but the initiative taken by Connecticut has not always been
recognized. At the same time that Ticonderoga was taken, was cap-
tured also Major Skene, of Skenesborough, a prominent loyalist, with
several members of his family. They were sent to Hartford with Cap-
tain Delaplace, the commander at Ticonderoga, and other officers. The
remaining prisoners, forty-soven in number, came later, undor the oscort
of Mr. Epaphras Bull. The elder Major Skene, or Govornor Skeno, as
he was called, was also sent to Hartford by the Continental Congress.
He and his son left Hartford, without liberty, July 25, but were easily
found at Middletown. On their return they were removed to a * very
commodious and pleasantly situated house in the West Society,” Mrs.
Hooker’s,! and apparently lived there in a very comfortable manner,
Major French being quartered there also. Their conduct, however,
did not always please the people of the West Division, and they
narrowly escaped a coat of tar and feathers.

Tho prisoners taken at St. John’s, in Canada, in 1775, were quar-
tered in Wethersfield, on their parole of honor not to depart from the
town. ’

In 1775, Colonel Erastus Wolcott, Samuel Wadsworth, Ezekicl
Williams, Epaphras Bull, Henry Allyn, Colonel Fisher Gay, Coloncl
Matthew Talcott, Colonel James Wadsworth, Jonathan Welles, Ebenozer
White, and Colonel J. Hmnphroy were appointed a commitltee to pro-
vide for the prisoners of war in Hartford.

During the early years of the Revolution many prisoners of impor-
tance were sent to Hartford and its vicinity for safe-keeping. A town
so far inland was in little danger of being surprised by the British
forces, and the people were so ardent in the cause of independence that
they could be relied upon to keep strict guard over the captives. Gov-
ernor Franklin, of New Jersey, was for a time in a lLouse in South
Windsor. Mayor Matthews, of New York, was broughit to Hartford,

1 This house is now standing on the hill in Klmwood, at the junction of the New Britain
and Newington roads, and was long known as the Mills place. Anecdotes relating to the stay
of the British officers are still relatod by descendants of families residing in the vicinity.
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but obtained liberty to stay at Litchfield, in charge of Captain Moses
Seymour. Other gentlemen from New York made the journey to Hart-
ford for being suspected of entertaining sentiments unfriendly to the
American cause. The mayor of Albany, the postmaster, and the clerk
of that county also came hither on a compulsory visit. .

Epapliras Bull, of Hartford, was appointed in 1776 commissary of
tho prisoncrs of war in this State, to obsorvo all tho ordors of the Gen-
eral Assembly and the Continental Congress, and to make monthly
returns of the condition of said prisoners to the board of war appointed
by Congress.

In 1777, prisoners taken at Princeton and on Long Island were
brought hero, ainong them several Hessian officers ; and later a number
of Burgoyne’s soldiers, Colonel Spade, the Hessian, being one. '

The journal of Major Christopher French, H. B. M., Twenty-second
Regiment, published in the “Connecticut Historical Society’s Collec-
tions,” vol. i., gives a lively representation of the manner in which the
prisoners were kept, although occasional brief items in the columns of
the ¢ Connecticut Courant’’ present the other side of the picture. The
fact that the officers, at least, were allowed to go to Middletown on Sun-
days, where the Rev. Mr. Jarvis officiated after the manner of the Church
of England, shows that they were allowed considerable liberty for a
space of time. Major French and Ensign Moland escaped from the jail
in Hartford, with the assistance of the ﬁev. Roger Viets, the Episcopal
minister in Simsbury, who secreted them. Mr. Viets was severely pun-
ishied for this offence, and for holding a traitorous correspondence with
the enemy.

Many tories from other parts of the State were incarcerated at
Simsbury in the copper-mines, better known as Newgate. Toward the
end of the war Congross ontered into ncgotiations with the State of
Connccticut for the use of the mines as a prison “for the roception
of British prisoners of war;” but tho peace put an end to the need of any
such arrangement.

March 27, 1776, the committees of inspection of fifteen towns in
Hartford County met at the State House to establish the prices of West
India goods, so that the merchants should not take advantage of the
scarcity,— West India rum to be sold at 8s. 9d. per gallon ; molasses,
2s. per gallon; coffee, 10d. per pound, ote.

When the Connecticut militia was organized into regiments in 1789,
a number of the companies in Hartford County formed the First Regi-
ment. At the beginning of the Revolution the First Regiment, Colonel
Wyllys’s, was formed o% companies from Hartford (west side of the
river), Windsor, Suffield, and Wintonbury. The Sixth Regiment, Colo-
nel Belden, consisted of troops from Wethersfield and Glastonbury.
The Fifteenth Regiment was composed of Farmington men, under the
command of Colonel Hooker., The companies from East Windsor, En-
field, Bolton, and Hartford (east side of the river) formed the Nine-
teenth Regiment. Hebron and Marlborough mon were in the Twelfth
Regiment, and Simsbury men in the Eighteenth. The Twenty-third
Regiment was drawn from Middletown and Chatham. In the autumn
of 1776 another organization of the militia took place. - Six battalions
were despatched to New York, and the Second, under command of Colonel
Fisher Gay, of Farmington, and the Sixth, under Colonel John Chester
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of Waethersfield, were largely composed of Hartford County men. The
campaign of 1776, in and aebout New York, called into active service
nearly all the Connecticut militia. The regiments on the weat side of
the Connecticut, and two from the east side, marched to New York
under Oliver Wolcott as Brigadier-general, and at the same time the
militia in the eastern part of the State was called to New London, and
Suffolk, Long Island.

During the succeeding years of the war many such calls were made
upon the citizens of Connecticut, when the alarm was raised that the
British troops were about to attack some exposed point on our borders,
as at Norwalk, Danbury, and New London.

Many privateers were despatched from Connecticut ports to prey
upon the English merchant vessels, those trading with the West Indies,
and others bringing supplies to the army, offering a rich and tempting
prey. Advertisements E-equently appeared in the “ Qonnecticut Cour-
ant,” that a sloop was lying off Rocky Hill, waiting for ¢ gentlemen vol-
unteers,” who were besought to take this casy moans of making their
fortunes. Captain Gideon Olmsted, of East Hartford, was a very
ﬁrominent leader in these enterprises, and distinguished himself by

is bravery and daring. _

April 80,1783, a formal celebration of the news of the signing of
the Treaty of Paris was held in Hartford. The people hailed with joy
the successful termination of the long and arduous struggle for inde-
pendence, and gladly laid aside their weapons to practise the arts of
peace. ~ . '

It would seem in order now to say a few words about the government
of the County, and Mr. C. J. Hoadly, State Librarian, has kindly fur-
nished the following notes on the subject : —

“ An executive officer for the courts was of course necessary from
the beginning, but he is first mentioned in our records by his title of
Marshal, under date of June 15, 1659. Tle earliest law for appointing
county marshals appears in the revision of our statutes printed in 1678,
which gave that power to the county courts. During the interruption
of the colony government by Andros, 1687-1689, sheriffs were ap-
pointed for-the four counties by the Governor and Council ; but on the
re-assumption of the Charter the former order prevailed. At the May
session of the General Court, 1698, it was ordered and enacted that the
marshal of the colony should be called the High Sheriff, and the count
marshal in like manner the county sheriff. The powers of the sherié
were enlarged by an act passed in May, 1724, and the appointment
was vested in the Governor and Council ; the official term, as before,
was at, the pleasure of the appointing power. By the Constitution of
1818 the appointment was given to the General Assembly, and the
official .term was fixed at three years, removable by said Assembly.
By a constitutional amendment adopted in 1838 a sheriff for each
county was to be chosen by the electors residing therein, the term
remaining as before. Formerly, and within the memary of some now
living, the sheriff while in the execution of his official duty wore a
sword, and at all public processions he was the marshal. Another duty
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he perfurmed was to walk before the Governor, bareheaded, carrying
a drawu sword, when his Excellency proceeded to and from his lodging
to the General Assembly.”

The office of County Commissioner came into existence in 1838,
when the General Assembly passed a law appointing two county com-
missioners annually, who, with the judge of the county court, were to
form a county court.}) In 1841 the number of commissioners was in-
creased to three, and they are now appointed, one each year, by the
General Assembly, for the term of three years each. The members of
the legislature for Hartford County, in caucus, nominate the Commis-
sioner to be elected, and he is then voted for by the General Assembly,
and generally the action of the caucus is indorsed. The county taxes
are laid by the representatives from Ilartford County. The commis-
sionors have charge of the county property, and are given powers in
relation to the removal of deputy sheriffs, the county taxes, and licenses,
and they appoint the county trcasurer. .

The county jail is perhaps the most important institution unde
their care. The site of the first jail, built in 1641, was on the north
side of State Street, covering probably the present Market Street and
the lot just west of it. For over one hundred years the jail stood on
this spot; but in 1754 William Pitkin, Thomas Welles, Jabez Hamlin,
and Joseph Buckingham, in behalf of the county, sold the largest por-
tion of the “ Prison land ” to John Lawrence, and *the whole body of
said old Prison and prison house, with all the materials and appurte-
nances thereof,” to Daniel Edwards. The workhouse had been placed,
about 1727, on the highway now Pearl Street, and the jail was removed
to the same localion. A deed dated in 1771 calls Pearl Street ¢ the
highway that lcads from the Court ITouse to the County Gaol;” and in
1774 sundry prisoncrs for dobt petitioned the General Assembly that
the jail limits might be enlarged as far cast as the Court House, repre-
senting that they * labor under many Inconveniences, hardships, and
disadvantages . . . By Reason that the Gaol is in so retired and back
g‘art of the Town, so seldom frequented by any Inhabitants of the

own,” cte. A new jail building was erected on the same lot, the pres-
ent corner of Trumbull and Pearl streets, in 1798, and was occupied for
that purposec until June, 1837.2 1n 1885 a lot at the lower end of Pearl
Streot wns bought of Williin IL Imlay, and o new building orected
the following year, which was occupied until 1874. Land was bought
on Scyms Street in 1878, at 'a cost of $35,5682, and before the end of
1874 the new building was completed and occupied. The cost of the
new jail was $175,898; entirc cost of land and building, $211,481.22.
The old lot on Pearl Street, near the river, was not sold until January,
1882, when it was bought by the /Etna Life Insurance Company for
$28,000. In connection with the jail on this lot may be mentioned an
interesting historical incident,— the dectention there and trial of the
“ Amistad ” captives, an occurrence which aroused great interest among
the Antislavery agitators in the country. June 27, 1839, the schooner
¢ I’Amistad” left Havana for Puerto Principe, with a cargo of slaves

1 The eount{ court was abolished in 1856. See 110,

% Occupied later by the well-known printers and publishers, Case, Tiffany, & Co., until
it was pulled down to make way for the present building of the Case, Lockwood, &
Bnlnm! Company.
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fresh from Africa. These slaves at the first opportunity rose in revolt
and killed the whites, oxcopt two, whom they reserved to navigato the
vessel to Africa. The two white men gradually altered the ship’s course,
8o that in August she was off Long 1sland, and the negroes landed on
the beach at gulloden Point, near Montauk. Here they were seized by
the United States brig “ Washington,” Aug. 26, 1839, and brought to
New London. M. Calderon, the Spanish minister, in the absence of an
extradition treaty, asked the surrender of the ship and cargo as an act of
international comity, and President Van Buren, supported by the advice
of the attorney-general, determined to grant the request. On tho 14th
of September tho fifty-three negroes were brought to Hartford to await
their trial before the district court of the United States for the district
of Connecticut. Seth P. Staples, an ardent Abolitionist, Theodore
Sedgwick, Jr., of New York, and Roger S. Baldwin, of New Haven,
were counsel for the negroes, and gained a verdict in the district court.
In November they were remanded to New Haven, the district attorney
having appealed the case to the circuit court. The Administration was
80 confident of the result, that a United States vessel was ordered to
New Haven to convey the blacks to Cuba; but the case was carried to
the Supreme Court, which gave final judgment, March 9, 1841, that the
negroes having been kidnapped from a foreign country were not bound
by treaties with Spain, but were free men. They were taken to Farm-
ington, where much attention was paid them and instruction given
them, and they were finally returned to their own country.

' A very important edifice, built for the county uses, is the handsome
County Building ! on Trumbull Street, opposite the foot of Pratt Street,
begun in the spring of 1882, and completed January, 1885. The land
was bought of Dr. G. B. Hawley and the Hon. Marshall Jewell at a
;(;t of 851,725, and the whole building and lot cost, in round numbers,

60,000.- :

- The “Temporary Home for Dependent and Neglected Children,”
established in 1888, is under the care of the County Commissioners.
This Home was first opened in Bloomfield, but was removed in Novem-
ber, 1885, to East Hartford, where the house known as the * Deming
place,” on Burnside Avenue, has been rented for three years, with the
privilege of two more,

%%W

1 Sce page 111,



CHAPTER V.

THE WAR OF THE REBELLION.
BY JOHN C. KINNEY.

Tnr wave of patriotic wrath which like a cyclone swept through
the Natioun in the spring of 1861, in response to the first guns of the
Great Rebellion, ponotrated no moro loyal region than the towns and
villages of Ilartford County. The heart of Connecticut throbbed as
strongly and as warnly as that of Massachusetts, although with the
inefficient militia system then prevailing in this State the response to
the Nation’s call for hclp was less prompt than that of our sister
Commonwealth. It was, however, only a delay of a few days until,
from the swarming thousands of volunteers from every corner of the
State, three regiments of ardent men could be organized, uniformed,
armed, and given a little rudimentary instruction.

So far as the popular enthusiasm in the work was concerned, the
story of onc town is the story of nearly all, the outward demonstrations
varying in degree with the size of the town. Everywhere the news of
the shots at Sumter came as an electric shock, bringing to the hitherto
incredulous the unwelcome assurance that the Union could be pre-
sorved ouly by tho shedding of blood. Everywhere the first shock was-
followed Ly such a demonstration of love and devotion to the Union
as the Nation had never witncssed or dreamed of. Party lines were
lost sight of ; the stars and stripes blazed forth on every hill-top, from
every farin-house and church-spire; pulpits were made more sacred by
being covered with its folds. The patriotic enthusiasm was contagious,
and for a time at least the few who were out of sympathy wisely kept
out of sight. Few then doubted the righteousness o¥ the causo or its
speedy trimnph; and doubtless it was tho impulso given to loyal sentiment
at this timo that had much to do in arousing the fecling which would
tolernto no compromiso that involved a disruption of the Union.

In New DBritain a great war-meeting was held on the cvening of
“ Battle Sunday,” —the first Sunday after Sumter was fired upon.
Resolutions to support the Government were unanimously passed; a
list of volunteers was hegun, headed by Frank Stanley (afterward shot
dead at Irish Bend, Louisiana) ; and V. B. Chamberlain,! a young law-
yer, and afterward a gallant soldior, presented to the audience, accomn-
panicd by a thrilling speoch, a handsome portrait of Major Anderson,
the Sumter hero, euncircled with a laurel-wreath preparcd by a New
Britain lady. The vast assemblage rose to its feet with the wildest
dcmonstrations of patriotic devotion, presenting such a scene as the
little city had never before witnessed on a Sunday evening or any other
evening. This was the first regular war-meeting held in the county,

1 Aftorward captain of the Sevouth Connocticut Voluntoers ; cagturod insido Fort Wag-
ner b tho first assault on it ; at prosont (1885-1880) treasurer of the State.
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although nearly every church scrvice in the State on that nover-to-be-
forgotten Sunday might with propricty ho called a war-mooting.

It was not until the next day that the President’s call for soventy-
five thousand three months’ volunteers was received, under which the
quota for Connecticut was a single regiment. How tho call was re-
sponded to the present generation will never forget. In four days the
First Regiment was in camp at New Haven, tho Sccond was ready
within a week, the Third was in camp in IHartford in two wocks, and
within three weeks Governor Buckingham had been tendered the ser-
vices of fifty-four companics. Tho First Regiment contained threo
companics from Ilartford, in cach of which there were inen from other
towns in the county. The anxiety to get into the ranks then was as
great as it was to keep out of them two or three years later. Men
came from miles away to beg the privilege of enlisting, some of them
being credited to the places of enlistment instead of to the towns where
they resided. On this account, and becausc the town records as a rulo
are exceedingly incomplete, it is not possible to give to cach town all the
credit that is its due, ¢ither for men furnished or for money expended.

But what tested and proved the patriotism of the pcople was not
the impulsive springing to arms in April, 1861, when many thought a
three months’ campaign in Virginia would end the war, but the subse-
quont facing rcverses and disappointments, and meeting tho repeated
calls for men and money during the sad four years which followed.
The men who, immecdiately after Bull Run, enlisted for threo ycars or
the war, were chiofly men who had counted tho cost; and so it may be
said of the groat mass of all the subscquent enlistments. Tho only
men of whom the county or the State had reason to fcel ashamed were
the professional bounty-jumpers, who during tho last year or so were
hireg a8 substitutes by men who stayed at home and voted town-taxos
to pay for their exemption. Many such names of deserters are found
on the rolls undor the head of recruits; and it is remarked with satis-
faction by the Adjutant-General of the State at the close of the war,
that these men were not natives of the State.

The population of Hartford County by the census of 1860 was
89,962, and that of New Haven County, 97,8345. Tho quota of Hartford
County under the various calls, and estimating on the-basis of the threo
years’ standard, was 9,504. The number of men actually furnished
from the county, not including the three months’ men, was 11,791, or,
reduced to the three years’ standard, 10,682, — a surplus of 1,038 three
years’ men, or more than one full regiment. In this estimate no
account is made of the 586 thrce months’ men sent from the county in
response to the first call for help, and before any quotas were assigned.
These make a total of 12,8327 men enlisted from the county, or nearly
one quarter the entire number furnished by the State. And in this
statement no record is made of the many from the county who sorved
in the navy, or who for various reasons enlisted clsowhere, and were
not credited to their homes.

To compare the record of the county with the remainder of the
State, it must be remembered that the total quota of the State undor
oll tho calls was 41,483 three years’ men, and that the State actually
furnished the equivalent of 48,181 thrce years’ men. Had the re-
mainder of the State contributed men in the same ratio to population
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that Hartford County did, the number of three years’ men sent into the
ficld would have been over 53,300, or more than 5,000 in excess of the
number actually furnished.

The following table gives the number of men furnished by each
town so far as the oflicial records show : —

k| Quoras. Max runisusp
o
>
3 | 5 [3%:] , p
RERIHIEETNE R I |
g | 4 gg 3 |3 5l 8 3| g i 24
A IE R AR 5
é 'zq é g3 & é ¥ H E
Hartford . . 821 | 620 130 {8,778 {8,908 1 608 | 150 | 8,807 | 4,047 | 130
Avon ., . ) 16 4 79 83 18 4 9 99 16
Berlin . . . b 331 - 8| 1900} 207 14 4 2380 243 36
Bloomfield. . 1 81 8| 185 | 148 40 11 146 160 13
DBristol . . 0 67 17| 811 | 828 50 18 871 384 50
DBurlington 0 16 4 116 119 18 8 110 119 0
Canton . . . 21 43 11| 238 | 249 60 12 284 200 47
East llartford 1 00 12 204 | 806 40 10 804 814 8
Iiast Granby . 0 10 4 74 78 24 (1] 87 08 16
inst Windsor 11 47 12| 262 | 274 68 17 288 800 26
Enfleld . . . 10 (V1] 16 | 821 | 837 80 20 426 446 | 108
Farmington . 11 60 14| 2081 812 b4 14 846 800 48
Glastonbury . 3 68 16| 2031 808 87 17 844 361 63
Granby . . . 2 34 8 142 150 6 1 187 188 88
Hartland 0 10 4 11 81 27 1 82 89 8
Manchester 12 47 12 ] 263 | 265 1 8 818 821 58
Mulborough . 0 10 2 bt 66 1 0 80 89 88
New Britain . (11] 97 241 616 | 6540 b 1 044 046 106
Rocky Hill 8 19 b 9 104 19 b 107 112 8
Simsbury . . 14 83 8 104 | 202 ¢ 268 259 567
Southington . ¢ 69 161 314 | 3820 19 b 868 373 4
South Windsor 2 24 6 143 149 27 1 101 168 19
Suffleld. . . 4 60 161 317 | 832 76 19 366 384 52
West Hartford 7 29 71 1431 160 46 11 163 164 14
Wethersfleld . [1] 41 10) 218 ] 228 b7 14 230 260 22
Windsor 2 46 12 187 199 71 18 184 202 8
Windsor Locks 20 84 9 148 167 36 9 102 171 14
Totals. . 5636 | 1,608 | 802 {9,202 {9,604 | 1,640 | 387 {10,246 | 10,632 | 1,038

Hartford alono furnislied one tenth of tho threo months’ troops from
Connccticut, and about one twelfth of the three years’ and other soldiers.
Although the State at that time retained its two capitals, Hartford was
the seat of the government when the war began, as it was during the
most eventful two years,—1868 and 1865. Hcre Governor Buckingham
mado his headquartors when tho first call for help came from Washing-
ton; and here he found a hearty patriotic support during all the dark
days of the terrible struggle. Within five days from the firing of the
first gun at Sumter the bankers of Hartford tendered to the governor
a loan of half a million dollars, and nearly three hundred men had
volunteered for the service.

The first Hartford company was started, April 17, by Joscph R.
Hawley, Albert W. Drake, and Joseph Perkins, in the office of the
“ Ivening Press,” of which Hawley was editor. Before sundown a
minimum had enlisted, and at a great war-meeting held in the evening
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the company was filled. George S. Burnham, Licutenant-Colonel of the
First Regiment Connecticut Militia, was chosen captain ; Ilawley, first
lieutenant; and Drake, second licutenant.! Before going into camp
Captain Burnham was proinoted to be licutenant-colonel of the regi-
ment, and Hawley became captain, and so continued during the three
months’ campaign.

From this time until the close of the war Hartford was busy in the
work of furnishing men and supplies.

Of the thirty-five regiments or batteries sent into the field by
Connecticut, fifteen rendezvoused in Hartford. To the list of generals,
active or brevet, Hartford County furnished the names of Ilawley,
Tyler, Stedman, Whittaker, Ellis, and Otis. On thc death-roll there
are the names of hundreds buried in Hartford, while scores sleep in
‘unknown graves or on Southern battle-fields. The limits of a single
paper will suffice to give only the briefest mention.

The following regiments rendezvoused in Hartford, and started
thence to the field: the Third, Fourth, Fifth, Eighth, Tenth, Eleventh,
Twelfth, Fourteenth, Sixteenth, Twonty-second, and T'wonty-fiith. Tho
regiments commanded by Hartford County men were as follows : —

First Infantry. — Colonel George S. Burnham, of Hartford (succeeding
Colonel Daniel Tyler).
First Cavalry Squadron. — Major William H. Mallory, of Hartford.
- First Heavy Artillery. — Colonel Levi Woodhouse, from May to August,
1861 ; Colonel Robert O. Tyler, of Hartford, to Jan. 19, 1863,
Fifth Infantry, — Colonel George D). Chapman, of Hartford.
- Beventh Infantry. — Colonel Jossph R. Hawloy, Hartford (succeoding Colo-
nel Alfred H. Terry*); Lieutonunt-Colonel Daniel C. Rodman.®
Tenth Infantry. — Colonel Albert 'W. Drake,® South Windsor (died in
service) ; Colonel John L. Otis, Manchester (brevet brigadier-general).
Eleventh Infantry. — Colonel Griffin A. Stedman,® Hartford (promoted to
brigadier-general ; killed in action).

1 Hawley became brevet major-general ; Drake died in service as colonel of the Tenth
Connecticut Volunteers ; and Perkins, who enlisted as a private, was afterward colonel of a
" United States colored regiment.
2 Colonel -Terry (now Major-General Teorry of the Regular Army), although o resident of
New Haven, is a Hartford man by birth and long descent, tracing lLis ancestry throngh
Mqtilor Nathaniel Terry, fourth Mayor of Hartford, to Dr. Thomas Hooker and others of the first
settlers,
¢ Lieutenant-Colonel Daniel C. Rodman (Seventh) was a native of New Hampshire, but
a long-time resident of Hartford. He was one of the earliest volunteers of the State, going
into 5\0 service as lieutenant of Company B, First Rogiment, three months’ troops. Return-
ing from Bull Run, he recruited s company for the Seventh, of which ho later becamo major
and licutenant-colonel, When the first assault at Fort Wagnor was decided upon, Rodman
was selooted to lead, being given four companices of lLis regiment as a storming colummn. A
brilliant ¢ was made, but the nus) rt failed, and Rodman was terribly wounded. Two
ribs were crushed by a fragment of shell, and a rifle-ball shattered his left le% It was at first
supposed that his injuries were fatal ; but he had a strong constitution, and after three months
absance he again took the field. Before leaving Hartford he was presented an elegant sword
by the leading citizens. He never regained his full health, and his death, which occurred
Oct. 9, 1881, was caused by the injury to his lungs, and was preceded by years of pain.
After tho war he was for several years pension-agent for the State. He was a man of strong
character and greatly beloved by Eis old comrades.
¢ Albert Waldo Drake, born in South Windsor in 1834, was graduated at Yale ; with
Joseph R. Hawley he raised the first voluntoer company in the State, and served during the
three months’ campaign; he assisted in rising the Tenth Connecticut Volunteers, and went to
the field as lisutenant-colonel, being advanced to the chief command on the death of Colonel
Russell, Feb. 8, 1862, Drake died of quick consumption June 5, 1862, aged twenty-eight.
$ Brigadier-General Griffin A, Stedman was born in Hartford, Jan. 6, 1838; he was gradu-
ated at Trinity College in 1859, and after reading law for a year entered the office of Mr. 8. H,
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Twelfth Infantry. — Colonel Henry C. Doming,! Hartford.

Fourteenth Infantry. — Colonel Theodore G. Ellis, Hartford (brevet brigadier-
general) ; Lieutenant-Colonel S. A. Moore, New Dritain.

Sixteenth Infantry.— Colonel ¥rank Beach, Hartford ; Lieutenant-Colonel
Frank W, Chonoy, Manchoestor; Lieutenant-Colonel John II. Burnhem, Hart-
ford.

Twentieth Infantry. — Coloncl Samuel Ross, Hartford.

Twenty-socond Infuntry. — Colonel Goorge S. Burnham, Hartford.

Twenty-fifth Infantry. — Colonel George P. Bissell, Hartford ; Major Thomas
McManus, Hartford.

Thirtieth Infantry (colored). — Colonel Henry C. Ward, Hartford.

The Fourth Regiment was changed into the First Heavy Artil-
lery,—one of the most noted artillery regiments in the Army of the
Potomac.

The names of many Hartford and Hartford County citizens noted
for their patriotism suggest themselves,— those who did noble service
in the field, and those, equally patriotic, who could not go to the front,
but by their contributions and by their energy did no less valuable work
at home. No city of its size in the Union can point to a more honora-
ble record. ,

The women of Hartford County were among the very first to organ-
izo for the carc of sick and wounded soldiers. The firing upon Fort
Sumter was the signal for commencing preparations for the impending
struggle, — at first by a few ladies, who mect in private parlors, rolling
bandages and making lint for the wounded. This soon led to more
extended efforts, which finally rcsulted in the formation of the Hart-

Porkina, of Philadelphin, At tho outbreak of tho war ho onlistod in the Washington Grays,
of Philadolphin, but came to Uartford, whero the Filth Regimont was forming, ralsed a com-
, and went into the ficll s captain of Company I.  Ho manifested so much ability as a
soldier that when the Eloventh Regiment was reised ho was appointed its major. At Antie-
tam, after Colonel H. W. Kingsbury was killed, ho led the regiment in the famous assault
upon the Btone Bridge, which Burnside carried and held. He was severely wounded durin
the battle, and was promoted to be colonel. He eommanded the Eleventh from this time unti
the beginning of General Grant’s advance upon Richmond, when he was assigned to the com-
mand of the Second Brignde, Second Division of the Kighteenth Army Corps. He gnined a
high reputation for coolness, intrepidity, and military skiﬁ, and on the recommendation of all
his superior officers was promotod to the mnk of rigadier-General, his commission being on
its way when oun the ovening of Aug. 5, 1804, in front of Petersburg, Virginia, he was mor-
tally wommnlod by a vundom shot. 1le dixd tho next morning, QGonoral Ancs, by whose side
ho was standing whon ho roceived his death-wound, in announcing the event to &meml Ord,
said tho country had lost one of the finest soldiers in the army. He fell at the early age of
twenty-six years, huving won his way to high mnk and having exhibited qualities which gave
romise of a glorious and useful carcer. From Ball's Bluff with the Fifth, through all the
ttles of the Eloventh, at Newbern, 8outh Mountain, Antietam, Fredericksburg, Suffolk,
Drury’s Uluff, and Cold Herbor, up to the last contest before Petersburg, he was foremost
in battle, disposing our lines, heading our charges, careful of his men, prodigal of his own
lifs, nlways brave, alwu{s cool. Ho livad and died nobly, without fear and withont re-
proach.  Woll-bred, highly cultured, rich, with brilliant intelloctual gifts, and with a life of
olegnut gaso ot his command, ho gave all to his country, and accopted the result without a
murmar.

1 The Ton. Moury C. Deming was grmduated at Yalo Collego in 1838, and bofore the
war was a prominont Jawyor of 1lartford, and had served in both branches of the legislature,
being Speaker of tho House in the session of 1861. For six years he was mayor of Hartford.
In the fall of 1861 he was nppointed (‘olonel of the Twelfth Connecticut Volunteers, and with
his regimont went with Gonoral Butler's expedition agninst New Orleans. After the capture
of the city ho was appointed mayor, which position he held until February, 1863, when he
resigned, returned home, and was elected to the Thirty-eighth Congress. Ho served for two
terms. Afterward he wns Collector of Intornal Revenno for the State. He excelled as an
orator. He died in 1873,
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ford Soldiers’ Aid Association, for the care of ¢ Connecticut soldicrs.”
When some months afterward the United Statos Sanitary Commission
was organized, this Aid Association was well established and prepared
to contribute valuable supplies to that admirable agency. The energy
and industry of the women were nobly supplemented and sustained by
the unbounded liberality of moneyed men. As a financial centre the
city furnished money and materials, which were prepared for the needle
by the Hartford women, and made up by socicties in all tho neighbor-
ing towns and far beyond the limits of the county. Valuable donations
of supplics pourcd in from town and country, and it was remarked that
overy houscwife gave of her very best. No inferior material was
allowed to be used, and wherever the hospital clothing and other com-
forts bearing the stamp of this Soldicrs’ Aid Association found its way,
they were remarked for their unrivalled excellence. From regimental

_surgeons and chaplains by whom they were received, from lospitals
both temporary and permanent, and even from Southern prisons, came
most gratoful acknowledgmonts of tho comfort afforded by these varied
appliances for the sick and wounded. 'Tho tulent of the youngor ladios
was devoted to the arranging of dramatic and other entertainments
given for the purpose of replenishing the treasury; and the most bril-
liant series of tableaux ever exhibited in this county were a memora-
ble example of the success attending these efforts. The two ladies
who were at tho head of these relief organizations were Mrs. John
Olmstead and Mrs. S. 8. Cowen.

The work of the Soldiers’ Aid Association was carricd on with
unabated cnorgy and interost until the close of the war, and during its
existence more than thirty thousand dollars in cash, and cven a larger
amount in other contributions, was received and distributed. Retain-
ing its independent organization to the last, it was able to assist by
its contributions both sanitary and Christian associations, and also
to respond to constant calls from Connecticut regiments. The record
of donations of money is now placed in the safe-keeping of the Con-
necticut Historical Society, where tho names and bencfactions of the
patriotic men and women of that day arc duly recorded. Of thoso
noblo women who gavo their timo and energies as woll as their prayers
and tears to this beneficent work, few now survive; and to them and
to their representatives was committed, by the courtesy of General
Hawley, the sacred charge of preparing for removal to the Capitol the
léuttle-ﬂags which constituto onc of the choicest posscssions of the

tate. . .

At a special town-meoting in Hartford, July 19, 1862, the sum of
one hundred thousand dollars was appropriated for the purpose of pro-
moting enlistments and granting aid to the families of enlisted men.
The following committee was appointed to supervise the expenditures
under this appropriation: William J. Hamersley, Allyn S. Stillman,
Calvin Day, Charles Cheney, Johin C. Palmer, A. 8. Beckwith, Charles
T. Hillyer, E. H. Owen, James G. Batterson, N. M. Watcrman, Frank
Howard, William II, Green, A. I, Burr, Jamnes B. Powell, David Clark,
John T. McManus, Sidney A. Ensign, Willinn M. Charter, Ilawley
Kellogg, Torace Ensworth, Ilenry Selling, Johm McGoodin, ITorace
Lord, Joseph Pratt, and James White. This was known as the War
Committee. This same meeting adopted the following vote : —
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 Resolved, That no efforts on the part of this Government should be
spared to preserve the union of the States, and to put down the atrocious re-
bellion ; and, further, that we will never submit to any foreign intervention.
Republicanism does not need the nursing care of monarchs and emperors.”

Upon application of Caleb Clapp and ninety-five others, a special
meeting was held, Sept. 17, 1862, for the purposo of considering the
propricty of providing support for tho familics of drafted men, and also
of paying bountics to such men. The meeting adjourned without
action, the moderator (Allyn S. Stillman) stating that legal advice had
been given that no appropriation could be made for drafted men at the
meeting.

A special meeting was held, Sept. 18, 1862, upon application of
James Goodwin and twenty-five other cloctors, at which tho Ion.
William J. Ilamersley presided, and the following preammble and reso-
lutions were adopted after an animated discussion: —

¢ Whereas, The Committee of Citizons of Hartford appointed at a town-
meeting held on the 19th day of July, 1862, did, at a regular meeting of said
committeo, held on Tuesday evening, Sept. 16, 1862, unanimously pass tbe
following rosolution : ‘

¢ Voted, That the sum of one hundred dollars each be paid to such citizens
of this town as have recontly been drafied, and that the same provision be made
for the family as has already been made for the families of the nine months’ vol-
unteers ; it being understood, however, that tho benefits of this appropriation are
not to extend to those who serve as substitutes, or to those who are detailed for
sorvice in workshops or manufactories, or who may be excused from service as
soldiers by competent authority : Voted, That the foregoing appropriations shall
not bo paid until the principal or his substitute shall have been rogularly sworn
and mustorad into the United States scrvice.” And wherons this meeting does
approvo snid action on the part of said committeo, ¢ Voted, That this meoting do
endorso and ratify snid votes, and do -hereby authorizo and ompower said com-
mitteo (known as the War Committoe) to mako such appropriations as are con-
templated by said votes, and in accordance with the provisions thereof.’”

The mecting voted an additional appropriation of one hundred thou-
sand dollars for the purpose of carrying out tho provisions of these
votes; and also voted that persons who lhad onlisted into tho servico
and had subsequently beon clected and commissioned as oflicors wore
nevertheless entitled to the bounty paid to enlisted men.

At o town-meeting in December, 1862, William L. Collins, N. H.
Morgan, and George Brinley were appointed a committee to prepare a
plan for funding the war-debt. They reported Dec. 28, 1862, and in
accordance with their recommendation six per cent bonds to the
amount of $200,000 were issucd, falling duo in sums of $10,000
annually after Jan. 1, 1874. The total amount of this debt, principal
and intercst, was $326,000. A special meeting July 23, 1863, voted
$200,000 for defraying tho cxpenscs of the town for the care of depon-
dent families of drafted men. A special mecting Aug. 15, 1864, voted
& sum not excecding $500,000 to be used by the sclectinen in filling the
quota of Hartford under the last draft. It does not appear, howcver,
that this moncy was used, and Nov. 26, 1864, thc sum of $200,000-
was appropriated for the same purpose, and a committee consist-
ing of Calvin Day, J. IIurlbut White, Thomas T. Jisher, and Fred-
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erick 8. Brown was appointed to disburse the momncy in procuring
enlistments.

Unfortunately the State has no record of its sons who served in the
navy ; and there are no town or county statistics on this point, although
Hartford County furnished the Hon. Gideon Welles, the chief of the
Navy Department, quite a number of distinguished officers, and sevoral
hundred sailors, the county having representatives in every squadron.
Among naval officers who achieved distinction ITartford furnished
tho lamented Commandoer Ward, and Licutenant-Commanders Francis
M. Bunco, Edward Terry,! and IIenry C. White. The servico rendered
by Mr. William Faxon, as chicf clerk of the Navy Burcau, was inval-
uable. He was throughout the war the eflicient right-hand man of
Sceretary Welles.

The more than twelve thousand men from this county who entered
the military service were scattcred among twenty-nine regiments or
batterics; namely, —the First, Second, and Third Regiments (three
months’) ; the Cavalry Squadron and tho Cavalry Regiinent; the First
and Socond Light Batteries ; the two Hcavy Artillery Regiments;
the Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth,
Thirteenth, Fourteenth, Fifteenth, Sixteenth, Twentieth, Twenty-
first (three years’ men); Twenty-second, Twenty-fourth, Twenty-ifth,
Twenty-seventh (nine months’); and the Twenty-ninth and Thirtieth
(colored). In some of these commands the number from this county
was ‘small; in others there were two or more companics; whilo other
rogiments, liko the First, Sixtconth, Twonty-second, and Twenty-lifth,
wore rogarded as ITartford County organizations, although not forined
exclusively within county lines. .

To tell what these men did in the field would be to rccall in large
part the history of the war. From thc muster-in of the First Regiment
of three months’ men in April, 1861, to thc muster-out of the Veteran
Battalion of the Thirteenth in April, 1866,— from Bull Run, wherc the
First Connecticut left the disastrous field in better shape than any

1 Commander Edward Terry, U. 8. N., was born in Hartford, Jan, 22, 1839 ; was gradu-
ated at tho Naval Academy in 1857 ; served with Mast Indin and Moditormuean squadrous
until the breaking out of the Rebellion, when the *‘ Richmond,” to which he was attached, was
ordered to the ** West Gulf Squadron,” under Farragut. He participated in the operntions
b{l which the Lowor Mississippi was opened, including the passago of Forts Juckson and St.
Philip, the capture of New Orleans, and the operations against Port Hudson. At the latter
place he commanded a battery of heavy guna which were landed from the *Richinond ™ to
assist in the siege, and which did very effective work. 1lle was also executive officer of the
¢ Richmond,” under Captain Jenkins, at the battlo of Mobile Bay, Aug. 5,1864. After the war
he sorved successively in the South Pacific ; at the Naval Academy (where from 1867 to 1870
he was Professor of Naval Gunnery, and fron 1874 to 1878 was Commandaut of Cadets); com-
manded the United States Steamship *“Saco” in the Kuropean and Asiatic squadrons from 1870
to 1878, In 1878 he was ordered as chief of staff to Renr-Admiral Rodgers, communding the
Pacific squadron, snd the following year was prostrated with pneumonia, from the effects of
which he died June¢ 1,1882. Commander Terry was connected with the oldest families of Con-
necticut. _ His father, Dr, Edward P, Terry, was a son of General Nathaniel Terry, M. C., fourth
mayor of Hartford. He was related also to the Rev. Thomas Hooker, founder of the colony,
to *“ the worshipful” Mr, John Talcott, the Qoodwins, William Whiting, and others of the
first settlers of Connecticnt, and through another line to Governor William Bradford, of lym-
outh Colony. Admiral Rodgers wrote of him: * Singularly modest in his nature, very

entle in his judgment of others, a thoughtful, studious man of much culture and sound
Judgment, he was at the samo time a calm, intrepid scaman, of fiery encrgy, but imperturb-
able in the greatest peril, and equal to overy cmergency. The writer of these lines served
with him continuously during the last six years of his active servico, and learned to think
him & man with no superior in the navy. He was a reverent beliover in the great truths of
religion, and he was a gentleman without fear and without reproach.”
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other command except the regulars,— through every campaign of the
long war, in every important engagement on land or sea, Hartford
County was honorably represented. 'T'he flag of the State was borne
with honor by men of the county wherever the Army of the Potomac
marched or halted, and the blood of the best of her sons crimsoned
overy great battle-ficld of that army, — Fredericksburg, Chancellors-
ville, Antictain, Gettysburg, the Wilderness, Petersburg, and the cam-
_paigns against Richmond. 'They were at Roanoke with Burnside on
his expedition; with Banks in his fatal repulse at Cedar Mountain ;
with Butler and Banks in Louisiana; at the capture of Fort Pulaski
and of Fort Fisher; in the fatal assaults at Fort Wagner and the deadly
attempts on Port Hudson ; at Irish Bend, Louisiana; with Sherman in
his march to the sca; with Sheridan in the Shenandoah Valley, at
Winchester, Fisher’s IIill, and Cedar Creck; at the capture of New
Orleans, Atlanta, Mobile, and Riclimond ; and at the final surrender of
Loe at Appomattox. No important cvent took place in the armies of
the East and South at which Hartford County soldiers were not present
in positions of honor. And not only in the volunteer armies, but also
in the rcgular army and navy, the county was honorably represented.
Brevet Major J. Hartwell Butler, of Hartford, commanded a company
of the Second Artillery United States Army, and lost a leg in action.
Other Hartford officers of the army were General Robert O. Tyler,!

1 Major-General Robert Ogden Tyler, U. 8. A., was born Dec. 22, 1831, in Hunter,
Greene County, New York, the son of Frederick and Sophia Tyler. His paternal grandfather
was a soldier of the Revolution, and three of his paternal uncles were officers of the regular
army, one of them being General Daniel Tyler. The family was of Connecticut origin, and
removed to Hartford when the subject of this sketch was eight years old. He was graduated
from West Point in the famons class of 1858, McPPherson, gcoﬁol«l, and Vincent being among
his clnssmates.  After graduntion he bocame a lioutenant in the Third Artillery. 1In 1854 he
ocrosscd tho country, with Colonel Steptoc’s command, from the Mississippi to the Pacific,
spending the winter at Salt Lake. He was stationed for several years on the Pacific coast,
and took port in soveral Indian campaigns. In 18569 he was attached to T. W. Sherman's
light battery in Minnesota, and the noxt year joined his n:fiment at Fort Columbus, Now
York Harbor, where he remained until the breaking out of the war. He went with the
expedition intended to relieve Fort Suinterin April, 1861, witnessed the bombardment from
a distance, and returned to New York on the same steamer with Major Anderson and his
command. After brief service on the stafl of General Patterson he took command, in May, of
a light battery, with which ho assisted in opening the communications through Baltimore.
He was appointed, May 17, 1861, a captain in tho Quartermaster Department, and established
tho supply depots at Alexandria, Virgmia. In Septomber, 1861, he was appointed Colonel of
the Fourth Conuecticut Voluntocrs (aftorward the First Connectiont Heavy Artillery), —a fine
regimont, which had becomo tempomri]{ demonrnlized by bad management. Under the charge
of Colonel Tyler the regiment was translormed into the finest artillery regiment of the Volun-
teer Service, and wns employed in the defences of Washington. In April, 1862, Tyler was
given command of the siege-train of the Army of the Potomac. He conducted seventy-one
pieces of artillery to Yorktown, and thence with great difficulty removed it. In the subse-
quent movoments on Richmond Colonel Tyler received high commendations for the distin-

uished part taken by his regimont in t{ne capture of Hanover Court-House and in the
ﬂutlm of Gainos Mill and Malvern [1ill, When General McClelian rotired upon Washing.
ton, Colonel Tylor's rogiment did slplondid sorvice, in concert with the ‘Bunboats, In protecting
the rear of the ariny. For his brilliaut services in this campaign, and for his skill and suocess
in saving his sicge-train under tho most trying circumstances, he was appointed a brigadier-
ernl, Nov. 29, 1862. Ho was then assigned to the coininand of the artillery of the Centre
gerl:md Division of the Army of the Potomac, under Burnside, and did gallant service at
Fredoricksburg. On May 2, 1863, he was assigned to command the *‘ Artillery Resorve” of
the Army of the Potomac, which played an imrortant part in the battle of Chancellorsville
and in the pursuit of Lee's army into Pennsylvania. Major-General Cullum writes of his
service : ‘‘ At the battle of Gettysburg this Artillery Reserve comprised over one hundred and
thirty guns and inore than three hundred ammunition wagons, Tho grand part which tho
artillery played in this death-struggle with the Confederacy is too woll known to require
description. Impationtly awaiting the signal for action, Hunt, the ohief, and Tyler, his able

VOL. I.—1,
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Colonel Frank Beach,! Brevet Major James B. Burbank (now of the
Third Artillery).

Perhaps no other single engagement of the war proved so disastrous
to the men of this State, especially to those of this county, as the battle
of Antietam, Sept. 17, 1862, in which the Eighth, Eleventh, Fourteenth,
and Sixteenth regiments participated, the latter having just entered the
service and being entirely ignorant of battalion movements. The Con-
necticut troops were in the thickest of the fight on the left of the Union
line, General Edward Harland, of Norwich, comnanding the Lrigade.’
No braver fighting against overwhelming odds was cver witnessed, and
the losses in killed and wounded woro terribloe. The Kighth lost 84
killed and 139 wounded ; the Eleventh, 88 killed and 97 wounded ; the
Fourteenth, 21 killed and B8 wounded; and the Sixteenth, 43 Kkilled
and 142 wounded,— making a total of 136 killed and 466 wounded.
Among the killed were a large nummbor of officers, including Gencral
Mansficld of the regular army; Colonel Kingsbury of the Eleventh ;
and from this county, Captain J. I. Blinn of New Britain, of the

assistant, opened with almost one hundred guns, from Cemetery Hill to the Round Topes,
upon Pickett’s magniticent assaulting column, tearing vast gaps in the advancing ranks, and
al‘::ost annihilating that Sn'oud array of sighteen thousand of the best Southern infantry.
General Tyler, in this battle of the giants, had two horses shot under him, and his coolness,
skill, and intrepidity contributed greatly to the success of the final struggle.” After Gettys-
burg, General Tyler was engaged in the pursuit of the enemy to Culpepper, and commanded
the artillery in the combat of Rappahannock Station and at Mine Run. From January to
May, 1864, he was a division commnander in the Twenty-second Army Corps, covering the
capital and the communications of the Army of the Potomac, and afterward, in command of
a 5lvision of heavy artillery, was attached to the Second Army Corps. 1lv won uew distine-
tion at the opening of the Richmond camlpaign in the battles about Spottsylvania, where his
command, acting as infantry, occupied the extrome right of the Army of the ’otomac, and
repulsed (May 19, 1864) a furious assault by Ewell’s corps. In the pursuit of the enemy which
followed, Qeneral Tyler's command fought at North Anna, Tolopotomy, snd Cold Harbor.
In the last-named battle he was severely wounded and disabled by a rille-ball through his
ankle, — a wound which ended his active service, and which gave his vigoroua counstitution a
shock from which it never fully recovered. e was brevettod o m:gor in the regular army
for Fredericksburg, lieutenant.colonel for Gettysburg, colonel for Spottsylvania, brigndier-
ﬁeneml for Cold Harbor, and major-general * for Fnlhmt. and meritorious sorvices in the field
uring the Robellion.” Ho also roceived a sixth brevet — that of mujor-general of Unitod
States Volunteers — ** for t gallantry at the battle of Cold Ilarbor.,”  The citizens of
Hartford presonted him witﬁn;aawonl in approcintion of his personal gallantry, and the legis-
lature of Connecticut passed a resolution of thanks in his liouor. His wound was so far
lealed, after a six months’ leave of absence, that he was able to go on duty as a commissioner
for the disbursement of the cotton fund for the supply of Rebel prisoners, and subsequeut'l.(
was assigned to tho command of the District of Delaware and the Eastern Shiore, with lead-
quarters at Philadelphia. On the reorganization of the army, Goneral Tyler, July 29, 1866,
was appointed lieutenant-colonel and deputy quartermaster-general. His failing health led
him to visit Europe in 1868-1869 ; and again in 1872 he secured a year’s leave of absence, and
took a journey around the world. His journal while in India has been published in book
form, as an appendix to a brief memoir from the pen of his friend General George W. Cullum,
U. 8, A. (J. E Lippincott & Co., Philadelphia, 1878). General Tyler died suddenly at his
gzat of duty, Boston, Dec. 1, 1874, aiml nearly forty-three. He was buried at Cedar Hill
metery, Hartford, with the military honors due to his rank and his distingnished services.
1 Colonel Frank Beach was a son of George Bench, for many years president of the Pheenix
Bank, Hartford. He was graduated at West Point in 1857, am{ in subsequent campaigns in
Utah and on the Plains his health was serionsly injured. When the war Lroke out he was
adjutant at Fort McHenry. In the summer of 1862 he was appointed Colonel of the Sixteenth
Connecticut Volunteers. His regiment had the misfortune to be ordered into the fight at
Antietam before it had had an opportunity for a battalion drill, and was terribly cut to
pieces, although Colonel Beach exhibited reckless bravery in his efforts to rally and lead
them. Colonel Beach was taken prisoner with his mfiment at Plymouth, North Carolina,
when that outpost was snrprised and captured. After his exchange ill health prevented his
fFurther u;vice in the field. He never recovered his strength, and he died in New York,
'eb. 5, 1873.
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Fourteenth ; and from the Sixteenth, Captains Samuel Brown of Enfield,
Frederick M. Barber of Manchester, John L. Drake of Hartford, and
Newton S. Manross of Bristol! Of Company I of the Sixteenth, Cap-
tain Drake, First Lieutenant Horton, First Sergeant Orville Campbell of
New Britain, and Second Sergeant Thomas McCarty of Hartford were
killed ; Third Sergcant Rufus Chamberlain of Stafford was mortally
wounded. Sergeants W. A. Washburn of Berlin and Charles C. King
of Bast Windsor were among the killed in Company G. Among the
wounded at Antietam were Lieutenant-Colonel Frank W. Cheney (Six-
teenth) of Manchester, Sergeant Frederick R. Eno (Fourteenth) of
Bloomfield, Captains Charles Babcock of Canton and Nathanicl Hayden
of Hartford (both of the Sixteenth). No other battle of the war
brought so inuch sorrow to Connccticut.

The death-roll of the county, of those who were killed or died in the
service, amounts to nearly thirteen hundred, to which might be added
the many who have died since the war from diseases caused by wounds
or exposure. The graves are on every great battle-field, and scattered
through many States. To the list Hartford contributed very largely,
among the more distinguished of her dead sons being General Griffin
A. Stedwman, Captain James Harmon Ward 3 (Navy), Licutenant-Colonel
Thomas S. Trumbull® (First Heavy Artillery), Major Henry W.

! Newton 3. Manross was & highly educated and accomplished gentleman, & grnduate of
Yale, and just before entering the service had been elected Professor of Chemistry and Botany
in Amherst College.

$ James Harmon Ward, U. 8. N., at the outbreak of the Rebellion was recognized as one
of the most intelligent and promising officers of the navy, being of mature years, and having .
established a brilliant reputation. }70 was born in Hartford in 1808, the son of Coloncl James
Warl, commissary-generai of the War of 1812. He enterced the navy as midshipman on the
okl frignte ** Constitution” in 1823. IIo wna tho author of tho * Manual of Naval Tactics "
&ublis led about 1836. 11 1842 ho dolivered a courso of popular lectures in Philadelphia on

unnery, in which lo advocated tho establishment of n vaval school, aud when tho school
was foundud ho beeanio ono of its foromost professors and so continued until the outbreak of
the Rebellion.  ITo was then summoned to Washington, where he speedily organized (or cre-
ated) the Potomnc flotllia, our first effective naval forco, of which ho was given command May
16, 1861. Only a month later, while endeavoring to silence a Rebel battery at Acquia Creek,
he was killed by a sharp-shooter. e was buried in Hartford, from St. Patrick’s Church, with
the highest military honors. Those who knew hiin best regarded his death at that time as a
greater loss to the country than would have been the loss of a division of troope.

% Thomas Swan Trumbull was born at Stonington, Feb. 15, 1835 ; died at Wash-
fugton, D.C,, March 30, 1866. At tho outbroak of the war Mr. ’I‘rumbuil, a graduate of
tho Hurvard Law School, wns in the practico of his profession in Now York City. At once
he enlisted as a recruit in the famous Boventh Regimont of New York, with the purpose of
following it to Washington. He received word that no more recruits would be needed there.
Then he hastened to Hartford, where he had a similar exqerienee in his enlistment into the
company of Captain — afterward General — Hawley ; the later names on the roll of that com-
R_any being stricken off to reduce it to regulation standard. Yet again he enlisted, into the

hird Conuecticut Regiment, under Colonel Levi Woodhouse, and was, at the latter's request,
transforred with him when he was given command of the Fourth iment, — the first from
the Stats for a threo years' term.  Appointod First Lieutenant and #uhnt. Trumbuil left
for the front, with his regimont, June 10, and first saw service on the Upper Potomac, under
Genernl Patterson and Geveral Banks. The regiment being chanied into the First Connecti-
cut Heavy Artillery, under Colonel Robert O.r¥;'ler, an officer of the regular army, Ad‘iuunt
Trumbnll was promoted to a majorship, March 1, 1862 ; the Colonel taking this upusual step,
as he said, ‘*solely for the good of the service, and because of Trumbuil's oxtraordinary capa-
city a8 an artillery officer.” From doing duty in the defences of Washington, the regiment
went forward as the siege-train of General McClellan in the campaign against Yorkiown and
ju tho Peninsula. Major Trumbull had charge of one of the most important batteries before
Yorktown ; and he fought through the campaign with his regiment, down to the close of the
series of battles around Richmond, in the battle of Malvern Hill. While yet on the Umver
.Potomae Trumbull had received an injury, by the fall of his horse, from the offects of which
hie novor ontirely rocoverod. The postilontial influences of the Chickahominy Swamp aided in
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Camp! (Tenth), Captain Honry A. Wells (Tenth), Licutenant John C.
Coffing Q’l‘ont.h), Captain Horatio D. Eaton (Sixth), Adjutant llober S.
Smith (Fifth), Licutenant John H. Wilson (Seventh), Captain Edwin R.
Lee (Eleventh), Captain William H. Sackett (Eleventh), Captain Wil-
liam S. Buckley (Twelfth), Captain Charles A. Tennant (Sixteenth),
Lieutenant John M. Waters (Sixteenth), Captain Henry C. Smith
(Twentieth), Captain Oliver R. Post (Twentieth).

- From other towns the names are recalled of Colonel Albert W,
Drake (Tenth) of South Windsor; Colonel Richard E. Holcomb of
East Grnnb{', who was shot through the heart at Port Hudson while
leading the First Louisiana Regiment, to the comnmand of which he had
been promoted from major of the Thirteenth; Major Joseph H. Con-
verse (Eleventh) of Windsor Locks, killed at Cold Harbor; Captain
Joseph R. Toy (Twelfth) of Simsbury; Licutenant Horace E. Plelps
(Twelfth) of Windsor Locks, killed at Cedar Creek ; Lieutenant Theo-
dore A. Stanley (Fourteenth) of New Britain, killed at Fredericksburg ;
Captain Samuel S. Hayden (Twenty-fifth), killed at Irish Bend,

sapping his lifa forces ; but he battled with disease as bravely as with the enemies of his Gov-
ernment. Again, in the defences of Washington, Major Trumbull was in command of Forts
Richardson, Beott, and Barnard. 1n December, 1862, he was in command of two companics
and their batteries, uuder General Burnside, at Fredericksburg. 1n the spring of 1864 the
regiment, under Colonel — afterward General — H. L. Abbot, another regular-anny officer, went
agrin to the front, at Bermuda Hundred. Thero Major Trumbull was given ¢¢ the post of honor,”
in command of Battery No. 8, later known ay Fort Auderson. His skill and efficiency in that
position were recognized by his commander, and in June he was sent to assume connnand of bat-
teries in front of Petaraburg. For some time after this he was ** in chiarge of nll the guns of the
nle&e on both sides of the Appomattox.” * Hoshowed in this higher sphere,” says Colonel Abbot,
‘‘the same admirable qualities which had distinguished him when in command of Battory
No.38.” In two instances Major Trumbull was tendered the position of Chief of Artillery on
a corps commander’s staff ; but he preferred to remnin with his regiment while he could have so
active and important service there. He was promoted to be Licutenant-Colonel, Nov. 29, 1864,
When a return of his illness forbade for a time his service along the extended lins of the
Petersburg front, he did dnty on the staff of General Benham, in completing the line of
-defences at City Point, and having charge of the reserve artillery there, In the early spring of
18685 Lieutenant-Colonel 'I‘mmlmﬁ was detuiled on a general court-martial at Washiugton, pre-
sided over by General H. L. Briggs, whero his legal trnining wus aguin of service. 1t was while
-on this duty that ho finally suceumbed to disease, and died March 30, 1885. 1lis reniains were
taken to his Hartford home, and ns they were borno to their resting-placo in Spring Grove
Cemetory, on the afternoon of April 2, Lis friends heard the shouts of rjoicing over tho fall
of Petersburg, for the accomplishing of which he had striven so bravely and untiringly.
Possessed of a vigorous constitution, young Trumbull was early distinguished for physical
strength and athletic accomplishments, *‘few excelling him in those manly sports requiring
cool nerves, trained muscle, and a quick eye.” Of brilliant intellectual powers, and of rare
geniality in spirit and manner, he was exceptionally winsome and popular, and withal he had
a keen sense of honor, a lofty purpose of noble doing, and an indomitable will. He had given
promise of success in his chosen profession, but all his (;ood qualities found amplest play in
the duties of his soldier lifo, Overtaxal and maimed in the discharge of those duties in his
first year of army sorvice, he kopt up and persovered in anduous campaigning for wellnigh four
years ; and he lay dowu to dio only within eleven days of the close of the war at Appomattox
Court-House. While he was yat living, Colonel Abbot wrote of him, in his official report for
1864 : * Lieutenant-Colonel Trumbull hes highly distinguished himself for ability, courage, and
devotion to duty. Entering upon the campaign with health much impaired, . . . he seemed
to throw off diseass by determined will. . . . His only fault was in laboring beyond his
strength. ' Fow officers have the energy and ability to accomplish what he has done.” With
such a recofd, a life closing at thirty years cannot L callod fncomplete |
1 Major Henry W. Camp, of the Tenth Connecticut Voluntoera, was a IHartford high-school
boy, son of the Rev. Hanr{ B. Camp. He was grnduated at Yale in 1860, and was distin-
gmshed for manly beuntf', physical vigor, and intellectual nobleness aud strength of character.
he story of his brief lifs is told in “ The Knightly Soldicr,” from the pen of his futimate
friend and companion in arma and in prison, Chaplain llenry Clay Trumbull, of the Tenth.
Major Camp was killed Oct. 18, 1864, near Darbytown, Virginia, while leading a charge of his
regiment. i
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Louisiana ; Captain Newton P. Johnson (Twenty-fifth) of East Granby ;
Captain Andrew Upson (Twenticth) of Southington; Sergeant Albert
Stillman (Twentieth) of New Britain; Sergeant John F. Carroll
(Twenty-fourth), killed at Port Hudson; Licutenant Owen S. Case
(Thirtieth), killed at Petersburg, Virginia.

The total expenditure of the towns of the State for bounties, pre-
miums, support of families, and other war-purposcs was $5,195,877.80,
of which the towns of Hartford County paid $1,217,966.19, or nearly
one quarter of the entire amount. The tables published below are
taken from the * History of Connecticut during the Rebellion,” but the
figures are not in every instance trustworthy.

Expenditure of Ratimated A N . N
Towns for Bounties, ki by Individuals| Amount
Towxs. Premiums, C Por Bounties to by Indiv! luui Ounmdu{.ht,
tation, and Support Volunteers for
of Families. and Substitutes. | Commutation.
Hartford . . $2006468 | ........ | ...... $36,403,478
Avon. . . . . . 16,094.17 $1,976.00 1,800 6540,4
Berlin . . . . . 85,880.00 4,826.00 creees 1,078,882
Bloomfleld. . . . 80,236.00 1,00000 | ...... 888,56
Bristol . . . . . 56,634.00 18,661.08 2,100 1,765,942
Burlington. . . . 20,260.00 2,000.00 3,600 460,487
Canton . . . ., . 86,044.08 4,700.00 8,600 1,224,702
East Granb, 18,296.00 1,800.00 1,170 495,888
East Hartford] 68,209.40 24,800.00 1,404,822
Rast Windsor 456,780.04 8,00000 | ...... 1,214,800
Enfleld . . 60,814.00 446000 | ...... 2,689,
Farmington 80,075.98 9,000.00 0,000 2,162,670
Glastonbury . 46,047.00 596000 | ...... 1,422,
Granby . 16,700.00 3,316.00 2,000 609,720
{Iartland 12,4902.26 1,300.00 2,100 868,847
Manchester . 47,212.70 8,00000 | ...... 1,682,047
Mariborough . . . 6,674.00 36000 | ...... 305,482
New DBritain . . . 45,028.46 85,000.00 14,400 2,608,418
Rocky Hill. . . . 20,605.00 130.00 7,000 471,038
Simsbury . . . . 14,676.00 2,600.00 3,600 1,267,603
Southington . . . 85,606.00 12,26000 | ...... 1,664,160
South Windsor . . 25,800.00 10,00000 | ...... 1,211,878
Suffield. . . . . 7422402 | i.eieee | eeeens 1,720,256
West Hartford . . 86,081.60 ! ........ | eee... 1,388,867
Wetherafleld . . . 38,076.60 5,401.00 1,200 1,726,711
Windsor . . . . 84,700.00 522600 | ...... 1,421,333
Windsor Locks . . 15,044.08 2,030.00 res 612,900
$1,217,060.10 $168,163.08 $40,020 $67,626,120

Returns from present town officials vary slightly fromn these figures
in many instances, but they are probably as nearly correct as it is pos-
sible at this date to make them, owing to the fact that frequontly the
town records fail to specify whether certain individual appropriations
were in aid of soldiers or their famnilies.

The following additioual statistics are furnished by town officials :

BerriN. — Appropriated for bounties, $22,307.17 ; for support of families of
volunteers, $6,959.58, — total, $29,966.67. Furnished 171 men, of whom 12
were killed, 22 died in service, In Company G, Sixteenth, were 27 Berlin men,
of whom 2 wero killed and 6 wounded at Antietam, and 6 died in Rebel prisons.
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More than 30 soldiers of the late war are buried in the town cemeteries, There
are two soldiers’ monuments in the town,—one in Kensington and one in East
Berlin, the former believed to be the first erected in the State; it bears the
names of fifteen soldiers. That of East Berlin has thirty-five names of soldiers,
some of whom belonged in adjoining towns. Private E. W. Bacon of Berlin, of the
Fourteenth Regiment, captured the colors of the Sixteenth North Carolina Regi-
ment at Gettysburg. He was afterward killed during the Wilderness campaign.

BristoL. — Appropriated $40,300 as bounties to volunteers and drafted men,
There were also large expenditures for support of fumilies. Furnished 250 men,
of whom it is believed that some 75 are dend. Among the most conspicuous of
the dead was Captain Manross, of the Sixteenth, heretofore mentioned. The
town hLas a soldiers’ monument.

Canron, —Furnished 257 soldiers during the War of the Rebellion.” Of thess,
186 were honorably discharged ; 41 were either killed in battle or died from the
effects of wounds or disease while they were in service ; and about 30 are classed
in the records published by the adjutant-gencral’s office as deserters, but most of
these were hired substitutes who were never residents of the town. The town
voted a bounty of $100 to each man who econnted on its quota, and also paid
considerable for the expense of enrolling, and the records show that the sum
of $36,242 was paid towards the expense of furnishing soldiers for the war.
There has been no appropriation from the town for the expense of a soldiers’
monument, though the subject has sometimes been agitated.

East Hantrorp. — Expended for volunteers and substitutes $70,733, a por
tion of which was paid by individuals. Furnished 311 men, of whom 211 were
volunteers, 55 drafted or substitutes, and 45 paid commutation money. Thero
wers killed, 14 ; died in service, 18 ; wounded, 10.}! The town las a fine soldiers’
menument of freestone, surmounted by an eagle. It was eroctod chiofly by sub-
seription, and bears the inscription : * LErected to the Maniory of those brave
men who gave up their lives that the conntry might live.” The town annually
votes an appropriation to assist in the observance of Memorial Day.

FarmiNaron. — Paid for volunteers and substitutes, $73,000 ; to families of
soldiers, $26,475.98 ; by individuals for sanitary commission, soldiers’ relief, ete.,
$7,635.97 : total, #107,111.95. Furnished 360 men, the full proportion of whom
are among the killed and wounded. The town has a soldiers’ monument.

GLaASTONBURY. — War expenses, $50,035.94. Number of men furnished,
393, as follows: thres months’ volunteers, 10; nine months’ volunteers, 62 ;
three years’ volunteers, 159 ; re-enlisted voterans, 28 ; threo ycars’ recruits, 74 ;
three years’ substitutes, 46 ; surgeous, 3 ; licutenant regular army, 1; navy, 10.
The bounties paid by the town mnged from $10 to $500 per man. Appropria-
tions were also made for the mothers and infant brothers and sisters of volunteers.
There were killed in battle, 16 ; died in service (including 3 at Andersonville),
16. The town furnished 1 lieutenant-colonel, 2 captains, 2 lieutenants, 3 sur-
geons, 1 lieutenant in the regular army (Robert G. Welles, soverely wounded at
Gettysburg), and 3 warrant officers in the navy.

MaRrLBOROUGH. — Furnished 42 men, of whom 9 were killed or died in the
service. The amount paid for volunteers and substitutes was about $2,700.

ManorEsTER. — Sent to the War of the Rebellion 251 men ; namely, volun-
teers, 224; substitutes and drafted, 27, —total, 251. Thess are accounted

1 The most distinguished resident of the town who served during the war was H-.rriy
Howard Brownell, private secretary of Admiral Farragut, who was called Ly Oliver Wendell
Holmes ** the battle laureate of the Union.” IHe was the author of * War Lyrics,” and wrote
an acconnt of the ‘¢ Battle of Mobile Bay ™ in verse, which is the most graphic and accurate
description of the fight ever written. During the thickest of the fight, in passing the forts,
he sat on the quarter-deck making notes of every incident, the notes being written as carefully
as though he lad been a hundred miles away from any danger. He died in 1875, and is
buried in the Centre Cemetery.
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for as follows: missing in action, 1; enlisted in C. S. A., while prisoner of war,
1; not taken up on rolls, 3 ; killed in action, 6 ; died in service, of disease and
wounds, 32; deserted, 33; honorably discharged, 175, — total, 251. As the
total population of Manchester in 1860 was but 3,294, making by the ordinary
ostimato G568 votors, the town must have sont nearly, if not quite, one half of tho
number of those fit for military service. The 251 Manchester men were scat-
tored into many widely soparnted commands, being distributed according to their
onlistinents as follows : Firat Regimont Connecticut Volunteers (three months’), 8;
Second Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, 1; First Squadron Cavalry, 4; First
Regiment Cavalry, 6 ; First Light Battery, 4; Second Light Battery, 1; First
Connecticut Artillery, 40; Second Connecticut Artillery, 8; Infantry, — Fifth
Volunteers, 16 ; Seventh Volunteers, 11; Eighth Volunteers, 5; Ninth Volun-
teers, 4 ; Tenth Volunteers, 38; Eleventh Volunteers, 7; Twelfth Volunteers, 10;
Fourteonth Volunteers, 9; Fifteenth Volunteors, 3; Sixteonth Volunteers, 44 ;
Twoptioth Volunteors, 8; Twenty-First Voluuteers, 1; Twenty-socond Volun-
teers, 7; Twonty-lifth Volunteers, 4 ; Twenty-ninth Volunteers, 7; Third Bri-
gade Band, 2; First United States Artillery, 1; Wisconsin Volunteers, 1;
United States Navy, 3, —total, 261. John L. Otis, Second Lieutenant Com-
pany B, Tenth Connecticut Volunteers, was promoted to the colonelcy of his regi-
ment, and at the close of the war was made brigadier-general by brevet * for
gallantry at tho crossing of James Rivor, Va., Juno 20, 1864, and at thé battle
of Flusser's Mills and Deep River, Va.; to date from March 13, 1865.” The
first five volunteors from Manchoster eulisted April 20, 1861, in Captain Com-
stock’s Company (A, First Regiment Connecticut’ Volunteers, three months’).
Their names were Philip W. Hudson (afterward captain Company B, Tenth
Connecticut Volunteers), George C. Cliadwick, John B. Warburton, Williamn
Annis, and Charles Avery. Manchester has a tasteful soldiers’ monument, cost-
ing with its surroundings $3,029.03, of which the town paid $2,636.34, and
Drake Post No. 4, G. A. R., $392.69. This was selected and purchased by
Robert H. Kellogg, Frank W, Chency, and Horace White (a committee appointed
by the town), and dedicated Sept. 17, 1877. Manchester has a flourishing Post
of the G. A. R. (Drake No. 4), named after Colonel Albert W. Drake, of the
Tenth Connecticut Volunteers, and organized July 9, 1875.

Rocky Hirn. — Seventy-three mon were credited to this town, receiving

from $100 to $300 bounty each, the total town bounty amounting to $12,000.
In addition to this amount, volunteers under the first and second calls received
from General James T. Pratt, then a resident of the town, the sum of $10 each.
More than one household gave all its young men, many of whom never returned.
Roprosontatives of Rocky Hill families enlisted in other States to a considerable
oxtent. .
SovtmineToN. — Gave 311 men to the army and 1 man to the navy. Of
this number 50 died in sorvice. $35,695 was expended by the town for boun-
ties, the support of soldiers’ families, ete. ; and it is estimated that in addition to
this amount the sum of $12,260 was paid by individuals in aid to volunteers
and for substitutes. )

WEeTHERSFIELD, — On July 21, 1862, the town voted $50 bounty to every
residont enlisting under the call for 300,000 men. Tho amount was increased,
August 18, to $125, with an additional $25 if the town's quota should be raised
without a draft. On July 20, 1863, the sum of $300 was voted to each drafted
man, thus paying them double what the volunteers received. On Aug. 22, 1863,
the treasurer was authorized to borrow $14,400 to meet the expense. The quota
under this draft was 48. In December, 1863, the town was called on for 33
more men, and $4,200 more was appropriated. On July 28, 1864, $6,000 was

1 The deserters were largeiy from the *‘bounty-jumping” class, eightesn out of the
twenty-seven substitutes being recorded as such.
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appropriated to meet the demands under the call for 500,000 men. On Nov. 28,
1864, the selectmen reported that they had procured 46 volunteers and substi-
tutes at an expense of $9,681.66, and the town voted $10,000 to defray the cost.
The town has no soldiers’ monument. ‘

WinpsoR. — The town furnished 2 thiree months’ men, 71 nine months' men,
and 184 three years' men, or the equivalent of 202 three years’ men. Of this
number 5 were killed or died of wounds received in action, 1 was missing in
action, 7 were wounded, 10 died in service, 8 were discharged for disability,
4 were promoted to commissions, 4 deserted after muster and 13 as recruits be-
fore muster, the latter belonging to the infamous army of bounty-jumpers. There
are 35 soldiers’ graves in the town. E. N. Phelps, of Windsor, was lieutenant-
colonel of the Twenty-second Regiment. Windsor at the beginning of the war
had a large anti-war purty, but the Union sentiment prevailed. To the Women's
Soldiers’ Aid Society great credit was due for stimulating patriotism at home and
sending supplies into the field. Among the prominent Union men of the town
was the late Brevet Brigadier-General William S, Pierson.



CHAPTER VI

THE BENCH AND THE BAR.

BY SIIERMAN W. ADAMS.
GenBraL View,—Tuz Courts. — JUDGES AND LawYEBS.

OR the trial of causes, civil and criminal, courts are almost as old
as governments. And the Bench, a term which is significant of
the magistrate or judicial officer who occupies it, must, of course,

be as ancient a8 the court. This is not so, however, with the Bar. For
there have been periods when there were suitors at law without attor-
neys, and culprits without counsel ; in other words, when there was no
Bar, in the figurative sense of the word as here used. But neither
those who sat upon the Bench nor those who practised at its Bar have
always been trained to the legal profession. Hence, we must notice
persons who were not lawyers, nor bred to the law, but who fall within
the class indicated by the title which heads this article.

The mcmbers of the first court which existed in this colony, estab-
lished in March, 1635-1636, were cight in number ; namecly, Rogor
Ludlow, William Pynchon, John Steele, William Swayne, Henry Smith,
William Phelps, Willinm Westwood, and Andrew Ward. Of theso,
only five participated in the first rccorded session of the court, that
of April 26, 1636, at Hartford. These gentlemen had been com-
missioned by the General Court of Massachusctts “to govern the
people at Connecticut for the space of a year next coming.” They
were in effect invested with exclusive legislative, judicial, and executive
power; including “ military discipline, defensive war,” and “ to make
and decrco such orders, for tho present, that inay be for the peaceable
and quiet ordering the affairs of the said plantation,” etc. They ruled
the plantations during their term of office; and when, in the following
year, the plantations became townships, the latter chose the ¢ commit-
tees” which represented the towns in the General Court, and formed
the lower section of that body. The court was aided by a jury.

Prior {0 January, 1689, whon the fundamental articles of govern-
ment of the colony wore formed, Thomas Welles, John Haynes, John
Plumb, Matthew Mitchell, and Samuocl Smith had been added to the
list of members of the upper section, called magistrates, which had
powers over life, liberty, and property, such as no body of officers since
their day has been intrusted with. And of all these men who exercised
the double function of makers and expounders of the law, it is not cer-
tain that onc had been trained to the legal profession, though probably
Ludlow had been. Ho it was, who, in 1646-1650, prepared that body
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of laws known as the Code of 1650, which was distributed in manu-
seript to tho scveral towns, and remained, until 1678, the only book of
laws of the colony.

In 1688 an inferior court, without legislative power, was consti-
tuted, the members whereof consisted of a majority of the magistrates
of the General Court. It was known as the Particular Court. From
1689 until the union of Hartford and New Haven colonies, under tho
Charter, in 1665, the General Court consisted of two branches. They
occupied the samo chamber, and were prosided over by the governor or
the deputy-governor.  The upper branch was composed of magistrates
olected by the “freemen” at large, and tho lower branch consisted of
deputies sent by the several towns. The General Court cxercised gen-
eral legislative and judicial powers. In the Particular Court the juris-
di(ﬁion was over misdemeanors, small civil causes, and the probatc of
wills.

It cannot be said that at this time there were any members of the
Bar, a8 wo now understand the term. Tho occupants of the Bench
were not learned in the law, and justice was administered in a
crude, though effectual way, often adopting the principles of the Mosaic
code. Many were convicted and punished under evidence which would
not now be admitted in any court; and it is probable that in the name
of justice much injustico was done. The mecagre abstracts of trials of
criminal causes in those days are curions and interesting.

In May, 1671, Governor Winthrop and Deputy-Governor Loeto, with
the Assistants, were directed to procure a revision of tho laws. This,
the first printed cdition of our statutes, was comploted in 1672, and
published at Cambridge in 1678.

During the Andros usurpation, 1687-1689, the great legal question of
the right of Great Britain to take away our charter was uppermost in
importance and attention. It was freely and hotly discussed, and by none
more so than by the Rev. Gershom Bulkeley, of Wethersficld. This gen-
tleman had exchanged the pulpit for the forun, where he became onc of
the leading advocates of his day. Ile espoused the Tory side of the main
question, and was probably the most ardent supporter of Andros in the
colony. Bulkeley had lost his voice before he left the pulpit; but he
was a skilful legal draughtsman and special pleader. He was not,
however, engaged exclusively in the practice of the law, for he had, at
the same time, a large medical practice. .

In January, 1698, the office of justice of the peace was provided for
by law. In 1699 the General Assembly became, for the first time,
divided into an upper and a lower house, each having its own presiding
officer. Thereafter legislation became more methodical, and the legis-
lature more strictly a law-making body.

In 1696 Secretary Eleazer Kimberly, of Glastonbury, and Colonel
John Allyn, of Hartford, and Major James Fitch, of Plainfield (then in
Hartford County), Assistants, were appointed a committee to revise the
laws of tho colony. They completed their work in 1700, and printed it
in Boston in 1702.

At this time tho ficld of legislation was broadening. It included
the laying out of plantations, townships, parishes, military and school
“ precincts,” highways and admiralty matters, the inspection of provi-
sions and manufactured goods, educational and ecclesiastical matters,



THE BENCH AND THE BAR 107

and sumptuary laws. Military affairs and special matters, as divorces,
engaged much of the attention of the Gencral Assembly.

In 1709 the practice of printing the session-laws annually was be-
gun. The edition of 1715, including scssion-laws to that date, was
prepared by William Pitkin, Joseph Talcott, and Roger Wolcott, Sr.

'he law empowering the parishes (or socicties) to regulate the
ministry and ¢ tho school,” within their rospective limits, was enacted
in 1717. In 1726 grand-jurors were recognized as informing officers,
even when acting singly. In 1750 a revision of the Statutes of Con-

necticut was published; it had been begun in 1742. An“Act for
" securing tho general Privileges of the Inhabitants” — being the initial
statute in the edition of 17156— was changed in its title by substituting
“ His Majesty’s subjocts in this colony ” in place of “the inhabitants.”
Tho statuto was cnlarged in its scope, and it reads much like parts
of Magna Charta. Much of the legislation included in the odition of
1750 rclates to matters eccicsiastical. ¢“The people called Baptists,”
for instauce, are given the “same privilege” as the ¢ Sober Dissenters
commonly called Quakers.” Imposts, inarine and admiralty matters,
are largely the subject of statutory provisions. But there is nothing
indicating the right of any private corporation to exist in Connecticut;
and indeed the General Assembly had declared, in 1788, that —

“Innsinuch as all companies of merchants are made at home, by lettors-
patent from the King, and we know not of one single instance of any govern-
ment in the plantations doing such a thing, it is, at least, very doubtful whether
we have authority to make such a society ; and hazardous, therefore, for this
government to presume upon it.”

A sixth county, Litchfield, was formed in 1751, by subdivision of
Hartford County. Windham County had been formed in the same way
in1726. Important legislation was that of 1766, which authorized the
formation of school-districts within townships and parishes (societies) ;
whercas theretofore the care and control of schools had been vested in
the towns, and, in special cases, in the parishes.

In June, 1776, the statutes purported to be passed by the * General
Court or Asscmbly of the English Colony of Connecticut in New Eng-
land.” In October of the samo year they were said to be by the ¢ State
of Connecticut, in Now England.” DBut the chartor of Charles 1I.
was declared to remain in full forco so far as the same was consistent
with the absolute independenco of this State, etc.

Tho subjects of first importance in the General Assembly during
the Revolutionary period were, naturally, embargoes, the militia, bills
of credit, imposts, etc. But as early as 1789 the colony had, for the
first time, authorized the formation of regimontal organizations, and
had constituted thirtcen. rogimonts of militia.

A now rovision of the statutes appeared in 1784. They began with
an ample Bill of Rights of the people, quite in accordance with the
Declaration of Independence. The status of courts and attorneys will
appear in other parts of this article. Societies were still guasi municipal
corporations, having distinctly defined territorial limits.

A revision of the laws appeared in 1795. It contains a declaration
by Matthew QGriswold, president, that the National Constitution had
been ratificd by the Connecticut Convention, Jan. 9, 1788, by the aftirm-
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ative votes of one hundred and twenty-cight delegates, against forty
negative votes.

Another edition of the statutes was prepared in 1808, the most
complete we have ever had,— thanks to the labors of Mr. Day, the
most competent man in the State for such work. Many acts of a pri-
vate nature were contained in this edition, for in those days there was
no separate publication of special enactments. But, excepting seven
banks, five insurance companios, five aqueduct companics, two fishing
compenies, two literary societios, and a few turnpikoe companies, there
were no private corporations, nor any genoral laws authorizing the for-
mation of such. And nnder the National Constitution tho Stato had
parted with its right to legislate on tho subjects of coinage and cur-
rency, foreign duties, imposts, naval and marine matters on public
waters, and post-offices ; so that the body of laws was quite different
in many departments from that of earlier editions.

In 1789 was pnblished the first printed collection of reports of
cases adjudicated in onr courts of last rosort, or, indeed, in the
United States. Thoy were compiled by Ephraim Kirby, and published
at Litchfield, and comprised cases decided in the years 1785-1788.
Judge Jesse Root continued the series, beginning in 1789 and ending
in 1797. He included some cases decided much earlier; one as early
as 1764. The publication of these cases was not resumed until 1806,
when Thomas Day began a sories of Reports, running back to 1802;
leaving ‘a space of four years, for which the decisions were, and re-
main, unreported. Since Mr. Day began, the Reports have been con-
tinued to the present timo.

The Constitution of 1818 effected, practically, a divorco of Church
from State interests. In the mean time slavery was becoming extinct,
through the operations of enactments begun in 1784. A revision of the
laws, made necessary by the adoption of this Constitution, appeared in
1821. In 1828 an amendment of the Constitution required that Stato
senators be thereafter clected by districts, instcad of at largo, as had
been the mode of election. In 1887 the same change was begun as to
the mode of election of rcpresentatives to Congress. United States
senators, of course, were first clected in 1789.

Revisions, or compilations of the statutes, have followed, in the
years 1824, 1835, 1838, 1849, 1854, 1866, and {875. In 1887 appeared
the first compilation of Private Laws of the State; but it included no
enactments passed prior to 1789. The next compilation was published
in 1857, since which time several others have been made, always includ-
ing those acts only, passed since the next preceding edition.

In the same year, 1837, was begun the practice of publishing in a
separate pamphlet, annually, the private acts and resolves of each year
or session. In 1837, also, was begun the annual publication of the
Journal of the House, and in 1840, that of the Senate.

The statuto authorizing and regulating the formation of joint-stock
companies was passed in 1887. Since that date private corporations
have become almost innumerable, and they have been one of the chief
sources of litigation and causes of legislation.

The publication of the Records of Connocticut Colony was begun in
1850 by the Hon. J. Hammond Trumbull, and they were continued by
him until they included the Records down to 1689. From that date
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to 1772 they have been published in volumes prepared by Charles J.
Hoadly, Esq. ,

The publication of the various legislative documents of the State has
been continued froin different dates, which it is difficult to establish.
The nuinber of these documents, of which no catalogue has ever beon
made, is increasing annually, owing to tho formation of new depart-
ments from time to time.

Courrs.— The Particular Court, the highest strictly judicial body in
the colony, existed from 1638 until 1665,— twenty-six years. Excepting
one session each (?) at New London and Wethersfield, it was holden at
Hartford only. Of the thirty-five men who at one period or another oc-
cupiod its bench, twelvo wero from Ilartford, seven from Windsor, and
threo from Wethorsficld. 1t was prosided over by tho govornor, or his
deputy for the timo being, and with him were associated two or threo of
the magistrates, or members of the upper section of the General Court.
Thus it happened that six govornors — Haynes, Webster, Hopkins, and
Wyllys, of Hartford; Welles, of Wethersfield ; and Winthrop, of New
London and Hartford -— were its presiding officors. - Majors William
Whiting and John Talcott, Jr., of Hartford, and John Mason, at first of
Windsor, occupied its bench; as did Lieutenant-Colonel John Allyn,
of Hartford, Roger Ludlow, Secretary Daniel Clarke, and Henry Wol-
cott, all of Windsor. William Phelps, of Windsor, sat with the court
much of the time, as did Secretary John Cullick and Samuel Wyllys,
of Hartford.

At the last session of the General Court prior to the union, the
number of magistrates present (April 20, 16656) was six; the number
of deputies was twenty-five. nder the Charter the General Court
beeamne the Genoral Assembly. Tho members of tho upper branch,
called Assistants, were twelve in number, and elected at large. 'Tho
lower branch was composed of depnutics, who sat with tho assist-
ants; the wholo being presided over by the governor or tho deputy-
governor.

In 1665 the Court of Assistants was established ; the members
whereof were at least seven in number, and were chosen from ‘the
Assistants in the General Court. The Court of Assistants oxisted until
1711, when it was succceded by the Superior Court of the Colony. Most
of its scssions woro holden at lartford; a fow at New Haven and New
London. Its jurisdiction extended to matters of a higher nature than
those tried in the Particular Court, to which it was the successor. Fifty
persons, usually from seven to ten at a time, became acting members
of this court. Of these, eleven were from Hartford, five from Windsor,
four cach from Wethersfield and Farmington, one from Middletown,
and tho rest froon Now llaven, New London, and Fairfield counties.
Prominent members were: Matthew Allyn, Colonel John Allyn, Sam-
uel Wyllys, Major John Talcott, Jr., James Richards (Commissioner
of the United Colonics of New England), Nathanicl Stanley, Sr., Cap-
tain Caleb Stanley, Sr., Treasurer William Pitkin, Sr., and William
Pitkin, Jr., all of Hartford; Secretary Daniel Clarke and Henry Wol-
cott, Jr., of Windsor; Major John Chester, Sr., and Captain Samuel
Talcott, of Wethersficld ; John Wadsworth, of Farmington ; John Ham-
lin, of Middletown. Othors, oqually prominent, but holding shorter
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terms, were Governor Thomas Welles and Richard Treat, Sr., of Weth-
“ orsficld ; Governor Joscph Talcott, of Iartford ; Major Benjamin New-
bertf'y, Sr., of Windsor ; Governor Robert T'reat, of Wethersfield and
Milford.

In 1666, counties, for the first time, were organized. They were
Hartford, New Haven, New London, and Fairfield; Hartford County
at this time including about one half of the area of the colony. Then,
also, the several County Courts were established. The County Courts,
from 1686 to 1698, consisted of one assistant, or, as we would now say,
senator, and three or four commissioners; the latter corresponding to
tho justices of the peace of to-day. TFrom 1698 to 1821 the incum-
bents were one judge, and from two to five ¢ Justices of the Peace
and Quorum ;” all specially commissioned by the General Assembly.
Ordinarily the Bench consisted of five members; and the court, which
had both civil and criminal jurisdiction, was as important as is the
present Superior Court. Nearly all those whom we have mentioned as
members of the Court of Assistants sat in the County Court. Tho num-
ber of judges of this court, for Hartford County, including assistants
and justices of the quorum, prior to 1821, was eighty-six ; too many to
be named here. About twenty-five of these were chief judges. The
very foremost citizens, lawyers and laymen, occupied this Bench.
Among them, not heretofore mentioned, were: Major John Chester,
Jr., of Wethersficld; Colonel Matthew Allyn, of Windsor; Henry
Wolcott, Jr., Governor Rogor Wolcott, and Roger Wolcott, Jr.; Gov-
ornor William Pitkin, 8d, of Hartford; Colonels David Guoodrich and
John Chester, 8d, of Wothorsliold ; Colonel Thomas Welles, of (las-
tonbury ; Colonel Jabez IHamlin, of Middletown (forty years on the
bench) ; General Erastus Wolcott, of East Windsor; Colonel John
Chester, 4th, of Wethersficld ; General Roger Newberry, of Windsor;
- Governor John Treadwell and Colonel John Mix, of Farmington;
Colonel Thomas Seymour, 4th, of Hartford ; General Dyer Throop, of
East Haddam; Stephen Mix Mitchell, United States Senator and Chief
Justice of the State, Wethersficld; Jonathan Brace, of Glastonbury
and Hartford. Governor Joseph Taleott, of Hartford, born in 1669,
was 80 much of the time chief judge of the County Court and judge of
the Probate Court for Hartford County, that his name should be
specially mentioned. Major John Chester, of Wethersfield, who in
lgll took Pitkin’s place as judge of the County and Probate Court,
died the same year, and so the Bench was early deprived of one of its
brightest luminaries. Most of the judieial officers, from this time down
to a dato subsequent to tho Revolution, were military oflicers also; and
the clorks of courts usually prefixed their military rather than their
civil titles in the public records.

From 1821 to 1839, the County Court consisted of three judges, two
forming a quorum. Justices of the Peace and Quorum no longer existed
after 1821. From 1839 to 1856, when this court was abolished, the
triers wero ono judge and two or three county commissionors, During
this last period of about seventeen years the court liad ceased to have
anything like the importance which it formerly possessed.

It will be seen that the office of judge, eo nomine, was unknown
in the colony prior to 1698. The first legally to hold this title was
Nathaniel Stanley, Sr., of Hartford, Judge of the County Court.
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In 1711 the Court of Assistants was abolished, and in its place was
established the Superior court of the colony. It was a circuit court,
having one chief judge and four associate judges; its sessions being
two in onch county annually ; its jurisdiction, like that of tho County
Courts, extending to both civil and criminal causes. Governor Gurdon
Saltonstall was its first chief judge; his bench-fellows being William
Pitkin (son of William, hereinbefore mentioned); Richard Christo-
phers, of New London ; Peter Burr, of Fairficld; and Samuel Eells, of
Milford, all members of the upper branch of the General Assembly.
Pitkin became chief judge in 1718. His son, Governor William, be-
came chicf judge in 17564 ; Ais son, General William, became judge in
1789; and thus four successive generations of William Pitkins filled
most important judicial positions in the coluny. ~

A “Superior” Court has cxisted from 1711 until the present day.
It was colonial until 1776, and a State court from the latter date to
1798. Since then it has been a county court. Chief judges were pro-
vided until 1855; and its beneh, until 1819, was occupied by from three
to five judges at a time; three being a quorum. Since 1819 one jud
only has regularly occupied it. Before 1819 fifty-eight judges had filled
the judicial office. Of theso, nineteen were chief judges of the Superior
Court and seventeen were ez-officio judges of the Supreme Court; that
is, from 1807 to 1819. Seventeen judges wero from Hartford County,
of whom three — namely, Stephen Mix Mitchell, of Wethersfield; John
Trumbull, of Hartford ; and John Thompson Peters, of Hebron and
Hartford — were Supreme Court judges prior to 1819. Of the nine-
teen chief judges of the Superior Court, four — namely, Judge Mitchell,
William Pitkin, Jr., of Hartford ; Governor Roger Wolcott, Sr., of
Windsor ; and Governor William Pitkin, 8d, of Hartford — woro from
Hartford County. '

Since it beenme a single-judge court (Juno, 1819) thirty-cight per-
sons have been judges of the Superior Court. From 1807 its judges
were, when sitting in banc, the judges of the Bupremec Court. Since
1856 the two classes of judges have been entirely distinct. Five of the
thirty-eight judges since 1819 came from Hartford County ; namely :
John Thompson Peters, mentioned above ; Thomas Scott Williams, of
Wothersfield and Hartford; Governor William Wolcott Ellsworth, of
Windsor and lartford; I'liomas Bolden Butler, of Wothersfield and
Norwalk ; Dwight W. Pardce, of Bristol and Hartford. All these
were promoted to the Bench of the Supreme Court. So also was
Elisha Carpenter, a native of Ashford, but now of Hartford. We
may also include Chief Justice William Lucius Storrs, who, coming
from Middletown about 1840, resided thereafter in Hartford.

The Suprome Court of Errors was constituted in 1784. From that
dato to 1806 its members were the Governor, Lieutenant-Governor (after
1798), and tho Assistants of the Genoral Assembly, then twelve in
numbor. Sovon (cight after 1798) formed a quorum. The court took
cognizance of such cases as had theretofore gone to the Goneral Assem-
bly by writ of error. The Governor or Lieutenant-Governor presided,
and the Secretary of State was the clerk. Two sessions were held an-
nually, one each at Hartford and New Haven respectively. The sessions
were holden in the week next preceding the opening of the General
Assembly.

VoL~ 1. —8.
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There were thirty-nine of this class of ez-gfficio judges in this period
of twenty-two ycars. Of these, cleven were from IHartford County.
They were General William Pitkin, 4th, East Hartford ; Governor Oliver
Wolcott, Sr., East Windsor and Litchfield ; Governor Oliver Ellsworth,
Sr., Windsor; General Erastus Wolcott, East Windsor ; Governor John
Treadwell, Farmington ; Colonel John Chester, 4th, Wethersficld ;-
General Roger Newberry, Windsor; Colonel Thomas Scymour, 4th,
Hartford ; Colonel Jeremiah Wadsworth, Hartford ; Jonathan Bracoe,
.Glastonbury and Ilartford; Licutenant-Governor Channcey Goodrich,
Durham and Hartford.

- Governor Wolcott was chief judge during the years 1787-1796. He
was the son of Governor Roger Wolcott, and father of the second Gov-
ernor Oliver Wolcott. He was not a member of the Bar, having been
first a soldier, then a physician. He was a signer of the Declaration of
Independence, and mmember of the Continental Congress; and his son
was Secrotary of the Treasury. KEllsworth, one of the most distin-
guished men of his time, was a lawyer, and, by cominon consent, the
head of the Bar of the State. Hoe sat in the Continental Congress and
assisted in framing the National Constitution ; then he became a mem-

“ber of the United States Senate, Chief Justice of the United States
Supreme Court, and Minister to France, successively.

Governor Treadwell was a noted lawyer, and the most useful mem-
ber of the committee for revising the Statutes of 17956, Chauncey
Goodrich was one of the most distinguished members of a family re-
markable for civil and military hionors and literary attainments. ITe
ranked with the highest in his chosen profession, the law. Both he and
Treadwell were members of the famous Hartford Convention. He was
a leader in the United States Senate, and a speech of his, in that body,
is aaid to have been the occasion of De Tocqueville’s memorable remark
about the important position occupied by the State represented by * that
little yellow spot on the map.”

General Erastus Wolcott was a brother of Chief Judge Oliver Wol-
cott, and had been a brigadier-genoral in the War of the Revolution.
He aided in the formation of the National Constitution. Chester,
Newberry, Pitkin, and Wadsworth had been officers in the same war.
flearly all in the foregoing list of Hartford County members were
awyers.

wyA.nother class of ex-officio members of the Supreme Court were those
who held the office of Superior Court Judge between the years 1807 and
1855, when sitting in bane. Of these there were twenty-four. Four
only were from Hartford County ; namely: Stephen Mix Mitchell, Weth-
ersfield ; John Trumbull, Jr., Watertown and Hartford ; John Thompson
Peters, Hebron and Hartford; and Thomas Scott Williams, Wethers-
field and Hartford. Mitchell and Williams became chief judges. All
were noted lawyers and jurists, and Mitchell and Williams were states-
men. : The former was a member of the Continental Congress and of
the United States Senato; tho lattor served in the lower house of Con-
gress. Somo of the most valuable opinions of our Supreme Court were
written by Williams, who was one of the most distinguished members
of the celebrated family of that name. -

Since 1855 judges of the Supreme Court have been elected and
commissioned as such. Of these there have been fifteen, of whom three
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were contributed by Hartford County. Thesc were: Governor William
Wolcott Ellsworth, of Windsor and Hartford; Thomas Belden Butler,
Wethersficld and Norwalk ; and Dwight Whitefield Pardee, Bristol and
Hartford. Butler was chicf judge. He was bred first to the medical,
then to tho legal profession. He wrote many valuable opinions and
acquired some fammo as an author. Io was particularly interested in
meteorology, and wroto an ingenious voluie upon the subject. Ells-
worth, while much less distinguished than lis father, achicved an
honorable record on the Bench and in the lower lhiouse of Congress.
Pardee is still upon the Bench. Ellsworth was & brother-in-law of
Chief Judge Williams, and a son-in-law of Noah Webster. It will
be seen that there have been, from the beginning, seventy-nine judges
of the Supreme Court, and that ninetcen of these were from Hartford
County. There have been seventeen chicf judges, of whom seven were
from this county. 4

Until 1719 the courts were held in the * Court Chambers,” on the
second floor of the ¢ Meeting-house.” Afterward, until the completion
of the County building (188% , they were held in the Capitol.

Since the establishment of the United States Court for the District
of Connecticut, in 1789, the Bench of that court lias been occupied by
seven judges in turn. None of these was a native of Hartford County,
and but two, nancly, William D. Shipman and Nathaniel Shipman (the
latter the present incumbent), were over residents of Hartford County.

Prosecuting OFFicERs. — United States Attorneys for the District
of Connecticut have been thirteen in number since 1789. Of these, if
we cxclude those born in other counties, but three were contributed by
Hartford County. Theso wore: Hezckiali Huntington, of Suflicld and
Hartford, 1807-1829; Asa Child, of I{artford, 1880-1885; and Thomas
Clapp Perkins, of Hartford, 1850-1853 (sec p. 1482i Huntington was
born in Tolland when it was in Hartford County. Ho was a studont of
Gideon Granger, of Sufficld, and of Judge John Trumbull, of Hartford.

Threo others resided in Hartford. They were: Charles Chapman,
a native of Newtown ; William D. Shipman, born in Chester ; and Lewis
Elliott Stanton (the present incumbent), a native of Clinton. Mr.
Chapman, son of Judge Asn Chapmnan, was a representative to Con-
gress, 1862-1858. lle was a natural orator, and his skill in cross-
examining witnesscs was almost matchless.

In October, 1662, the first step was taken toward establishing the
office of King’s Attorney; or, as we would now say, State’s Attorney.
William Pitkin, 1st, of Hartford, a gentleman who proved to be well
qualified for the place, was “desired and appointed” by the Gencral
court to prosecute certain delinquents, from Wethersfield, in the Par-
ticular Court. Pitkin is said to have come from Norwich, England, and
to have been bred a lawyer. But his first occupation here was that of
a schoolmaster. In May, 1664, the General Court appointed him their
Attorney, “ to implecad any delinquents in the Colony.” In the same
year he was granted ¢ twenty nobles, for his pains in prosecuting” Cap-
tain John Scott, who was charged with seditious practices. Mr. Pitkin
died in 1694, aged fifty-nine years.!

1 For o notice of his eminence in his profession, see J. Hammond Trumbull's note to
p- 165, vol. iii., Colonial Rocords of Connecticut. .
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A long-continued and earnest effort, on the part of the writer, to
grepnre a complote list of the prosccuting officers of the colony and
tate has been unavailing. The public records do not, in some cases,
afford the means of ascertaining their names or dates of appointment.
Richard Edwards, of Hartford, mentioned elsewhere, was probably the
first Queen’s Attorney, for he was appointed in April, 17056. The oftice
had been first created in May, 1704. The act provided that there
should be “in every countie, a sober, discreet, and religious person,
appointed by the County Courts, to be Atturney for the Queen; to
prosecute and implead in the lawe all criminall offenders, and to doo
all other things nccessary or conveniont, as an Atturney, to suppress
vice and immorallitie.”

Edwards seema to have held the office until 1712 or 1718, perhaps
until 1717.. At about the latter date, perhaps as early as 1711, John
Read, of Stratford, began to hold the office, and he seems to have acted
officially throughout the colony.! Since Read’s term of office there
have been twenty-two, at loast, who succeceded him. Petor Pratt, of
Hartford, but earlier of Lyme, bocamo King’s Attorney in 1719, Ilo
was a noted and successful lawyer, and remarkable for his forensic
eloquence.? John Bissell, of Windsor, succeeded him in 1727, and
Pelatiah Mills, of the same place, followed in 1728. He was succeeded
% Joseph Gilbert, of Hartford, in 1780 (?). Roger Wolcott, Jr., of

indsor, held the office from 1731 to 1753, Mention has been made
" of these last five names, and of Edwards, elsewhere. Daniel Edwards,
of Hartford, son of Richard, above mentioned, held the office in 1758.
Thomas Seymour, 8d, of Iartford, appears to have lield the samo oflice
in 1756. Colonel Thomus Seymour, 4th, of Hartford, afterward an
officer in the War of the Revolution, was the incumbent from 1767 to
1776. He was the last of the King’s Attorneys. He was succceded by
Oliver Ellsworth, State’s Attornoy, of Windsor, of whom some account
is given under the head of *Judges.”

Colonel Jesse Root, of Coventry and Hartford, having honorably
served in the Revolutionary War, became the prosecuting officer for
this county in 1785, holding the place until 1783, He becamc Chief
Judge of the Superior Court in 1798, and there remained until that
court was constituted the Supreme Court. To him we are indcbted for
the two very early volumes of Reports of cases adjudicated in our Su-
preme Court, bearing his name. - H&"was-born in Northampton, Mass.,
and had preached-some-three years before his admission to the Bar.

John Trumbull, Jr., a native of Watertown, and a cousin of Gov-
ernor Jonathan Trumbull, Sr., was State’s Attorney for this county

1 From memoranda furnished to me by the Hon. J, Hammeond Trumbull, and from Todd’s
‘¢ History of Redding,” the writer is able to give the following facts concerning this remarkable
man. He was born in Connecticut in 1680 ; was graduated at Harvaird College in 1697 ; ad-
mitted an attorney in New Haven iu 1708; appointed Queen's Attorney in 1711 ; went to New
London the same year to prosecute John Rogers, the leader of the sect of *‘ Rogerenes;” left
“ Lonetown Manor” (Stratford) in 1722, removing to Boston; became Attorney-Genernl of
Massachusetts, and the most eminent lawyer in New England; was the author of a Latin
Grammar, Izmblimhed in Boston in 1786 ; died in February, 1749, leaving a large estate. His
wife was Ruth, daughter of Lieutenant-Colonel John Talcott, of Hartford, where Mr. Read
lived for somo t{eara, and whore ono or two of his first children were born.

* His mother was the divorced wife of the John Rogers mentioned in note 1. She was a
daughter of Matthew Griswold, Sr. Pratt became a Rogerene ; but, having been imprisoned
for this offence, he published a recantation of the heresy,
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from 1789 to 1795. He had been graduated at Yale College, and
admitted an attorney at New Haven, before his arrival in Hartford,
which was in 1781. A part of his legal training was received in
tho law-office of President John Adams. He is well known as a
judgo of the Supreme Court, but most widely known as the author of
“ McFingal,” which was completed in Hartford. He died in Detroit,
Michigan, in 1881. '

Thomas Young Seymour, of Hartford, succeeded Trumbull, being
in office from 1796 to 1807. To him Jonathan Brace, of Hartford, suc-
ceeded, 1807-1809. He was a native of Harwinton, and a law-student
of Oliver Ellsworth; lie settled in Vermont, where he was a State's
Attorney. Hoe resided in Glastonbury from 1786 to 1794, when he
removed to Hartford. Ho was Judgo of tho County Court, and a ro
resentative to Congress, Chauncey Goodrich succeeded, until 181?.-
Enoch Perkins, of Hartford, followed, from 1812 to 1818. Hezekiah
Huntington, of Suffield and Hartford, filled the term from 1819 to 1822.

Isaac Touccy, a native of Newtown, was State’s Attorney from 1823
to 1835, and again in 1843-1844. Making Hartford his residence, he
became one of Connecticut’s distinguished lawyers and statesmen.
He served with credit during two terms in'the Lower House of Con-
gress. He was Attorney-General during part of the administration of
President Polk; United States Senator, 1861-1857; and Secretary of the
Navy in Buchanan’s Cabinet. He was Governor of the State in 1846.

Henry A. Mitchell, of Bristol and Hartford, served two years, 1836—
1838. Hc was sometliing of a politician, and for a time edited the
“ Hartford Times.” Ho is still living. Isaac Perkins, of Hartford,
served from 1839 to 1840.

Thomas Clapp Porkins, of Hartford, was Statc’s Attorney in 1841-
1842, and again in 1845-1846. He was a son of Enoch Perkins, and
his mothor was a member of the famous Pitkin family. Ho had little
tasto for politics or for political officcs. He was United States
Attorney for the District of Connecticut, and might have been Chief
Judge Storrs’s successor on the Supreme Court Bench, having been
elected to that office in 1861. He was at the time of his decease the
recognized head of the Bar of the county, if not of tho State. .

Governor Richard Dudley Hubbard, a distinguished son of Connecti-
cut, was State’s Attornoy during the terins 1847-1854 and 18567-1869.
Of humble origin, he was born in Berlin, but passed his boyhood in
East Hartford. He was less noted for scholarship in his class at Yale
College than he af- :
terward became in %
the legal profession ; . }WM
but, as ho himsclf
has said, he paid particular attention to belles-lettres and oratory.
He was brilliant and eloquent as an advocate, keen as a public
prosccutor, learncd as a lawyor, honorable and high-minded in all his
official duties. A democrat in politics, he was not a partisan; and his
patriotism was conspicuous in the late Civil War. He occupied a seat
in the Lower House of Congress, and was Governor of the State. In
the last years of his lifo e was at the head of the State Bar.

Mr. Horace Cornwall succeeded Governor Hubbard as State’s At-
torney at tho close of his first torm of office, for two ycars. Mr. William
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THE HON. RICHARD D. HUBBARD.

Hamersley, who took the oflice upon Governor ITubbard’s resignation
in 1869, has held it ever since. Ile, Mr. Mitchell, and Mr. Cornwall
arc the only persons now living who have held the oflice.

Lawyens. — There were attorncys tn facf, as contradistinguished
from attorneys at law, quite carly in the history of the colony.
Persons — usnally withont legal training —armed with a letter of at-
torney from a suitor, appeared in court, and were, by special permission,
allowed to act in behalf of their constituents. In May, 1667, Thomas
Wellos, son of Governor Thomas Welles, and Willinm Pitkin, Sr., were
recognized as attorneys for certain petitioncrs who were proprietors of
lands on the east side of Connecticut River; but Welles was not a
lawyer.!

In 1667 the General Court declared that a former order prohibiting
“all persons from pleading in y* behalfe of any person y* is charged and
prosecuted for delinquency,” had been disregarded ; and it ordered that
“ what person or persons socver shall take that boldnes. to himsclfo as
to plead or speake in the behalfe of any person y* is upon examination
or tryal, for delinquency (cxcept he speak dircctly to matter of law,

1 Such, also, was Thomas Burnham, of Hartford, who was allowed to act as attorney in
sowo cases ; one, in the Quarter Court (us counsel for Jeromy Adums), as carly as 1659.
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and with leave from y* authority prosent) he shall pay ten shillings to
y* Publick Treasure, as a fine; or sit in y* stocks one hour, for every
such offence.” This is but one of the many indications of the hostility
of tho courts to those few who assumed to act as lawyors.

In May, 1708, the oflice of attorney at law scems to havo been first
authorized by law.! But the act probably contemplated only the right
to plead, after special permnission from tho Court, in cach particular
casc; although the official oath-rendered the incumbent competent to
“use yourself in the office of atturney, within the court” wherein the
oath was administered. In other words, a class was created, out of
which practitioners were to be selected by the court, in causes, as they
arose. But onc grade of attorney was known, the different grades or
ranks in the English conrts having nevor existed hore,

‘Tho carliest regularly admitted attornoys of Hartford County, and
of the colony (if we except Clarke and Hosford, admitted by Andros),
wero those of 1708. Richard Edwards, of Hartford, was admitted by
the County Court in September of that year, and by the Court of As-
sistants in October. He was about sixty years of age at the time; his
grandson, the clder Jonathan Edwards, being then but five years old.3

When, in 1691, ie had petitioned for a divorce from his wife, hie had
prayed that ho might “have reliof therein, if the law of God or man
will afford it;” and for “a committee of able divines upon his charge.”
Upon a report submitted by certain ¢divines,” the General Court
granted him a favorable decree. He was the ancestor of the two Presi-
dents Jonathan Edwards, Governor Henry W. Edwards, Judge Ogden
Edwards of New York, Judge Pierpont Edwards of Connecticut, Aaron
Burr, and others distinguished in law and theology.

Governor Roger Wolcott, Sr., of Windsor, was adinitted at the same
timo with Ldwards. Ile was about twenty-cight yoars old. e is so
well known to Connecticut in civil and military relations, that we need
say no more of him at this time. His poetical effusions did not do
him equal credit with his other cfforts. Captain John Wadsworth, of
Farmington, was admitted at this time. Captain Thomas Welles, of
Wethersfield, a grandson of Governor Thomas Welles, was also ad-
mitted in 1708. He was attorney for the defendants in the important
suit of Nathanicl Hooker vs. Wethersfield,—a case which involved the
question of the right of the plaintiff to sharo in an allotment of public
lands made ncarly forty years before, and which was sought to be car-
ried to the Court of Queen’s Bench. In Welles's brief in this case he
quoted largely from the Sacred Scriptures. He died in 1711, at the age
of forty-nine years, and before a final issue of the suit.

Edwards, Wolcott, Wadsworth, and Welles were the first regularly
admitted attorneys within their respective townships.

In the following year Captain Joseph Wadsworth (famous for hav-
ing secreted the Charter), Thomas Olcott (better known as a constablo),
and Captain Aaron Cook, Sr., all of Hartford, were admitted to the
legal fraternity. So were Samuel Moore, of Windsor, and Joseph

1 Cagtain Daniel Clarke, of Windsor, wnho had been Secre of the Colony, was allowed
to take the attorney’s oath, in the Andros Court of Scssions, at Hartford, in March, 1687-8.
But no law of this Colony autliorized the act. William Hosford, of the same town, was
admitted with Clarke. .

3 He had acled as an attorney as early as 1684. In 1702-3 he had argued a fugitive slave
caso against Saltonstall.
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Kirby, Jr., of Middletown, — the latter being the first one from his
township.

Edward Bulkeley, of Wethersficld, son of the Rev. Gershom Bulkeley,
heretofore mentioned, was admitted in 1711; but his grist-mill and
his fulling-mill probably occupied most of his time. Thomas Kimberly,
of Glastonbury, followed in 1712. He was for some years Colonial
Secretary. He had been for years the schoolinaster of Wethers(ield.

With him was admitted Abram Morris, of Wethersfield. Cuptain
Thomas Stoughton, of Windsor (cast side?), dates lis attorneyship
from 1714. John Bisscll, also of Windsor, but later of Bolton, joined
in the same year. Ie became one of the most noted lawyers of the
colony. Danicl Hooker, of Hartford, was admitted at the same time.
He was probably more successful as an army surgeon than as a member
of the bar.!

At this time few in America could have had the advantages of a legal
training; and few desired them, cxcepting on the ground, as Black-
stone puts it, that “a competent knowledge of that society in which we
live is the proper accomplishment of every gentleman and scholar.”
Text-books of the law were almost unknown. There were a few
copies of Fleta and of the treatises of Bracton and Glanville, all in Latin,
in the colony. How many had, or understood, the law French of Brit-
ton, or the Tenures of Littleton in their law French form, even with
the learned explications, in Latin and English, of Sir Edward Coke ?
None of Sir-Matthew Hale’s works were published until ycars later,
although written years before, Besides, the common law of England
was not accepted as of binding forco in this colony, and so there was
less reason for learning it. And the learned and bigoted fulminations
of Cotton Mather were more potent to wield public opinion, especially
in witchcraft, and other cases founded largely upon superstition, than
the best legal arguments that could then have been made.

A new attorney, from Windsor, appears in 1719, — Pelatiah Mills,
the principal taverner of that place.

In 1780 a law was enacted limiting the number of attorneys in the
colony to eleven. Three weore apportionod to Hartford, and two to
each of the other counties; all to be appointed by the respective count
courts. The same courts were to appoint one King's Attorney in eac
county. The three attorneys appointed for Hartford County were:
Joseph Gilbert, of Hartford (admitted in 1727) ; Roger Wolcott, Jr., of
Windsor; John Curtis, of Wethersfield. Wolcott was also appointed
King’s Attorney. The number authorized by this act was too small,
and after a year’s trial the act was repealed.

Lieutenant Samuel Pettibone, Jr., of Simsbury, was admitted in
1729, the first attorney from that township. He removed to Goshen,
and became King’s Attorney for Litchfield County. John Curtis, of
Wethersfield, was admitted the same year; but in 1782 he removed
to New London, in order to assume the duties of treasurer of the ¢ New
London Society united for Trade and Commerce.” And we may here
remark that this was the first corporation, strictly private, ever incor-
porated by our General Assembly; its history is given more fully in
Mr. Swift’s papor elscwhere.? It resulted in the financial ruin of Curtis,

1 He was graduated at Harvard College in 1700, and was the first tutor of Yale, 1702-8.
% Commerce and Banking, p. 828.
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of John Bissell, and other lawyers and worthy citizens, who embarked
thercin. Its charter was rcpealed in the following year; and it was
not until 1792 that (with the exception of Yale College) aiother private
corporation existed with the express sanction of the legislature.

No manufacturing corporation oxisted prior to 1810, and but one
insurance company and six banks antedato the year 1800. Thus we
sco that vast intercsts, which to-day occupy much of the attention of
our courts and lawyers, were then almost wholly wanting.

Captain Thomas Seymour, 8d, of Hartford, was admitted in 1740.
He died a few years later. He was tho father of Colonel Thomas Sey-
mour, 4th, also an attorney. Seth Wetmore, of Middletown (then in
Hartford County), was admitted in 1742. The old spelling of this name
was Whitmore. '

In 1751 the nmnber of members of Iartford County Bar was some-
what reduced, by the detachinent of a large part of Hartford County to
fg{rm the now county of Litchficld. Windham had been detached in
1726.

Asa Phelps, of Hebron, was admitted in 1766. Elisha Steele was
admitted fromn Tolland the same year; so was Colonel Thomas Sey-
mour, 4th, of Hartford. The latter was afterward an active officer of
the Revolution, and a member of the Council of Safety. He was a
successful lawyer, having an office on the south side of the present
Arch Street, opposite to his dwelling-house. He was the first Mayor
of the city of Hartford.

Titus Hosmer, of Middletown, was admitted in 1760. Though he died
at the early age of forty-four years, he lived long enough to be classed
by Noah Webster as one of the “ Three Mighties;” the other two
being William Samucl Johnson, LL.D., and Chief Justice Oliver Ells-
worth.. He was a student in the natural scicnces and the languages,
possessed a poctic mind, and encouraged Jocl Barlow, a brother lawyer,
to writo the * Vision of Colummbus.” In the stirring days of the Revo-
lution he was an ardent patriot, and one of the most active members of
the Council of Safety. He several times represcnted Connecticut in the
Continental Congress. He belongs to Hartford County, for he died be-
fore the formation of Middlesex. He was father of the distinguished
jurist, Stephen Titus IIosmoer.

Bildad Phelps was adinitted, from Windsor, in 1760, Silas Doane, of
Wethersficld, a native of Groton, was admitted in 1761, A notice of him
appears in Vol. IL. of this work (p. 471). Benjamin Payne, of Hartford,
admitted in 1762, represented his town in the General Assembly, in the
Revolutionary period, and, in addition, was one of the busiest members
of the Council of Safety, and of the Committee on the issue of Colonial
Paper Money. Gideon Granger, Sr., of Sufficld, admitted in 1768,
though less noted than his son of the samo name, was distinguished in
his profession. Jedediash Strong, admitted at Hartford in 1764, is sup-
posed to bo the same who was afterward a prominent lawyer of Salis-
bury. He was several times elected to the Continental Congress, but
declined to take office. ~With him were admitted Joseph 1sham, Jr., of
Colchester, and Roswell Welles, of Windsor.

General Roger Newberry, Jr., of Windsor, was admitted in 1765.
His mother was a daughter of Roger Wolcott, Sr. He was Judge of
the County Court, was successful as a lawyer and merchant, and served
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with distinction in the Revolutionary War. Major William Judd, of
Farmington, an officer of the Rovolution, and Williain Nichols, of Ilart-
ford, were also admitted in 1765. Major Judd was one of the most
distinguished lawyers and patriots in the colony. He was chairman of
the Convention of citizens of the Statc in New Haven, in 1804, which
had for its object the formation of a public sentiment in favor of a
State Constitution. The General Assembly was so offended by his
rominent action in the matter that it revoked his conmission ns a
justice of the peace. Niclhiols was the army paymaster of that namo
in the Revolution.
~ Ralph Pomoroy, of Hartford, adinitted in 1768, was an arny pay-
master in the Revolution, but I am not inforined as to his professional
life. Ie removed to Litchfield Connty.

Chief Judge Stephen Mix Mitchell, of Wethersficld, having been a
student of Jared Ingersoll, was admitted in Fairficld County in 1770.
He began practising law in his native town in 1772. So much has
been said of him clsewliore that we omit further mention of himn here.

Jonathan Ingersoll was admitted fromn Middletown in 1770, but his
professional life was spent in New Haven. Joseph Church, Jr., of
Hartford, was admitted in 1771, but I know nothing more of him.

Pierpont Edwards, of New Haven, lawyer, soldier, and judge, while
admitted at Hartford, was born at Northampton, Mass., and practised
his profossion at Now IIaven. Ie “probably did not practise in
Hartford. :

Judgo Tapping Reeve, born at Brookhaven, on Long Island, becamo
a mombor of tho logal profession, at Ilartford, in 1771, But ho opencd
a law office in Litchficld as early, it is said, as 1772, and, as is well
known, founded the famous Law School thcre in 1784. Of Charlces
Whiting, Jr., admitted from Middletown in 1772, we know only that
he removed to Great Barrington, Mass., where he was an officer of the
Revolution.

Captain Danicl Humphrey, of Simsbury, joined the legal fraternity
in 1774, as did Thomas Kimberley, of Glastonbury. The latter lost
his life by the explosion of a powder-mill, in 1777.

Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth became a lawyer, froin Windsor, in
1777. He has been fully noticed elsewhere. Sylvester Gilbert, of
Hebron, who joined in 1778, was one of the ablest lawyers in the State.
He was a student of Jesse Root’s law office in Hartford ; and it is said
that fifty-six law-students (itted for the profession in Mr. Gilbert’s office
in Hebron. After the formation of Tolland County (1786) he became
State’s Attorney for twenty-one ycars, County Conrt Judgo for cigh-
teen years, and representative to Congress.

The year 1780 witnessed the admission of Benjamin Farnham, of
Simsbury, Zephaniah Swift, of Lebanon, Asher Miller and Ezekiel Gil-
Lert, of Middletown, and Thomas Young Seymour, of Hartford. Of
Farnham nothing definite is known to the writer. Miller became one
of the foremost lawyers of the now county of Middlesox, formed soon
thereafter. Swift, thc distingnished chief judge and law-writer, cannot,
we are sorry to say, be claimed for this county, for he was a native of
Wareham, Mass;, and a rosident of Lebanon, Mans(icld, and Windham.
Seymour became promiunent in his profession. Gilbert removed to
Hudson, New York, where he became a representative to Congress.
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In 1781 there were added five bright luminaries to the fraternity.
They were: Alexander Wolcott, Jr., of Windsor; Jeremiah Gates
Brainard, of IBast Haddam and Ncw London; Noah Webster, Jr., of
Hartford ; John Trumbull, Jr., of Watertown ; and Samuel Whittlesey
Dana, of Wallingford and Middlctown.

Wolcott was a distinguished moember of a distinguished family. A
Republican in politics, he was, in the opinion of John M. Niles, the
founder of the Jeffersonian school of politics in Connecticut. President
Jefferson made him a Collector of Customs for the district of Middle-
town, and President Madison nominated him a Judge of the Supreme
Court of the United States. The Senate did not confirm the nomina-
tion ; and Judge Story, after the same place had been offered to John
Quincy Adams, was clected thereto. Wolcott was a delegate, from
Middletown, to the Constitutional Convention of 1818.

Trumbull practised law in Hartford until 1794. But he did not
neglect his literary pursuits; and, indeed, it was during this period
(in 1782) that he completed his world-famous epic, * McFingal.”
(Sec further, under “State’s Attorneys.”) '

General Dana can hardly be credited to this county, for he was a
native of Wallingford, and during his long residence in Middletown but
four years of it clapsed prior to the detachment of that township from
Hartford County.

Webster, the great lexicographer, a descendant of Governors Web-
ster, of Connecticut, and Bradford, of Plymouth Colony, was a native
of Hartford, West Society. Hc may have received part of his legal
training from Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth, in whose family he lived
for some months. He did not at once upon his admission open a law
office, but continued in his favorite occupation of instructor. From
1789 to 1793 he practised law in Hartford ; but at the latter date he
resumed literary work, such as he had done in early life. After this
lie was not an active mcinber of the profession, though he often wroto
upon legal and political questions, strongly espousing the Federal
cause.

Oliver Lewis, admitted in 1783, may have been the person of that
name from Southington, who died in Savannah, Ga., in 1784.

General Samucl Holden Parsons, of Lyme and Middletown, became
a member of the Bar of this county in 1783, Ilo was mainly instru-
wental in the formation of Middlesex County, whercof ho romained a
resident until his removal to Ohio.

Ephraim Root, a prominent lawyer, admitted in 1784, practised law
in Hartford from that date until 1812,

On Nov. 14, 1788, tho foundations were laid for the present Bar
Association of Hartford County. Tho original document, containing
the regulations which will govern the signers in recommending “ young
Gontlemen,” candidates for admission to the Bar, is in the possession
of Charles J. Hoadly, Esq. It is signed by Sylvester Gilbert, Asher
Miiler, Sainucl W. Dana, Chauncey Goodrich, Thomas Chester, William
Whitman, Oliver Wolcott, Jr., Ephraim Root, John Williams, William
Moscley, Thomas Scymour, Oliver Ellsworth, Jesse Root, Dyar Throop,
Gidcon Granger, William Judd, Roger Newberry, Samucl II. Parsons,
William Nichols, Joseph Isham, Jr., Samuel Lyman, John Trumbull,
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Thomas Y. Seymour, Benjamin Farnham, Enoch Porkins, Timothy
Pitkin, Jr., Nathaniel Torry, Jr., Gideon Granger, Jr., William Kibbe,
William Williston, Gaylord Griswold, and Hezckiah Bissell, — thirty-
two in all. They could not all have signed as attorneys at the date
borne upon the instrument, for some were not admitted until 1789 and
1790. Judge Miller and Mr. Dana were of Middletown, General Throop
of East Haddam, and Captain Isham of Colchester.

In 1785 Chief Judge Stephen Titus ITosmer was admitted from
Middletown. But in the same year the formation of Middlesex County
made him a member of the Bar of that county. Thomas Webster, of
Wethersfield, Newington Society, was admitted the same year; as was
William Whitman, of Hartford. Colonel Jesse Root, a native of North-
ampton, Mass., entered the legnl profession at Hartford in 1785, and
practised law there until 1789. This distinguished jurist is mentioned
elsewhere.

Joel Barlow, poet and diplomat, while a native of Redding, became
a member of the Hartford Bar in 1785, and so remained until 1789,
During his residence in Hartford (he lived also some months in Weth-
ersfield) he edited the “ American Mercury” and wrote the “ Vision of
Columbus.” It does not appear that he practised law in any other
place. Jonathan Brace, mentioned elsewhere, began practising law in
Glastonbury in 1786. He was admitted in Bennington, Vt., in 1779,

Uriel Holmes, admitted in 1787, if he over lived in Hartford, re-
moved to Now Hartford, where he practised in his profession, and was
- sent thence, or from Hartland, a representative to Congress.

Gideon Granger, Jr., of Suffield, admitted in 1789, became a distin-
guished member of the Bar. He was active in originating our Common
School Fund, and was Postmaster-General, 1801-1814. William Willis-
ton, a native of Suffield (?), was admitted the same year. He practised
in Simsbury until 1817.

General Nathaniel Terry, a native of Enficld, after graduation at
Yale College became a student of Jesse Root, and was admitted an
attorney in 1790. He practised first at Enficld, then at Iartford,
1796-1844. He represented this district in Congress onec term, was
Judge of the County Court, and a member of the Constitutional Con-
vention of 1818. Ilc was a studious and thorough lawyer, devoted to
his profession. Gaylord Griswold, Windsor, and Decius Wadsworth,
Farmington and Hartford, were admitted in 1790. The former went
to New York about 1793, and became a representative to Congress.
The latter disappears from the list of attorneys in 1794.

Hezekiah Huntington, of Tolland, Sufficld, and Hartford, joined the
Bar in 1791, having been a student of ‘Gideon Granger, Sr., and of John
Trumbull. He was many years a lawyer in the latter town.

Joscph Backus, admitted the same year, practised in Glastonbury
nntil 1796, then in Stratford, and finally in Bridgeport. We sup-

ose him to have been the author of a volume relating to the Office of

heriff, etc. Onc Root, an attorney in Grauby, 1797-1799, was proba-
bly General Erastus Root, born in Hebron ; removed to New York, where
he was a major-general and representative to Congress. .

Theodore Dwight, Sr., o native of Northampten, Mass., and a stu-
dent of Pierpont Edwards, at New Haven, was admitted from Green-
wich, in 1787. He practised at Haddam until 1791, when he removed
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to Hartford, where he practised until 1813. He served one term as
a rcpresontative to Congress. After 1815 he followed journalism at
Albany and New York, until 1886, when he returned to Hartford. He
was Sccretary of the Hartford Convention, and published a history of
it, besides other works. He was a descendant of Jonathan Edwards.

Herctofore I have given the names and dates of admission of all
members of the Bar of this county, so far as a thorough search of origi-
nal court records discloses them. I now give the entire list of Hartford
County lawyers, or ¢ Practising Attorneys,” as they appear in the ¢ Con-
necticut Register ” for 1789. They are seventeen : — ,

Jesse Root, William Nichols, Chauncey Goodrich, Thomas Y. S8eymour, John
Trumbaull, Oliver Woleott, Jr., Ephraim Root, William Moseley, and Enoch Per-
kins, all of Hartford ; John Williame and Thomas Chester, Wethersfield ; Wil-
liam Judd, Farmington; Roger Newberry and Alexander Wolcott, Windsor;
Jonathan DBrace, Glastonbury; Gideon Granger, Suffield ; Benjamin Farnham,
Simsbury. ’

Brief notices have been given, cither in this or other divisions of
this article, of all whose names arc in the list above quoted, excepting
Wolcott, Moseley, Williams, and Chester.

Oliver Wolcott, Jr., a native of Litchficld, was not in Hartford after
1789; how much earlier we cannot say. At that date he was thirty-nine
years of age. He became Auditor, then Secretary of the United States
Treasury, Judge of the United States Circuit Court, President of the
Constitutional Convention of 1818, and Governor of the State. Moseley
remained in practice in Hartford until 1828. ¢ Squire” John Williams,
as ho was usually called, was the oldest son of the noted patriot, Ezekiel
Willimuns. IIo was remarkable for persoual beauty and courtliness of
manners. Though his name is carricd on the list of attorneys until
1813, his circumstances werc such that he was not compelled to labor
in his profession, and he was never active in the courts of law.

Thomas Chester, member of a family noted for its gentlemen in
the best sensc of the word, was, after 1796, almost wholly occupied as
Clerk of thic Courts.

In the decade from 1790 to 1800 the * Connecticut Register” adds
twenty-two names to its list of ¢ Practising Attornoys, ”

Timothy Pitkin, Jr., of Farmington, beginning in 1790, practised
law in that town until 1886. 1le represented this district in Congross,
and was five times Speaker of the Connecticut House of Representa-
tives. He was perhaps the most noted political writer of his day; the
author of two volumes on the Political History of the United States,
and a volumnc on the Statistical History of the same.

Daniel W. Lewis, of Farmington, was an attorney there,1791-1792,
when he removed to Litchficld (?). William Kibbe was in Enfield; 1792~
1800 ; John Lathrop, in Hartford, 1793-1794. Hezekiah Bissell, Jr.,
Windsor and Hartford, Judge of the County Court, was in practice from
1793 to 1802. Onec of the sainoe name was practising in Windham as early
atloast as 1786. Walter Edwards, Sr., of Hartford, son of Rev. Jonathan
Edwards, was an attorney there, 1796-1797. He married a daughter
of Captain Moscs Tryon, United States Navy, of Wethersfield, and
retired from practice.  Two of his sons became lawyers in New York.
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Elkanah Smith, of Berlin ; David Parmelec and Zephaniah H. Smith,
both of Glastonbury ; and Roger Whittlesey, of Southington, all first ap-

ear a8 attorneys in 1796. DParmelee disappears after 1796, Elkanah
gmith aftor 1801, while Zephaniah H. Smith and Whittlesey practised
in their townships until 1833 and 1844, respectively. Whittlesey was
a native of Wethersfield, Newington Society. John Sargent, of Wind-
sor, beginning in 1797 or earlier, practised law there until 1829. His
wife was a daughter of General Robert Newberry, Jr. William Brown,
of Hartford, practised from 1798 to 1804. Jonathan Walter Edwards,
o native of New Haven, grandson of Jonathan Kdwards, the great
theologian, and son of President Jonathan Edwards, Jr., practised in
Hartford from 1799 until abont the time of his death in 1881; a
brilliant lawyer.

In the next decade, 1800 to 1810, the Hartford Bar was increased
by the astonishing number of sixty members, at least. One of these,
Thomas Scott Williams, an attorncy from 1805, has been mentioned,
olsewhero. Of the rest wo can only mention the names and places of
residence, while in practice, in most instances. Allen Mather and
William D. How were in Hartford, 1800-1802 ; Timothy Dutton, Sims-
bury, 1800-1801 ; William Gay, Suffield, 1800~1848, forty-threo years;
David Bissell, Jr., East Windsor and Hartford, 1800-1818 ; Thomas
Day, Hartford, 1800-1809.

Mr. Day rendered so many and so valuable services to the profession,
and to the public in genoral, that he is entitled to special mention. He
was the principal member of the committee which revised the Statutes
in 1808,— the best edition we have ever had. His sninmary of .the
various revisions is a valuable contribution to history; and so is Lis
history of the-Courts of the State, prefixed to Vol. 1. of the Con-
necticut Reports. He was for fifty years the Reporter of the cases
adjudicated in the highest court of the State. He was Chief Judge of
the County Court, and many years Sccretary of State for Connecticut.

Samuel Woodruff, Jr., born in 1760, having first practised law in
Wallingford, returned to his native town (Southington) in 1802, where
he practised until 1810; thence he went to Granby, and while there
became Judge of the County Court. ITe vemoved to Windsor about
1827, and practised there about three years. Ile went on a mission of
charity to Greece, and on his return published a voluino entitled * A
Tour to Greece, Malta, and Asia Minor” : Hartford, 1832.

Seth Parsons practised in Suffield forty-four years, beginning in
1800; William Bradley, in Granby and IIartford, 1802-1811. Walter
Mitchell, Wethersfield and Hartford, a son of Chief Judge Stephen
Mix Mitchell, and Chief Judge of the County Court, practised law,
1808-1849; Thomas Huntington, Jr., in Hartford, 1803-1838; John
Hooker (son of Rev. John ?), Farmington, 1808 ; Thomas Holcomb,
Granby, 1808-1825; James McCooley, Granby, 1808 ; Andrew D. Hill-

er, Simsbury, 1808-1816; Elijah Adams, Hartford, 1804; Daniel

unbav, Berlin, 1804-1841; Joscph L. Smith, Berlin, 18041805, ro-
moved to Florida, and became its territorial governor; Calvin Butler,
Bristol, 1804-1806; Hezckiah Flagg, Bast Hartford and Hartford,
1804-1809; Henry Terry, Enfield, 1804-1828, and was Judge of the
County Court; Samuel Cowles, Farmington and Hartford, 1804-1818;
William Arms, Simsbury, 1804; Roger Newberry, 8d, Windsor, 1804-
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1807; Thomas Scott Williains, Wethersfield and Hartford (noticed
clsewhere), 1805-1826; Isaac Perkins, Hartford, 1805-1840; Aaron
M. Church, Hartford, 1805-1811; Joseph Trumbull, Hartford, 1805-
1849 — must bo added here.

Mr. Trumbull was a grandson of Governor Jonathan Trumbull, Sr,
Ho was admitted to the Bar, in Windham County, in 1803 ; practised at
first in Ohio; was president of the Ilartford Bank for eleven years; sat
two terms a8 a representative to Congress, and was Governor of Con-
necticut 1849-18560. :

Ebenezer Granger appears as a lawyer, in Hartford, in 1805-1806 ;
John Wales, 1805-1809; Stedman Adams, 1805-1809; Seth Terry,
1805-18656. Mr. Terry was a native of Enfield, and member of a family
noted for its achievements in civil and military effairs; was a law stu-
dent of Gencral Nathaniel Terry. He was more than sixty years an
active practitioner, mostly as an office lawyer. He was noted for his
strict integrity and piety. Samuel Putnam Waldo was a lawyer at East
Windsor, 1805-1816. He was tho author of several volumes, includiuq
a “ Life of President Jackson,” and the ¢ Tour of President Monroe’
through the United States; and was the compiler of * Robbins’ Jour-
nal.”  With these were Samuel Jones, Jr., Glastonbury, 1806-1809;
Grove Griswold, Granby and Windsor, 1805-1840.

Elisha Phelps, a member of one of the most distinguished families
of the colony and State, practised law at Simsbury, his native place,
and in Hartford, 1805-1847. He was eminent in his profession, and
served threo terms as a representative to Congress. He was also Judge
of the County Court. .

Samuel Henry Woodruff, a native of Southington, practised there,
1805-1829; in Granby, 1830-1848; in Tariffville, 1849-1859. Hc was
a lawyer of raro gifts for his profession, but his habits of dissipation pre-
vented his attaining to a high eminence.

Joseph H. Russell was in Windsor,1805-1825. Simeon Abbe was an
attorney, in Enfield, in 1806; Jared Scarborough, in Hartford, 1807 ;
Solomon Smith, in Hartford, 1807-1809; Pliny Wight, in East Hart-
ford, 1807-1812.

William Dixon, a native of Enfield, and a lawyer there, 1807-1825,
was of high rank in his profession, but was noted for some eccentrici-
ties of character. IIc was the fathor of the lato Unitod Statos Sonator,
Jamces Dixon. Lemuel Whitman had his law-oilico in Farmington, his
native place, 1807-1841. He held many offices, including that of Judge
of the County Court and Representative to Congress. General Nathan

. Johnson, of Hartford, was in practice there, 1808-1852.

Lauren (or Loren ?) Barnes was an attorney in Bristol, 1808-1809 ;
Shorinan Everest, Canton and East Windsor, 1808-1816; Ichabod Lord
Skinnoer, Hartford, 1809-1816; Jonathan Law, Hartford, 1809-1820;
Godfrey Scarborough, Sufficld and East Windsor, 1809-1821; John M.
Gannett, Hartford, 1810-1825; Sheldon Wales Candee, Hartford, 1810~
1820. lle was a native of Oxford, his wife being a daughter of Jesse
Root. He died at Demarara, Guiana, in 1821.  Charles Moseley prac-
tised in Hartford, 1810-1814; Shubael F. Griswold, Hartford, 1810-
1820 ; Samuel Root, Hartford, 1810-1817 ; Martin Wellcs, at Farming-
ton, 1811~1818, and at Hartford, 1850-1863. Mr. Welles was a son
of General Rogoer Welles, Sr., of Wethersfield, Newington Society.
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Admitted to the Bar in 1810, he practised, after 1818, at Newburgh, New
York, and in New York City, until 1820, when lhe recmoved to Wethers-
field, and followed farming there until 1850. He was one of the fore-
most lawyers and special pleaders of his time, was several times Speaker
of the lower house of the General Assembly, and was Chief Judge of
the County Court. .

Between 1810 and 1820 the members added to the Bar were thirty-
seven or more; somewhat more than half as many as in the next pre-
vious decade, when the population was less. Three of these, Judges
William Wolcott Ellsworth and John Thomson Peters, and State’s At-
tornoy Isaac Toucey, have been noticed elsewhere.

Guy Gaylord was a practising attorney in East Windsor, 1811~
1818; and with him was Charles Reynolds during the same period.
Samuel Pettis practised at Wethersfield, 1811-1815, when, as I suppose,
he removed to Ohio. Noah A.Phelps, of Simsbury, had lis law-office in
Hartford, 1812-1820, when he retired from the profession and became
Sheriff of the county ; an oflice which ho held for somoe years. Ilc was
also Secretary of State. He was a man of extensive general informa-
tion, author of “A History of Simsbury, Granby and Canton,” etc.

Thomas S. Seymour, of Hartford, had a law office there one year,
1812. Thomas 8. Sill was also there as an attorney, 1812-1818. I
suppose him to have been a native of Windsor, and to have reinoved to
Erie, Pennsylvania, and to have represented that district in Congress.

Lorrain T. Pease practised in Enfield (of which place he was a
native), 1812-1888, and was Judge ‘of the County Court. George
Plummer was in Glastonbury, 1812-1818; Janes II. Smith, in Granby
and Canton,1812-1832; Silas Higley,in Granby, more than forty years,
1812-1853; Daniel Miller, Hartford, 1818-1816; Elizur Goodrich, Jr.,
1818-1821. He was the fourth in the linc of descent from the Rev.
Elizur Goodrich, of Wethersfield and Durham, all bearing the same
name. Ralph Welles, of Hartford, had an office there, 1818-1815;
Ralph R. Phelps had his office in Last Hartford, 1814-1828, then in
Manchester until 1874, — sixty years a practitioner.

Sidney A. Grant, East Windsor ; Samuel G. Strong, Glastonbury ;
and Frederick W. Jewett, Granby, all appear to have practised in those
towns respectively, from 1814 until 1815, when they all disappear.

Ethan Allen Andrews, a native of New Britain, son of Levi and
Chloe (Welles) Andrews, both of Wethersfield, Newington Society,
began practising law in Berlin in 1814 ; perhaps two years earlier. He
is carried on the list of attorneys there until 1824, but he was part
of this time an instructor in sclect schools, and author of Andrews’s
Latin-English Lexicon. )

Asher Robbins practised law in Wethersfield, his native place, 1814-
1882. He was a public-spirited citizen, and having engaged in manu-
facturing enterprises, became financially wrecked. He never resumed
his practice. Henry L.'%Kmmie 1) Ellsworth, son of Chief Justice Oliver
Ellsworth, and twin-brother of Governor William Wolcott Ellsworth,
practised in Windsor, 1814-1836. DPresident Jacksou appointed him
Commissioner of the Indian tribes south and west of Arkansas. e was
also United States Commissioncr of Patents for ten years. Removing
to Indiana, he there became the largest farmer in that State, if not in
all the West. Died at Fair Haven, in 1858.
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Alfred Cowles, of Farmington, practised there, 1815-1821. John
Milton Niles, born in Windsor, was an attorney in Sufficld and Hartford
for some yecars, beginning in 1815. He was more active in politics and
in literary work than in his profession. A sketch of his life is given
elsewhere.

George Wyllys, member of an old and prominent family of Hart-
ford, was an attornoy thero 1816-1822., Ilenry W. Huntington,
member of another distinguishod family, had his oflice thero ono year
only, 1816. * John Mitchell, in Bristol, 1816, probably rcmoved to Penn-
sylvania. Algernon S. Grant and Ebenezor Lanc wero attorneys in
East Windsor, 1816-1818, and 1816-1817 respectively. George Merrick
practised in Glast,onbury (South) from 1816 until the year of his
death, 1879. e was Judge of the County Court. Elijal Keach, of
Wethersficld, Nowington Socioty, practised thero thirty years or more,
beginning in "1816. He was an eccentric character, always ready with
a flaming Democratic speech. Alfred Smith, 1818—1850 a Hartford
lawyer, and Judge of the County Court, was learned in his profession,
and one of the best legal draughtsmen the Bar ever had. He had few
superiors as a member of the legislature. Oliver Ellsworth Williams,
a son of Ezckicl Williams, the Wethersfield Revolutionary patriot,
was in practice in Hartford, 1819-1870, if the ¢ Connecticut Register”
be correct; but he certainly was not in active practice for ten years
or more prior to the latter date. John Watson, 8d, was an East Wind-
sor attorney some five years, beginning in 1820 or earlier. Charles
Shepard practised in Suffield, 1820-1829 ; then in Hartford, 1830-1850.

The writer is not aware that any of those admitted to the Bar before
1821 are living. From this date to 1880, inclusive, the number of
added mmembers was about thirty-seven.

One of these, Thomas C. Perkins, wlio first appcars in 1821, has
been noticed. Probably none of those who became attorneys before
1881 are living.

Samuel Howard Humtington, Judge of the County Court, son of
Hezekiah, is borue on the list of Hartford lawyers, 1821-1854; Jared
Griswold, at Simsbury, Farmington, and Hartford, 1822-1835; Francis
Parsons, at Hartford, 1822-1861. He wus born at Amherst, Mass., and
was a nephew of Chicf Justice Thomas Scott Williams, in whose office he
was n student. e was a model lawyer, and at one time Judge of the
County Court.

Ichabod Bulkeley had an office in Hartford onc year, 1822; George
W. Griswold, in East Hartford, 1822-1826, in Manchester, 1827-1855.
Hiram R. Pettlbone, in Gra.nby, 1822—1833 William C. Gay, Sulﬁeld
1822-1884; Apollos D. Bates. Windsor, 1822—1824

Ira E. Smith practised in Berlin, 1823-1849; was some time Ohlef
Judge of tho County Court. Romeo Lowroy, born in Plainville, was a
lawyer in Southington, 1822-18565, during part of which time he pre-
sided over the County Court. Ilorace H. Sill was in Windsor, 1823-
1846; John Garduor Calkius Brainard, the poet, 1824-1828.

Jonathan Edwards, son of Walter, had his office in Hartford,
1824-1882. He removed to Troy, New York, of which city he became
mayor.

lelham Barnes practlsed in East Windsor, at Warchouse Point,
1825-1878; Simecon F. Dixon, in Enficld and IIartford, 1825-1830;
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Horace Foote, in Marlborough, the first attorney from that township, in
1826 ; Samuel H. Parsons, in Hartford, 1826-1849 ; William II. erkins,
Windsor, 1826-1828 ; Nathan Cooley, Hartford,1827-1828; Alfred Terry
(a native of Hartford and a son of General Nathaniel), Hartford, 1827-
1832. He was the father of Major-General Alfred H. Terry,who practised
in New Haven ; now in the United States Army.

’ Benjamin L. Raynor had a law office in Hartford, 1827-1832; soon
after which, as I suppose, he removed to Boston. IIe was the author
of a “ Life of Thomas Jefferson,” published in Wethersfield. Sclah B,
Treat, in East Windsor, 1827-1831, becaine a clorgyman and sccretary of
tho A. B. 0. F. M., residing in Boston. Ile was a {requent contributor to
periodical publications. Frederick W. Jewett, in Simsbury, 1827-1888.

Thomas R. Holt was a Windsor attorney, 1827-1831; Enoch T. Par-
sons, in Hartford, 1828-1830; Norman Merriam, Hartford, 1828-1830 ;
William M. Holland, Hartford, 1829-1832; Hugh Peters, Hartford, 1829.
Mr. Peters was a son of Judge John Thompson Peters. He inclined to
poetry, and wrote some pieces which wero published. IIo was drowned,
when thirty years of age,in 1832, near Cincinnati, Ohio. Seth P, Beers
was in Hartford, 1830-1832; but most of his professional life was spent
in Litchtield County, where he became a prominent State official. Asa
Child was in Hartford, 1830-1832. He removed to Norwich. William
Hungerford. was a Hartford lawyer from 1880 until a few years before
his death, 1873. He was born in East Haddam. A-student of Ilon.
Matthew .Griswold and Governor Roger Griswold, at Lyme, he was ad-
mitted to the Bar in 1812.  He practised in his native town until 1829,
whon ho removed to Hartford, whore he became the most lonrned lawyor
in the State. Heis said to have read Blackstone’s Commentaries through
thirty times, and to have delighted in that dryest and most intricate of
all legal works, “ Fearne on Contingent Remainders.” He was largely
instrumental; through his briefs in the Supremo Court, in scttling the
law on important points involved. He was a member of the Constitu-
tional Convention of 1818. DProbably the history of the profession con-
tains no individual lawyer of our State who reached greater attainments
in learning. :

Charles M. Emerson practised in Hartford, 1830-1838 ; Sheldon
Moore, in Southington and Berlin during the same period; Erastus
Smith, first in Windsor, then in Hartford, 1830 to 1878, the year of his
death, In his early life he was a school-teacher. He was noted for his
wit and his inattention to his personal appearance. Ife often held Court
a8 a United States Commissioner.

In the noxt decade, 1831 to 1840, only thirty now members appear
in the list of practising attorneys. Five of these, perhaps more, are
living. These are James H. Holcomb, William R. Cone, Henry A.
Mitchell, Henry Nash, and Francis Fellowes.

Isaac E. Crary, born in Preston, was an attorney in Hartford,
1831-1832. He removed to Michigan, where he became a major-general
of militia, representative to Congress, etec. Hiram Hunt was in Farm-
ington, 1881 ; perhaps he removed to New York. Anson Bates was in
Granby and East Granby,1831-1869. Chauncey P. Holcomb was a law-
yer in Granby, of which place e was a native, in 1831, ITe removed
thence to Philadelphia, then to Newcastle, Delaware, where he died
about 1850.
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Charles Chapman, mentioned elsewhere, was in Hartford, 1832-1869 ;
the latter being the date of his death. He was a most successful crimi-
nal lawyer within and without this State, and a famous wit. John B.
Watson was in Hartford, 1832-1888; then in ILast Hartford, 1889.
Philo A. Goodwin was o Hartford lawyer, 1888-1840. Edmond Holcomb
practised in Granby, 1888-1872; Hcctor F. Phelps, in Simsbury, 1838
1848. Richard G. Drake —in Windsor, 1888-1888, in Hartford, 1839-
. 1858 — was associated with Charles Chapman. He was one of the most

active grand-jurors in Hartford. A. A. Loomis practised in Hartford, -
1834-1837. James H. Holcomb, a native of Granby, practised in Hart-
ford from 1834 until his removal to Nice, France, some years ago, where
he now resides. William R. Cone, a native of Kast Haddam, was asso-
ciated with Mr. Hungerford, in Hartford, from 1834 until the date of
Mr. Hungorford’s death, and still lives in Hartford, president of the
Aitna National Bank and prominent in affairs in the city. Henry
Nash, now of Now Britain, has practised in Hartford, Berlin, and New
Britain, successively. Royal R. Hinman, a native of Southington, once
Secretary of State, was a Hartford attorney in 1849. He also practised
in Southington,1833-1834.. Henry R. Buckland practised in Windsor,
1834-1885.

Edward Goodman practised in Hartford from 1885 until his death
in 1882; James Raymond in Hartford, 1835. Beuning Maun came
from Stafford to Hartford, where he was an attorney, 1835-1868. As
a trinl-justice, many criminals were prosccuted before him. M. A.
Nickerson practised in Berlin, 1835-1836; Henry A. Mitchell (men-
tioned elsewhere), in Hartford and Bristol since 1836. Frank G. Mer-
riman, in Hartford, 1837-1889, removed to Galveston, Texas, where he
may bo still living. o marriod a Mexican lady for his sccond wife,
and became a judge, besides holding other offices.

James Dixon, n native of Enfield, practised in Hartford, 1837-1847,
wlhen ho was elected n representative to Congress. After this he re-
sumed practice, 1850-1857, when he became United States Senator,
and so remained until 1869. He did not again resume practice in his
profession. He was a very adroit debater, and was accomplished in
literature. Henry Perkins practised in Hartford, 1838-1862; Giles
Pottibone, in ITartford, 1888-1841, thon in Simsbury until 1852. Fran-
cis Followes, born in Montvillo, camo to Iartford about 1888, whero he
opened a law officc, and {rom that date lias been one of the most promi-
nent and learned in his profession. Ho is a scholar in the classics and
modern languages, and has recently published a manual of Astronomy.
William N. Matson began practice in Hartford about 1838. He became
Judge of Probate, and was a reporter of decisions of the Supreme
Court. Ho ceascd practico some years before his dcath, which was in
1876. William M. Durand practised in Hartford, 1839-1841. Thomas
H. Soymour’s namo was borno on the list of Hartford attorncys many
years, beginning in 1889. e was nevor, however, active as a lawyer.
He was noted for his courtesy, and was admired and loved by a great
many friends. Ie was a colonel, by brevet, in the Mexican War, Gov-
ernor of the State, Minister to Russia, etc. He died in 1868.

From 1840 to 1849, inclusive, the new members of the Bar numbered
about thirty-six. Of this number probably ten or twelve are living.

Chauncey Howard, who came from Coventry to Hartford about
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1840, was many years Clerk of Courts, and has been Comptroller of the
State. He has rctired from tho profession. A. R. Park had his oflico
in Hartford, 1840-1841 ; Silas Gridley, in Bristol, 1840-1846; Charles
H. Tuthill, Hartford, 1841-1847 ; John Brocklesby, Jr., Hartford, 1842.
He has since been a professor and acting president of Trinity College.
He is an author of several works relating to physics, astronomy, ete. He
came from England when about ten ycars of age. James C. Walkley,
of Haddam, began practice in Hartford in 1842, but is now in private
life. Thomas M. Day (son of Thonas, clsewhore noticed) an attorney
in- Hartford since 1841, has been long out of practice. ITe was for some
years an cditor of the * Courant.” John Chenevard Comstock, of Hart-
ford, a son of John Lee Comstock, the noted author of works on natural
history and physics, was a Hartford lawyer from 1842 until the outbreak
of the Civil War, when he entered the service as a commissioned officer.
He has since died. Thomas S. Williams, 2d, appears in Hartford, 1842,
the year of his death.

Aloliab Johnson, who began in Enfield, in 1842, is still living. John

~..Hooker, of Farmington, practised there, 1842-1851, since which time
he has been a Hartford lawyer. He has been reporter of decisions in
the Supreme Court of the State since 1858. Frederick M. Walker was
in Enfield, 1842-1844 ; Seymour N. Case, in Hartford, 1848, until his
death in 1872 ; Governor Richard Dudley Hubbard (noticed elsewhere),
in Hartford, 1843-1884 ; William D. Ely, in Hartford, 1844-1856;
Samuel E. Hartwell, Suffield, 18441845 ; Henry T. Welles, Hartford,
1845-1846. - .

Charles De Wolf Brownell, the artist, is rogistored as a Hartford
lawyer, 1845-1848 ; Henry Howard Brownell, Hartford,1845-1848; East
.Hartford, 1851, He was Admiral Farragut’s Secretary, and the author
of several stirring “ War Lyrics,” published during the late Civil War.
Elihu Spencer practised in Hartford, 1846 ; Horace Cornwall, Hartford,
1846-1850 ; East Hartford, 1851, whence he returned to Hartford. -

Lucius T, Robinson practised in Hartford from 1846 until his death
in 1861. He ranked very high in his profession, though cut off before
he had reached his prime. IHis wife was the only daughter of Governor
Joscph Trumbull. The world is indebted to him for some fine literary

roductions, among which are his notes and translations from the Greck

atin,and Hebrew in an edition of Mather’s Magnalia. The Hon. Henr
JC. Robinson is his brother. Edwin O. Goodwin was a Hartford lawyer
in 1846 ; in Bristol, 1849-1860. Charles K. Atwood, of Newington, was
in Hartford, 1847 ; Eliphalet Adams Bulkeley, of Colchester, 1847-1871,
the latter year being the date of his death. IIo had practised in East
Haddam before coming to Hartford. He was the first judge of the
Hartford Police Court. He had retired from practice, long before his
death, to become president of the Atna Life Insurance Company.
Andrew Miller was in Hartford, 1847. Dwight W. Pardee, mentioned
elsewhere, began practice in Hartford in 1847. Hubert F. North was
an attorney in Borlin, 1847-1850; R. A. Erving was in Iartford, 1848—
1854, and was lost in the steamer “ Pacific;” A. R. Wadsworth was in
Farmington, 1848-1849. Calvin W. Philco was in Sufficld, 1848-1853 ;
in Hartford, 18564-1858. He¢ was the author of ¢ Twice Married,” and
other published works. He died young. Lewis J. Dudley was in Hart-
ford one year, 1849, Samuel P. Newell has practised in Bristol, his
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native town, since 1849; Thomas Cowles, in Farmington, where he was
born, 1849-1884, the year of his dcath; Alfred J. Works, in Thomp-
sonville, 1849-1850; Jeffrey O. Phelps, Sr., of whom mention is made
clsewliere, in Simsbury, fromn 1849 until his decease about 1877. He
was admitted late in lifc, upon an cxamination; a wholly self-taught
student. ‘

From 1850 to 1859, inclusive, there were nearly, if not quite, soventy
members added to the Hartford County Bar. Probably more than one
fifth have since died. Ainong those who have pussed away are: Colo-
nel Henry Champion Deming, noted as a scholar and orator, of whom
8 sketch appears elsewhere; Henry Sherman, a native of Albany,
who came to Manchester from New York City about 1850, thence to
Ifartford, 18562, whoro he rcinained until about 1868 ; author of a
Digest of the law of Marine Insurancoe and of a Governmnental His-
tory of the United States; Heman Humphrey Barbour, a native of
Canton, a successful lawyer, and judge of the Hartford Court of Pro-
bate ; Jerome B. Brown, in Hartford ; Goodwin Collier (died 1886),
a native of Hartford, where, while a resident of Connecticut, he prac-
tiscd, was possessed of a large amount of gencral information, and
was an authority in musical matters. He was judgo of the police
court. Wait N. Hawley was in Thompsonville and Hartford; Seth E.
Case, in New Britain; George W. Gidding, in Hartford ; died young.
John C. Paliner, a native of East Haddam, practised a short time
in Hartford, when he became president of the Sharps Rifle Manufac-
turing Company. Julius L. Strong, a native of Bolton, and student
of Judge Martin Welles, and died in 1872, while & member of the
lower house. of Cougress.! Ilenry Kirkc White Welch, a native of
Mansficld and former resident of Wethersfield, though dying at the
age of forty-nine years, was in the front rank in his profession. -

Soine of the most prominent citizens and lawyers still living, who
joined or were admitted during the decade ending in 1869, may be men-
tioned here. They include: the Hon. Charles R. Chapman, now post-
master of Hartford ; General Joseph Roswell Hawley ; ex-Police~Judge
George S. Gilman; ex-United States Scnator William W. Eaton (born
in Tolland) ; Francis Chambers, from Rocky Hill ; Sanucl Finley Jones,
fromm Marlborough ; Frederick B. Perkins, a well-known author and
magazine writer, now of San Francisco ; Judge Nathaniel Shipman, of
the United States District Court for Connecticut; David S. Calhoun,
now Judge of the Court of Common Pleas ; Walter 8. Merrell, of South-
ington, cx-Judge of Probate; Robert E. Day, from East Haddam,
now president of the Security Company, Hartford ; James Nichols,
ex~Judge of Probate for Hartford; ex-Judge William D. Shipman,
United States District Court, now of New York City ; George Griswold
Sill, ex-Licutenant-Governor of the Statc; Zalmon A. Storrs, once judge
of the Connty Court for Tolland County, now treasurer of the Society
for Savings ; Roger Welles, of Newington, and historian of that town-
ship ; Charles H. Briscoe, of Enficld, ex-Judge of the Commnon Pleas
Court; Charles W. Johnson,son of General Nathan Johnson, now clerk
of the Supreme and Superior Courts; Elisha Johnson, ex~Judge of the

1 His former law-partner, the Hon. John R, Buck, of this city, now occupies the seat in
Congress.
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City and Police Courts ;t Henry C. Robinson, who was twice the candi-
dato of the Republican party for governor of Connecticut; Charles J.
Hoadly, a noted historian, and, for many years past, State Librarian ;
Charles E. Perkins, a leading lawyer, president of the Bar Association ;
Charles Whittlesey, an officer in the late Civil War, perhaps deceased ;
Austin Hart, once in Farmington, now in New Britain ; Major John C.
Parsons, son of the late Judge Francis Parsons; John Hurlburt White,
Judge of Probate for Hartford; William S. Goslee, the historian of
Glastonbury.

The decade ending in 1869 witnessed the advent of about eighty
additional members of this Bar. PProbably one sixth, or more, of these
have died. Many are in parts unknown to the writer. Among the
dead are: Captain Charles Edwin Bulkeley, son of the late Judge Eli-
phalet A. Bulkeley, of Hartford, died in the late war ; Francis Fellowes,
Jr., who served in the late war, died a few yecars after its close at Hart-
ford; Albert W. Drake, who was [irst lieutenant of Captain Joseph R.
Hawley’s company, organized April 22, 1861 ; Ilenry L. Miller, a judge
of the City Court; Ezra Hall, a native of Marlborough, a State Senator,
and president pro tem. of the Senate; Monroe E. Merrill, from Bark-
hamsted, Judge of the Hartford Police Court. Loren Pinckney Waldo,
who came to Hartford from Tolland, 1863, was one of the ablest and
most upright members of the Bar. He was honored with many minor
offices ; was State’s attornoy for Tolland County, Judge of Probate, rep-
resentative to Congress, Commissionor of Pensions under President
Pierce, twice on the committoe for the revision of the Statutes of Con-
. nooticut, and Judgo of the Superior Court. IIe was also president of
the Bar Association and author of a History of T'olland.

George Dennison Prentice and William Henry Burleigh, both once
residents of Hartford, were members of the Bar. But they were more
conspicuous as poets and journalists.

In the last sixtecn years many have joined the ranks of the legal
fraternity, some of whom lave already risen to positions of honor and
trust or have become prominent in their chosen profession. Some have
passed from earth, some have removed to other places, some (a very
few) have been expelled, and the standard of qualifications for admis-
sion is higher than ever before. With all the vacancies that have
occurred, the ranks are still over-full ; and we cannot, with the limited
time and space at command, even mention many wlose names we would
gladly include in this too long-drawn sketch of members of the Hartford
County Bar.

Note. The writer is indebted to the ITon. 1Tenry O. Robinson, and to Charles J. Ioadly,
Baq., for valnable suggestions made by them during the preparation of this article. 1t is to
be especially observe% that, owing to the limited space of this paper, no attempt is made to
name the living attorneys admitted to the bar since 1859. This accounts for the sbeence of
tho names of some of the leading lawyers of the present time.



CHAPTER VIL

THE MEDICAL HISTORY OF HARTFORD COUNTY.

I
BY W. A. M. WAINWRIGII'T, M.D.

TIIE history of medicine in the Comnecticut Colony, for a hundred
years after its first scttlemont, is meagre enough. During this

period very few regularly graduated practitioners of the old country
appear to have becn attracted by the ¢ opening” offered to them in
tho now. TFor instance, Judd, in his History of Hadlcy, Mass. says,
that from the year 1667 to 1730 there was no physician or surgeon in
Northampton, which was “a large and rich town.” '

Dr. Samuel A. Green, in his “ History of Medicine in Massachu-
setts,” is authority for the following statement : ¢ Harvard College was
founded in the year 1638 ; and during the period from this timo till
1750 there were but nine of its graduates who had ever rcceived a
medical degree.”

In anticipation of their oxodus to this country, mnany ministers
studicd the medical art, so that they might be able in their new habita-
tion to care for the bodies as wcll as thc souls of their flocks. Many
of thein wero able physicians ; and some, after a time, relinquished their
ministerial duties, and confined themselves to the practice of medicine
and surgery; being licensed as regular practitioners by the (General
Court of the colony. The * goodwife,” with her knowledge of « sim-
ples,” and the horrible compounds of bugs, animal sccretions and ex-
cretions, and the like, which were in common use, wus also a medical
power, and held her own in the practice of the healing art. Each of
the curly settlements doubtless had one or moro “old womon,” whose
services were usually called for in cases of sickness, and whose opinions
were looked up to and relied upon. This was particularly the case in
childbirth, as for many years the practice of obstetrics was cntirely
in the hands of the midwives. In the early years of the colony, all
that was necessary to become a “ respectable practitioner” of medicine
was to study, or, a8 it was often called, “to ride,” with some medical
man for a ycar or two, sceing his patients, and - getting from him what
medical knowledge he was able to impart. Application was then made
to the Gencral Court of the colony for a license to “ practise Physic
and Chirurgery.” If the application was indorsed by a few respectable
names, the license was granted, and the applicant became a ¢ Doctor.”
There were many, of course, who practised medicine without this license,
as it was not required by law. Any one, after “riding” with a doctor,
could go into practice as soon as ho felt able to ride alone.
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- The earliest medical name found in the rccords of the colony is that
of Dr. Bray (or Bryan) Rosseter, who was the first physician, and one
of the most prominent men among the first settlers of Windsor in
1686. He was admitted to practice by the General Court of Connecti-
cut shortly after his arrival, “ being first tried and approved by Rev.
Mr. Hooker, Rev. Mr. Stone, and old Mr, Smith, of Wethersficld, in the
face of said Court.”

He was also a magistrate, and served as town clerk until 1652,
abont which time lie moved to Guilford, whero he died in 1672, In
January, 16556-6, tho town of Hartford granted £10 ¢“towaids [the
Rev.] Mr. Stoue’s charge of Phissick which he hath taken of Mr. Rosse-
ter.” The next ycar Mr. Stone gave, as onc rcason of his proposed
removal from Ilartford, that “we have no Physician at Hartford or
near at hand,” and made it a condition of his remaining, that the church
should engage “ to procure some able phisitian to dwell and settle here
in Hartford before the next October (1657), if it be possible that such
a man may bo obtayned.”

Stiles, in his Ilistory of Windsor, says, “ The first post-mortcin cx-
amination made in the colony of Conuncctrcut was made by Dr. Rosse-
ter.,” ¢ March 11th 1662-3. The Court allows unto Mr. Rosseter
twenty pounds in referenco to opening Kellies child, and his paynes to
visit the Dep. Governor, and his paynes in visiting and administering
to Mr. Talcott.”

It is not absolutely certain that this “ opening Kellics child” was
not some ante-mortem surgical operation ; bnt if it was post-mortem, as
is most probable, it was tho first autopsy made in New Iingland, of
which any record has been found, antedating by a dozen years the one
made in Boston in 1674, an account of which is given by Dr. Green in
his ¢« History of Medicine in Massachusetts,” and said by him to have
been “ one of the earlicst recorded instances of a post-mortem examina-
tion to be found in New England.”

From 1636 to 1652 therc appears to have been but one other regu-
larly authorized practitioner of medicine in the colony. This was
Dr. Jasper Gunn, who came over to this country in 1685, at the age
of twenty-nine. In May,1636, he was made a freeman of Massachusetts,
and settled in Roxbury. He removed to Milford, and afterward, about.
1646, to Hartford. The inventory of Giles Whiting, April, 1656, men-
tions his indcbtedness * to Jasper Gunn for physic and visits £2.10,”
In May, 1657, the General Conrt of Connecticut freed him from ¢ train-
ing, watching, and warding during his practice of Physic.” Soon after
this ho roturned to Milford, where he died in 1670. In the Trinity Col-
lege Library is a curious old Almanac published in London in 1652, by
Sir George Wharton, which belonged to Dr. Jasper Gunn. Tt is in-
terleaved, and was used by him as an account-book, and on its pages
are charges for medical services and drugs, against many of the promi-
nent citizens of Hartford of that day. There is also in the library a
book which belonged to Dr. Rosseter. It is a large vellum-bound folio,
a Commentary on Hippocrates, by Vallesius, published in Cologne in
1588. On the titlepage is written, “ Ex dono difii Hopkins, Bray
Rosseter his book.”

In 1652 Thomas Lord was licensed by the General Court to practise
physic and surgery in Hartford and the neighboring towns. His foes
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were a8 follows: “ This Court doth grant that he shall be paid by the
County the sumn of fifteen pounds for the said ensuing year, and they
do declarc that for every visit or journey that he shall take or make,
being sent for to any housc in Hartford, twelve pence is reasonable ; to
any house in Windsor, five shillings; to any house in Wethersficld,
threo shillings ; to any house in Farmington, six shillings ; to any house
in Mattabeseck [Middletown] cight shillings (he having promised that
he will require no more) ; and that he shall be freed for the time afore-
said from watching, warding, and training, but not from finding arms
according to law.” Dr. Lord died in Wethersfield in 1662.

In 1654 Danicl Porter of Farmington was licensed to practise
“ Physic and Chirurgery,” and was allowed “six pounds a year with six
shillings to each town upon the river to cxercise his art of surgery.”
e scems 1o have had considerable roputation as a bone-sctter. In
1670 the General Court raised his salary on the condition that he would
instruct ono or more persous in his art. Thomas Hooker, of Farming-
ton, and Samuel Mather, of Windsor, were the two sclected, and in due
time were licensed to practise ¢ Physick and Chyrurgy in this Colonie,”
The first really noted medical name to appear in the records of the
“good old colony tincs” is that of Gorshoin Bulkeley. He was the
son of the Rev. Poter Bulkeley, who came from England and settled
in Concord, Mass., in 16385. Dr. Bulkeloy was born during the
voyage. He graduated at Harvard College, and after pursuing the
study of Divinity and Medicine for scveral years, removed to Connecti-
cut. Tor twenty years he followed tho ministry, and was pastor of the
churches in New London and Wethersfield. In one of the Indian wars
he was chosen surgeon to tho colonial forces. Ife then gave up the
ministry, and in 1686 the Gonoral Court, ¢ being acquainted with the
ability, skill, and knowledge of Gershom Bulkeley in the art of physic
and chirurgery, did grant him {ull and free liberty and license to prac-
tisc as there shall be occasion and he shall be agrecable.” From this
it is evident that during tho twenty years of his ministerial life he
practised as well as preached. He finally removed to the cast sido of
the river, afterward incorporated as Glastonbury, and for thirty years
followed the practice of mnedicine. He died in Glastonbury, in 1713,
‘at the age of seventy-eight ycars. From the inscription upon his grave-
stone in the churchyard in Wethersficld it appears that he was regarded
a8 & “wman of rare abilitics and cxtraordinary industry, excellent in
learning, master of many languages, exquisite in his skill in Divinity,
Physics, and Law, and of a most exemplary and Christian life. In cer-
tam spem beate resurrectionis repositus.” Most of his medical library
is now in the possession of Trinity College.

Mecution shonld be made of John Winthrop, Jr., who while Govornor
of Connecticut lived in Hartford (1657 to 1676). Ho was a noted
physician and an accomplished scholar, and doubtless practised his
profession in the colony.

Dr. Samucl Mather, of Windsor, was born at Branford in 1677,
graduated at Harvard Collegoe in 1698, and was licensed to practise by
tho Gencral Court in 1702. Ho was held in high estecm both as a
physician and a citizen, holding civil and military offices of importance.
He died Fcb. 6, 1745, in the sixty-cighth ycar of his age. Samuel
Higloy, of Simsbury, was licensed to practise in 1717. Ile kept school
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for three years, during two of which he studied medicine with Drs.
Thomas Hooker and Samuel Mather, and was a man of considorable
scientific attainments. He discovered a process of making steel, and
in May, 1728, reccived a patent for it from the General Assembly. The
record reads as follows: ¢ The said Higley hath found out and ob--
tained a curious art by which to convert, c{ange, and transmute com-
mon iron into good steel sufficient for any usc, and that he was the
very first that ever performed such an operation in America . . . asks
for the privilege and licenso for the sole practice of the said art for a
term of ten years. Wo, being willing to give all due oncouragement to
works of this nature, arc pleased to condescend to this request.”

In 1722, Dr. Jonathan Bull, who, Dr. Sumner says, ¢ was for many
years the physician of the county,” was, after studying with a physician
in Boston for seven years, licensed to practise medicine in Hartford.

In 1786, Dr. Norman Morrison, a native of Scotland, bearing a
medical diploma from the University of Edinburgh, came to this country
and sottled in IHartford. ITo was regarded as a learned physician, and
became the instructor of many young men in the colony. “Ile died
much loved and lamented, April 9,1761, in y* 55 year of his age.” Dr.
Sumner says of him : ¢ He was the first man in the colony who separated
the practice of medicine from pharmacy and encouraged the establish-
ment of an independent apothecary in this city [Hartford], and by so
doing he proved himseclf in advauce of the other physicians.”! Dr.
Joseph M. Toner, of Washington, D. C., in his ¢ Contributions to the
Annals of Medical Progress in the United States,” says that Dr. John
Morgan of Philadelphia was, in 1765, the first Amncrican physician to
adopt and-publicly advocate the theory that medical men should confine
themselves to prescribing remedics, leaving to the apothecary the com-
pounding of medicines.” Perhaps Dr. Morgan got his idcas on this
subject.from Dr. Morrison, who had, somo years before, advocated the
same theory in Hartford.

Jonathan Williams graduated from Yale College in 1722, and prac-
tised medicine in Wethersfield. He died in 1788, aged thirty-two years.

Samucl Porter, of Farmington, was licensed in 1720, and was a sur-
geon of some repute. The following certificate is in existenco: —

“This may certify that I, the subscriber, do judge the abovesaid Thos. Thomp-
son has a considerable insight in the art of physic and chirurgery, and has for
many years practised the said art and with good success in his administrations.

SAMUEL PORTER, allowed Chirurgeon.
* PARMINGTON, May tho 12th, 1721,

Among the carly physicinns of Farmington were Drs. Hart, Judd,
Stanley, Thompson, and Wadsworth, Little is known concerning them.

1 Two establishments for the sale of drugs and medicines were opened in Hartford in
1757 : one by Dr. Bylvanus Gardiner, an eminent physician of Boston, who set up here a
branch of his establishment in that city for the importation and sale of drugs, intrusting the
business to a junior partner, Dr. William Jepson, nndor the firm name of Ganliner & Jopson ;
the other by Dr. Daniel Lothrop, of Norwicli, in connection with Solomon Smith. Dr. Lo-
throp, ““the first druggist in Norwich, and probably the first in Connecticut who kept any
geneml assortment of medicines for sale,” was n graduate of Yale Collego, and had prosecuted

is_professional studies in London. Solomon Smith was one of his apprentices and students.
In July, 1760, “ Lothrop & Smith, at their store in King [now Main] Street,” advertised *‘ just
imported from London, a large and universal assortment of medicines genuine and of the best
kind, sets of surgeon’s instruments,” etc.
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Dr. Timothy Hosmer was born in West Hartford, but began medical
ractice in Farmington, and resided therec many years. He served in the
volutionary War as a surgeon, and after leaving the army returned to
Farmington, where he resided until 1790, when he removed to the State
of New York, and was appointed the first judge of Ontario County.

Dr. John Hart, a native of Kensington, was also a surgeon in the
Revolutionary War. He came to Farmington at some¢ time during
the war, and remained there until about 1798, when he entered the
naval service of the United States, and soon after died at sea.

Dr. James Hurlburt was born at Berlin in 1717, and for many
years practised medicine in his native town. He was a noted character
of his time, learncd, eccentric, and unfortunate. He died penniless, and
but for the friendship of ono of tho patrons of his early days, would
have died homeless a8 well.  The last years of his lifo wero spent in
Wethorsfield, whero he died April 11, 1794, aged soventy-seven years.

Dr. Aloxander Wolcott, n distinguished practitioncer of Windsor,
was born Jan. 7, 1712. He was a son of Governor Roger Wolcott,
and a great-grandson of Henry Wolcott, the first ancestor of the family
in Connecticut. He studied medicine with Dr. Norman Morrison, and
about the ycar 1740 began the practice of his profession in his native
town, whero he lived honored and respected until his death, in 1795.

A word must be said of ¢ Dr. Primus,” who practised medicine with
much success, and gained considerable reputation for being a skilful
physician. Primus was a negro slave, and for many years a faithful
servant of Dr. Wolcott. He accompanicd the Doctor on his medical
drives, and helped him in compounding medicines, cte. In his old age,
and as a reward for his faithful service, the Doctor gave him his liberty.
Primus very soon went to the other side of the river, and, as ¢ Dr.
Primus,” obtained a considerablo practice, often running across the
tracks of his former master.  °

Another prominent medical name connected with Windsor is that
of Dr. Elihu Tudor, son of the Rev. Samuel Tudor, and born in that
town, Feb. 8, 1732. He graduated from Yale College in 1750, and
studied medicine with Dr. Benjamin Gale, of Killingworth, who was a
famous physician in his day. Dr. Tudor went to London in 1762, and
pursucd his medical studics there for two years, after which he returned
and sottled in Knast Windsor, where hie practiscd for many years. His
roputation as n surgeon was at one timo cqual if not superior to that of
any other in New Ingland. He was one of the founders of the Con-
necticut Medical Society, and its sccond vice-president. He died in
1826, at the advanced age of ninety-three years. -

Dr. Timothy Mather also practised in Windsor. He died April 5,
1788, aged thirty-four years.

Dr. Charles Mather graduated at Yale College in 1768. He prac-
tised in East (now South) Windsor until about 1795, when he removed
to Hartford, whero ho gained considernble reputation, especially in the
trecatment of tho diseascs of women. He dicd in 1822.

Dr. Christopher Wolcott also practised in Windsor. He was one of
the founders of the Hartford County Medical Society.

Dr. Lemuel Hopkins, of Hartford, was in the last quarter of the
eightecnth century one of the mnost eminent practitioners of the county,
and ranked among the first physicians of the State, if not at the head
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of the profession. Ho was born at Waterbury, June 19, 1750. Io
practised for somo ycars (1776 to 1784) with Dr. Seth Bird, of Litch-
field, with whom he studied medicine, and then removed to Hartford,
where he continued in practice during his life. He was a learned man
outside of his profession, and a poet and political writer of much note
in his day. In 1784 he reccived an honorary degree from Yale Col-
lege. He was one of the founders of the Connecticut Medical Society.
He died April 14, 1801, in the fifty-first year of his age.

Josiah Rose, a native of Wethersfield, was a leading physician and
surgeon in his day. He died in 1786, aged seventy years.

Dr. William Jepson was a prominent physician of ITartford, in the
last half of the last century (sec note on a previous page).

Dr. Isaac Mosely, graduated from Yale in 1762, was a practising
physician of Glastonbury. At the ountbreak of the Revolution he re-
moved to England, his sympathies being with the mother country.

Dr. Elizur Hale was also a practitioner, and a native of Glastonbury.
Ho graduated from Yalo College in 1742, 1lis son Elizur was a practi-
tionor in the same town. Ie died Dee. G, 1790.

Dr. Aaron Roberts, of Cromwell, sorved throughout the Revolution-
ary War, and settled in New Britain in 1783. He died in that town,
Nov. 21, 1792, aged sixty-two years.

Asaph Coleman, born in Colchester, began the practice of medicine
in Glastonbury in 1774, He served throughout the Revolution as a
surgeon of Connecticut troops. Ile was oho of tho founders of the
Hartford County Medical Socioty. He died Nov. 15, 1820, aged
seventy-three years.

Dr. Eliakim Fish, a prominent physician of Hartford, was born in
1741, and graduated from Yale College in 1760. He was the first presi-
dent of the Hartford County Medical Society. He died May 7, 1804.

Dr. Josiah Belden was born in Wethersfield, March 29, 1768, and
graduated from Yale College in 1787, at the age of ninetecn ycars. He
was a pupil of Dr. Lemuel Hopkins, and scttled in his native town,
where he was held in great esteem both as a physician and as an up-
right and godly man. He died June 6, 1818, at the age of forty, of
spotted fever, in the fatal epidemic of that disease.

The Hartford County Medical Society was established Sept. 25, 1792.
On the 19th of the April preceding, a meeting of the physicians and
surgeons of the county had been held at Ilartford, in accordance
with a request from the Medical Society of New Haven County, which
had been cstablished in 1784. The object of this meeting was to appoint
delegates “to unite with delogates froimn tho soveral countios in the State
(in a general convention at Hartford in May next ensuing) in fram-
ing & General Bill of Incorporation of the Faculty thro’out this State,
and to present the same, that it may be passed into an Act by the then
convened General Assembly.” Dr. Elihu Tudor was chairman of this
meeting, and Dr. Elihu H. Smith, clerk. The convention was held at
the time appointed, and the Act duly passed by the General Assembly,
and “agreoable to Act,” etc., the first meeting of the Ilartford County
Medical Society was held at Hartford, Sept. 25, 1792. From that time
to the present, a poriod of ninoty-two years, a meeting of this society
has been held each year at Hartford. The officers of this first meeting
were Dr. Eliakim Fish, moderator; Dr. Elihu H. Smith, clerk ; and
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Dr. John Indicott, treasurer. The delegates elected to represent the
county at the first mecting of the Connccticut Medical Society, which
was lheld at Middletown on the second Tuesday of October, 1792, were
Dr. Eliakim Fish, Dr. Elihu Tudor, Dr. Lemuel Hopkins, Dr. Josiah
Hart, and Dr. Samucl Flagg. The first roll of membership had forty-
onc names, comprising most if not all of the prominent medical mon in
the county. Thoy woro as follows: —

Howard Alden. Josiah Hart. George Olecott.

John Bestor. John Hart. Caleb Perkins.
Eliphalet Buck. Asa Hillyer. John Potter.

Isaiah Chapman. Josiah Holt. Josiali Root.

Mason F. Cogswell. Lemuel Hopkins. John Skinner.

Asaph Coleman. John Indicott. Elihu H. Smith.
Solomon Lverett. Jason Jeromo. Adna Stanley.
Lliakim Fish. Joseph Jowett. Eli Todd.

Samuel Flagg. Charles Mathier. Elihu Tudor.

Samuel Flagg, Jr., Charles Mather, Jr. Edward Tudor.

Amos Granger. Titus Merriman. Theodore Wadsworth,
George Griswold. Dwell Morgan. Sylvester Wadsworth.
Joseph lale, Abner Moseley. Christopher Wolcott.
Timot